
 
 
Democratic Services Section    
Legal and Civic Services Department 
Belfast City Council 
City Hall 
Belfast  
BT1 5GS 
 
 
17th November, 2020 
 
 
MEETING OF STRATEGIC POLICY AND RESOURCES COMMITTEE 
 
 
 
Dear Alderman/Councillor, 

 

The above-named Committee will meet via Microsoft Teams on Friday, 20th November, 

2020 at 9.30 am., for the transaction of the business noted below. 

 

You are requested to attend. 

 
Yours faithfully, 
 
 
SUZANNE WYLIE 
 
Chief Executive 
 
 
 
AGENDA: 
 
1. Routine Matters   
 
 (a) Apologies   

 
 (b) Minutes   

 
 (c) Declarations of Interest   

 
2. Restricted Items   
 
 (a) Medium Term Financial Plan and Efficiency Programme  (Pages 1 - 8) 

 
 (b) Finance Update  (Pages 9 - 36) 

 
 (c) Unit Fees for St George’s Market  (Pages 37 - 40) 

 
 (d) Update on the Operational Recovery of Council Services  (Pages 41 - 54) 

 
 (e) Destination Hub – Update on Outline Business Case  (Pages 55 - 62) 

 
 (f) Recruitment of Senior Posts  (Pages 63 - 66) 

 

 
 

Public Document Pack



 
- 2 - 

 
 

3. Matters referred back from Council/Motions   
 
 (a) Motion  - Secured Serviced City Centre Civic Bicycle Parking Facilities  

(Pages 67 - 68) 
 

 (b) Motion: Climate Change Act - Further Response from Minister of Agriculture 
Environment and Rural Affairs  (Pages 69 - 74) 

 
 (c) Motion: Moratorium on Licences for Fracking and Exploration and Extraction 

of Fossil Fuels - Response from Ministers for the Economy and Infrastructure  
(Pages 75 - 82) 

 
4. Belfast Agenda/Strategic Issues   
 
 (a) Update on City Region Growth Deal  (Pages 83 - 96) 

 
 (b) Inclusive Growth - Social Value Policy  (Pages 97 - 100) 

 
 (c) Final Resilience Strategy for Belfast  (Pages 101 - 208) 

 
 (d) Update on Consultation and Engagement  (Pages 209 - 232) 

 
 (e) EU Successor Funding Northern Ireland - Position Paper for SOLACE NI  

(Pages 233 - 248) 
 

 (f) Update on Community Planning Partnership  (Pages 249 - 260) 
 

5. Physical Programme and Asset Management   
 
 (a) Update on Area Working  (Pages 261 - 282) 

 
 (b) Assets Management  (Pages 283 - 298) 

 
6. Finance, Resources and Procurement   
 
 (a) Update on Contracts  (Pages 299 - 306) 

 
 (b) Commercial and Procurement Service - Pricing Policy  (Pages 307 - 358) 

 
7. Equality and Good Relations   
 
 (a) Minutes of the Meeting of the Shared City Partnership  (Pages 359 - 388) 

 
 (b) Equality and Diversity - Equality Screening and Rural Needs Outcome Report  

(Pages 389 - 396) 
 

 (c) Diversity Action Plans  (Pages 397 - 410) 
 

8. Operational Issues   
 
 (a) Minutes of the Meeting of the Party Group Leaders' Consultative Forum  

(Pages 411 - 416) 
 



 
- 3 - 

  
 

(b) Minutes of the Meeting of the Working Group on the Climate Crisis   
(Pages 417 - 422) 

 
 (c) Minutes of the Meeting of Active Belfast Limited Board  (Pages 423 - 446) 

 
 (d) Schedule of Meetings 2021  (Pages 447 - 448) 

 
 (e) Change of Date of Council Meeting  (Pages 449 - 450) 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 1

Agenda Item 2a
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 6
of the Local Government Act (Northern Ireland) 2014.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 9

Agenda Item 2b
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 6
of the Local Government Act (Northern Ireland) 2014.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 15

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 6
of the Local Government Act (Northern Ireland) 2014.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 35

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 6
of the Local Government Act (Northern Ireland) 2014.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 37

Agenda Item 2c
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 6
of the Local Government Act (Northern Ireland) 2014.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 41

Agenda Item 2d
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 6
of the Local Government Act (Northern Ireland) 2014.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 47

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 6
of the Local Government Act (Northern Ireland) 2014.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 55

Agenda Item 2e
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 6
of the Local Government Act (Northern Ireland) 2014.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 63

Agenda Item 2f
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 6
of the Local Government Act (Northern Ireland) 2014.



This page is intentionally left blank



 

STRATEGIC POLICY AND RESOURCES COMMITTEE 

 

 
 
 

 

Subject: 

 
Motion – Secured Serviced City Centre Civic Bicycle Parking 
Facilities 

 

Date: 20th November, 2020 
 

Reporting Officer: John Walsh, City Solicitor/Director of Legal and Civic Services 
 

Contact Officer: Jim Hanna, Senior Democratic Services Officer 
 

Restricted Reports     

Is this report restricted? Yes  No  

If Yes, when will the report become unrestricted?                                                    

After Committee Decision     

After Council Decision     

Sometime in the future     

Never     
 

Call-in     

 
Is the decision eligible for Call-in?                                                  
 

Yes  No  

 

1.0 Purpose of Report/Summary of Main Issues 
 

1.1 To consider a motion on Secured Serviced City Centre Civic Bicycle Parking Facilities which 

was referred to the Committee by the Council at its meeting on 2nd November.   

2.0 Recommendation 
 

2.1 The Committee is requested to consider the motion and to take such action thereon as may 

be determined. 

3.0 
 

Main Report 
 

3.1 

 

 

 

 

 

 

At the Council meeting on 2nd November, the following motion was proposed by Councillor 

Smyth and seconded by Councillor McKeown: 

 
“The Coronavirus pandemic has forced us all to rethink how we live our lives. However, 

as we seek to build back better, it is essential that we do this in a safe, sustainable way. 

Supporting cycling infrastructure in Belfast is key to this, enabling people to get around 

our city in a way which is good for health and good for the environment. 

 X  

 

 

 

 

X   

Page 67

Agenda Item 3a



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

3.2 

 

 

 

3.3 

 

 

3.4 

  

However, given the regular theft of bicycles in the city centre, it is important that we take 

steps to provide facilities to enable people to feel secure when they travel there by bicycle. 

  

Therefore, the Council agrees to the creation of secured, serviced city centre civic bicycle 

parking facilities, and will reallocate car parking space or other appropriate property in 

the city centre for this purpose, and work with partners to enable this to happen.” 

 

In accordance with Standing Order 13(f), the motion was referred without debate to the 

Strategic Policy and Resources Committee. 

 

Financial and Resource Implications 

None associated with this report. 

 

Equality or Good Relations Implications/Rural Needs Assessment 

None  

 

4.0 Documents Attached 
 

  
None  
 

 

Page 68



 

 
 
STRATEGIC POLICY AND RESOURCES COMMITTEE 
 
 
 
 
 

 
Subject: 

Motion: Climate Change Act – Further Response from the 
Minister of Agriculture, Environment and Rural Affairs 
 

 
Date: 20th November, 2020 

 
Reporting Officer: John Walsh, City Solicitor and Director of Legal and Civic Services 

 
Contact Officer: Jim Hanna, Senior Democratic Services Officer 

 

Restricted Reports     

Is this report restricted? Yes  No  

If Yes, when will the report become unrestricted?                                                    

After Committee Decision     

After Council Decision     

Sometime in the future     

Never     

     
 

Call-in     

 
Is the decision eligible for Call-in?                                                  
 

Yes  No  

 

1.0 Purpose of Report or Summary of main Issues 

 
1.1 

 

To consider a further response from the Minister of Agriculture, Environment and Rural 
Affairs in relation to a motion on a Climate Change Act. 
 

2.0 Recommendation 
 

2.1 
 

The Committee is asked to note the response. 
 

3.0 Main Report 

 
 
 

3.1 
 
 
 

 

Key Issues 
 
The Committee will recall that the Council, at its meeting on 1st September, passed the 
following motion: 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

X  

X 

Page 69

Agenda Item 3b



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
3.2 
 
 

3.3 
 
 
 
 

3.4 
 
 
 

3.5 
 
 
 
 

3.6 
 
 
 
 
 
 
3.7 
 
 
3.8 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
3.9 
 
 
 
 

 
“This Council welcomes the environmental commitments in the New Decade 
New Approach Deal. This council is deeply concerned that the Minister for 
Agriculture, Environment and Rural Affairs did not support an Assembly 
Motion to develop a Climate Change Act for Northern Ireland.  
 
This Council notes that Northern Ireland has fallen behind other parts of the 
UK in progressing reduction of emissions. A Climate Change Act can help us 
realise the ambition of the Belfast Agenda to create an environmentally 
sustainable City. This Council calls on the Minister to immediately prioritise 
the development of a Climate Change Act with legally binding and ambitious 
sectoral emission-reduction targets and a just transition to protect jobs through 
upskilling in less carbon intensive sectors.” 

 
 

A response was subsequently received from Minister Poots and was presented to the 
Strategic Policy and Resources Committee on 23rd October. 
 

In his response, the Minister had stated that he had written to the independent expert on UK 
Climate Change Committee (CCC) for advice on what would be Northern Ireland’s equitable 
contribution to the UK’s net zero emissions target, to ensure that its greenhouse gas 
emissions reduction targets were credible and evidence-based. 
 

 He had stated further that, unfortunately, the CCC was not in a position to respond to his 
request until after it had provided advice on the UK’s sixth carbon budget, which would be 
published in December, 2020. 
 

In the interim, his officials had provided him with proposals on an options appraisal for a 
Climate Change Bill in Northern Ireland. The Minister would consider those options along 
with the advice provided from the CCC and would present his findings to the Northern Ireland 
Executive to agree a way forward. 
 

The Committee, at its meeting on 23rd October, noted the Minister’s response and agreed 
that a further letter be forwarded to him seeking an update on the work which was being 
undertaken by his Department to address increasing carbon emission levels, including the 
mechanisms for monitoring, reporting and enforcement, the role of the Chief Inspector of the 
Northern Ireland Environment Agency in this work, and any assessment of carbon emissions 
which had been undertaken at a local level. 
 
A response to that letter has now been received from the Minister, a copy of which is 
attached. 
 
The Minister begins by pointing out that reducing carbon emissions requires a collective 
approach from Government and society and that it is the responsibility of Northern Ireland 
Departments to take action to reduce emissions in those areas under their control. He 
explains that the Department of Agriculture, Environment and Rural Affairs is responsible for 
emissions in the Agriculture, Land Use and Land Use Change and Forestry and Waste 
sectors and that it is taking forward or supporting a number of programmes of work which 
will directly contribute towards reducing greenhouse gas emissions. Several examples of 
these programmes are provided within the response. 
 
The Minister then goes on to review the latest greenhouse gas emission figures for Northern 
Ireland and for its proportion of total UK emissions, both overall and in relation to the 
agriculture sector and points out that that sector is recognised by the CCC as being one of 
the most difficult ones in which to achieve reductions. 
 

Page 70



 
3.10 

 
Minister Poots then outlines the role of the Chief Inspector of the Northern Ireland 
Environment Agency and concludes by referring to the Pollution Prevention and Control 
(Industrial Emissions) Regulations and the EU Emissions Trading Scheme in the context of 
the monitoring and reporting of emissions.   
 
Financial and Resource Implications 
 
None associated with this report. 
 
Equality or Good Relations Implications/Rural Needs Assessment 
 
None associated with this report. 
 

4.0 Document Attached 

  
Copy of response from the Minister of Agriculture, Environment and Rural Affairs 
 
 
 

 

Page 71



This page is intentionally left blank



 

Sustainability at the heart of a living, working, active landscape valued by everyone. 

 

From the Office of the  
Minister of Agriculture,  

Environment and Rural Affairs 

 

 

Henry Downey 
Democratic Services Officer 
Belfast City Council 
Legal and Civic Services Department 
City Hall 
Belfast 
BT1 5GS 
downeyh@belfastcity.gov.uk 

 
 

 

 

Room 438 
Dundonald House 
Upper Newtownards Road 
Ballymiscaw 
Belfast  
BT4 3SB 
Telephone: 028 9052 4140 
Email: private.office@daera-ni.gov.uk 
 
Our reference: CORR-1995-2020 
Date:   12 November 2020 

 

Dear Henry  
 
CARBON EMISSIONS LEVELS  
 
Thank you for your letter of 3 November acknowledging my response of 8 October 2020 in 
regards to the motion passed by Belfast City Council on the issue of developing a Climate 
Change Act for Northern Ireland. 
 
You have requested an update on the work being undertaken by my Department to address 
increasing carbon emission levels. Taking action to reduce emissions requires collective 
action across all of government and all of society. It is the responsibility of all NI departments 
to take action to reduce emissions for areas that they have responsibility for. My department 
takes responsibility for emissions in the Agriculture, Land Use and Land use Change and 
Forestry (LULUCF) and Waste sectors. My Department is taking forward or supporting a 
number of programmes of work which will directly contribute towards reducing greenhouse 
gas emissions. These include the rewetting of peatlands, the development of a Green Growth 
Strategy and the planting of trees under ‘Forests for our Future’ which I launched in March 
2020.  

 
In the latest available figures (2018) NI’s greenhouse gas emissions were estimated to be 
19.4 million tonnes of carbon dioxide equivalent (MtCO2e).  This was a decrease of 2.5% 
compared to 2017. The longer term trend showed a decrease of 20.0% compared to 24.3 
MtCO2e from the 1990 base year.  In terms of a proportion of total UK emission levels, NI 
emissions made up 4.3% of total UK emissions in 2018.  This has risen from a rate of 3.1% in 
1990 but is lower than the peak of 4.4% in 2016. However the makeup of emissions in each 
region are unique and it is difficult to compare emissions between countries. For example the 
agriculture sector makes up 27% of NI emissions and only 10% of overall UK emissions. It is 
recognised by the UK Climate Change Committee that the agriculture sector is one of the 
most difficult sectors to reduce emissions from.  
 
The role of the NIEA Chief Inspector is to enforce various pieces of legislation designed to 
protect the Environment and Public Health and therefore contribute to emissions reductions.  

Page 73

mailto:downeyh@belfastcity.gov.uk
mailto:private.office@daera-ni.gov.uk


                                                                                         
 

Sustainability at the heart of a living, working, active landscape valued by everyone. 

 

One of the main pieces of legislation, the Pollution Prevention and Control (Industrial 
Emissions) Regulations 2013, encourages energy efficiency though the implementation of 
best available techniques. The EU Emissions Trading Scheme (ETS) is another mechanism 
which contributes to emissions reductions. It is a market force driven scheme where 
installations have to buy allowances for every tonne of CO2 that they emit. The NI installations 
in the ETS scheme regulated by the Chief inspector account for around 18% of total NI 
emissions. As part of these schemes, installations have to monitor and report emissions. 
 
I trust that you find this helpful. 

 
Yours sincerely 
 

 
 
EDWIN POOTS MLA 
Minister of Agriculture, Environment and Rural Affairs 

 

Page 74



 

 
 
STRATEGIC POLICY AND RESOURCES COMMITTEE 
 
 
 
 
 

 
Subject: 

Motion - Moratorium on Licences for Fracking and 
Exploration and Extraction of Fossil Fuels - Responses from the 
Ministers for the Economy and Infrastructure 

 

Date: 20th November, 2020 
 

Reporting Officer: John Walsh, City Solicitor and Director of Legal and Civic Services 
 

Contact Officer: Jim Hanna, Senior Democratic Services Officer 
 

Restricted Reports     

Is this report restricted? Yes  No  

If Yes, when will the report become unrestricted?                                                    

After Committee Decision     

After Council Decision     

Sometime in the future     

Never     

     
 

Call-in     

 
Is the decision eligible for Call-in?                                                  
 

Yes  No  

 

1.0 Purpose of Report or Summary of main Issues 
 

1.1 
 

To consider responses from the Ministers for the Economy and Infrastructure in relation to a 
motion on a Moratorium on Licences for Fracking and Exploration and Extraction of Fossil 
Fuels. 
 

2.0 Recommendation 
 

1.2 
 

The Committee is asked to consider the responses and take such action thereon as may be 
determined. 
 

3.0 Main Report 

 
 
 
3.1 
 
 

 
Key Issues 
 
The Committee will recall that the Council, at its meeting on 1st October, passed the following 
motion: 
 

 

 

 

 

 

X  

X 

Page 75

Agenda Item 3c



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
3.2 
 
 
3.3 
 
 
 
 
 
 
3.4 
 
 
 
 
 
 
3.5 
 
 
 
 
 
 
3.6 
 
 
 
 
 
 
3.7 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

“This Council recognises that we are in a climate emergency and, being aware of 
the environmental and public health damage caused by fracking and the exploration 
and extraction of hydrocarbons, agrees to write to the Minister for the Economy and 
to the Minister for Infrastructure to establish their respective intentions regarding (i) 
the issuing of exploratory licences and (ii) the removal of Permitted Development 
Rights for hydrocarbon exploration which are currently provided for under Part 16 of 
the Planning Order (Northern Ireland ) 2015.  

 
The Council also calls upon the Northern Ireland Executive to place an immediate 
ban on all petroleum licensing and deny permitted development rights to any 
company seeking to prospect for oil and or/gas.” 

 
Responses have now been received from the Minister for the Economy and the Minister for 
Infrastructure, copies of which are attached. 
 
The Minister for the Economy, within her response, points out that the policy governing the 
issue of Permitted Development Rights for hydrocarbon exploration is the responsibility of 
the Department for Infrastructure and that she has, therefore, no comment to make on that 
matter. However, she confirms that that section of the motion dealing with the issuing of 
exploratory licences and calling upon the Northern Ireland Executive to place an immediate  
ban on all petroleum licensing does fall within her remit.  
 
She explains that, on 13th October, in response to a Private Member’s motion on Onshore 
Petroleum Licensing and Drilling, she had outlined in the Northern Ireland Assembly her 
position on a moratorium or ban on petroleum development, as well as her intentions 
regarding the handling of two current petroleum licence applications. The full transcript of 
that debate can be accessed by clicking on the following link and scrolling down to page 28: 
http://data.niassembly.gov.uk/HansardXml/plenary-13-10-2020.pdf 
 
Minister Mallon, within her response, recognises, like the Council, that there is a climate 
emergency and stresses that she is continually examining ways in which to address it. She 
refers to the fact that, on 5th October, she had announced her intention to bring forward a 
package of changes to permitted development rights, including the removal of permitted 
development rights for petroleum (oil and gas) exploration. Her proposals would be 
presented to the Infrastructure Committee in the coming weeks for scrutiny. 
 
The Minister goes on to point out that her Department also has a responsibility for regional 
planning policy, including the Strategic Planning Policy Statement provisions that “there 
should be a presumption against the exploitation of unconventional hydrocarbon extraction 
until there is sufficient and robust evidence on all environmental impacts.” She confirms that 
her position on this issue, like those of her predecessors, is unchanged, and that, in her view, 
that remains an appropriate precautionary approach. 
 
The Minister then highlights the need to note that any proposals for development, involving 
unconventional hydrocarbon extraction are likely to be determined by her Department as 
regionally significant development. Such proposals would, she explains, be assessed on 
their individual merits and would take into account Strategic Planning Policy Statement 
provisions, the views of consultees and all other material planning considerations, including 
health and environmental impacts. She concludes by pointing out that there are currently no 
such planning applications before the Department for Infrastructure for consideration.   
 
 
 

Page 76

http://data.niassembly.gov.uk/HansardXml/plenary-13-10-2020.pdf


 
Financial and Resource Implications 
 
None associated with this report. 
 
Equality or Good Relations Implications/Rural Needs Assessment 
 
None associated with this report. 
 

4.0 Documents attached 

  
Copies of responses from the Minister for the Economy and the Minister for Infrastructure.  
 
 

 

Page 77



This page is intentionally left blank



From the Office of the Minister  
Diane Dodds MLA 

 
Mr Henry Downey 
Democratic Services Officer, Belfast City Council 
DowneyH@BelfastCity.gov.uk 
 
 

Our Ref: CORR-4824-2020 
 

Your Ref: HD/JT 
 

26 October 2020 
 
Dear Mr Downey, 
 
Petroleum licensing - Belfast City Council Moratorium 
 
Thank you for your letter dated 19 October 2020 seeking my response to the motion 
which was passed at a meeting of Belfast City Council on 01 October 2020. 
 
As you will no doubt be aware, policy on the issue of Permitted Development Rights 
for hydrocarbon exploration is the responsibility of my Executive colleague, the 
Minister for Infrastructure. I therefore have no comment to make on that matter. 
 
The section of the motion seeking my intention in respect of the issuing of exploratory 
licences and calling on the Northern Ireland Executive to place an immediate ban on 
all petroleum licensing does fall within my Department’s remit. On 13 October 2020, 
in response to a Private Members Motion on Onshore Petroleum Licensing and 
Drilling in the Northern Ireland Assembly, I outlined my position with regard to a 
moratorium or ban on petroleum development, as well as my intentions with respect 
to the handling of two current petroleum licence applications. 
 
The full transcript of the debate is available at the link below (see page 28 onwards) 
http://data.niassembly.gov.uk/HansardXml/plenary-13-10-2020.pdf. 
 
Yours sincerely, 

 
DIANE DODDS MLA 
Minister for the Economy 

Netherleigh 
Massey Avenue 
Belfast BT4 2JP 
02890 529202 
email: private.office@economy-ni.gov.uk 

Page 79

mailto:DowneyH@BelfastCity.gov.uk
http://data.niassembly.gov.uk/HansardXml/plenary-13-10-2020.pdf


This page is intentionally left blank



 

From the office of the Minister for Infrastructure 

Nichola Mallon MLA 

 
 
 
Henry Downey 
Democratic Services Officer 
Democratic Services Unit 
Legal and Civic Services Department 
Room 123B, 
City Hall, 
Belfast 
BT1 5GS 
 
downeyh@belfastcity.gov.uk 
 
 

Room 708 
Clarence Court 
10-18 Adelaide Street 
BELFAST 
BT2 8GB 
Telephone: (028) 9054 0540 
Email: Private.office@infrastructure-ni.gov.uk  
  
 
Your reference:   
Our reference: CORR-2782-2020 
 Date  06 November 2020 

  

 
 
 
Dear Mr Downey 
 
LICENCES FOR FRACKING AND EXPLORATION AND EXTRACTION OF FOSSIL 
FUELS 
 
Thank you for your letter of 19 October 2020 regarding Belfast City Council’s motion on 
a Moratorium on Licences for Fracking and Exploration and Extraction of Fossil Fuels. 
 
Like the Council I also recognise there is a climate emergency and am continually 
looking at what I, as Infrastructure Minister, can do to address it. As you may be aware, 
on 5 October I announced my intention to bring forward a package of changes to 
permitted development rights (PDR), including the removal of PDR for petroleum (oil 
and gas) exploration. I will be bringing the proposals to the Infrastructure Committee for 
scrutiny in the coming weeks. 
 
My Department also has responsibility for regional planning policy, including the 
Strategic Planning Policy Statement (SPPS) provisions that “there should be a 
presumption against the exploitation of unconventional hydrocarbon extraction until 
there is sufficient and robust evidence on all environmental impacts.”  My position on 
this issue is unchanged from my predecessors and I consider that this remains an 
appropriate precautionary approach.  
 
It is important to note that any proposals for development involving unconventional 
hydrocarbon extraction are likely to be determined by my Department as regionally 
significant development.  Such proposals would be assessed on their individual merits, 
taking account of the SPPS, the relevant Local Development Plan (LDP), the views of 
statutory consultees and all other material planning considerations, including health 

Page 81

mailto:downeyh@belfastcity.gov.uk
mailto:Private.office@infrastructure-ni.gov.uk


 
  

  
 

and environmental impacts.  There are currently no such planning applications before 
my Department for consideration. 
 
The issuing of exploratory licences is a matter for the Department for the Economy.  

 
NICHOLA MALLON MLA 
Minister for Infrastructure 
 

 
 

Page 82



 

 

STRATEGIC POLICY & RESOURCES COMMITTEE 
 

 
 
 

 
Subject: Update on City Region Growth Deal  

 
Date: 20th November, 2020 

 
Reporting Officer: Suzanne Wylie, Chief Executive 

 
Contact Officer: 

 
Ronan Cregan, Deputy Chief Executive and Director of Finance and 
Resources 
 

 

Restricted Reports     

Is this report restricted? Yes  No  

If Yes, when will the report become unrestricted?                                                    

After Committee Decision     

After Council Decision     

Sometime in the future     

Never     

 

Call-in     

 
Is the decision eligible for Call-in?                                                  
 

Yes  No  

 

1.0 Purpose of Report or Summary of main Issues 
 

1.1 This report is to provide the Committee with an update on the progress of the Belfast Region 

City Deal (BRCD). 

2.0 Recommendations 
 

2.1 

 

 

 

The Committee is asked to note: 

i. the programme overview, the update in respect of each of the pillars , the progress 

that has been made in Outline Business Case (OBC) development and the important 

stage that the programme is now approaching; 

ii. the update in respect of the BRCD Council Panel and the minutes of the BRCD 

Council Panel held on 30th September 2020; and 

 X 

 

 

 

 

X   

Page 83

Agenda Item 4a



iii. the recent successful bid to the Apprenticeship Challenge Fund and approve the 

approach to work in partnership with BRCD partners to deliver this collaborative 

project as outlined in section 3.14. 

3.0 Main Report 

 

 

 

3.1 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

3.2 

 

 

 

 

 

 

3.3 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

3.4 

 

 

 

Programme Overview 

 

In September, the SP&R Committee were advised of work completed by the BRCD partners 

to review their projects in the context of the Covid-19 crisis and also received an update on 

the work of the Executive and Advisory Boards to ensure that the Programme is aligned with 

the Economic Recovery Strategy.  In addition, the Committee received an update on the digital 

task and finish group which had been set up to identify short-term measures to boost digital 

skills and support digital transformation as an immediate response to the crisis; a further 

update on this work is included in this report. 

 

OBCs are now progressing towards completion. In light of the difficult financial climate facing 

all public bodies, and the importance of ensuring that the scale of ambition aligns with 

affordability and available finances, the focus at this stage is on resolving key issues and 

challenges particularly in respect of budget profiling and scalability. Robust financial planning 

will be critical and will need to include consideration of plans for long-term revenue financing, 

so that the transformative investments included within the BRCD can proceed with confidence.   

 

As previously reported, the timeline for developing OBCs for all the capital projects that were 

outlined in the Heads of Terms has understandably had to be reviewed. Work on Draft OBCs 

is continuing at pace and will be considered by respective Advisory Boards in advance of 

consideration of the Executive Board in December.  Partners remain determined to have a 

deal in place so that funding can begin to flow from 1 April 2021 and discussions are ongoing 

between Partners and the NI and UK Governments in relation to agreeing a “phased” deal to 

enable a ‘Deal Document’ to be signed off by the end of the financial year.  

 

Communication and engagement continues to be a priority both at a project and programme 

level. The Committee was advised in February this year that specialist support was being 

commissioned to assist with strategic engagement activity - including both business and 

political engagement.  Although this work was delayed somewhat due to the Covid crisis it is 

envisaged that, given recent advancements, strategic engagement with key stakeholders will 

begin over the coming months. 

 

Page 84



 

 

 

3.5 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

3.6 

 

 

 

3.7 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

3.8 

 

 

 

Investment Priorities  

 

Tourism and Regeneration 

Intensive engagement has taken place with partners to consider and address the impact of 

Covid-19 on this programme of investment.  With the exception of one project within Antrim 

and Newtownabbey, all tourism and regeneration projects remain on schedule to submit final 

OBCs by the end of November.   Members are reminded that the OBC for the Belfast 

Destination Hub will be the subject of a separate paper at today’s meeting. The OBCs for 

regeneration projects also continue to reflect and respond to the new challenges facing town 

and city centres in light of the pandemic. It is intended that a collective recommendation for 

this Pillar will be submitted to the Executive Board in December for review.  

 

A strategic narrative for the Tourism and Regeneration is currently being finalised. Once 

complete, this will provide a strong communications tool for both the Pillar and the Programme. 

 

Innovation 

Final engagement workshops with the UK and NI Governments for the Advanced 

Manufacturing Innovation Centre (AMIC), Global Innovation Institute (GII) and Institute for 

Research Excellence in Advanced Clinical Healthcare (i-REACH) OBCs were held in October.  

The workshops were positive, demonstrating the significant progress made, with detailed 

feedback received from all parties. Feedback from NI Government departments on The Centre 

for Digital Healthcare Technology (CDHT) OBC has been received and further feedback from 

the UK Government is imminent.  A first draft OBC for the Screen Media & Innovation Lab 

(SMIL) is progressing and is due to be submitted to the Innovation Pillar Board during 

November.  The innovation projects have been significantly rescaled and are now broadly in 

line with the funding available to support this Pillar.  Significant detailed work has been taking 

place in order to obtain agreed solutions to the initial revenue challenges of these projects and 

these solutions will be reported alongside the OBCs.  Work has also taken place to ensure 

that any potential duplication is minimised and that projects both within the BRCD and across 

other NI City Deals is aligned as much as possible, recognising, for example, the very different 

stages of the deals.  

 

Digital 

Detailed development of the Digital Innovation Programme Business Case has been taking 

place during recent months.  The business case will prioritise a flexible ‘funds-based’ approach 

with the increased use of Challenge Funds alongside an Infrastructure Enabling fund which 

will support connectivity infrastructure as well as physical enabling infrastructure towards the 

Page 85



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

3.9 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

3.10 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

3.11 

 

 

 

 

 

development of the Belfast Smart District.  Detailed and complex work continues to look at a 

governance structure to manage and administer these funds.  Significant industry and 

government engagement has also taken place in recent months, with engagement with DfE, 

Invest NI and a positive session with UK Government in October.  In addition, engagement 

continues with the Industry Reference Group, created by the Digital Innovation Commissioner. 

 

Infrastructure 

Significant progress has been made in developing OBCs, for the Newry Southern Relief Road, 

Lagan Pedestrian & Cycle Bridge and Belfast Rapid Transit Phase 2. OBCs/IOBCs have now 

all been reviewed by the Department for Infrastructure Economists.  Both the Lagan 

Pedestrian & Cycle Bridge & Newry Southern Relief Road have now been submitted to the 

Department of Finance for review. The Belfast Rapid Transit Phase 2 IOBC remains under 

review by economists and will be submitted to Department of Finance following review. Given 

the early stage of development of some of these projects there are very high levels of optimism 

bias included in the financial case, creating affordability challenges across the programme. 

The approach to Employability and Skills integration for all 3 projects has been incorporated 

in the OBCs/IOBCs and further information in relation to employment figures has been 

provided to the BRCD Team to inform the Employability and Skills programme. 

 

Employability and Skills (E&S) 

The Employability & Skills Programme continues to be refined with proposals developed under 

the ‘employability’, ‘skills’ and ‘digital’ thematic areas.  An overall proposition document which 

outlines the full ambition of the E&S pillar is also in development in draft form and includes 

details of the Programme and the role of partners in preparing for emerging employment 

opportunities and in promoting inclusive growth through their organisations. The Proposition 

will be further refined following additional engagement with partners across councils, colleges, 

universities and government departments which is planned for later this month.  This will be 

followed by further industry engagement in early December.  It is anticipated that a final E&S 

Proposition will be submitted for approval to the Executive Board in February.   

 

As previously reported to the Committee, in May the BRCD partners established a digital task 

and finish group to identify short-term measures that could boost digital skills and support 

digital transformation in light of the immediate impact of Covid-19. This group worked closely 

with industry and government to identify a small number of interventions that could help to 

improve digital literacy, skills and capability.  Digital Futures was one of the resulting 

interventions emerging from this work.  Funded by the Department for the Economy as part of 

Page 86



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

3.12 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

3.13 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

the Skills Intervention Programme, and delivered by a number of FE Colleges across the 

region, more than 250 applicants applied for the 55 places available.  Over the next 6 months 

the Programme will offer the successful graduates opportunities to explore career pathways 

in Cloud Computing, Data Analytics and Cyber Security.  Each of the three programmes has 

now commenced and employer engagement is underway to match participants to internships 

which are expected early in 2021.   

 

Work to advance further interventions developed through the task and finish group is also 

continuing.  This includes:  

 

- Enhancing existing digital transformation support for small businesses and exploring the 

potential to provide capital grant funding to enable them to invest in digital transformation 

through the NI Executive’s Growth & City Deal Complementary Fund;  

- Improving access to digital literacy support for residents across the region and exploring 

innovative new approaches to employment pathways into the digital sector for non-

graduates and those from under-represented client groups. 

 

With ambitions for up to 20,000 new and better jobs over a spectrum of skill levels and across 

a range of sectors, work of the E&S pillar has included development of a skills programme to 

align with, and add value to, existing interventions.  An emerging priority of this programme is 

to increase the awareness and accessibility of apprenticeships for both employers and 

individuals.  One of the city deal ambitions in this area is to create an Apprenticeship Hub to 

establish a centralised resource to:  

 

- Improve the visibility of apprenticeship provision; creating compelling content to 

stimulate employers to explore apprenticeship pathways; to support co-ordination 

across apprenticeship providers and to provide a virtual support environment for 

employers and apprentices;  

- Facilitate the future proofing of apprenticeship provision by developing new 

apprenticeship pathways within priority growth sectors aligned to BRCD investment; 

and;  

- Develop new innovative models of delivery, in partnership with government 

departments, to address barriers to participation aligned to under-represented client 

groups, key sector needs and/or the needs of smaller employers.  

 

 

Page 87



 

3.14 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

A recent funding opportunity emerging through the Department for Economy’s 

Apprenticeship Challenge Fund enabled a collaborative bid to be submitted on behalf of the 

BRCD partners to advance the development of this Hub.  A successful funding application 

has now been secured with up to £100k of resources to undertake developmental work in 

the design of a virtual apprenticeship platform and enable exploratory work to be undertaken 

within high value sectors on the development of new apprenticeship pathways. The overall 

project will be managed by the BRCD Team, with delivery of the project undertaken directly 

through the Council as well as through Further Education and University Partners.  On this 

basis the Council will enter into legal agreements with our BRCD partners to deliver the 

component elements of the contract they are best placed to deliver.  

 

3.15 

 

 

 

 

 

3.16 

BRCD Council Panel 

Members will be aware that the BRCD Council Panel provides a forum for members from all 

six partner councils to meet to jointly discuss issues, progress and benefits of the BRCD.   

Each council is represented on the Forum by four members and, as previously agreed by this 

Committee, the four BCC nominees are the party group leaders (or their nominees) from the 

four largest parties.    

 

A virtual meeting of the Panel was held on the 30th September and hosted by Lisburn & 

Castlereagh City Council (minutes attached at Appendix 1).  At this meeting the Panel 

received a detailed update on progress across the programme and Members considered how 

the programme might help support a sustainable, resilient recovery from the Covid crisis. 

Members also discussed key challenges facing the programme including the difficulty of 

communicating effectively in the current environment and how partners could help rebuild 

momentum and improve communications and engagement.  The next meeting will be held on 

25th November 2020 and will be hosted by Mid and East Antrim Borough Council. 

 

 

3.17 

 

 

 

Next Steps 

The completion of OBCs is now of critical importance in order to continue momentum for the 

Deal so that it can start to deliver, with a Deal Document being completed before the end of the 

financial year. To meet this deadline it will be essential to agree a phased deal, with those 

projects which are most developed being included in the first phase, allowing further time for 

other projects to undertake additional development work to enable them to demonstrate their 

value and impact. Work is also now ongoing in earnest with Department of Finance and partner 

Finance Directors to support profiling, affordability & deliverability across the Deal.  This work 

will continue to intensify as OBCs are finalised and as the Financial Agreement and Plan 

Page 88



elements of the Deal Document are drafted. Given the advanced stage of the programme and 

the finalisation of OBCs, strategic engagement with key stakeholders is crucial and core briefing 

material will be developed over the coming weeks. 

 

 

3.18 

 

 

3.19 

Financial and Resource Implications 

All costs associated with the BRCD are within existing budgets.   

 

Equality or Good Relations Implications/Rural Needs Assessment 

The Approach taken to develop the City Deal has been subject to independent equality 

screening and rural proofing and states that: 

 

‘BRCD is inherently inclusive, affording an opportunity for the region to grow in a way that 

will benefit the economy of Northern Ireland as a whole, thereby enhancing the lives and 

well-being of its citizens. If during further development of the programme it becomes 

apparent that there may be an adverse impact on certain groups or communities then the 

partnership commits to carrying out further Section 75 work and including screening and 

EQIAs as and when appropriate.’ 

4.0 Document Attached 

  

Minutes of the BRCD Council Panel of 30th September 2020. 

 

 

Page 89



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 
 
 

BRCD Council Panel 
 
 
 

 
Subject: Minutes of Belfast Region City Deal (BRCD) Council Panel  

 
Date: 12:30 pm, 30 September 2020 

Councillors in attendance: 

Councillor Uel Mackin – Lisburn & Castlereagh City Council (Chair) 
Alderman Mark Cosgrove – Antrim & Newtownabbey Borough Council 
Alderman Phillip Brett – Antrim & Newtownabbey Borough Council 
Councillor Stephen Ross – Antrim & Newtownabbey Borough Council 
Councillor Glenn Finlay – Antrim & Newtownabbey Borough Council  
Councillor Robert Adair – Ards & North Down Borough Council 
Alderman Alan McDowell – Ards & North Down Borough Council 
Councillor Richard Smart – Ards & North Down Borough Council 
Councillor Stephen Dunlop – Ards & North Down Borough Council 
Alderman Brian Kingston – Belfast City Council  
Councillor Carl Whyte – Belfast City Council 
Councillor Ronan McLaughlin – Belfast City Council 
Councillor Eric Hanvey - Belfast City Council 
Councillor Sorcha Eastwood – Lisburn & Castlereagh City Council  
Alderman Allan Ewart MBE – Lisburn & Castlereagh City Council 
Alderman Billy Ashe MBE – Mid & East Antrim Borough Council 
Councillor Timothy Gaston – Mid & East Antrim Borough Council 
Alderman Audrey Wales MBE -Mid & East Antrim Borough Council 
Councillor Robin Stewart – Mid & East Antrim Borough Council 
Councillor Charlie Casey – Newry, Mourne & Down District Council 
Councillor Robert Burgess – Newry, Mourne & Down District Council 
Councillor Pete Byrne – Newry, Mourne & Down District Council 
Councillor Willie Clarke – Newry, Mourne & Down District Council 

Officers: 

David Burns – Chief Executive, Lisburn & Castlereagh City Council 
Jacqui Dixon – Chief Executive, Antrim and Newtownabbey Borough Council 
Anne Donaghy – Chief Executive, Mid and East Antrim Borough Council 
Stephen Reid – Chief Executive, Ards and North Down Borough Council 
Marie Ward – Chief Executive, Newry, Mourne and Down District Council 
Suzanne Wylie – Chief Executive, Belfast City Council 
Ronan Cregan – Deputy Chief Executive, Belfast City Council 
Damien Martin – BRCD Programme Director, Belfast City Council 
Jayne Brady – Belfast Digital Innovation Commissioner, Belfast City Council 
Donal Rogan – Director of Service Transformation, Lisburn & Castlereagh City Council 
Susie McCullough – Director Regeneration, Development and Planning, Ards and 
North Down Borough Council 
Padraic Murphy – Programme Co-ordinator,  Lisburn and Castlereagh City Council 
Sinead Lavery – Lisburn & Castlereagh City Council 
Shelley Baldrick – Lisburn & Castlereagh City Council 
Nicola Rowles – Interim Director of Development, Mid and East Antrim Borough 
Council 
Amanda Smyth – Head of Regeneration and Business Development, Newry, Mourne 
and Down District Council 
Conor Mallon – Director of Enterprise, Regeneration and Tourism, Newry, Mourne and 
Down District Council 
Stephen Wallace, Ruth Rea, Theresa Slevin – BRCD Programme Office 

Page 91



 

1.0 Welcome and Introductions 

 

1.1 Cllr Mackin welcomed the members of the BRCD Council Panel to the meeting and Suzanne Wylie outlined the 

key areas of focus for the meeting. 

2.0 Apologies 

 

2.1 

 

Apologies were received from: 

Alderman Michael Henderson (Lisburn & Castlereagh City Council) 

3.0 Declarations of Interest 

 

3.1 Cllr Mackin asked Councillors if they had any interests to declare in relation to the agenda.  No interests were 

declared. 

4.0 Minutes of Previous Meeting 

 

4.1 Cllr Adair raised concern regarding the level of detail within the minutes and also queried the accuracy in 

relation to the last sentence in Section 8 regarding a decision to host an engagement session with MLAs. 

Damien Martin (DM) confirmed that the vote related to whether all MLAs or the Belfast Region MLAs should 

be invited to the session and it was agreed that Belfast Region MLAs should be invited. 

 

Cllr Gaston raised concern that the last meeting of the panel was over 8 months ago and repeated his concern 

in relation to the representation of councillors on the Executive Board. The Chair proposed to come back to the 

issue of councillor representation on the Executive Board later in the meeting. 

 

Alderman Cosgrove proposed that the minutes from the last meeting were agreed. 

Seconded – Ald Brian Kingston. 

Members agreed the minutes. 

 

5.0 BRCD Programme Report 

 

5.1 Damien Martin (BRCD Programme Director) provided an update on the progress to date across the BRCD 

programme namely: 

 The delays to the timeline for deal development due to Covid-19 crisis, however the ambition remains 

for funding to flow from April 2021, with Deal Document completed in advance of this date. 

 The progress that has been made in Outline Business Case (OBC) development, with OBCs due to be 

completed for most projects in the next two months. 

 Due to the direct impact of the Covid crisis and the delays in the completion of OBCs, planned work 

on strategic engagement, including both business and political engagement has been delayed. 

 The key role that the BRCD could play in supporting the economic recovery across Northern Ireland.   

 

Page 92



David Burns, (Chief Executive, Lisburn and Castlereagh City Council) outlined the key issues and challenges 

facing the programme namely: 

 Financial Climate – whilst BRCD represents a big opportunity to boost the economy, the challenges for 

Councils in relation to the financial commitment required is acknowledged. 

 Covid-19 – has presented challenges specifically in relation to the Tourism and Regeneration projects 

and the phasing and delivery of these needs consideration. 

 Investment Climate – leveraging of private sector investment is a key priority of BRCD but this is more 

challenging in the current climate. 

 Timing and Momentum – concerns about the potential for further delays in considering business 

cases, due to the pressures for example on the UK and NI Government departments, and the 

associated impact on partner and private sector confidence. 

 Collaboration – the need to improve collaboration across City and Growth Deals whilst recognising 

that the BRCD is significantly more advanced than other Deals; 

 Engagement – the need to progress political and business engagement, whilst recognising the 

challenges facing the business community at the moment and that the BRCD is a medium to long term 

programme. 

 

Cllr Casey noted the amount of work that has been completed to date and the amount of work that remains 

but highlighted the need for the projects to be delivered as soon as possible to deliver a much needed boost 

for local areas, particularly in light of the current economic climate.  A query was raised in relation to the 

ability of some projects to advance at an earlier stage. DM noted that all BRCD Partners are working hard to 

get OBCs completed, but it was acknowledged that some projects may be ready sooner than others. However, 

Partners are confident that a process can be managed that delivers for all Partners- accepting the long-term 

nature of the programme and that all projects will not happen at the same time. DM highlighted the potential 

for a Digital Transformation proposal to the complementary fund as a potential early win for all Partners.  

 

Alderman Wales queried how the money will flow and if there will be an agreed budget for projects. 

DM reported that the NI Governance and Funding arrangements have been agreed and funding will flow 

through an accountable body, with the exception of the DfI funding. By the end of the OBC process it is 

expected that each project will have an allocated budget. 

 

Alderman Ewart noted the increased DfI project budgets, concerns regarding the continued increase in project 

costs during project development and queried whether all OBCs were required before money could flow for 

any project. DM noted the very early stage of development of the DfI projects and the large amounts of 

Optimism Bias included due to this and reported that it seemed unlikely that the programme would be able to 

fund all of the DfI projects at their current scale. DM acknowledged that longer timescales could result in 

increased costs but noted the multiple processes for the OBCs to progress through to get approval for 

expenditure. DM noted that there needs to be an understanding of the individual project budget requirements 

Page 93



within the OBCs before collective decisions can be made, for example on the allocation of funding between the 

Infrastructure and Tourism and Regeneration pillars. However, it should nevertheless be possible to develop a 

phased approach that would allow the most advanced projects to progress whilst further development work 

continues on the other projects. 

 

Cllr Whyte reported the current feelings of negativity within the business sector and that greater 

communication of BRCD and the economic boost it will provide should be communicated to improve 

awareness. DM noted that the OBCs are the key to unlocking the Deal and that completing the OBCs had been 

the priority over the last few months. However, DM agreed that it is now time to start focusing on the 

communication and engagement. 

 

Suzanne Wylie highlighted the complexity of the funding arrangements for the programme, which includes 

funding from UK Government, NI Executive, 6 Councils and 2 universities and the need for each funding body 

to be content on the robustness of the OBCs, which results in multiple approval processes for the OBCs. It was 

also noted that the funding will be spread over at least 10 years, with the UK Government funding being 

provided in a flat profile. 

 

Cllr Stewart queried what would happen if a project fails to progress. David Burns reported that BRCD partners 

are working hard with the Departments to ensure that the OBCs are robust and scalability of projects is being 

explored to assist affordability. 

 

Members were content to note the content of the report and the answers provided. 

 

6.0 Covid-19 and the role of BRCD in recovery  

 

6.1 Suzanne Wylie (Chief Executive, Belfast City Council) and Jayne Brady (Belfast Digital Innovation Commissioner) 

presented on the role of the BRCD in our economic recovery. The key points highlighted included: 

 NI and its economy have been significantly and extensively affected by Covid-19 

 There is a risk of compounding inequality and the BRCD commitment to inclusive growth is more 

important than ever to maximise job creation and retention  

 BRCD has commitment of funding and will play a key role in our economic recovery 

 OBCs have been revised to ensure Covid has been considered in their development 

 There is a recognition that investments in tourism are long-term in nature and align with the expected 

return of international visitors to pre-pandemic levels in 2-3 years 

 UK Government has recognised the need to double investment in R&D and to redress the imbalance 

in funding for regions like Northern Ireland 

 The BRCD investments build on the strongest and most resilient sectors, delivering digital Innovation 

& skills capability that is now so critical to businesses 

Page 94



 Digital Task and Finish Group have agreed a number of interventions that can be delivered to support 

those most impacted by Covid and includes delivery of a reskilling programme funded by the 

Department of the Economy, which will be delivered in advance of BRCD funding, but was developed 

through the partnership created by BRCD. 

 

The Chairperson thanked Suzanne Wylie and Jayne Brady for their presentation. 

 

7.0 NI City & Growth Deals: Governance and Funding Arrangement 

 

7.1 David Burns, (Chief Executive, Lisburn and Castlereagh City Council) highlighted the key points from the NI City 

and Growth Deals: Governance and Funding paper which included: 

 The NI Executive agreed the NI Governance and Funding arrangements and confirmed match funding 

for the NI City and Growth Deals in May. 

 In May, the NI Executive also agreed to the establishment of a complementary fund of £100million for 

the Belfast Region City Deal (BRCD), Mid & South-West Growth Deal and Causeway Coast and Glens 

Growth Deal. The terms for this fund have not been agreed but Partners will be working 

collaboratively on potential ideas that will bring collective benefit to the three regions. 

 One potential small scale proposal for the complementary fund, involves establishing a flexible 

support fund, providing small scale capital grants for small businesses seeking to invest in digital 

technology as part of an overall digital transformation plan.  

 SOLACE have created a Working Group which will consider emerging cross-deal proposals for the 

complementary fund. 

 

Alderman Wales queried how quickly the complementary fund could be accessed to provide support to local 

businesses struggling due to Covid-19. David Burns noted that Partners were working with Departments to 

determine the process for access to the funding but understood that subject to business case approval there is 

potential for some funding to flow at an early stage. 

 

8.0 Schedule of Meetings  

 

8.1 The schedule of meetings was agreed. 

 

9.0 Press Release 

 

9.1 The BRCD Council Panel agreed the press release in relation to the meeting. 

 

10.0 AOB 

 

Page 95



10.1 Cllr Gaston raised a concern in relation to the representation of councillors on the Executive Board and 

proposed that one member from each Council should attend the Executive Board with the Chief Executive. 

Seconded - Cllr Adair   

 

Cllr McLaughlin stated that he was of the view that the Executive Board was not the appropriate place for 

political representatives, given that each Council has their own accountability and reporting processes and that 

Councils are contributing only 10% of funding to the overall BRCD. 

 

Cllr Brett queried whether the Panel had the authority to change the representation on the Executive Board as 

the governance arrangements had been agreed by the NI Executive and UK Government and indicated that he 

did not believe the proposed councillor representation on the Executive Board would be appropriate. 

 

Cllr Casey stated that he did not support councillor representation on the Executive Board as councillors are 

kept updated through the Chief Executives and Council reporting processes. 

 

Alderman Cosgrove indicated that he did not believe that political representation as proposed was 

appropriate, particularly given the level of Council contribution to the BRCD funding.  

 

The Chair moved to a vote on the proposal and the proposal fell. 

 

Cllr Gaston requested increased engagement of councillors on the work of the BRCD moving forward. 

 

10.2 Cllr Adair proposed that a meeting with the BRCD MLAs is organised. 

Seconded – Alderman Wales 

 

The Chair moved to a vote on the proposal, and the proposal was approved. 

 

11.0 Date, time and location of next meeting 

Wednesday 25 November at 12:30 pm 

Mid and East Antrim Borough Council 

 

Page 96



 

STRATEGIC POLICY & RESOURCES COMMITTEE 
 

 
 

Subject: Inclusive Growth - Social Value Policy 

Date: 20th November, 2020 

Reporting Officer: John Walsh, City Solicitor and Director of Legal and Civic Services 

Contact Officer: 
Noleen Bohill, Head of Commercial and Procurement Services 
Christine Robinson, Head of Strategy, Policy and Partnerships  

 

Restricted Reports     

Is this report restricted? Yes  No  

If Yes, when will the report become unrestricted?                                                    

After Committee Decision     

After Council Decision     

Sometime in the future     

Never     

     

 

Call-in     

 
Is the decision eligible for Call-in?                                                   
 

Yes  No  

 

1.0 Purpose of Report or Summary of Main Issues 

1.1 The purpose of this report is to provide an update on the development of a Social Value 

policy for the Council, as part of the Inclusive Growth Strategy. 

2.0 Recommendations 

2.1 The Committee is recommended to: 

i. note the work in relation to social value that is currently being undertaken;  

ii. note the date for the forthcoming Members’ Social Value Working Group 

engagement workshop (section 3.6); and 

iii. ensure that a representative is nominated from each political party to the task and 

finish Social Value Working Group for Members. 

 

 

 

 

 

X  

X 

Page 97

Agenda Item 4b



3.0 Main Report 

3.1  

 

 

 

 

3.2 

 

 

 

 

 

 

3.3 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

3.4 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Members agreed a Notice of Motion proposed by Councillor Beattie in January 2019 on the 

development of a social value strategy to further social, environmental and economic goals 

of Belfast City Council and subsequently in January 2020 to establish a task and finish Social 

Value Working Group. 

 

Since Members received the last update in January 2019, work has been progressing, led 

by a cross departmental officer working group to develop a social value policy and supporting 

framework. Whilst seeking to achieve a best value outcome for the ratepayer, from our 

procurement activities, the policy also aims to maximise the impact of council’s expenditure 

to get the best possible social outcome thereby making a positive difference to the people 

and communities in Belfast.  

 

There is no ‘one-size-fits-all’ approach to deliver and achieve social value. Research shows 

that even in cities and regions where social value considerations in procurement have been 

applied for some time, providers and commissioners continue to learn about how best to 

achieve and evidence it. The emerging approach that officers have been developing includes 

a Toolkit to determine appropriate and proportionate social value criteria within a contract. 

The toolkit also provides a consistent approach to enable the measurement, monitoring and 

reporting of social value commitments within Council contracts and to, in as far as possible, 

deliver social value at scale. It is being designed to align with the five long-term outcomes or 

‘conditions of wellbeing’ and associated commitments within the Belfast Agenda that people 

identified that they wanted by 2035.   

 

The scope of the policy also reflects council’s wide ranging role and recognises that social 

value can be delivered not solely through its procurement power. Other aspects to the policy, 

which will also contribute towards social value objectives include:  

 

 Transparency & pre-market engagement - We will publish and regularly update our 

procurement pipeline to help suppliers prepare for future tendering opportunities; 

 Supplier Guidance & Training – We will develop detailed guidance for potential 

bidders to Council contracts so that they are better able to accommodate social 

value commitments and to identify ways in which they can increase the economic, 

social and environmental value of their work; 

 Reserved contracts – We will use reserved contracts, where appropriate, to support 

social enterprises and co-operatives; 

Page 98



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

3.5 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

3.6 

 

 

 

 

3.7 

 Economic development function – We provide support to local businesses, 

particularly social enterprises whose primary objective is to achieve social and/or 

environmental benefit; and 

 Physical development & built environment – We will consider social value at the 

design stage for future capital projects, seeking for example to maximise 

opportunities for energy efficiency and use of natural resources.  

 

A draft Social Value Framework is being developed, which sets out the social value 

initiatives, linked to the Belfast Agenda outcomes, which may be applied to each tender. This 

will include a number of ‘social value points’ assigned for each social value initiative or 

measure. It is now timely that the Social Value Procurement Member Working Group is 

established to consider this policy.  We are now seeking representation from all 8 political 

parties, before the draft Social Value Policy is brought to Committee. A workshop for the 

Working Group will be scheduled this month.  It is hoped that the draft policy will be subject 

to public consultation in the new year. 

 

 Following Council approval, it is proposed to undertake a public consultation, targeting key 

stakeholders. It is also proposed that as the policy establishes meaningful criteria sitting at 

the heart of contractual relations which will have measurable/ reportable outcomes, 

monitoring reports will be brought to Committee on an annual basis. 

 

Members will also be aware that the development of the Social Value Policy and the 

accompanying Framework is one strand of work designed to make a contribution to our 

Inclusive Growth ambitions. Work is also being progressed in relation to the Belfast Inclusive 

Growth City Charter and while the project is still within the engagement phase, it is intended 

that ‘social value procurement’ will be one of the three pillars to the charter.  As such, the 

timing enables the council to demonstrate its leadership as an exemplar of progressive 

procurement.  

 
3.8 
 
 
 
3.9 

Financial and Resource Implications 

There are no direct financial implication arising from this report.  
 
 

Equality or Good Relations Implications/Rural Needs Assessment 

There are no direct equality implications contained in this report.   
 

4.0 Documents Attached  

 None 

 

Page 99



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 
STRATEGIC POLICY AND RESOURCES COMMITTEE  
 
 
 
 
 

 
Subject: Final Resilience Strategy for Belfast  

 
Date: 20th November, 2020 

 
Reporting Officer: Grainia Long, Commissioner for Resilience 

 
Contact Officer: Claire Shortt, Statistics and Research Officer  

 

Restricted Reports     

Is this report restricted? Yes  No  

If Yes, when will the report become unrestricted?                                                    

After Committee Decision     

After Council Decision     

Sometime in the future     

Never     
 

Call-in     

 
Is the decision eligible for Call-in?                                                  
 

Yes  No  

 

1.0 Purpose of Report 

1.1 To provide the Committee with an overview of conclusions arising from the public consultation 

and engagement on the draft Resilience Strategy, to outline the changes made to the document 

as part of the finalisation process and seek its approval for the document.    

2.0 Recommendations 

2.1 The Committee is asked to note the changes made to the document taking account of the public 

consultation, and consider for approval, to enable it to proceed to full Council, in advance of a 

virtual launch in December.   

Members should note that as a city-wide document containing commitments from external 

partners, the document has already been considered and endorsed by the Resilience and 

Sustainability Board.   

 

 X 

 

 

 

 

X   

Page 101

Agenda Item 4c



3.0 Main Report 

3.1 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

3.2 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

3.3 

 

 

 

3.4 

 

 

 

 

 

 

3.5 

 

 

 

The Belfast Agenda commits the city to the development of a Resilience Strategy to ‘take a 

targeted approach to addressing those issues which pose the greatest risk to the city and its 

economy’.  The commitment aligned Belfast with a number of cities globally, who are invested in 

long-term risk management.  A highly inclusive process, involving over 1000 individuals was 

commenced eighteen months ago, and a draft Resilience Strategy was published for formal 

consultation in January 2020.  Importantly, the workstreams arising through the strategy process 

were co-designed by city partners as part of their work on the Resilience and Sustainability 

Board.   

 

An extension to the consultation was agreed due to the effect of Covid-19 on partner 

organisations and their staff.  Between January 2020 and July 2020, a period of formal 

consultation was entered into, incorporating a number of elements: 

 

- an online survey on the Belfast City Council consultation portal,  

- standalone submissions forwarded to the Resilience Unit,  

- and a citywide and thematic engagement undertaken on our behalf by Urban Scale 

Interventions. This included on street engagement at a kiosk in Castle Place, 

workshops in local neighbourhoods, an interactive ‘resilience tree’ located in public 

places, and online thematic workshops with young people and older people.  

 

Over 1,300 people took part, 75 written submissions were received. The consultation was almost 

complete when the lockdown began, at which point all engagement activity moved online, and 

the completion for the online consultation was extended. 

 

Following the consultation, two workshops were held with members of the Resilience and 

Sustainability Board, with the aim of discussing feedback, shaping the strategy and aligning with 

member’s programmes. Members of the R&S board met on 10th November and formally 

endorsed the strategy. 

 

Main Themes arising from the Public Consultation  

 

The draft Strategy was developed through an inclusive process, whereby we spoke with over 

one thousand people, and was based on huge amounts of publicly available data and 

evidence.  Unsurprisingly therefore, the public consultation found a high level of agreement 

with the shocks and stresses identified;  

Page 102



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

- Consultees welcomed the principle of a resilience strategy; a document that sets out 

long term risks for the city, and agreed it should be kept ‘up to date’ and refreshed every 

two years 

- Predictably, a large number of consultees felt the final document should reflect the 

impact of Covid-19 on the city, and should draw conclusions on what this could mean 

for our future.   

- It was also proposed that ‘mental ill health’ and ‘use of prescription drugs’ should 

treated separately and that ‘car dependency’ should be included in the focus on ‘carbon 

intensive systems’. 

- There was substantial support for the principle of ‘multiple problem solvers’ and the 

suggestion that we need to find levers to solve several problems at once.  Consultees 

agreed with the three areas of focus identified- there was particular support for the need 

to include children and young people more in the decisions that affect their lives.   

- Generally, there was a view that we need to separate out the ‘assessment’ of risks, 

from the ‘solutions’ and that the document should not try to do too much.  Overall, 

consultees agreed that the biggest long-term challenge for the city was 

environmental/climate related.  On this basis, they agreed that the three ‘multiple 

problems solvers’ should try to achieve a single ‘resilience goal’ and be narrowly 

focused on the transition to a zero-emissions economy.  That means, in practical terms, 

that the focus on children and young people should be directed towards their involved in 

climate action.  This was dealt with in detail in the workshops and there was general 

agreement with the approach.   

- A significant number of respondents asked for the section on inequality to be drawn out 

further, and addressed as a ‘stress’ in its own right, rather than as part of ‘Economic 

Recovery Capacity’. 

 

Changes to the Document  

 

- Taking into account the feedback above, the strategy now encompasses two distinct 

sections: (1) a Resilience Assessment, an analysis of the strategic risks to Belfast, taking 

account of the views of citywide stakeholders and (2) an Ambitions Document: Climate 

Plan for Belfast, setting out the resilience goal and priorities being delivered by the 

Resilience and Sustainability Board.  It is the intention of the Resilience and Sustainability 

Board (R&SB) that the Resilience Assessment be reviewed and refreshed every two 

years to ensure a proactive approach to the management of strategic risks. The R&SB 

Page 103



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

3.6 

 

 

 

 

 

 

3.7 

will be the governors of this document along with support from the Belfast Climate 

Commission. 

The ambitions document will also need to be refreshed as new opportunities for multiple 

problem solvers (leavers that can respond to several risks at once) arise. This will be the 

responsibility of the R&S Board to update and deliver.  

- As per feedback received, we have included ‘Poverty and Inequality’ as a ‘stress’ and 

worked directly with Belfast Health and Social Care Board to develop a new section on 

‘Public Health Shocks’.  We have merged ‘car dependency’ into the section on ‘carbon 

intensive systems’ and separated ‘Mental Ill-Health’ from ‘Use of Prescription Drugs’. 

- The document has been updated to reflect statistical returns published in this calendar 

year (2020) to ensure the strategy is as up to date as possible 

- The ‘Resilience Assessment’ includes a ‘next steps’ section, which outlines the structure 

for focusing on the ‘shocks’ and stresses’ across the Community Planning Partnership 

Boards 

- Reference has been made in the document to digital inequality as a core issue emerging 

following Covid-19 and the transition to online platforms at scale, for the delivery of 

services (including health and education services) 

 

It is worth noting that a number of the ambitions, as stated in the draft version, are already under 

way. The One Million Trees project, the development of A Belfast City Council Climate Adaptation 

and Mitigation Plan, the establishment of the Resilience and Sustainability board are a few of the 

‘multiple problem solvers’ that are already well on track. 

 

Further Engagement 

 

There will be a further short document created in response to all those who took the time to 

engage during the consultation. Due to the transfer away from Citizen Space to the new 

Engagement Hub - consideration will need to be given on how to do this in an impactful way. 

 

 

 

3.8 

 

 

 

 

 

Financial and Resource Implications 

The strategy contains a number of significant programmes which have been included as 

‘ambitions’ for the city.  Some of these programmes are already fully funded, and others are 

predicated on securing long-term finance.  Approval of the document does not commit Council, 

or members of the Resilience and Sustainability Board to funding specific projects.  On this basis, 

there are no direct additional financial and resource implications.   

Page 104



 

 

 

3.9 

 

Equality or Good Relations Implications and Rural Needs Assessment  

 

Throughout this process, the Resilience Team, and the Resilience and Sustainability Board has 

taken account of obligations under Section 75 of the Northern Ireland Act, to have due regard 

to the need to promote equality of opportunity and regard to the desirability to promote good 

relations between the relevant groups as set out in the legislation.  The team also ensured that 

needs and implications for residents living in rural areas where assessed throughout.   

 

The purpose of the Resilience Assessment and the programmes in the Ambitions Document 

are to reduce inequalities in the city.  Evidence from a number of cities globally has 

demonstrated the adverse impact which widening inequalities can have on a city’s resilience.   

 

The Resilience Assessment and the Ambitions Document were screened to assess their 

implications for equality categories under Section 75.  More than 100 official (NISRA) datasets 

were reviewed throughout the process to understand the impacts of relevant policy 

interventions for each of the categories.  The screening process did not identify adverse 

impacts for any specific equality categories; however, we sought to test this further during 

comprehensive consultation with all equality categories during January – June 2020, and both 

the equality screening and rural needs impact were hosted on Citizen Space and comments 

sought during the formal consultation.  

 

The consultation found one example where there was a perception that one group could be 

impacted differentially.  Some responses suggested that a focus on children and young people 

could be at the expense of older people.  We have addressed this issue in two ways in the 

document (1) by emphasising what the international evidence demonstrates, that positive 

urban planning for children impacts positively on the rest of the population (2) by emphasising 

that our focus on children and young people is to ensure their participation in decision on 

climate action in the city.   

 

Importantly, we received a submission from the Equality Commission for Northern Ireland, 

which has strongly informed the final document.   

 

In conclusion, no significant adverse implications for groups have been identified.  

Furthermore, each ‘Foundation Programme’ in the ‘Ambitions Document’ will themselves be 

Page 105



screened for their equality implications and be subject, where required, to an Equality Impact 

Assessment.   

4.0 Documents Attached  

  

Appendix 1 - Resilience Assessment 

 

Appendix 2 - Ambitions Document: A Climate Plan for Belfast  

 

 

Page 106



www.belfastcity.gov.uk/resilience

December 2020

Appendix 1

Page 107



CITY FACTS: BELFAST

Climate adaptation and mitigation |Participation of children and young people |Connected, zero-emissions economy

RESILIENT BELFAST 2020 
Draft for consultation

2

343,542
18% 103 

£575

30% 

44% 

53% 
2% 

29% 

33%

9.2̊ C

11,500 

77.3% 

COVID-19

BEFORE COVID-19...

BELFAST  
POPULATION 

STREET  
TREES 

OF THE POPULATION LIVE 
WITHIN WALKING DISTANCE 
OF A PARK OR PLAY AREA

11,132 POSITIVE CASES  
PER 100,000 OF POPULATION 

223  
DEATHS

AVERAGE  
ANNUAL  
TEMPERATURE

OF ALL JOURNEYS  
TAKEN BY CAR 

JOURNEYS PER PERSON BY BIKE 

OF ALL JOURNEYS  
TAKEN BY FOOT 

AGED 25  
OR UNDER

HOUSEHOLD WASTE  
RECYCLED AND  
COMPOSTED 

BELFAST  
ACCOUNTS  
FOR 

FULLTIME  
MEDIAN GROSS 
WEEKLY PAY 
2019

OF THE  
POPULATION 
AND ALMOST

OF ALL JOBS IN NI
2019 MID-YEAR ESTIMATE

2019/20

OF POPULATION  
AGED 16-64  
HAVE NO  
QUALIFICATIONS

OF THE WORKING 
AGE POPULATION IS 
EDUCATED TO NVQ 
LEVEL 4 AND ABOVE 

OF BUSINESSES ARE  
MICRO (0-9 EMPLOYEES)

OF THOSE CLAIMING 
UNEMPLOYMENT 
BENEFITS ARE AGED 
18-24

18.2% 35.6%

21% 

80% 

RESIDENTIAL 
UNITS  
COMPLETED 
IN CITY 

AS OF14 NOVEMBER 2020

DURING 

68% 
OF HOUSEHOLDS HAVE ACCESS TO ONE OR MORE CARS

Page 108



December 2020

3
Page 109



4
Page 110



FOREWORD FROM  
THE COMMISSIONER FOR RESILIENCE 
Finalising the first Resilience Strategy for Belfast, 
while the city endures the effects of a global 
pandemic, is a poignant reminder of why cities need 
to prepare for risk, no matter how unlikely they 
appear to be. COVID-19 has taught us many things 
about how cities respond to crises, of the value of 
community networks, and the importance of good 
connectivity. 

Put simply, the pandemic has exposed our 
weaknesses. Our lives have changed immeasurably 
as a result of a global shock, but the impact will be felt 
differently nationally, and locally, and those impacts 
will be determined by the scale and nature of existing 
vulnerabilities. Put simply, the pandemic has exposed 
our weaknesses. We now face the challenge and 
opportunity to put resilience at the heart of our re-
build. 

The draft Resilience Strategy, published in January 
2020, presented a series of potential shocks and 
stresses for the city of Belfast. It is not an exhaustive 
list. Each one by itself represents a risk to the city. 
However, it is the relationship between these risks, 
and the scenarios that may emerge if several occur 
at once, that presents the greatest challenge for 
Belfast. I made several conclusions about Belfast’s 
exposure to risks. In particular, the potential impacts 
of climate change on the city. I highlighted the city’s 
lack of preparedness and the lack of a coherent city-
wide approach to climate change. I suggested the 
identification and development of ‘multiple problem 
solvers’ - levers which can respond to and resolve 
several risks at once.

The arrival of the pandemic resulted in an extension 
of the public consultation on the strategy. The 
passage of time has enabled us to start work on 
many of the priorities identified in the draft document. 
We have therefore, made excellent progress this 
year in developing a series of measures on climate 
adaptation, climate mitigation and levers to support a 
green economy. We have established two important 
city-wide structures to take this work forward; a 
Resilience and Sustainability Board to drive delivery 
of this strategy and the Belfast Climate Commission, 
to act as a think-tank and advisor for the city’s climate 
action. I am extremely grateful to my co-Chairs and 
to the members of both boards for their commitment 
and dedication during such a difficult year. We 
have managed to accelerate our work in this area, 
and as a result our final Resilience Strategy looks 

markedly different from the draft- because so many 
programmes and priorities have commenced and 
begun to deliver outcomes for the people of Belfast. 

“	Belfast is emitting 1.5 million tonnes 
of carbon a year. At this rate, we will 
have used up our carbon by 2030.”
Belfast Mini Stern

This document has two distinct sections: (1) a 
Resilience Assessment, an analysis of the strategic 
risks to Belfast, taking account of the views of city-
wide stakeholders and (2) an Ambitions Document, 
setting out the vision and priorities being delivered 
by the Resilience and Sustainability Board. I am 
delighted that we now have a strategy and a set of 
city partners now working with a singular focus on 
the transition to a zero-emissions economy. 

In a relatively short period of time, the city has moved 
from lack of preparedness for climate change to one 
of proactivity, partnership working and ambition. The 
challenges set out in the draft strategy have been 
embraced by city-partners. It is to their credit that 
Belfast is now better prepared for the future, and over 
time, its people will increasingly be better protected. 
This is the essence of resilience work. 

This final strategy has been amended and improved 
based on the contribution of residents from across 
Belfast. Communities have demonstrated their 
interest in, and understanding of the importance of 
a long-term focus on risks, and have shown their 
commitment to projects and programmes that will 
future-proof their city. I have personally benefited 
from listening to people from across Belfast, and 
have no doubt that the ambitions in this document 
are much more likely to succeed because of them.

Grainia Long 
Commissioner for Resilience  
December 2020

FUTURE PROOFED CITY - BELFAST RESILIENCE ASSESSMENT 
December 2020Foreword

5Climate adaptation and mitigation |Participation of children and young people |Connected, zero-emissions economy

Page 111



FOREWORD FROM CHAIR  OF STRATEGIC 
POLICY AND RESOURCES COMMITTEE 
Welcome to Belfast’s draft Resilience Strategy.  For 
the first time, partner organisations across the city 
have worked together to identify the strategic risks 
that we face, today and into the future.  Furthermore, 
we have collectively agreed an ambitious goal to 
transition to an inclusive, zero- emissions economy 
in a generation.  Achieving this will require urgent 
action, and I am delighted that our city partners have 
committed to thirty programmes, to be delivered 
collaboratively to future proof our city, and make us 
climate resilient.  

There has rarely been a more important time for 
Belfast to build its resilience.  A major public health 
crisis, and a combination of economic pressures, 
climate related events, and social change are taking 
globally and impacting locally.  To improve our 
readiness and ultimately ensure our recovery, we must 
have a sophisticated understanding of the risks we 
face.  

The strategy has been informed by more than a 
thousand conversations, and many hours of data 
crunching- we are grateful to everyone who has 
contributed.  

Only by working together across the city- 
communities, schools, nursing homes, businesses 
and agencies- can we really be ready to face complex 
challenges, from pandemics to economic shocks and 
climate change.  I am grateful to members of the city’s 
Resilience and Sustainability Board for the leadership 
they have shown in developing this strategy, and I look 
forward to seeing the positive effects arising from 
delivery.

Councillor Christina Black 
Chair  
Strategic Policy and  
Resources Committee

FUTURE PROOFED CITY - BELFAST RESILIENCE ASSESSMENT 
December 2020 Foreword

6 Climate adaptation and mitigation |Participation of children and young people |Connected, zero-emissions economy

Page 112



CONTENTS

3

SOURCES 
OF INSPIRATION 	 64
Bibliography	 64

CONTEXT	 11
Delivering the Belfast Agenda	 11
What is urban resilience?	 12
Characteristics of a resilient Belfast	 13
Resilience challenges in this decade	 14
Methodology	 16
Case Study in Urban Resilience:  
Fire at Bank Buildings	 18	

NEXT STEPS	 63
How we will deliver this strategy	 63

2

1

EXECUTIVE 
SUMMARY	 9

SHOCKS AND  
STRESSES FOR  
BELFAST IN 2020	 20

APPENDICES	 70

Infrastructure  
capacity	 22
Condition of  
existing Stock	 26
Public Health	 28
Flooding and  
extreme weather 
events	 30
Cyber resilience	 32
UK Exit	 34
Economic recovery 
capacity	 36
Poverty and  
Inequality	 42

Population change	 44
Carbon intensive 
systems 	 46
Climate change 	 50
Housing supply  
in the city	 54
Segregation and 
division	 56
Mental ill-health 	 58
Use of prescription 
drugs	 59
Governance and 
financing of risk 	 60

FUTURE PROOFED CITY - BELFAST RESILIENCE ASSESSMENT 
December 2020

7Climate adaptation and mitigation |Participation of children and young people |Connected, zero-emissions economy

Page 113



8
Page 114



EXECUTIVE SUMMARY
•	 Urban resilience is the capacity of cities to survive, 

adapt, and develop no matter what kinds of chronic 
stresses and acute shocks they experience. 

•	 The Belfast Agenda, the city’s community plan, 
included a commitment to take a targetted approach 
to issues which pose the greatest risk to the city, its 
economy and its people. 

•	 In doing so, Belfast has been an active member of the 
Resilient Cities Network, working globally to reduce 
vulnerabilities, and making cities better prepared for 
the future. 

•	 This strategy delivers on the Belfast Agenda 
commitment. It includes an overview of the major risks 
facing the city. The ‘Resilience Assessment’ outlines 
the shocks and stresses that could make the city 
more vulnerable and could weaken our capacity to 
resist and to recover from future challenges. 

•	 It is the intention of the Resilience and Sustainability 
Board that the Resilience Assessment be reviewed 
and refreshed every two years to ensure a proactive 
approach to the management of strategic risks. 

•	 The second half of the document outlines our 
ambitions: one goal, three ‘multiple problem solvers’, 
and 30 programmes for delivery. 

•	 A genuine collaboration between city partners and 
residents, this strategy will drive progress to deliver the 
city’s goal to transition to an inclusive, zero-emissions, 
climate-resilient economy, in a generation. It commits 
Belfast to a step-change in this decade, reflecting the 
scale of climate breakdown and its implications for 
Belfast.

We have identified three ‘multiple problem solvers’ - where we tackle several shocks or stresses at once.  
A strategic focus on each of these areas will build the city’s resilience, over time. They are:

The strategy contains 30 transformational programmes, agreed by city partners, to prepare the city for this 
century. This includes an important focus on how we fund and manage risk. 

AREAS OF 
FOCUS CLIMATE 

ADAPTATION  
AND MITIGATION 

PARTICIPATION  
OF CHILDREN AND 
YOUNG PEOPLE

CONNECTED, 
ZERO-EMISSIONS 
ECONOMY 

Flooding and extreme 
weather events 

Public Health

UK Exit 

Cyber resilience Infrastructure 
capacity 

Condition of existing 
Housing Stock

SHOCKS

Climate change 

Segregation and 
division 

Use of prescription 
drugs 

Mental Ill-health 

Carbon Intensive 
Systems

Governance and 
financing of risk

Population change

Poverty and inequality
Housing supply in 
the city

Economic recovery 
capacity

STRESSES

To transition to an inclusive, 
zero-emissions, climate-resilient 
economy in a generation. 

OUR GOAL

FUTURE PROOFED CITY - BELFAST RESILIENCE ASSESSMENT 
December 2020

9Climate adaptation and mitigation |Participation of children and young people |Connected, zero-emissions economy

Executive Summary

Page 115



10

1

CONTEXT

Page 116



1DELIVERING THE BELFAST AGENDA

“	Belfast will be a city re-imagined and 
resurgent. A great place to live and 
work for everyone. Beautiful, well 
connected and culturally vibrant, it 
will be a sustainable city shared and 
loved by its citizens, free from the 
legacy of conflict. A compassionate 
city offering opportunities for 
everyone. A confident and successful 
city energising a dynamic and 
prosperous city region. A magnet 
for talent and business and admired 
around the world. A city people 
dream to visit.”

The Belfast Agenda commits the city to the appointment 
of a Commissioner for Resilience to work with partners 
to develop a strategy to take a targeted approach to 
addressing those issues which pose the greatest risk to 
the city, its economy and its people. 

Since 2018, Belfast has been a member of 100 Resilient 
Cities, funded by the Rockefeller Foundation. GRCN* is 

The Belfast Agenda vision  
for 2035

global network of cities, all focused on identifying and 
reducing urban threats - either immediate shocks or 
systemic vulnerabilities. It comprises Belfast’s biggest 
global network to date. Since the establishment of the 
‘Resilient Belfast’ team, Belfast is working alongside 
cities like Barcelona, Sydney, Cape Town and San 
Francisco to solve urban problems, and strengthen 
the fabric of the city. This work has culminated in the 
production of this Resilience Strategy, which includes 
a range of commitments to de-risk the city, making us 
more adaptable, prepared for the unpredictable and 
increasingly our capacity to thrive. This Strategy will help 
the city to mitigate risks to deliver Belfast Agenda. 

This Resilience Strategy is one of several documents 
that aim to deliver the Belfast Agenda and its core 
objective of inclusive growth.

Future proofed city -  
Belfast Ambitions 
Document: A Climate 
Plan for Belfast

Future proofed city -  
Belfast Resilience 
Strategy Assessment

The Belfast 
Agenda

Good Relations 
Strategy 

Inclusive Growth  
Strategy

Draft Local 
Development Plan

Open Spaces Strategy Green and Blue 
Infrastructure Plan

Cultural Strategy

* 	The Global Resilient Cities Network was 
previously known as 100 Resilient Cities. 

11

1 - Context FUTURE PROOFED CITY - BELFAST RESILIENCE ASSESSMENT 
December 2020

Climate adaptation and mitigation |Participation of children and young people |Connected, zero-emissions economy

Page 117



1 WHAT IS URBAN RESILIENCE?

The seven qualities of a resilient city

Reflective
Using past experiences to 
inform future decisions

Robust
Well-conceived, 
constructed and 
managed systems

Inclusive
Prioritise broad consultation 
to create a sense of shared 
ownership in decision making

Flexible
Willingness, ability to adopt 
alternative strategies in response 
to changing circumstances

Resourceful
Recognising alternative 
ways to use resources

Redundant
Spare capacity 
purposefully created to 
accommodate disruption

Integrated
Bring together a range 
of distinct systems and 
institutions

12

1 - Context
FUTURE PROOFED CITY - BELFAST RESILIENCE ASSESSMENT 
December 2020

Climate adaptation and mitigation |Participation of children and young people |Connected, zero-emissions economy

Urban resilience is the capacity of cities to survive, 
adapt, and develop no matter what kinds of chronic 
stresses and acute shocks they experience.

Being a resilient city does not mean the city is 
without risk - urban resilience refers to cities that are 
exceptional at predicting, managing and responding to 
risk. Resilient cities are highly adaptive. 

Working alongside one hundred cities globally, Belfast 
has been learning the benefits of a focus on preparing 
for immediate and longer term risks. 

“	Belfast’s capacity to withstand and 
embrace disruption and change in 
the coming decades is critical to its 
economic, social and environmental 
future.”

Our vision in the Belfast Agenda could be undermined, 
if we do not learn to adapt to and cope with shocks, 
such as floods or cyber attacks. COVID-19 has 
highlighted the city’s existing vulnerabilities, and 
the impact of the pandemic puts the achievement 
of our Belfast Agenda priorities at risk, unless we 
take coordinated action, as a city. Furthermore, 
some stresses such as climate change can be ‘risk 
multipliers’, exacerbating existing weaknesses.

Belfast’s economic resilience is a good case in point. 
The capacity of a city to respond to economic shocks 
is a strong indicator of its resilience. 

“	Building Belfast’s economic 
resilience - its ability to adapt to 
and cope with economic shocks - is 
essential.”

Belfast’s capacity to respond to the recession of 2008-
10 has been weak - demonstrated by its low levels of 
productivity since 2007 and when compared with other 
cities, it has shown weak levels of ‘good growth’ since 
the financial crash. 

Furthermore, the impact of economic growth has 
traditionally been unevenly spread throughout the city, 
prompting a city-wide focus on ‘inclusive growth’ in the 
Belfast Agenda. Building Belfast’s economic resilience - 
its ability to adapt to and cope with economic shocks - is 
essential. 

This may mean building new forms of capacity to take 
on different types of pressures, to withstand them and 
recover from them. 

Whether impacted by an adverse weather event or 
an economic recession, the following systems all 
determine how a city bounces back. However, evidence 
would suggest that the number and diversity of local 
community and voluntary groups in the city, and their 
inter-connectedness, has been a highly valuable social 
asset in the initial response to the COVID-19 pandemic 
and has arguably strengthened the city’s capacity to 
cope with the effects of the COVID-19 pandemic. This 
resilience strategy emphasises the city’s assets as well 
as its vulnerabilities, and evidence in relation to both has 
informed the document throughout. 

Resilience thinking is not a luxury 
but a necessity for cities. It is 
about putting in place holistic and 
integrated measures to enable 
cities to adapt, survive, and thrive 
regardless of the stresses or shocks 
they face.
Singapore Resilience Strategy

Page 118



1CHARACTERISTICS OF A RESILIENT BELFAST
We will be risk 
aware - with a strong 
understanding of 
exposures that (1) make 
us vulnerable (2) could 
knock us off course

We will have collective 
agreement at a policy 
level on the ‘top risks’ 
and coherence around 
a plan! 

We will demonstrate 
strong resistance to 
shock - often through 
resilient infrastructure 
- i.e. integrated into all 
capital projects 

We will de-risk 
investment by improving 
our management of risks 
at a city level

We will include 
resilience indicators in 
how we measure the 
performance of our city 

We will develop multiple 
problem solvers - 
approaches that solve 
several problems at 
once 

We will ensure there is 
capacity ‘in the system’ 
to respond to shocks 

We will integrate 
networks so we are 
better able to withstand 
shocks 

We will demonstrate 
improved learning from 
shocks 

13

1 - Context FUTURE PROOFED CITY - BELFAST RESILIENCE ASSESSMENT 
December 2020

Climate adaptation and mitigation |Participation of children and young people |Connected, zero-emissions economy

Page 119



1 RESILIENCE CHALLENGES IN THIS DECADE

14

1 - Context
FUTURE PROOFED CITY - BELFAST RESILIENCE ASSESSMENT 
December 2020

Climate adaptation and mitigation |Participation of children and young people |Connected, zero-emissions economy

COVID-19
The global pandemic 
struck the people of 
Belfast in the Spring of 
2020. As of 25 October 
2020, 178 people had 
lost their lives due to 
COVID-19. 

Major storms
Ex-Hurricane Ophelia in 
2017, Storms Ali, Callum 
and Desmond in 2018
There were a range of 
storms bringing high 
winds in 2017 and 2018 
and causing electricity 
outages and damage to 
infrastructure. Schools, 
businesses and public 
services were affected. 

2018

2017/18

2020

Fire at Bank Buildings
On 28 August a fire destroyed 
Bank Buildings, a listed building in 
the heart of Belfast City Centre. 14 
businesses within the cordon were 
unable to reopen for over four months. 
Pedestrian and vehicle access across 
the City Centre was affected causing a 
significant drop in footfall in the area.

Page 120



1

15

1 - Context FUTURE PROOFED CITY - BELFAST RESILIENCE ASSESSMENT 
December 2020

Climate adaptation and mitigation |Participation of children and young people |Connected, zero-emissions economy

2012

2010/11
2012/13

Flooding
Flooding occurs on an annual 
basis affecting properties 
and infrastructure. There was 
significant flooding in 2012, 
2009, 2008 and 2005 with 
thousands of homes being 
internally flooded. 

The big freeze
Five weeks of extremely low 
temperatures led to widespread 
impacts on infrastructure including 
homes, schools and businesses. 
Frozen pipes cracked during 
the thaw causing so many leaks 
that mains water supplies were 
significantly depleted. 40,000 
premises lost water supplies and 
over 60,000 premises became 
subject to rotational supplies.

Flag protests and civil 
unrest
Following a vote to change the 
number of days the Union Flag is flown 
at Belfast City Hall, there followed 
a period of almost daily protests. 
There were resulting impacts for the 
performance of the local economy. 

2014
Coastal flooding
The threat of tidal inundation to 
Belfast City Centre and over 4000 
homes across the City led to the 
deployment of 45,000 sandbags and 
the pre-planned closure of basements 
and businesses in the Harbour area. 
Millions of pounds of damage was 
caused to infrastructure around the 
coastline of NI.

Page 121



1 METHODOLOGY

Mapped our city’s vulnerability and risk against 
potential actions.

Commissioned a city risk and asset audit by Arup to 
quantify and identify shocks and stresses.

Informed our thinking by requesting from Arup 
a Climate Change Risk Assessment and a study 
on developing our strategy for child friendly 
neighbourhoods.

Engaged with partner citywide in Belfast to gather 
evidence and formulate possible solutions.

Accessed and analysed multiple data sources to 
inform decisions, test assumptions and steer our 
initial conclusions. This also involved commissioning 
our own studies.

Engaged across our city over three months on 
our strategic areas of focus to engage and attract 
feedback.

Working in partnership with Urban Scale interventions 
we engaged with more than 1,000 people across 
the city. This included public area based events, 
focused workshops, on street engagement through 
the tea kiosks in the city centre and online thematic 
workshops with youth and older people. The online 
public consultation also created 62 responses and we 
received 12 written submissions. 

With these seven steps, we have embarked on the 
next stage of the journey towards a resilient Belfast.

A number of steps in working towards our goals 
and vision were put in place. Each step carefully 
considered and carried out as we:

STEP
City Resilience Framework 
identified areas of city 
resilience

1

Pr
om

ot
es

 Le
ad

ersh
ip

& 
Ef

fe
ct

iv
e M

an
agement

Pr
ov

id
es

 R
el

ia
bl

e 
Co

m
m

un
ic

at
io

n
& 

M
ob

ili
ty

En
su

re
s 

Co
nt

in
ui

ty
 o

f 

Cr
it

ic
al

 S
er

vi
ce

s

Provide
s a

nd

Enhance

s N
at

ur
al

and Manmad
e A

ss
et

s

Fosters Economic Prosperity
Ensures Social Stability, 

Security and Justice
Prom

otes Cohesive and 
Engaged Communities

Ensures Public
Health Services

Supports Livelihoods

& Em
ploym

ent

Meets Basic Needs

Fosters Long Term & 
Integrated Planning

Empowers a Broad

Range of Stakeholders

Le
ad

er
sh

ip 

& Stra
tegy Health & W

ellbeing
Econom

y & Society
Infrastru

cture 

& En
vir

on
m

en
t

A well-established methodology - adopted by 100 
cities globally - was used to develop this strategy, 
and build the city’s resilience capacity.

The City Resilience Framework (CRF) was developed 
by our strategic partner ARUP and helps identify the 
complex and interdependent issues that contribute 
to a resilient city. The CRF is used by all partners in the 
100RC network and facilitates cooperation between 
cities. Our relationship with ARUP has led to the 
development of a city risk and asset audit, a climate 
change risk assessment and a study that will help us to 
develop our strategy for child friendly neighbourhoods.

*Enlarged version available on pg86

16

1 - Context
FUTURE PROOFED CITY - BELFAST RESILIENCE ASSESSMENT 
December 2020

Climate adaptation and mitigation |Participation of children and young people |Connected, zero-emissions economy

Page 122



1

	

	 Spaces to play  
for children

	 Economic  
Vulnerabilities, 
cyber, exclusion, 
inequalities, 
automation of 
industry, business 
start-ups

	

	 Population 
change

	 Poverty 
Children and young 
people

	 Connectivity  
Economic corridor,  
digital, physical

	 Transport 
Cheaper, cleaner,  
integrated, greener

	 Housing

	 Climate change  
Extreme weather  
and air quality

	 Segregation  
Housing, education  
system, division

	 Civic pride  
One city,city story

	 Cyber threat

	 Health 
Dependence on 
prescription drugs, 
mental health,  
nutrition, obesity

	 Risk of 
returning  
to violence 

	 Prevalence  
of cars

	 Infrastructure  
Investment and 
capacity

	  

City centre  
Retail, housing, 
dereliction

	 UK Exit  
Impact on Belfast

	 Financing  
the city 
City revenue

	 Politics  
Leadership, decision 
making structures

	 Fossil fuel 
dependency

STEP
Review of city assets  
and risks

3

STEP

STEP

Identified multiple problem 
solvers

Agreed our resilience goal

6

5

Citywide consultation  
on a draft strategy

Perceptions

Strengths

City assets

City risks

STEP
Data analysis

4

These shocks and stresses make the city more 
vulnerable and could weaken our capacity to 
resist and recover from future challenges.

Direct engagement with 1,223 people through our 
consultation partnership with Urban Scale Interventions 
and receipt of more than 80 written responses.

Transition Belfast to an inclusive, zero-emissions, 
climate resilient economy in a generation. 

STEP 7STEP
Citywide engagement

2

18 workshops involving 
547 people

140 people interviewed  
on a one-to-one basis

35 focus groups  
involving 480 people

£

Climate  
adaptation  
and  
mitigation’

Connected,  
zero- 
emissions  
economy

Participation 
of children 
and young 
people

17

1 - Context FUTURE PROOFED CITY - BELFAST RESILIENCE ASSESSMENT 
December 2020

Climate adaptation and mitigation |Participation of children and young people |Connected, zero-emissions economy

Page 123



1
CASE STUDY IN URBAN RESILIENCE

Belfast experienced an acute shock in 2018 when a 
culturally historic building, known as Bank Buildings 
which housed Primark, a global retail chain, was 
severely damaged by a fire that started on 28 
August 2018 and continued to burn for three days. 
Located right in the heart of the city centre on a 
major junction, the fire tested multiple aspects of 
the city’s resilience.

 One hundred firefighters successfully prevented the 
fire from spreading to nearby businesses, shops and 
restaurants, and no one was killed or injured. However, 
a significant proportion of the building’s internal 
structure was burnt away, either collapsed or was 
severely damaged with the external facades subject 
to further damage. In the immediate weeks following 
the fire, the building’s physical fabric remained very 
vulnerable and posed a threat to public health and 
safety. 

On engineering advice, a safety cordon was 
established to protect the public. While the cordon 
closed 22 business in close proximity, the impact 
was felt much further across the City Centre. The 
cordon effectively created four cul-de-sacs in the 
heart of the central retail district in which footfall 
significantly reduced. Anecdotal evidence from local 
traders reported decreases in sales levels between 
20% and 70% amongst the hardest hit areas. There 

Fire at Bank Buildings, August 2018 
was considerable concern that the continuation of 
the situation would lead to fundamental long-term 
changes in consumer habits within the city centre.

Pedestrians, buses and vehicles had to be rerouted 
in response to the cordon. This significantly added to 
the impact on footfall, and to pressures already being 
felt by the retail sector during a challenging year. The 
cordon acted as a barrier and restricted pedestrian 
and vehicular access through Castle Place junction, 
and as a result pedestrians were required to undertake 
significant diversions using alternative, longer routes 
to navigate the City Centre. In addition, buses were 
unable to penetrate into the centre of the City and were 
subject to significant delays and revised timetabling. 

The building was a Category B1 Listed Building 
located within the City Centre Conservation Area. 
Immense in size, it was within metres of other 
buildings close by. Major challenges existed for the 
owner to assess the damage to the building and 
make decisions regarding the building’s future. In 
late October, Primark successfully applied to the 
City Council for listed building consent to take down, 
record and assess for restoration purposes the 
uppermost parts of the building. By the following 
April, a series of ballast-filled shipping containers 
had been erected around the building to enable the 
commencement of a long-term restoration project. 

18

1 - Context
FUTURE PROOFED CITY - BELFAST RESILIENCE ASSESSMENT 
December 2020

Climate adaptation and mitigation |Participation of children and young people |Connected, zero-emissions economy

Page 124



1
For the Belfast City Council, the immediate primary 
concern from the beginning was the safety of people 
in the city, and to reduce as much as possible the 
impact on businesses and trade. It established a City 
Recovery Group made up of partners across the city 
to coordinate the city’s recovery efforts. It held clinics 
with businesses directly affected, and held ongoing 
conversations with businesses through the Business 
Improvement Districts (BIDs) in the city. A #YourBelfast 
media campaign in the immediate weeks following the 
fire aimed to remind people that Belfast was open for 
business.

A ‘Rewards App’ was developed to encourage people 
to spend in the local area and a ‘yellow dot’ trail guided 
pedestrians around the cordon to sustain footfall 
in the city. A major revitalization programme was 
undertaken to ‘light up’ the city at Christmas via a 
series of installations to encourage people to spend 
time in the city. A combination of cultural events and 
playful installations, dressing up city streets impacted 
by pedestrianisation worked in combination to give 
the city centre an energized feel in the busy retail 
period. 

In the New Year, the ongoing pedestrianisation of the 
area was taken as an opportunity to provide a pop-up 
play park for children, with seating areas, planters and 
art to help make the area attractive. 

Conclusion
A fire in a building of its size and central proximity 
amounted to a major shock for the city. It posed 
significant challenges to the city’s resilience. It tested 
the city’s economic resilience and emphasised 
the importance of strong and supportive citywide 
networks. It prompted a debate on the role of heritage 
in the city. Poignantly, the sight of a burnt-out building 
in the city centre reminded many people of a time 
when Belfast experienced regular security alerts 
and fires. It highlighted the city’s exposure to retail 
risks, and reminded decision makers in the city of 
the importance of an ‘experience economy’ and how 
critical it is that we build a vibrant city centre where 
people work, live and play. Perhaps most tellingly of 
all, the sight of children playing in a pop-up park next 
to the Bank Buildings appeared to inspire the public of 
the importance of play in the city. The park’s removal, 
following the reduction of the cordon has prompted 
important debate about the importance of play in our 
city. 

19

1 - Context FUTURE PROOFED CITY - BELFAST RESILIENCE ASSESSMENT 
December 2020

Climate adaptation and mitigation |Participation of children and young people |Connected, zero-emissions economy

Page 125



20

2

STRESSES AND 
SHOCKS FOR  
BELFAST: 2020
This strategy does not attempt to 
comprise a final comprehensive list of 
all the risks that Belfast faces. Like other 
global cities, it represents the starting 
point to build our resilience and will be 
updated to reflect new challenges and 
opportunities. 

What is a stress?
A stress is a slowly moving phenomenon that weakens 
the fabric of a city.

What is a shock?
A shock is a sudden, sharp event that can immediately 
disrupt a city.

Page 126



2

21

2 - Shocks and stresses

Climate adaptation and mitigation |Participation of children and young people |Connected, zero-emissions economy

Climate change 

Segregation and 
division 

Use of prescription 
drugs 

Mental ill-health 

Carbon intensive 
systems

Governance and 
financing of risk

Population change

Poverty and inequality Housing supply in the 
city

Economic recovery 
capacity

Flooding and extreme 
weather events 

Public Health

UK Exit 

Cyber resilience Infrastructure 
capacity 	

24

28

38

44

46 62

30

32

48

52

56

34

36

58

60

61

Condition of existing 
Housing Stock 	

SHOCKS

STRESSES

Page 127



2 INFRASTRUCTURE CAPACITY
The issue of the city’s infrastructure emerged as a 
major theme in the workshops, focus groups and 
data analysis undertaken to develop this strategy. 
Existing infrastructure has been adversely impacted 
by a period of underinvestment, which is having a 
negative impact on the city’s economic and climate 
resilience. 

In October 2020, an independent Ministerial Advisory 
Panel on Infrastructure produced a report which 
summarised the views of over 100 individuals and 
organisations on current infrastructure planning and 
delivery in Northern Ireland. The conclusions strongly 
mirror those expressed in the development of this 
document:

•	 Strategic infrastructure projects frequently suffer 
time delay and cost overruns. 

•	 Over-reliance on the Barnett funding allocation to 
fund our public infrastructure is stifling growth and 
innovation.

•	 Crucial parts of our infrastructure are at a critical 
point and there is clear evidence that this is having 
a negative impact on other major investment 
decisions. 

•	 We struggle to see beyond our political and financial 
timeframes which, by their nature, are too short term 
for effective infrastructure planning. 

•	 Our neighbours on these islands have ambitious 
infrastructure plans for the next 20-30 years. 

•	 Lack of longer-term planning and appropriate 
market management often results in legal 
challenges which cause major delays. 

•	 The population of NI is projected to increase by 8% 
by 2041, with the 65+ age brackets increasing to 
25% of the population. There is little evidence that 
we are planning sufficiently for this demographic 
change. 

•	 The current system operates in silos with limited co-
operation between central and local government, 
and with the private sector. 

•	 There is a general failure to identify potential 
synergies to collaborate or secure economies of 
scale by working more closely together within NI, or 
with other bodies outside NI facing up to these very 
same challenges. 

•	 We are lagging behind in terms of our environmental 
performance, and urgently need a step change to 
address climate change and meet our ambitions in 
respect of the wider UK 2050 net zero targets.

 

•	 There is a regional imbalance and urban-rural 
divide in terms of infrastructure provision. This 
needs to be addressed to ensure inclusive growth 
and to improve the quality of life and wellbeing for 
everyone in NI .

•	 External factors such as COVID-19, Climate Change 
and Brexit are dramatically impacting the economic 
landscape of NI (and will continue to do so for years 
to come); we must ensure we are nimble, able to 
capitalise on the growth opportunities that will arise

To inform the development of this strategy, our strategic 
partner Arup undertook a high level assessment of the 
city’s assets. 

The study identified key areas for intervention to improve 
infrastructure provision within the local authority area, 
and these findings were borne out in our consultation 
and engagement sessions with stakeholders:

•	 The importance of enhanced connectivity across the 
River Lagan through a series of bridges. 

•	 The need for extended public transport network, 
particularly through BRT Phase 2 and improved 
walking and cycling networks. 

•	 Significant pressure on waste water treatment 
capacity in the city and implications for the city’s 
economy. 

•	 Targeted enhanced digital connectivity, particularly in 
locations of target growth sector investments.

Separately, Belfast City Council commissioned the 
Belfast Infrastructure Study to identify the range of 
infrastructure challenges in the city. The outcome of the 
study will continue to inform this strategy, both in terms 
of future versions and implementation. 

This strategy has also been informed by a number 
of relevant reports from the National Infrastructure 
Commission which advises the UK government; and 
reports from the UK Committee on Climate Change, on 
the risks associated with a range of climate scenarios for 
NI infrastructure. 

It should also be noted that the ‘New Decade New 
Approach’ document recognises several infrastructure 
classes requiring intervention, and commits to 
prioritised investment. The Ministerial Advisory Panel 
on Infrastructure recommended to the Minister the 
establishment of an independent Infrastructure 
Commission for Northern Ireland. Properly established 
and resourced, such a Commission would resolve many 
of the issues associated with infrastructure planning and 
delivery in the city, and across the region. 

22

2 - Stresses and shocks
FUTURE PROOFED CITY - BELFAST RESILIENCE ASSESSMENT 
December 2020

Climate adaptation and mitigation |Participation of children and young people |Connected, zero-emissions economy

Page 128



23

22

23
Page 129



2
Drainage Infrastructure 
Capacity
A fit for purpose wastewater and drainage system is 
a critical asset to any city. It mitigates the effects of 
flooding, enables climate resilience and contributes 
to public health and the economy.

Connection to drainage and wastewater infrastructure 
is a condition of planning consent for development 
and therefore underpins sustainable economic 
development in every city. Furthermore, the capacity 
of a city’s drainage system has a direct impact on 
prevalence of flooding. Put simply, a fit-for-purpose 
drainage and wastewater system with sustainable 
levels of investment is critical for a city’s economic, 
social and climate resilience. 

Significant investment has been necessary for 
several years to improve the drainage and wastewater 
assets that serve Belfast. In 2015, the Living with 
Water Programme Board was initiated to develop a 
Strategic Drainage Infrastructure Plan for Belfast. 
This aims to provide integrated sustainable solutions 
which will alleviate the risk of flooding, enhance the 
living environment and sustain economic growth. The 
board, which operates as a collaboration between 
organisations, has been working to set out:

•	 The scale of flood risk to Belfast. 
•	 The deterioration of Belfast Lough’s water quality 

due to pollution from diffused sources, including 
agriculture, and from sewerage system overflows 
and Waste Water Treatment Works discharges. 

•	 The scale of investment needed. 
•	 The potential wider benefits of the proposed 

approach to investment planning.

Belfast’s wastewater treatment system faces a 
number of significant issues, which could impact on 
the city’s resilience - in particular its ability to adapt to, 
and mitigate climate change. Capacity risks can also 
impact on economic resilience, given the relationship 
between infrastructure and the health of the economy. 

Northern Ireland Water publishes information on 
wastewater systems which are operating at or near 
capacity. Its August 2019 online report stated that 
Belfast Waste Water Treatment Works is predicted 
to reach capacity in 2021. Furthermore, it reported 
that ‘In addition to the wastewater treatment works 
(WwTW), wastewater network capacity issues are 
emerging due to sewer network modelling activities 
being undertaken at Belfast (Glenmachan sub 
catchment), Kinnegar (Sydenham sub catchment), 
Newtownbreda, Whitehouse, Dunmurry. As a result of 
this, new connections are being declined in parts of 
the catchment.’ The issue was further emphasised by 

the Chair of Northern Ireland Water in the company’s 
2018/19 Annual Report which referred to the potential 
adverse impact of underfunding for economic 
development across NI. 

The ‘New Decade, New Approach’ document also 
recognises that wastewater infrastructure is at or 
nearing capacity in many places in NI. 

The capacity issues identified above represent a 
substantial risk to the city’s resilience. Out of sewer 
flooding, inefficient operation of the existing system 
and treatment works with inadequate storm storage 
capacity all present challenges to the operation of the 
city and could inhibit the scale and nature of future 
development, at a time when housebuilding at scale is 
required. These risks are heightened over time as the 
system continues to deteriorate and as our climate 
changes. 

How a resilient city values 
water
Belfast currently has ready access to a plentiful 
supply of drinking water. However, all cities 
building their climate resilience should be aware 
of the potential for water shortages. The Climate 
Change Risk Assessment for Northern Ireland 
has identified the potential risks to humans and 
to agriculture and wildlife from drought. These 
factors, combined with the lack of capacity in our 
wastewater treatment system, suggests a strong 
case for a city-wide focus on valuing our water 
supply and on water conservation.

24

2 - Stresses and shocks
FUTURE PROOFED CITY - BELFAST RESILIENCE ASSESSMENT 
December 2020

Climate adaptation and mitigation |Participation of children and young people |Connected, zero-emissions economy

Page 130



2
Belfast is one of hundreds of cities globally that face 
the competing challenges of driving sustainable 
economic development and population growth, 
delivering city centre densification while preparing 
for a changing climate and rapid decarbonisation. 
The UK National Infrastructure Commission has 
rightly recognised these significant challenges, as 
have global institutions such as the World Bank 
and the World Economic Forum. Infrastructure is 
increasingly understood as a key growth driver 
in cities. This can sometimes result in perceived 
tensions between infrastructure planning and 
economic growth strategy. It should not be the 
case. Competitive, resilient cities have shown 
that sustainable and inclusive economic growth 
is possible when infrastructure planning enables 
growth. Lack of infrastructure capacity should 
not hinder or dictate economic strategy - to do 
so would expose a city to a range of risks, and 
ultimately weaken its resilience. On this basis, 
investment in Belfast’s infrastructure capacity will 
be a major determinant of the city’s resilience, 
and its capacity to transition to a low carbon 
economy. This will require reconsideration of how 
infrastructure is funded in the future. It is almost 
certain to necessitate new funding models to better 
plan for growth capacity and climate resilience in the 
coming years. 

Conclusion 2Sustainable urban Drainage 
Systems (SuDS)
Infrastructure integrated into urban places 
which provide a drainage function, are widely 
recognised as playing a crucial role in ensuring 
water resilience at a city-level. The Belfast Green 
and Blue Infrastructure Strategy is a helpful 
document in setting out guidance for city partners 
to drive a proactive approach to SuDS. At the 
time of writing, the Department for Infrastructure 
is finalising a substantial set of proposals for 
sustainable drainage across the city. Investment 
in sustainable drainage of this kind, over this 
decade, is essential to meeting the city’s climate 
ambitions and boosting its resilience. 

2 - Stresses and shocks
FUTURE PROOFED CITY - BELFAST RESILIENCE ASSESSMENT 

December 2020

25
Page 131



2 CONDITION OF EXISTING  
HOUSING STOCK
Conditions in existing NIHE 
social housing
The Northern Ireland Housing Executive is the 
strategic housing authority for NI and its housing 
stock in Belfast numbers almost 26,000 units. 
Investment in, and maintenance of existing stock is 
a core priority for any landlord, however it has wider 
impacts for the city. A well maintained social housing 
stock ensures the long-term health and wellbeing of 
its population. It enhances social capital and if well 
planned, can have a significant positive impact on 
reduction of carbon emissions in a city. 

“	Well maintained social housing stock 
ensures the long-term health and 
wellbeing of its population.”

Northern Ireland Housing Executive stock in Belfast 
has traditionally benefited from significant ongoing 
investment, and therefore until relatively recently has 
been able to maintain its stock condition. However, 
a number of studies have recently shown that the 
condition of NIHE stock has deteriorated, arguably to a 
point where it represents a risk to the wider city. 

In 2014, the Department for Social Development and 
the NIHE jointly commissioned Savills to undertake 
an Asset Commission to understand the scale and 
nature of investment required in the NIHE stock. Savills 
carried out a comprehensive exercise to assess the 
current and future repairs and maintenance liabilities 
of NIHE’s properties and related assets. Savills found: 

•	 The stock has deteriorated during the last 5 years…
projections of costs moving forward have therefore 
increased and will continue to do so without 
sufficient investment.

•	 Just under 44% of the stock (37,974 units) is in 
asset groups with an average net present value 
(“NPV”) per unit which is negative [i.e. the rental 
income collected from these properties is not 
sufficient to maintain the properties and service 
residents over the next 30 years]’. 

•	 The total cost at today’s prices [of the investment 
required in the NIHE stock] is £6.7bn.

•	 There is significant investment [circa £1.5bn] 
required during the next 5 years. In addition to 
the financial challenge this presents, there is also 
a significant practical challenge in terms of the 

capacity of the market to deliver such a large 
programme...a 3 year lead in time is likely to be 
required before the levels of investment identified 
can be delivered on the ground and current 
investment programmes are concluded’. This 
“delay” will result in an increase in liability [from 
£1.5bn] in the 5 years that follow...’. 

Worryingly, the 2014 report predicted that ‘The 
situation has worsened since 2009, and is likely to 
worsen again in the next five years in the absence of 
increased investment (made at the right time in the 
right place) combined with the application of modern 
asset management principles.’

Six years on, it appears that these warnings were 
prescient - the step change required to improve stock 
conditions has not occurred, so much so that the 
NIHE has publicly acknowledged that it may have to 
de-invest in homes. This would amount to a significant 
and adverse challenge to the city of Belfast, which 
requires a continual and ongoing supply of good 
quality social housing to meet its social and economic 
needs. Furthermore, the current condition of NIHE 
properties could make decarbonisation a much more 
significant challenge for the city. 

A recent statement by the Minister for Communities 
acknowledged the scale of investment needed, 
and that two years have passed since the previous 
analysis of the scale of the investment challenge.

In her words, ‘the current situation is most certainly 
worse and the scale of the investment even greater. 
New investment requirements have materialised since 
2018: the consequence of the Grenfell Tower disaster 
and the ambition to reach a position of carbon 
neutralisation in our homes by 2050.’ In response, 
the Minister has announced her intention to change 
the status of the NIHE to enable it to borrow to fund 
investment, and with proposals to come forward in 
2021/22.

26

2 - Stresses and shocks
FUTURE PROOFED CITY - BELFAST RESILIENCE ASSESSMENT 
December 2020

Climate adaptation and mitigation |Participation of children and young people |Connected, zero-emissions economy

Page 132



22

The Northern Ireland Housing Executive has 
commented publicly on the risks associated with 
its investment requirements- and the need for 
£3bn of investment across its entire stock in the 
next five years. The consequences of not meeting 
these requirements could include de-investment 

in homes. The implications of de-investment in 
social housing at a time of existing housing stress, 
income deprivation and climate related challenges 
represent a significant and urgent risk to the city. 

Conclusion

Housing conditions and 
health outcomes
Housing conditions have a profound impact on 
health outcomes. Belfast’s aging population, 
the condition of its housing stock- across all 
tenures, and projected patterns of extreme 
weather (warmer summers and colder, wetter 
winters) present key health challenges across the 
city. Older people and those with chronic health 
conditions are more at risk from cold weather and 
tend to live in greater fuel poverty. A sustained, 
collaborative and targeted approach is necessary. 

The Health and Social Care Board is leading the 
Belfast Warm and Well Initiative, bringing together 
partners to take an evidence based approach 
to prevention, risk identification, data sharing, 
service coordination training. However, a strategic 
approach to improving energy efficiency and 
housing conditions, e.g. ensuring high standards 
of ventilation and insulation across all tenures 
in the city is also necessary in this decade, to 
avoid exacerbating existing health conditions and 
prevent avoidable deaths each year.

Housing conditions in the 
private sector
Poor housing conditions, and in particular energy 
inefficient housing, exist across all tenures and 
can fundamentally impact health and wellbeing 
of residents, as well as wider society goals. 
Importantly, the UK Climate Change Committee 
has referred to UK homes as ‘not fit for the future’ 
given their levels of energy inefficiency. Health 
research has proven the negative impact that 
poor housing conditions can have on health- 
particularly for those with underlying conditions. 
Belfast’s housing stock - particularly in the private 
rented sector- requires retrofit and modernisation 
to eradicate fuel poverty and meet the city’s 
climate ambitions. Future legislative change is 
required to set a target on energy efficiency of 
our buildings, and implementation ‘Belfast’s Net 
Zero Carbon Roadmap’ will be a critical driver 
towards these ambitions. The Northern Ireland 
Executive’s future economic strategy – which 
will require a jobs-led approach to growth will 
be a critical lever. Belfast’s Innovation and 
Inclusive Growth Commission has produced a 
‘thinkpiece’ recommending investment, at scale, 
in community based retrofit programmes, to 
improve the energy efficiency of homes, reduce 
fuel poverty and sustain local employment. This 
strategy has continually stressed the integration 
of climate and economic strategy to meet the 
city’s Belfast Agenda priorities- retrofitting of 
homes is an excellent opportunity to achieve 
several outcomes at once. 

27

2 - Stresses and shocks
FUTURE PROOFED CITY - BELFAST RESILIENCE ASSESSMENT 

December 2020

27
Page 133



2 PUBLIC HEALTH 
Belfast’s experience of the Covid-19 pandemic, 
which first affected the city’s residents during 
the public consultation on the strategy, has 
given a unique insight into the city’s systemic 
vulnerabilities. While pandemics were not previously 
identified as a likely shock to the city, community 
planning partners had noted global research 
(World Economic Forum, 2019) which found that 
environmental degradation across the world makes 
viral pandemics more likely in future. 

At the time of writing, there remains a substantial 
public health risk, and therefore we are far from 
understanding the long-term social, economic and 
environmental impacts of Covid-19 for Belfast.

Nevertheless, the pandemic has reminded cities such 
as Belfast of two important principles; firstly, that good 
health is a central element of a city’s resilience to 
shocks and stresses of all kinds, and secondly, that 
cities must take a number of steps to be resilient to 
public health crises. We have taken account of both 
of these lessons, and improved the strategy on this 
basis.

Evidence from Belfast suggests a number of key 
characteristics that are important to note, when 
considering the health of the population, and its 
resilience to shocks and stresses:

Health inequalities remain a significant 
concern
The Department of Health’s ‘Health Inequalities 
Annual Report 2020’ highlighted that Belfast’s health 
inequalities were worse than the NI average in 32 out 
of 41 outcomes measured; most notably in relation 
to male life expectancy, drug related mortality and 
alcohol specific mortality. 

•	 Male life expectancy in Belfast’s most deprived 
areas is 71.7 years; 4.6 years less than the average 
(76.3 years). Female life expectancy is 3.6 years less 
than the average (81.1 years).

•	 Inequality gaps for suicide remain persistently high. 
•	 However, the 2020 report identified a narrowing of 

inequality gaps in 15 of the 40 outcomes measured. 

Demographic change must be a key 
feature of health planning for the city 
•	 Belfast was the first Age Friendly City in Northern 

Ireland and has a reputation as a leader in healthy 
ageing beyond the UK. This strongly contributes 
to the resilience of the city. Active Ageing with 
employment for older groups and opportunities 
for physical activity and reduced social isolation 
supported by inclusive transport infrastructure, 
walkability, green areas will help make an ageing 
population a positive asset for the city rather than 
a challenge to its resources. The number of people 
with dementia will also increase significantly and 
the work being led by community organisations to 
develop Dementia Friendly Neighbourhoods will 
contribute significantly to its resilience by ensuring 
that those with dementia and their carers have 
ready access to all the social assets within their 
communities who understand their needs. 

•	 As set out in the section on ‘population change’, 
Belfast’s population is ageing. The number aged 
over 65 will increase by one third with over 20,000 
more people in this age group by 2041. People 
aged 45 now will be over 65 in 2041 requiring a 
focus on their health as well as those who are older 
now. 

28

2 - Stresses and shocks
FUTURE PROOFED CITY - BELFAST RESILIENCE ASSESSMENT 
December 2020

Climate adaptation and mitigation |Participation of children and young people |Connected, zero-emissions economy

Page 134



2

29

The relationship between housing, 
transport and infrastructure policy and 
health outcomes is critical to the city’s 
resilience
•	 The resilience of the city, as demonstrated during 

the pandemic, depends on having resilient local 
neighbourhoods where leadership has been 
evident. Evidence is also emerging globally of the 
importance of integration of housing, transport and 
infrastructure services to build greater resilience 
into the design of resilient neighbourhoods. Such 
neighbourhoods should be well-connected with 
walkable or cycle-friendly routes throughout, with a 
mix of inter-generational, cross-tenure housing, with 
a layout offering shared space to create a sense of 
safety and belonging as well as good relations and 
social inclusiveness. 

•	 The Strategy recognises mental health as a 
systemic stressor in the city which can be amplified 
if crises are not well-managed. The pandemic 
is likely to see a sharp rise in mild to moderate 
conditions arising from social isolation and 
loneliness as well as economic recession. Isolation 
and loneliness is recognised as a significant public 
health issue, affecting as many as 1 in 10 adults. 
The creation of socially inclusive neighbourhoods 
through support for social assets and creative 
physical planning, building on the upsurge of 
interest in volunteering in response to the pandemic 
could reduce demand for more specialist services.

Belfast’s future resilience to shocks and stresses 
will depend on the underlying health of its people. 
This therefore requires a singular focus on ensuring 
the population is as active and healthy as possible. 
Opportunities should be proactively considered, 
through the Community Planning Partnership 
structures to ensure that housing, health and 
infrastructure delivery can contribute to, and 
demonstrate positive health outcomes at a local level. 

Conclusion

2 - Stresses and shocks
FUTURE PROOFED CITY - BELFAST RESILIENCE ASSESSMENT 

December 2020

29

“The strategy will put the city in a 
much better position to meet critical 
threats to the health of our citizens 
and protect the most vulnerable.”
Iain Deboys,  
Assistant Director for Contracting and ECRs  
and Commissioning Lead, Health and Social Care Board, Belfast

Page 135



2 FLOODING AND EXTREME  
WEATHER EVENTS 
To be a resilient city, Belfast must be able to 
withstand the impact of flooding and extreme 
weather events. 

Climate change is causing many extreme weather 
events to become more intense and frequent, such 
as heat waves, droughts, and floods. In the summer 
of 2020 wildfires caused fire fighters to be called to 
numerous incidences that impacted residents of 
north Belfast. The image below shows the trend in 
temperatures in NI since 1910. 

Cities are already responding to the financial impact of 
extreme weather events. The Glasgow City Region has 
estimated that the cost of four typical weather events 
between 2012 and 2017 cost the city region £44.5m. 

Changes to our weather
NI mean temperatures
9.5°C

8.5°C

9.0°C
9.1°C
9.2°C
9.3°C
9.4°C

8.4°C

8.9°C

8.3°C

8.8°C

8.2°C

8.7°C

8.1°C

8.6°C

1910-19 1930-39 1950-59 1970-79 1990-991920-29 1940-49 1960-69 1980-89 2000-09

by 2100 relative to 1981-2000
Range in low emission scenario

Range in high emission scenario
9.5°C

0cm

20cm

40cm

60cm

80cm

100cm

120cm

Belfast
0cm

20cm

40cm

60cm

80cm

100cm

120cm

Edinburgh

0cm

20cm

40cm

60cm

80cm

100cm

120cm

Cardiff
0cm

20cm

40cm

60cm

80cm

100cm

120cm

London

The effect of climate change will be profound and 
with ongoing risk management and risk assessment, 
Belfast will be resilient in understanding potential 
impacts, infrastructure preparedness and economic 
consequences.

Source: UK Met Office

Sea level rise

30

2 - Stresses and shocks
FUTURE PROOFED CITY - BELFAST RESILIENCE ASSESSMENT 
December 2020

Climate adaptation and mitigation |Participation of children and young people |Connected, zero-emissions economy

Page 136



22

The forthcoming tidal flood alleviation scheme 
provides a mitigation against worsening flood levels 
in the future, therefore it is expected to provide some 
improvement to the city’s overall climate resilience. 
However, there remains significant work ahead to 
ensure the city’s existing infrastructure is climate 
resilient. Sea level rises and flood risk, coupled with 
extreme heat will have significant implications for 

the city’s infrastructure, as with many other cities. 
Evidence from cities globally has demonstrated the 
negative impact this can have on the local economy, 
the transport network and the social fabric of a 
city. Belfast must therefore carefully plan the future 
of its infrastructure to ensure climate resilience is 
prioritised. 

Conclusion

Belfast is located within the River Lagan catchment and 
at the mouth of Belfast Lough. It is a city with very close 
proximity to water, and where water resilience is critical 
to the operation of the city. Belfast makes up a large 
proportion of the geographical area estimated to be at 
“Significant risk of flooding in NI.
The Northern Ireland Flood Risk Assessment (2018) is 
a critical source, and identifies Belfast as one of twelve 
Areas of Potential Significant Flood Risk (APSFR) in 
Northern Ireland.
Several tributary rivers flow from the hills surrounding 
Belfast, into the city to the River Lagan and Belfast 
Lough, all of which have the potential to flood during 
periods of heavy prolonged rainfall. 
Belfast is therefore at risk of flooding from a number 
of sources including tidal (the sea), fluvial (rivers) and 
surface water (pluvial) unable to drain away quickly into 
the combined storm and combined sewerage network, 
much of which was built in the late 19th and early 20th 
century. 
The fact that Belfast has a mainly combined network 
means there is additional pressure on the system 
every time the city experiences heavy downfalls. As the 
city grows, additional pressure on the capacity of the 
network could increase the risk of flooding. 
Belfast has a history of flood events and major  
damages are caused by both fluvial and pluvial 
events. The five highest tidal surges have been 
recorded since 1994, most recently in early 
January 2014. 
“The economic consequences of flooding for 
the city are well-known. “

“The NI Flood Risk Assessment 
(2018) predicts that the city is 
the most economically impacted 
of all areas of risk in Northern 
Ireland with Aggregated Annual 
Average Damages (AAADs) of 
approximately £16m.“

Flood risk in Belfast
Coastal and pluvial flood risks are both sensitive to 
climate change. The impact of climate change causing 
sea level rise will increase the number of properties 
at risk of tidal flooding in the city to over 3,400 (2,640 
Residential and 770 Commercial) by 2065 and over 
7,900 (6,050 Residential and 1,860 Commercial) by 
2115. 
The Belfast Tidal Flood Alleviation Scheme is a landmark 
project that will provide a long term approach to tidal 
flood risk management for Belfast. Much of the city 
centre is between 1m to 2m below extreme tide levels, 
so a weather event of magnitude would cause serious 
disruption to the local economy, the transport network, 
and the social fabric of the city.
To understand the risks associated with climate change, 
Arup undertook a high-level risk assessment of existing 
city infrastructure. The study looked to three points in the 
future (2040, 2060 and 2080) for four key climate hazards: 
sea level rise, extreme heat, drought and extreme cold. 
The two key hazards with the biggest projected impact for 
Belfast are (1) sea level rise and flooding and (2) extreme 
heat. Arup found that many assets in the city are already 
at risk of flooding which is projected to be exacerbated by 
sea level rise and an increase in winter rainfall. The planned 
new flood defences will provide some protection but 
residual risk is projected to remain. 

31
Page 137



22 CYBER RESILIENCE 
A resilient city is reliant on its digital infrastructure, 
data and associated cyber security. As cities 
increase their digital dependency, their exposure 
to attack grows. A resilient Belfast will be able to 
deliver its essential services in the event of any 
breach. 

As Belfast grows, and becomes increasingly reliant on 
a digital eco-system to achieve its ambitions, its ability 
to mitigate and manage data and cyber security risks 
will be essential. Experience from other cities with a 
sophisticated data infrastructure shows that as cities 
increase their digital dependency, their exposure to 
attacks also grows (McKinsey, 2018). A smart Belfast 
must therefore be a secure and resilient Belfast. Being a 
cyber-resilient city means more than just being secure- it 
means being capable of delivering essential services in 
the event of a breach. 

A security breach has the potential to disrupt the 
city; however, cyber-crime has increasingly affected 
communities and individual households too. Cyber-
crime knows no borders and while authorities have 
experienced increasing levels of sophistication in mode 
of attack in recent years, low-level basic opportunistic 
attacks remain prevalent. 

“	Being a cyber-resilient city means 
more than just being secure - it means 
being capable of delivering essential 
services in the event of a breach. “

A significant cyber incident can affect the functions 
of the city - organisations and the public need to 
consider the impact which a major incident will have, 
what measures are needed and how to recover. 
Cyber security planning should be part of routine risk 
management and should be embedded in the structures 
and objectives of every organisation and business. 

The National Cyber Security Centre, which is part of 
GCHQ, is a well-established source of information 
regarding escalating volumes and types of threat. While 
this is extremely valuable at a national level, at a city level 
more work is required to develop more cross-sector 
plans to future proof our digital environment. 

Development of digital 
infrastructure and 
connectivity 
Secure digital infrastructure is critical to the fabric of 
any modern city- to support its social and economic 
goals. In recent years, Belfast has improved it digital 

connectedness - however it must retain this advantage 
through (1) a strategic approach to the development of a 
smart/digital city (2) sustained investment in the growth 
of its digital infrastructure (3) significant focus on the 
security and resilience of our digital infrastructure assets. 

A number of key reports have recently made a similar 
case. Matrix, the Northern Ireland Science Industry Panel, 
formed a sub panel of experts in the Digital ICT sector to 
look at the opportunities within the sector and produce 
a capability assessment and foresight study into NI’s 
Digital Information and Communications Technology 
sector. Its 2016 report made a number of significant 
recommendations that - while focused at a NI level - 
remain highly relevant to driving Belfast’s economic 
resilience:

•	 Develop and deliver a coordinated Digital Strategy 
to bring together the key stakeholders and initiatives 
required to transform NI into a fully digitized and Smart 
society and appoint a Chief Digital Officer to build a 
digital society.

•	 Develop a 3-5-10 year Skills Investment Plan for the 
Digital ICT sector.

•	 Ensure that NI has an exemplar digital infrastructure 
within and between urban areas to secure NI as an 
exemplar smart, connected region.

•	 Provide an integrated, agile platform, based on open 
standards which expose appropriate data and service 
APIs to nurture the development of an innovative 
ecosystem.

•	 Ensure that the cyber security sector is supported and 
developed.

Belfast is well placed to build its cyber resilience, in part 
due to the development of cyber security expertise 
in the city. CSIT, the Centre for Secure Information 
Technologies at Queen’s University is recognised for its 
world class research, and its work to enable new value 
and venture creation and ensure an entrepreneurial 
approach in the area of cyber security. It facilitates 
‘NI Cyber’ a cluster of companies based in NI that are 
developing world-leading cyber security technologies 
for customers worldwide.

Belfast City Council has prioritised a ‘smart cities’ 
approach to digitising and connecting the city, to 
achieve its economic and social ambitious, and in turn 
contributing to the city’s resilience. Smart Belfast brings 
together our universities, businesses, local government 
and citizens to collaborate, innovate and experiment 
using cutting-edge technologies and data science.

The Matrix report was instrumental in informing the 

3232

2 - Stresses and shocks
FUTURE PROOFED CITY - BELFAST RESILIENCE ASSESSMENT 
December 2020

Climate adaptation and mitigation |Participation of children and young people |Connected, zero-emissions economy

Page 138



2
Belfast Region City Deal Innovation and Digital Pillar, 
which will deliver a number of its recommendations at a 
city-region level. 

•	 The Regional Innovators Network (RIN) will create 
a unified environment in which the districts across 
the Belfast City Region are able to work together to 
develop and deliver a response to the regional needs 
for spaces within which entrepreneurs and SMEs can 
develop new products and services, and work with the 
larger businesses in the region. 

•	 The Infrastructure Enabling Fund (IEF) will support the 
deployment of advanced and resilient connectivity 
infrastructure across the Belfast region. 

•	 The Smart District & Regional Testbed Network 
consists of key locations across the Belfast Region 
that will act as hubs for development of advanced 
digital and physical infrastructure and will foster early 
adoption of new digital products and services at large 
scale.

•	 The Digital Innovation Platform and Partnership (DIPP) 
is a shared physical and digital environment where 
academic research community, tech entrepreneurs 
and industrial partners will come together to address 
key challenges in business and society through the 
application of the Internet of Things (IoT) and data 
science.

Consumer protection on cyber security is also critical to 
cities, like Belfast, that are becoming increasingly digitally 
connected. The Department for Culture, Media and 
Sport has produced helpful guidelines for Consumer IoT 
security that aim to strengthen the security of consumer 
smart devices sold in the UK and define the security 
requirements for the Internet of Things (IoT). These 
standards will allow configured devices for Smart City 
initiatives to be better protected.

Belfast Region City Deal is a ‘once in an generation’ 
opportunity to build Belfast’s resilience by increasing its 
digital connectivity. 

The Infrastructure Enabling Fund (IEF) will:
•	 Support the deployment of advanced and resilient 

connectivity infrastructure across the Belfast Region. 
•	 Catalyse digital innovation towards increased 

productivity and inclusive economic growth. 
•	 Manage the deployment of advanced wireless and 

fibre network infrastructure over the lifetime of the City 
Deal comprising of 4G LTE, Wi-Fi, IoT, optical and 5G 
technologies.

•	 Develop next-generation infrastructure to support the 
provision of a range of connectivity services, and will 
be critical for businesses within the Belfast region to 
catalyse their growth by having access to the latest 
communication technologies. 

•	 Provide high value sectors in the City Region with the 
digital infrastructure needed to test the application of 
new and emerging digital technology and solutions. 

This will provide a significant boost to our economic 
resilience. Critically, the Digital and Innovation Pillar 
of the City Deal will be implemented in an integrated 
way- to ensure that the outputs and outcomes arising 
from the City Deal are directed and driving inclusive 
economic growth in the City Region. However, it places 
even greater emphasis on the importance of secure and 
resilient infrastructure. 

There is no single coordinating body for the 
identification and management of cyber risk at a 
city level. While some individual organisations have 
developed cyber resilience plans to varying degrees 
of sophistication, this remains ad hoc, and with very 
little support for small organisations, and little focus 
on business continuity following a potential cyber or 
digital attack. Furthermore, there has been no single 
published account of the potential cost implications 
of a cyber-security threat to the city. 

Protecting the city from cyber threats should be 
considered the collective responsibility of senior 
leaders across the city. This strategy advocates 
closer working relationships across organisations 
in Belfast- with academia and the private sector - 
sharing threat information and good practice and 
collaborating to make it more difficult for cyber 
threats to succeed.

Conclusion

Belfast’s objectives to 
ensure cyber and digital 
resilience should be:
•	 To make Belfast unattractive to cyber criminals - 

through resilience and recovery. 
•	 To build an eco-system of supported city 

partners. 
•	 To build a pipeline of skills and education. 

33

2 - Stresses and shocks
FUTURE PROOFED CITY - BELFAST RESILIENCE ASSESSMENT 

December 2020

Climate adaptation and mitigation |Participation of children and young people |Connected, zero-emissions economy

Page 139



2 UK EXIT 
On 31 January 2020 the United Kingdom left the 
European Union and the Withdrawal Agreement 
concluded with the EU became law. The ‘transition 
period’, provided for in the Withdrawal Agreement, 
comes to an end in December 2020. At the time 
of writing (October 2020), trade negotiations to 
establish the UK’s future trading relationship with 
the EU remain ongoing. These negotiations on 
the UK’s trading relationship will have enormous 
implications for Belfast’s economy and for the wider 
region.

A number of studies have been undertaken to assess 
the future impact of UK Exit on NI, however there is 
no published central government assessment of the 
potential impacts of UK Exit for the city of Belfast 
or for similar UK cities. Earlier this year, a previously 
confidential study undertaken by the UK government 
detailing 142 areas of life in NI that will be impacted 
by Brexit was published by the House of Commons 
Exiting the EU Select Committee. The document is 
instructive in outlining the range of policy and practice 
areas - beyond trade and customs checks - that 
would be affected by a managed UK Exit. Furthermore, 
it highlights the scale and nature of formal and 
informal cooperation between the two jurisdictions on 
the island of Ireland, some of which may be impacted 
by a managed exit, and some adversely impacted by 
an unmanaged exit (i.e. departure without a deal). 

It is extremely likely that unsuccessful 
trade negotiations between the UK 
and the EU would represent both a 
short-term shock to the city of Belfast, 
and have longer term implications for 
the operation of the economy. 

The UK’s decision to leave the EU has long term 
implications for the city of Belfast. Significant  
re-framing of our relationship with cities in Europe 
is required; work to sustain levels of investment in 
a new trading landscape will also take time; and its 
funding relationships with key EU bodies requires 
careful planning into the future. For these reasons, 
UK Exit from the EU will remain a significant area of 
focus and of risk management for the city. 

Conclusion

34

2 - Stresses and shocks
FUTURE PROOFED CITY - BELFAST RESILIENCE ASSESSMENT 
December 2020

Climate adaptation and mitigation |Participation of children and young people |Connected, zero-emissions economy

Page 140



22

3535
Page 141



2 ECONOMIC RECOVERY  
CAPACITY
Economic resilience refers to a city’s resistance to 
and recovery from an economic shock. Improving 
resilience therefore includes a focus on the 
vulnerabilities that either make an economic shock 
more likely, or that exacerbate a crisis. 
Following the global financial crash (2008-09), policy 
makers began to pay greater attention to the cost of 
crisis in a city- sometimes referred to as ‘GDP at Risk’, 
which can profoundly damage long-term economic 
development. The OECD, for example, has developed 
a set of indicators to help cities help policy makers 
detect vulnerabilities early on and monitor country-
specific risks. Like several other cities, Belfast has made 
economic resilience a core priority, committing the city 
in the Belfast Agenda to take a targeted approach to 
addressing those issues which pose the greatest risk to 
the city and its economy.
As a city with important economic relationships globally, 
Belfast is susceptible to global economic trends and 
headwinds. Our focus on economic resilience seeks to 
ensure (1) strong resistance - when economic shocks 
happen, we are prepared and can ensure the shock has 
a temporary impact; and (2) have with greater capacity to 
adapt and recover, and to maintain progress towards our 
inclusive growth ambitions. 

Resilience to what?
The World Economic Forum Global Risks Report is 
a credible and often cited source of information on 
immediate and longer term risks faced by cities and 
states globally. Published annually, it allows for tracking of 
risks over time. 
In 2020, its report identified immediate risks emerging 
globally; a ‘synchronised economic slowdown’, 
continued warmer temperatures globally, expected 
increases in cyberattacks, and growth in protests around 
the world against systems that exacerbate inequality. 
The report was published in January 2020, as Covid-19 
was confined to a small number of countries and had not 
yet been declared a ‘pandemic’. 
Since early 2020, global economic forecasts have 
worsened, and in the UK economic forecasts suggest 
a prolonged shock as a result of the pandemic. At the 
time of writing (October 2020) the Bank of England 
has warned of an ‘unusually uncertain’ outlook. HM 
Treasury comparison of independent forecasts predicts 
an average GDP drop of 10% for 2020, an average 
unemployment rate of 7.3% for 2020, and average public 
sector net borrowing for 20202/21 to sit at £343bn.

An unsettled world, global risks and Belfast
For the first time in the history of the WEF Global 
Risks Perception Survey, environmental concerns 
dominate the top long-term risks globally. These 
risks are set against a worsening macro-economic 
outlook, which has been emerging for some time, 
i.e. before the impact of Covid-19. The 2020 report 
makes a number of observations that are relevant to 
Belfast; risks to economic stability and social cohesion, 
climate change and accelerated biodiversity loss, 
consequences of digital fragmentation, and health 
systems under pressure. 
For Belfast, proactively managing the impact of these 
global risks locally is challenging, but essential. The 
impacts for Belfast could be:
•	 A potential slow-down of growth in investment and 

Foreign Direct Investment in the city, if property 
funds look outside of the UK due to uncertainties 
arising from the impact of UK Exit from the EU.

•	 Increased costs for businesses and potential major 
shocks for industry depending on the nature of the 
UK’s future trading relationship with the EU, and 
particular arrangements for NI.

•	 Supply chain shocks - in particular costs associated 
with accessing supplies depending on the nature of 
UK withdrawal from the EU. 

•	 Currency volatility and its impact on exports. 
•	 Economic shock arising from Covid-19, followed by 

a prolonged global slow down could choke off the 
slow recovery being experienced by the city since 
the financial crash.

•	 Slowdown in scale of transition to low carbon 
technologies thereby reducing potential to take 
advantage of opportunities to be gained. 

As a city with significant exposure to the impact of the 
UK’s exit from the European Union, and with underlying 
existing economic vulnerabilities, Belfast must 
prioritise how it builds resistance to economic risks, as 
quickly as possible. 
This strategy and the establishment of an Innovation 
and Inclusive Growth Commission is aimed at 
institutionalising an approach to managing long term 
economic risks thus boosting the city’s economic 
resilience.

36

2 - Stresses and shocks
FUTURE PROOFED CITY - BELFAST RESILIENCE ASSESSMENT 
December 2020

Climate adaptation and mitigation |Participation of children and young people |Connected, zero-emissions economy

Page 142



2
Belfast’s existing economic 
resilience 
In 2018, the UK Core Cities Network commissioned 
Cambridge Econometrics to investigate the economic 
resilience of cities. In preparing this strategy, through 
our membership of the Core Cities network, we 
supplemented this study to include an assessment of 
Belfast’s economic resilience, including relative to other 
core cities. The study concluded that:

“	Belfast requires a series of measures 
to strengthen its resistance to, and 
recovery from, economic shocks.”

Belfast had lower resistance and lower recovery 
capacity than the Core City average measured against 
twelve other UK cities. Its recovery capacity has been 
particularly low, being rated as the weakest of all the 
cities except Liverpool. This is despite the data showing 
that Belfast’s resistance is strengthened somewhat 
by the share of public services in the city’s economic 
output. 

This finding underscores that the policy levers required 
for economic resilience are different to those that focus 
on economic growth. The high dependency on the 
public sector as a contributor to the city’s economy 
has a positive impact on the city’s resistance to shocks; 

however, it can also have a negative impact on the city’s 
ability to develop sustainably.

Belfast requires a series of measures to strengthen 
its resistance and recovery to economic shocks. 
This is particularly important because the way cities 
recover from shocks can have permanent impacts on 
their long term economy. For example, if people who 
are economically inactive fail to feel the benefits of a 
return to growth, this can result in a widening of income 
inequality further reducing resistance to the next shock. 

Factors affecting Belfast’s economic 
resilience
Despite its importance, there is no single global 
standard or set of indicators for measuring economic 
resilience. 

In this section we examine two particular aspects of 
Belfast’s economic resilience - income inequality and 
competitiveness and recommend the development of 
a series of indicators to measure the city’s economic 
resilience in the future. 

Core cities compare Belfast with the GB average

37

2 - Stresses and shocks
FUTURE PROOFED CITY - BELFAST RESILIENCE ASSESSMENT 

December 2020

Climate adaptation and mitigation |Participation of children and young people |Connected, zero-emissions economy

Page 143



2

The study concluded the following:

•	 Belfast’s demographic profile is impacting its 
competitiveness and its ability to achieve its city 
objectives. Belfast has a smaller labour pool which 
is growing slower than its competitors. Retaining 
the city’s population and replacing those who leave 
is a major challenge. These factors may potentially 
impact the city’s attractiveness to investors and is at 
odds with the performance of other cities.

•	 Belfast has a significant skills challenge. It has too 
few highly skilled workers and too many with no 
qualifications. While the figures are improving, it lags 
significantly behind other UK and European cities. 
This is impacting of the city’s competitiveness and 
the prosperity of its citizens, creating inequalities 
within the Belfast economy and making the 
achievement of inclusive growth more challenging. 
While a range of initiatives have been delivered to 
improve the skills base, significant issues remain and 
while much of the policy responsibility sits with the 
NI Executive, initiatives such as the Belfast Region 
City Deal present an opportunity for the City to play 
a bigger role, over both the short term and the long 
term. 

•	 Belfast (and NI as a whole) still has the largest 
proportion of economically inactive of all UK cities 
(and regions). As well as the implications for the 
individuals affected, it also results in a drag on the 
local economy’s performance and competitiveness. 
To improve Belfast’s competitiveness, this is an area 
which must be addressed.

•	 While there is a sense of an emerging 
entrepreneurial ecosystem, supported by a 
buoyant knowledge economy and a growing 
private sector, key indicators still highlight that 
Belfast lags behind its peers in relation to creating 
and growing successful businesses. Providing a 
supportive environment which is conducive to 
business creation will be key to improving Belfast’s 
competitiveness. This is also a key focus of the 
Belfast Region City Deal, which presents a significant 
opportunity to provide further foundations to 
support enterprise, innovation and entrepreneurship

•	 Belfast has momentum across a range of indicator, 
it has also dropped down the rankings across 
others - namely in Broadband provision. There is 
evidence that other cities are seeking to enhance 
their competitiveness by investing in policy areas 
that have made Belfast successful. This poses a 
threat to Belfast and may take away from Belfast’s 
competitive offer. The city should not rest on its 
laurels and should seek to build on its strengths to 
maintain and enhance advantages where they exist.

The Belfast Agenda, the city’s community plan, sets 
out a series of measures aimed at reducing and 
removing some of Belfast’s economic challenges- in 
particular through a sustained focus on population 
growth, jobs creation and development. This pro-
growth approach is underpinned by a focus on 
inclusive growth, reducing inequality over time. This 
mirrors the approach taken by a number of global 
cities with similar challenges, and assuming the right 
policy levers are applied, could be transformative for 
the city of Belfast.

Encouragingly, the potential for greater resilience 
is intrinsic to the ambitions within the Belfast 
Agenda. Their realisation could address a number of 
challenges for the city referenced in this document, 
such as providing critical mass to maintain or 
support services and infrastructure.

Belfast city’s competitiveness 

A recent study of the city’s competitiveness 
(Bakertilly Mooney Moore 2019) identified a number 
of areas of vulnerability for the city of Belfast, and 
summarised them in the graphic below. Importantly, 
the study found that Belfast’s decline relative to 
other cities is due to their resurgence, i.e. other 
cities’ out-performing Belfast. 

Physical knowledge 
and infrastructure

Quality of life

Sustainable and 
inclusive growth

Population and 
demography

Productivity

Theme
Current  
average  
ranking

Three year 
change

Five year 
change

4

9

6

6

5

/12

/12

/12

/12

/12

38

2 - Stresses and shocks
FUTURE PROOFED CITY - BELFAST RESILIENCE ASSESSMENT 
December 2020

38
Page 144



2

Building our economic 
resilience 
Building economic resilience for sustainable 
growth requires an integrated and simultaneous 
focus on several aspects of the city’s economy. 
The Cambridge Econometrics Study produced 
the following helpful Venn diagram:

Cu
ltu

re

Structure

Governance

Dynamic competitiveness

Business confidence Institu
tio

nal 
su

pp
or

t

Resistance
Resilience

Recoverability

Structural  
diversity

Switchable  
markets

Supply-chain flexibility
Innovation and creativity

Skilled and  
educated workforce

Modern infrastructures
Access to finance

Su
pp

or
tiv

e  

in
st

itu
tio

ns

Locally com
m

itted  

business culture

Le
ad

er
sh

ip

Pro
ac

tiv
e a

tti
tu

de

Coo
rd

in
at

ed
  

po
lic

y m
ak

in
g

Dev
el

op
m

en
ta

l s
ta

nc
e

Lo
ng

 te
rm

 vi
sio

n
Res

ou
rc

e  
al

lo
ca

tio
n

Entrepreneurship

Positive attitude  

and outlook

Situation aw
areness

Effective  

netw
orking

Indicators to measure 
and strengthen economic 
resilience 
This strategy proposes the agreement of a citywide 
series of indicators to measure Belfast’s economic 
resistance and recovery capacity. These may include 
the following:

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

Levels of private and 
household debt 

Flexibility of labour market 

Skills among working age 
population 

Ratio of FDI and indigenous 
investment 

Public Sector as a contributor 
to economic output 

Export Intensity 

Income and wealth inequality 

Employment and economic 
activity 

Integrated local economic 
networks 

Presence of strong economic 
strategy and leadership 

Levels of trust 

Dependence on carbon

39

2 - Stresses and shocks
FUTURE PROOFED CITY - BELFAST RESILIENCE ASSESSMENT 

December 2020

Climate adaptation and mitigation |Participation of children and young people |Connected, zero-emissions economy

Page 145



2

The financial crash and global recession of the previous 
decade exposed Belfast’s weak recovery capacity. 
This will be further impacted by the economic shock 
arising from the effects of the COVID-19 pandemic. In 
many respects, Belfast had only just begun to recover 
from the previous crash, when COVID-19 hit. To better 
prepare for future economic cycles, a sustained focus 
on economic resilience, as part of a wider inclusive 

Conclusion
growth strategy is required. Many global cities, are now 
placing a particular emphasis on economic resilience 
and Belfast can learn from existing global practice. This 
strategy recommends that we commence this work 
by (1) identifying and agreeing a series of city-wide 
indicators to measure economic resilience (2) making it 
a core aspect of the work of the Innovation and Inclusive 
Growth Commission.

As set out in the previous pages, Belfast faces a 
number of challenges associated with its weak 
recovery capacity. However, its economic resilience 
has been significantly boosted in the last decade as 
new growth sectors have emerged, and thrived. These 
include significant recent growth in the ICT sectors, 
Fin Tech, Life & Health sciences, global business 
services and across emerging sectors such as cyber 
security, Reg Tech and Legal Tech. More recently, 
Belfast has also attracted a significant number of 
internationally recognised global investors. 

Alignment of city partners around a number of 
growth priorities, has led to the establishment of 
a number of new city structures. For example, the 
Belfast Digital Innovation Partnership brings together 
local government, universities, Belfast Harbour and 
Catalyst- the city’s community of innovators- to 
harness digital innovation with the objective of 
achieving a step-change in increasing the city and 
the region’s productivity. The work ensures a strategic 
focus on commercialising the outputs of the city’s 
research base, weaving digital innovation into every 
aspect of the city’s economy with the goal of creating 
new and better jobs.

Investment in companies across the city has 
remained strong throughout the decade. Between 
2015/16 and 2019/20 Invest NI, the Economic 
Development Agency for Northern Ireland, provided 
£198M of support to businesses based in Belfast 
(£110M to local companies/ £88M to externally owned 
companies), securing over £1.144bn of investment 
and assisting in the promotion of 10,126 jobs. 

As a result of this investment and a strategic approach 
to development of growth sectors, Belfast can now 
boast of becoming a leading city across a number of 
key industries. It is currently (2020) Europe’s leading 
FDI destination for new software development*, is 
ranked as the No 2 ‘Second Tier’ city for Business 
Friendliness and is one of the top 10 digital 
economies of the future**. 

Continuing to improve the city’s economic resilience 
is a critical priority for the city’s Innovation and 
Inclusive Growth Commission, established to develop 
an economic strategy for Belfast and to ensure 
continuation of a strategic focus on key growth 
sectors. The Belfast Region City Deal offers a timely 
and important lever for the city to invest heavily 
across those industries to support job creation, skills 
development and sustainable economic output. 

Building on the city’s economic strengths 

40

2 - Stresses and shocks
FUTURE PROOFED CITY - BELFAST RESILIENCE ASSESSMENT 
December 2020

Climate adaptation and mitigation |Participation of children and young people |Connected, zero-emissions economy

Page 146



41

2

Page 147



2

Gross disposable  
household income

£5,000

£10,000

£15,000

£20,000

£25,000

Derry
 City

 &
 Stra

bane

Mid Ulster

Newry,
 M

ourn
e and Down

Ferm
anagh and Omagh

West M
idlands

Causeway Coast a
nd Glens

Tees Valle
y and Durh

am

West W
ales

South Yorkshire

Arm
agh City

, B
anbrid

ge and Craigavon

North
 East NI

East Y
orkshire

 and North
ern

 Lincolnshire
Wales

Greater M
anchester

Merseyside

West Y
orkshire

North
umberla

nd and Tyne and W
ear

Lancashire

Yorkshire
 and The Humber

Derb
yshire

 and Nottin
ghamshire

North
 W

est

West M
idlands

East W
ales

West C
entra

l S
cotla

nd

Antri
m and Newtownabbey

Lincolnshire

Corn
wall a

nd Isles of S
cilly

Ard
s and North

 Down

East M
idlands

Mid and East A
ntri

m

Belfa
st

High levels of poverty and income inequality can 
severely reduce a city’s resilience. At a household 
or individual level, lack of access to additional 
resources in times of unpredictability means 
much greater vulnerability in a crisis. Substantial 
research now exists to show the disproportionately 
adverse impact of climate related shocks on poorer 
neighbourhoods, for example, following periods of 
economic shock, people without jobs and on fixed 
low incomes often do not benefit from a return to 
growth as quickly as wealthier households. 
A significant proportion of the population will face 
financial difficulty. The Office for National Statistics 
(ONS) said that one in four (25%) adults stated that the 
coronavirus was affecting their household finances, 
with 75% reporting reduced income. The survey also 
indicated that an increasing proportion of households 
have needed to use savings to cover living costs, with 
evidence of having to borrow money or use credit 
causing concern for some households.
Initial analysis indicated that those in the lowest earning 
income deciles are much more likely to be furloughed 
or laid off compared to those at the top of the income 
distribution. Therefore, the least well off are more likely 
to lose their jobs or suffer from reduced income, thus 
widening inequality. (UUEPC)

COVID-19 makes it clear that cities are only as resilient 
as they are inclusive. World Bank Cities’
Belfast’s resistance to and recovery from shocks, and 
its wider resilience will therefore be determined by the 
success of its achievements to drive inclusive growth. 
The draft Local Development Plan describes the social 
context in Belfast as ‘a tale of two cities’, 

“	Belfast is home to some of the most 
affluent communities in NI, however 
it is also home to some of the most 
deprived communities.” 

There is a need for the LDP to increase equality of 
opportunity and contribute to the breakdown of the 
physical and psychological aspects of division.’ 
This assertion is based on a range of data sources- 
including the Income Deprivation Domain (in The 
Northern Ireland Deprivation Measures), which identifies 
the proportion of the population living in households 
whose equivalised income is below 60% of the NI 
median. Belfast is split into 174 spatial areas known as 
Super Output Areas (SOAs). Belfast contains two of the 
ten most deprived SOAs in NI - and 4 out of the 10 least 
deprived, in terms of income. 

POVERTY AND INEQUALITY 

Shropshire
 and Stafford

shire

42

2 - Stresses and shocks
FUTURE PROOFED CITY - BELFAST RESILIENCE ASSESSMENT 
December 2020

Climate adaptation and mitigation |Participation of children and young people |Connected, zero-emissions economy

Page 148



2

£5,000

£10,000

£15,000

£20,000

£25,000

£35,000

£40,000

£45,000

£50,000

Shropshire
 and Stafford

shire

Southern
 Scotla

nd

Leicestershire
, R

utla
nd and North

amptonshire

Lisburn
 &

 Castle
reagh

Devon

Scotla
nd

Highlands and Islands

East A
nglia

Cumbria

Eastern
 Scotla

nd

South W
est

Dorset a
nd Somerset

Unite
d Kingdom

Kent

England

Gloucestersh
ire

, W
ilts

hire
 and Bath/B

ris
tol area

North
 Yorkshire

Essex

East E
ngland

Hampshire
 and Isle of W

ight

Cheshire

Outer L
ondon - East a

nd North
 East

North
 Eastern

 Scotla
nd

Bedford
shire

 and Hertf
ord

shire

South East

Inner L
ondon - East

Surre
y, E

ast a
nd W

est S
ussex

Outer L
ondon - South

Outer L
ondon - W

est a
nd North

 W
est

London

Inner L
ondon - W

est

A 2016 NICVA study on income inequality found that ‘it 
is possible to say that Belfast is the most unequal part of 
NI, as it has a high proportion of people in the bottom of 
the income distribution (25%) and a high proportion at 
the top (18%). ’ 
While income and wealth inequality in Belfast is high, the 
city also compares poorly to others in terms of absolute 
levels of income. Twenty-one of the top 20% most 
deprived SOA’s in NI are in Belfast. However, 14 of these 
have remained in the top 20% since 2005. Even more 
notable is the fact that a number of SOA’s moved out of 
the top 20% in the 2010 measures and then re-entered 
again in the latest 2017 measures.

While income inequality clearly requires a sustained 
focus, there is an equally strong argument for a greater 
understanding of the impact of wealth inequality. Wealth 
inequality rarely receives as much policy attention as 
income inequality, yet the gap between public and 
private capital is a strong driver of divisions in society. 
It is not clear whether a single city study into wealth 
inequality has been done in Belfast. 

“	While overall private wealth has 
increased in the UK, public wealth has 
waned and the gap between both has 
widened.” 

Data on economic performance confirms the benefits 
to be gained from reduced wealth and income inequality, 
and less division generally. Economic activity has close 
correlations with levels of trust- economies with high 
levels of trust, have higher levels of trade and activity 
that adds economic value. There is a case for a focus on 
community wealth and asset based welfare to find ways 
to reduce wealth inequalities in the city. 

Coupled with political polarization, inequality erodes a 
country’s social fabric in an economically damaging way: 
as cohesion and trust diminish, economic performance 
is likely to follow.

43

2 - Stresses and shocks
FUTURE PROOFED CITY - BELFAST RESILIENCE ASSESSMENT 

December 2020

Climate adaptation and mitigation |Participation of children and young people |Connected, zero-emissions economy

Page 149



2

Three and five year Population Growth rates 

POPULATION CHANGE
Resilient cities are those with thriving populations 
- well planned levels of sustainable development, 
to match cities’ long term ambitions. Belfast’s 
economic resilience is therefore dependent on 
sustainable levels of population growth, particularly 
among its younger and its working age populations.

Population projections are important because they 
give us a perspective on how the future might look, 
if certain trends continue. However, because they 
are trend-based, they cannot take account of policy 
changes which might occur, and the impacts of these 
interventions. Most cities globally are planned on this 
basis - population projections are developed centrally 
based on past trends, however, local planning policies 
aim to change these trends over time. 

This strategy uses population projections because 
they provide critically important information on how 
past trends might impact on the future. However, as 
this section concludes, future policies will determine 
whether these projections are realised. 

In 2019, Belfast had a population of 343,542 
making it, by this measure, one of the largest cities 
in the UK overall. It has a lower population than the 
Scottish capital Edinburgh (518,000) but has a similar 
population to the Welsh capital Cardiff (364,248), 
Newcastle (300,196) and Nottingham (331,069). 

As part of Belfast’s competitiveness study, the city’s 
projected population growth rates was compared with 
12 others. The study found that Belfast had the lowest 
projected population growth rate for the next three 
and five years. 

4%

Manchester

Nottin
gham

Edinburgh
Bris

tol

Glasgow

Sheffield

Liverp
ool

Newcastle

Card
iff

Birm
ingham

Leeds

Belfa
st

3%

2%

1%
3 year

5 year
0

7%

6%

5%

Over the decade mid-2016 to mid-2026, the 
population of children (i.e. those aged 0 to 15 
years) in Belfast is expected to grow by just 2.4%. 

Furthermore, over the same decade, the 
population in Belfast aged over 65 is projected 
to increase by 15.2%. In 2033, the number of 
older people aged 65+ in Belfast will surpass the 
number of children under 15. Each of these trends 
presents distinct challenges for the city- and for 
its economic resilience in particular. 

An Aging Population

When data on growth in working age population was 
compared, Belfast has one of the lowest labour pools 
of the twelve cities. Perhaps most worrying of all, 
Belfast has seen relatively low growth in its working 
age population since 2013 (0.8%) and a decline since 
2015 (-0.2%) which leaves it ranked lowest of the 12 
comparator cities. 

Children 0-15 and older people 65+

Aged 0-15 years Aged 65+ years

80,000

70,000

60,000

50,000

40,000

30,000

20,000

10,000

20
16

20
26

20
21

20
31

20
37

20
17

20
27

20
22

20
32

20
38

20
18

20
28

20
23

20
33

20
39

20
19

20
29

20
24

20
34

20
40

20
20

20
30

20
36

20
25

20
35

20
41

44

2 - Stresses and shocks
FUTURE PROOFED CITY - BELFAST RESILIENCE ASSESSMENT 
December 2020

Climate adaptation and mitigation |Participation of children and young people |Connected, zero-emissions economy

Page 150



2

FUTURE PROOFED CITY - BELFAST RESILIENCE ASSESSMENT 
December 2020

Climate adaptation and mitigation |Participation of children and young people |Connected, zero-emissions economy

Official population projections for Belfast demonstrate 
the challenges faced by the city. However, it is 
important to stress that a focus on projections alone 
can mask the drivers that led us to the present position. 
Resilient cities are highly reflective and adaptive - 
they plan for sustainable development based on 
a sophisticated understanding of the relationship 
between economic and social trends, on what has 
succeeded or failed in the past and what has worked 
elsewhere.

Growing its population - and in particular the number 
of young people and working age people is critical to 

Conclusion
the city’s economic resilience. For this reason, the 
policy goals in the Belfast Agenda - ‘to be home to an 
additional 66,000 people’, and underpinned by its draft 
Local Development Plan Strategy are crucial to the 
city’s future economic resilience. 

Many other cities globally have demonstrated the 
capacity of local planning policies to reverse or shift 
population trends and it is essential that decision 
makers in Belfast do the same. Given the impact of 
Belfast for the regional economy, there is a strong case 
for pursuit of these policies to receive regional priority. 

Migration flows are a strong indicator of how a city 
is perceived internationally. Belfast has recently 
realised negative net migration - i.e. more people 
leaving than arriving. This is highly unusual. When 
ranked alongside twelve other UK cities as part of 
the Competitiveness Study, Belfast was unique in 
this respect.

Migration and people leaving our city
Environmental migrants forced to flee their current 
homes due to rising sea levels, drought and 
unpredictable weather events around the world is 
something that may impact UK cities in future years.

Migration due to climate change, 2019 mid-year estimates

2,000

-1,000

7,000
8,000
9,000

10,000
11,000
12,000
13,000
14,000
15,000

* Note 2016 censusBirm
ingham

Leeds

Edinburgh

Newcastle

Sheffield
Bris

tol

Belfa
st

Glasgow

Liverp
ool

Nottin
gham

Card
iff

Manchester

1,000

2,000

6,000

0

5,000
4,000
3,000

Dublin
*

Cork*

45

2

Page 151



2 CARBON INTENSIVE SYSTEMS:  
DEPENDENCY ON FOSSIL FUELS 
Belfast is a net importer of energy, relying heavily on 
traditional coal, gas and oil to heat and power homes 
and buildings in the city and on petrol and diesel 
for virtually all of its transport needs. A third of the 
domestic sector relies exclusively on oil for space 
heating. 
This heavy fossil fuel reliance, generating high levels 
of demand for what is an expensive form of energy, 
presents a significant challenge to the city’s long-term 
resilience. 

“	Balancing security of energy supply 
for economic growth with a supply of 
affordable energy so all households 
can live in healthy warm environments 
with environmentally sound sources of 
energy.”

Belfast’s dependence on energy will increase. The  
International Energy Agency has previously projected 
that energy demand in cities globally will increase by 
57% by 2030 - energy demand and energy security 
therefore represent a major challenge for all global cities- 
including Belfast. This makes the transition to low carbon 
sources of energy an even greater priority for the city. 
The so-called ‘energy trilemma’ is a well-known 
phenomenon within cities. It relates to balancing security 
of energy supply for sustainable economic growth with a 
supply of affordable energy so all households can live in 
healthy warm environments with environmentally sound 
sources of energy in response to a changing climate. 
A 2017 Northern Ireland Affairs Committee report on the 
electricity sector was blunt in its assessment that NI has 
struggled to achieve this balance. It called for an urgent 
update of the Strategic Energy Framework - the policy 
framework on energy, to give certainty to investors, and 
enable long term policy clarity and planning for energy. 
It also recommended a permanent advisory body on 
energy. 
Belfast is a net importer of electricity. The security of 
this supply is considered both on a NI basis and an All 
Island basis. SONI (the Norther Ireland Transmission 
System Operator) jointly (with the Republic of Ireland 
Transmission System Operator, Eirgrid) annually 
published a Generator Capacity Statement and Annual 
10 year Transmission Forecast Statement. These 
consider the expected electricity demand and the level 
of generation capacity that will be required in NI and on 
the whole island over the next ten years. Within this they 
consider a number of realistic scenarios. Their current 
statement highlights that current capacity needs are 
met however some scenarios indicate further capacity 
is needed for 2026 and beyond. The need for a second 

North South Interconnector to increase security of 
supply is also highlighted. Planning approval for the 
interconnector has now been granted by the Minister 
for Infrastructure in Northern Ireland enabling this critical 
project to advance. 
Generators are provided with clear information on how 
they are compensated within the current single electricity 
market on the Island of Ireland. This design includes 
capacity auctions for generation capacity four years in 
advance of the need. However generators also require 
long-term policy clarification from the NI Executive to 
provide further surety and reduce their risk leading to 
reduction in costs for consumers going forward. 
Belfast is also a net importer of gas. The security of 
supply for gas is considered on a NI basis by the Gas 
market Operator within NI.
Nevertheless, we have a good story to tell when it 
comes to renewable electricity. From October 2018 
to September 2019, 44.9 per cent of total electricity 
consumed in Northern Ireland was generated from 
renewable sources. This exceeded the original target 
of 40% by 2020. Decarbonisation of the energy 
system, however, will require a step change in the level 
of renewable generation if net zero carbon targets are 
to be met. Demand for electricity may also increase 
through the electrification of heat and transport. These 
are dependent on an enabling policy environment, which 
will not be in place until a new Northern Ireland Energy 
Strategy is implemented, expected to be in 2021 or later. 

Towards a New Energy 
Strategy for NI
The Department for the Economy has begun the 
process of developing a new energy strategy, which 
it intends ‘to decarbonise the Northern Ireland energy 
sector by 2050 at least cost to the consumer.’ 
Encouragingly the department also recognises that 
any new strategic direction for energy in Northern 
Ireland must consider the existing energy mix and 
how it will be reshaped, as well as considering energy 
demand reduction. The move to decarbonise our 
energy systems was given further impetus when 
the Minister for the Economy announced that 
‘Clean Energy’ is one of four growth sectors for 
targetted investment in her ‘Rebuilding a Stronger 
Economy’ document, published to support economic 
recovery following the Covid-19 pandemic. Clearly, 
in a relatively short space of time clean energy has 
emerged as an area of strategic focus in Northern 
Ireland, and as the region’s capital, Belfast will have a 
critical role to play

46

2 - Stresses and shocks
FUTURE PROOFED CITY - BELFAST RESILIENCE ASSESSMENT 
December 2020

Climate adaptation and mitigation |Participation of children and young people |Connected, zero-emissions economy

Page 152



2

Belfast’s big energy bill
The ‘Mini Stern’ for Belfast, 
commissioned by the Belfast Climate 
Commission, and undertaken by 
Professor Andy Gouldson at Leeds 
University, found:

•	 Belfast spent a total of £296m in 
2019 on energy across the city. However, Belfast’s 
energy bill is forecast to grow to £466m by 2050.

•	 If it invested in all of the profitable energy efficiency 
and low carbon options, total energy bills would 
be cut by £286m per year in 2050, creating jobs, 
improving air quality and the liveability of the city. 

•	 Households in the area would save £46m a year 
from their energy bill. 

•	 Belfast’s industry could cut its fuel costs by £9m a 
year. 

•	 This would mean the area’s carbon emissions 
would fall by 23% over and above what is already 
expected. 

“	Cutting the city’s carbon footprint 
makes really sound sense 
economically and socially as well as 
environmentally. Belfast could cut 
its future energy bill in half whilst at 
the same time reducing fuel poverty, 
creating jobs, making its homes more 
comfortable and slashing its carbon 
emissions. The case for action is so 
strong that rather than asking why 
would we do this, people in the city 
should be asking why wouldn’t we.”  
Andy Gouldson 
Professor of Environmental Policy, University of Leeds 
Author of Belfast Net Zero Carbon Roadmap (Mini Stern)

Waste and the circular 
economy 
In January 2018, as part of its national climate 
mitigation and adaptation policy, China banned the 
import of foreign waste, including almost 9 million 
tons of plastic scrap, to reduce pollution and strain on 
its national environmental systems.

This ban exposed poor resilience in the domestic 
recycling capacity of many states that had 
traditionally exported to China. Plastic waste built up 
in the United Kingdom, Canada and several European 
states. In the first half of 2018 the United States sent 
30% of the plastic that would previously have gone 
to China to landfill. According to the World Economic 
Forum, ‘as the impact of environmental risks 
increases, it will become increasingly difficult to treat 
those risks as externalities that can be ignored or 
shipped out. Domestic and coordinated international 
action will be needed to internalize and mitigate the 
impact of human activity on natural systems.’

Successful cities manage the impact of growth 
sustainably and ensure that it does not limit 
the quality of life of future generations. Waste 
management is therefore a key factor in the resilience 
of the city. Belfast City Council is prioritising the 
management of urban waste, to create a quality 
materials product with the aim of supporting jobs via 
a circular economy. 

The council’s forthcoming Corporate Plan from 
2020 to 2024 will prioritise new waste collection 
arrangements under the 10 Year Waste Framework 
Strategy. Through the Resourceful Belfast 
programme, the council aims to maximise economic 
potential by creating social enterprises; and will 
develop a strategy which will ensure waste is 
managed effectively and investigate the economic 
potential of the circular economy to increase skills, 
jobs and inclusive growth. 

47

2 - Stresses and shocks
FUTURE PROOFED CITY - BELFAST RESILIENCE ASSESSMENT 

December 2020

Climate adaptation and mitigation |Participation of children and young people |Connected, zero-emissions economy

Page 153



2

Belfast’s economy is a high-carbon one- which 
will impact its resilience in the coming decades, as 
other cities transition to low-carbon futures. The 
speed and means of Belfast’s energy transition will 
be critical to its economic future. However a timely 
and well managed transition has the potential to 
significantly boost inclusive growth in the city, to 
create jobs and to reduce fuel poverty. 

When work commenced to prepare a resilience 
strategy in 2018, there were no formal citywide 
structures or plans in place across Belfast with 
either a focus on climate mitigation or climate 
adaptation. Data on the potential implications of 
climate change is still not held centrally (i.e. at a city 
wide level). 

Conclusion

Belfast Smart Cities Urban 
Health Programme 
The Urban Healthy Living pilot was 
funded by UK Space Agency’s 
‘Space for Smarter Government 
Programme’ which adapts satellite-
enabled air pollution monitoring to 
support public health programmes 
and healthcare delivery in an urban 
setting. 

The project demonstrated the use of a space-
enabled technology for traffic related air pollution 
monitoring and aimed to spur innovative interventions 
in healthy living and disease prevention. Using a blend 
of technology, the project produced air pollution 
models that were visualised on 3D maps, making 
complex information accessible. UHL also prototyped 
a routing map that could allow clinical patients to 
better self-manage their respiratory conditions by 
selecting the routes and modes of transport that limit 
their exposure to pollutants. 

The project’s research led to some important 
conclusions which are highly relevant for policy 
makers and city planners; that air pollution hovers 
long after traffic dissipates, and that weather is a 
determining factor. Those with COPD and asthma 
are much more severely affected by air pollution 
levels, and air pollution is increasingly linked with non-
respiratory diseases including diabetes and reduced 
cognitive function. 

Risk to health and enjoyment  
of the city: air quality 
The quality of urban air is a critical factor in the 
quality of life enjoyed by city residents, as well 
as a key health determinant. The World Health 
Organisation describes air pollution as ‘the 
largest environmental risk factor for ill health’ and 
estimates that in 2012 around 1 in 8 deaths were 
attributed to exposure to air pollution , and this is 
echoed by the UK Clean Air Strategy, published in 
early 2019 .

Cities that have been successful in enhancing 
air quality have tended to take a multi-faceted 
approach:

1.	Setting evidence-based targets for reduction 
in harmful levels of pollutants- often exceeding 
national level targets 

2.	Dramatic reduction in fossil fuel dependent road 
transport and in combustion of fossil fuels- a 
sustained modal shift in travel and transport 

3.	Providing clear and easy to access public 
information on air quality levels, to enable 
informed decision making by the public on their 
travel routes 

4.	Well-resourced public education campaigns to 
help individuals and organisations understand 
how they could reduce their contribution to air 
pollution 

5.	Excellent partnerships between city government, 
health policy makers and innovators to identify 
new solutions to a systemic problem.

2

48
Page 154



2

49

2 - Stresses and shocks
FUTURE PROOFED CITY - BELFAST RESILIENCE ASSESSMENT 

December 2020

Climate adaptation and mitigation |Participation of children and young people |Connected, zero-emissions economy

The fact that the car remains the predominant feature 
of Belfast’s transport infrastructure and network 
is a major risk factor for the city, and increasingly 
inhibits its resilience. While the city’s transport 
infrastructure is functioning successfully in lots of 
ways, the prevalence of road infrastructure in the city, 
the numbers of daily car journeys and their impact on 
movement in the city and the dependency on fossil 
fuels for car use present major challenges for the 
city as it transitions to a low carbon economy. The 
draft LDP Technical Supplement makes the point 
succinctly, ‘Belfast is a city that has historically been 
dependent on the private car and the streetscape has 
evolved to cater to these demands, resulting in road 
infrastructure that is over sized, over complicated and 
a barrier to non-motorised accessibility’. 

The policy framework for transport at the city 
level, the Belfast Metropolitan Transport Plan was 
developed in 2004 for implementation to 2015. 
While many aspects of the plan remain relevant, 
there is a strong case, as Belfast sets targets for 
decarbonisation, to refresh the city’s policy ambitions 
for sustainable transport.

Belfast’s future resilience is dependent on its 
transition to a low carbon economy. This will only 
be possible with a material shift in the balance 
of its travel choices away from cars and towards 
sustainable public transport, walking and cycling as 
advocated in the approach to future growth in the 
LDP.

There are welcome signs of progress towards 
reducing the city’s dependency on the car. Changes 
to mobility following Covid-19 may result in longer-
term patterns towards sustainable forms of travel. 
The appointment of a Walking and Cycling Champion 
by the Department for Infrastructure presents a 
welcome opportunity to promote active travel across 
the city.

Research from cities across Europe, where the 
dominant mode of transport is walking, cycling or 
public transport demonstrates the health benefits 
and the transformational impact modal shift can 
have on peoples’ satisfaction with their city. A step 
change in sustainable forms of transport would 
deliver two major city objectives at once- making 
Belfast a city that attracts and retains young people, 
and encourage them to live in the city centre. It would 
significantly increase the city’s climate resilience and 
drive decarbonisation, making Belfast a much more 
attractive city in which to live. 

Conclusion

How prevalent is car use in 
Belfast? 
•	 Belfast remains a car oriented city with 68% of 

households having access to at least 1 car. 
•	 53% of journeys made in Belfast between 2015-

17 were car journeys, and just 11% were by public 
transport. This compares poorly to other similar 
UK and global cities. 

•	 Relatively few households were close to a train 
station. 60% said it would take them 44 or more 
minutes or that it was not feasible to walk. 

•	 Belfast’s daytime population increases by 25% 
to accommodate people who travel to Belfast to 
work. 

•	 Congestion levels in Belfast place the city in the 
TomTom Traffic Index Top 25 Global Congested 
Cities. 

•	 158,237 vehicles registered in Belfast 2019. 
•	 1,172 electric vehicle registrations in Belfast 

in the first quarter of 2020 (less than 1% of all 
registrations in 2019). 

2

49
Page 155



2
CLIMATE CHANGE 
Climate change presents a grave risk to the planet, 
and as such, its effects on cities will be profound, 
and many will be permanent. How we design cities, 
how we live in them and enjoy our city lives will 
change significantly in the decades to come. Work 
on this strategy had just commenced in 2018, 
when the IPCC produced its seminal report which 
concluded that global warming should not go above 
1.5 degrees beyond pre-industrial levels. The report 
recommended significant acceleration in global 
efforts to reduce carbon, and was instrumental in 
shaping the UK government’s decision to set a net 
zero carbon target for the UK by 2050. 

In preparing this strategy, climate change was the 
predominant issue raised by stakeholders in our focus 
groups and workshops. Children and young people 
across Belfast raised it as a priority issue for them. 

Lack of preparation for climate change emerged as 
a major feature of discussion in our workshops and 
focus groups. This was echoed in Northern Ireland 
Climate Change Risk Assessment, which found:

‘There is no published account of what has been 
achieved by efforts in recent years to improve the 
resilience of infrastructure systems in NI to flood risk.’ 

Most sectors do not report on the resilience of their 
assets, networks and services. This is particularly 
the case with the non-regulated sectors and for local 
infrastructure, especially minor road networks and 
highways. 

Few sectors systematically describe the disruption 
that has been caused by flooding, and the actions that 
have been taken as a result.

Global temperature change
Relative to pre-industrial

Risk of abrupt and 
major irreversible 
changes

Extreme weather 
events

Ecosystems

Water

Food

0˚C 1˚C 2˚C 3˚C 4˚C 5˚C

Small mountain 
glaciers disappear, 
water supplies 
threatened in 
several areas. 

Significant decreases in water 
availability in many areas, 
including Mediterranean and 
Southern Africa

Rising number of species face extinction

Rising intensity of storms, forest fires, droughts, flooding and heat waves

Possible rising yields in some  
high latitude regions

Falling crop yields in many areas, particularly developing regions

Falling yields in many  
developed regions

Increasing risk of dangerous feedbacks and abrupt,  
large-scale shifts in the climate system

Extensive damage 
to coral reefs

Sea level rise 
threatens major 
cities

2 - Stresses and shocks
FUTURE PROOFED CITY - BELFAST RESILIENCE ASSESSMENT 
December 2020

50
Page 156



2While no comprehensive city-wide risk assessment 
has yet to be undertaken, the Climate Change Risk 
Assessment undertaken at a NI level, is relevant, and 
we would expect that the risks identified below are 
likely applicable to Belfast. It found that 

•	 Climate change poses risks to NI’s soils, farming, 
freshwater resources, natural carbon stores, marine 
ecosystems, wildlife and habitats. It argued that 
more action is needed to build resilience to these 
risks. It also highlighted that more evidence is 
needed to fully understand other climate change 
risks that are likely to be important for NI’s natural 
environment, including potential changes in 
agricultural and forestry productivity and land 
suitability and impacts on freshwater and marine 
ecosystems.

•	 Infrastructure in NI is exposed to a range of climate 
hazards. Impacts on some assets have the potential 
to cascade on to others as part of interdependent 
networks. Flooding poses the greatest long-term 
risk to infrastructure performance from climate 
change, but the growing risks from heat, water 
scarcity and slope instability caused by severe 
weather could be significant.

•	 The CCRA Evidence Report suggests that there 
are potential health benefits from warmer winters 
in NI, but more action is needed to manage current 
risks to people from cold temperatures through 
addressing fuel poverty. There are several risks that 
might be important for NI but there is not enough 
evidence to assess to what extent adaptation action 
is already underway to manage the risks. Such 
areas include risks to communities from flooding 
and sea level rise, extreme weather impacts on 
the healthcare system, risks to building fabric from 
moisture, risks to culturally valued buildings, and 
risks to health from overheating buildings, poor 
air quality and pathogens. For these risks, more 
research in NI is urgently needed.

•	 Flooding and extreme weather events which 
damage assets and disrupt business operations 
pose the greatest climate change risks to 
businesses in NI now and in the future. This could be 
compounded by a lack of adaptive capacity. 

•	 Climate change will impact upon on water security, 
agricultural production and economic resources 
around the world. These impacts can in turn 
exacerbate risks from conflict, migration, and 
humanitarian crises abroad, with implications for the 
UK. The main risks arising for the UK from climate 
change overseas are through impacts on the food 
system, economic interests abroad, and increased 
demand for humanitarian aid.

•	 The high-level climate risk assessment undertaken 
by Arup to inform this strategy concluded that 
Belfast is already suffering as a result of climate 
hazards- that extreme weather is impacting 
Belfast’s infrastructure and this impact is likely to 
significantly increase in the future. The vulnerability 
of existing infrastructure will be exacerbated 
with changing climate risk and is likely to involve 
more periods of extreme heat and winter rainfall. 
It recommended a comprehensive climate risk 
assessment is undertaken to inform a future Climate 
Plan for the city. 

The importance of science 
based targets
Assessing climate risks to Belfast comprehensively 
has been difficult because of lack of available data 
and analysis. Unsurprisingly therefore, this strategy 
recommends that considerable work is undertaken 
swiftly, to understand the scale and nature of 
climate related risks, to inform how to make Belfast 
climate resilient. Research is also required to ensure 
science based targets inform our ambitions for 
decarbonisation. 

Risk assessment is not just important to enable the 
city to prepare for climate change, it is critical to 
understanding economic risks. The Glasgow City 
Region’s Risk Assessment identified that the annual 
economic cost of climate change in Glasgow City 
Region is estimated to be £400 million each year by 
the 2050s; around 1% of current GVA . Given Belfast’s 
existing level of economic resilience, the city can ill-
afford to be unprepared for an equivalent level of GVA 
at risk. 

Assessing climate risks to Belfast
2

51

2 - Stresses and shocks
FUTURE PROOFED CITY - BELFAST RESILIENCE ASSESSMENT 

December 2020

Climate adaptation and mitigation |Participation of children and young people |Connected, zero-emissions economy

Page 157



2
A Zero Carbon Roadmap for 
Belfast 
The Belfast Climate Commission, a partnership 
between Belfast City Council and Queen’s University 
Belfast is committed to ensuring a science based 
approach to climate planning across the city. Working 
with Leeds and Edinburgh, Belfast’s first Net Zero 
Carbon Roadmap has been produced, to identify 
the sources of Scope 1 and 2 emissions, and to set 
out cost effective and innovative stretch measures 
needed to reach net zero carbon by 2050. 

The document concludes the following:

•	 Belfast’s share of the global carbon budget- to keep 
to 1.5 degrees of warming is 16 million tonnes of 
C02

•	 Belfast is emitting 1.5 million tonnes of carbon a 
year. At this rate, the city will have used up its carbon 
budget by 2030.

•	 Belfast’s carbon emissions have declined by 42% 
since 2000, but this needs to be increased to an 
80% reduction by 2030, and a 100% reduction by 
2050.

•	 Targeted measures in transport and housing would 
make significant progress towards the 2030 target, 
reducing the city’s energy bill by £286 million a 
year, boosting employment in the city. These cost 
effective measures are set out in detail in the report.

•	 Innovative stretch options are also outlined, 
demonstrating the transformation that is required 
and possible, to achieve net zero emissions by 
2050.

An inclusive approach to 
climate planning 
As the Committee on Climate Change noted, ‘Low 
income households are particularly susceptible to 
climate change impacts, though they might also 
benefit the most from the positive implications of 
climate change. 

“	NI has the highest proportion of 
properties at risk of flooding that are 
in deprived areas (27%).”
CCRA 2017, NI Summary Report t

For this reason, it is critical that climate adaptation and 
mitigation targets are genuinely inclusive and aim to 
ensure the most vulnerable are protected, and that 
the economic benefits from decarbonisation are felt 
by those most impacted by fuel poverty. A core aim 
of any climate mitigation plan must be a significant 
reduction, or virtual elimination of fuel poverty. 

Furthermore, given the level of interest in the issue 
of climate change by the city’s children and young 
people, it is critical that city-wide climate planning is 
participative and includes their voices and opinions on 
the future of their city. 

52

2 - Stresses and shocks
FUTURE PROOFED CITY - BELFAST RESILIENCE ASSESSMENT 
December 2020

Climate adaptation and mitigation |Participation of children and young people |Connected, zero-emissions economy

“	I am delighted that Belfast has a 
resilience strategy to address global 
challenges. I commend Belfast City 
Council for including the voices 
of local people throughout the 
consultation phase and look forward 
to seeing the positive impact the 
strategy will have on the lives of 
people in Belfast.”
Michele Bryans,  
EastSide Greenways Manager, EastSide Partnership, Belfast

Page 158



2
The effects of climate change on Belfast will be 
profound. A comprehensive risk assessment 
is urgently required to better understand the 
economic, social and environmental risks expected 
for Belfast at a local level, to enable effective 
adaptation planning. 

Climate change represents the biggest medium 
term risk to the city of Belfast - to its people and its 
economy. Given our levels of economic resilience, the 
scale and nature of spatial division in the city, levels 
of fuel poverty and deprivation, Belfast’s resilience is 
dependent on how we prepare. A step change is now 
required across a range of city partners to develop 
a comprehensive climate adaptation and mitigation 
plan, which will include science based targets and aim 
to achieve an inclusive approach to decarbonisation. 
While the net effects of climate change are not 
sufficiently understood, it is highly likely that there 
will be economic upsides to decarbonisation, and 
therefore this is a once in a generation opportunity to 
radically reduce fuel poverty and help drive inclusive 
growth.

ConclusionDeveloping a climate plan  
for Belfast 
Cities that are climate resilient- ready for the impact 
of climate change- are those which have developed a 
comprehensive approach in an integrated and joined-
up way. The Community Planning Partnership model for 
Belfast is the right model through which to build a city-
wide collaboration of agencies and organisations to help 
plan the city’s preparedness for climate change and to 
drive decarbonisation. 

The city’s Resilience and Sustainability board is working 
collaboratively to ensure the following:

•	 A single adaptation and mitigation plan is developed, 
using comprehensive risk assessment and science 
based targets to ensure robust commitments, 
including targets for arriving at net zero carbon as a 
city, and agreeing a carbon budget. 

•	 That adaptation strategies are joined up with 
emergency planning structures in the city, and with 
NI wide targets and strategies and with city region 
strategies

•	 That future strategic developments in the city are 
informed by climate adaptation and mitigation targets

•	 That the recommendations from the Committee 
on Climate Change regarding NI’s emissions are 
heeded; for example, to significantly improve levels of 
tree planting; to find ways to incentivise transition to 
low-carbon heating of homes and retrofit of housing 
stock; more rapid deployment of electric vehicles, 
tighter conventional vehicles standards, and transport 
behaviour change.

•	 Fundamentally, a city-wide climate adaptation and 
mitigation plan, developed in partnership with the city’s 
statutory community partners and others should result 
in a comprehensive series of commitments to prepare 
for climate change and decarbonise. This should inform 
and influence decisions on strategic developments in 
the city. As the Committee on Climate Change notes 
‘The cost-effective path to decarbonisation in NI 
requires action across all sectors of the economy and a 
joined-up approach.’

53

2 - Stresses and shocks
FUTURE PROOFED CITY - BELFAST RESILIENCE ASSESSMENT 

December 2020

Climate adaptation and mitigation |Participation of children and young people |Connected, zero-emissions economy

Page 159



2 HOUSING SUPPLY IN THE CITY
Economically resilient cities tend to have vibrant 
city centres, which act as economic drivers for the 
rest of the city, while also being a focal point for 
culture, tourism and connectivity. Climate resilient 
cities are increasingly investing in greater levels of 
densification within city centres to reduce urban 
sprawl and remove dependency on carbon intensive 
forms of travel. 

Belfast’s city centre has experienced a revival in recent 
years with increased investment and regeneration. The 
development of a Regeneration and Investment Strategy 
has made the city centre an area of strategic focus, 
and has resulted in masterplanning of strategic sites 
in the city, e.g. Belfast Inner North West, and the Linen 
Quarter. Importantly, targets to increase the ‘rates base’, 
are intended to enable further investment in the city. 
Furthermore the city council established a City Centre 
Investment Fund to identify strategic opportunities to 
develop the city. This has boosted Belfast’s economic 
resilience and made it much more capable of being 
prepared for shocks in the future. 

A step change in the city’s resilience would be achieved 
by the development of residential housing at scale in 
the city core. Prioritised as an area of focus in the Belfast 

Agenda, the city’s community plan, a new generation 
of housebuilding would transform Belfast City Centre 
and complement existing ongoing regeneration and 
development.

Progress in recent years in this area has been too 
slow- with just 103 new homes completed in the city 
in 2019/20. This pace of completions significantly 
undermines Belfast’s competitiveness and reduces 
opportunities for sustainable economic growth. Thriving 
cities need a ready supply of people living in the city core 
to contribute to a mixed economy and to make the city 
an attractive place to visit and invest. 

While the existing economic headwinds for Belfast make 
large-scale residential development challenging, land 
values in Belfast are competitive, relative to other UK city 
centres. The right housing product at the right point in 
the economic cycle could prove successful. Examples 
from other cities include creative use of public subsidy 
(land or finance) through joint ventures with private or 
social partners to build at scale. Financial models might 
include borrowing against future receipts to fund a 
greater number of products, including shared ownership 
or ‘key worker’ housing. 

54

2 - Stresses and shocks
FUTURE PROOFED CITY - BELFAST RESILIENCE ASSESSMENT 
December 2020

Climate adaptation and mitigation |Participation of children and young people |Connected, zero-emissions economy

Page 160



2

Significant success has been achieved in making 
Belfast city centre an attractive investment 
proposition and this has yielded results for the 
local economy and the city more generally. 
However the city’s future economic resilience and 
sustainable levels of growth require a permanent 
city centre population. Housebuilding at scale, 
which gives priority to good design and includes 
family housing is critical to the economic resilience 
of the city. 

A new generation of homes should include a mix 
of tenures to accommodate households on a 
range of incomes. Lessons should be learned from 
other cities that have successfully applied cross-
subsidy models to build social, affordable, shared 
ownership and key-worker housing alongside 
market rent and market sale. 

Furthermore, smart and low-carbon housing 
respectful of the city’s existing built heritage 
which encourages and incentivises use of public 
transport, would have additional benefits to the 
city including reduced air pollution.

ConclusionSocial and affordable  
housing need
Lack of supply in the city core represents just one of 
several city-wide housing challenges. Social housing 
comprises almost 25% of all housing in the city, 
and therefore plays an important role in the city’s 
economy, and contributes to the health and well-being 
of the population. However, housing need in Belfast 
has been consistently high in recent years, impacting 
the economic resilience of the city, with significant 
social consequences. Total applicants as at end 
of September 2020 for Belfast City Council area is 
11,288 with 8,545 applicants in housing stress. The 
2019 Northern Ireland Housing Executive Investment 
Plan proposes a ‘new build requirement’ of 4,421 
social homes from 2018-23 and intermediate housing 
demand of 550 for the decade from 2019. 

Thriving, successful and inclusive cities require 
effective housing systems, that provide safe, decent 
and affordable housing for everyone. Belfast has a 
strong history of high quality, well-managed social 
housing provision. The city’s future economic and 
climate resilience is therefore dependent on a supply 
of social and affordable housing, to ensure genuinely 
inclusive growth. 

55

2 - Stresses and shocks
FUTURE PROOFED CITY - BELFAST RESILIENCE ASSESSMENT 

December 2020

Climate adaptation and mitigation |Participation of children and young people |Connected, zero-emissions economy

Page 161



2 SEGREGATION AND DIVISION SEGREGATION AND DIVISION 
The signing of the Belfast/Good Friday Agreement 
in 1998 was a milestone in the city’s history. 
Since then, the creation of new institutions, 
implementation of key aspects of the peace 
agreement and dramatic reductions in conflict 
related violence in the city have created the 
conditions for a for a more resilient Belfast. As the 
Good Relations Strategy for Belfast City Council sets 
out, ‘we have come a long way as a city over the past 
20 years…but there is much more to be done’. 

Existing levels of 
segregation in Belfast
It is important to state that conflict is no longer 
the overriding risk factor for Belfast. However, the 
legacy of conflict has manifested in division, which 
continues to directly impact on the city and to 
undermine its urban resilience. 

•	 Division between communities remains 
prevalent with low levels of trust and high levels 
of residential, educational, physical and social 
segregation in many areas. 

•	 Belfast contains the highest number of interface 
areas in the region where segregation remains 
high. Inter‐community tensions are reducing but 
continuing. There are estimated to be around 
97 security barriers and forms of defensive 
architecture across residential areas in Belfast.

•	 Many people within our society still think of 
Belfast in binary terms - of a society made up 
of two communities; Catholic and Protestant. In 
many ways this binary view and its influence on 
public service decision making has accentuated 
division in our society by duplicating services 
and hampering the connectivity between people 
and communities. (GR Strategy). 

•	 Physical and psychological barriers between 
communities make travel around parts of the 
city difficult. This has resulted in people avoiding 
certain areas perceived to be unsafe.

The data bears this out. Several studies exist that 
demonstrate that conflict in cities significantly lowers 
their overall resilience to key risks- such as climate-
related impacts , or food security. The existence of 
conflict or the threat of conflict exacerbates shocks 
and stresses, often making them more complex or 
expensive to solve. 

If the residents of Belfast continue to think, travel and 
live in a binary way- the city’s ability to respond to 
significant risks is weakened considerably. 

The provision of parallel services adds to the cost of 
public services, reducing capacity in the system to 
respond to unexpected shocks.

Crisis management tends to be less effective when 
systems are disjointed or separate. Resilience requires 
integrated systems and cities, where a single decision 
is rolled out universally and speedily. 

When cities are well networked, capacity can be 
shared - sometimes human capacity- e.g. moving 
people across cities during times of extreme weather 
events. 

This is made more difficult and sometimes more 
expensive in cities where residential segregation is 
prevalent. 

Lack of trust between communities, particularly those 
living in close proximity, means they are less likely to 
support each other - this adds to a city’s vulnerability 
in times of crisis. 

In developing this strategy, the issue of division emerged 
repeatedly as a perceived inhibitor to the city’s resilience. 
In our stakeholder engagement, many individuals 
contended that until Belfast was truly a connected city, 
we would continue to be vulnerable to many risks. 

“	We have come a long way as a city 
over the past 20 years…but there is 
much more to be done.”

56

2 - Stresses and shocks
FUTURE PROOFED CITY - BELFAST RESILIENCE ASSESSMENT 
December 2020

Climate adaptation and mitigation |Participation of children and young people |Connected, zero-emissions economy

Page 162



2

57

2

Belfast’s resilience is weakened because unlike 
other cities, it is not a socially cohesive unit. Yet 
cohesion and integration are critical in a crisis. 
Furthermore, separation reduces efficiency and 
wastes resources. For example, thousands of 
additional journeys are taken in Belfast each day 
because of its separate education system. In 
such a carbon intensive and car oriented city, this 
significantly adds to our CO2 emissions and makes 
responding to climate change more difficult, and 
potentially more expensive. 

Climate change will present profound risks to all 
cities globally, during this century. Cities that can 
build their capacity to maintain essential services, 
recover from shocks and continually adapt are more 
likely to survive. Divided cities will be much more 
exposed to risk. 

It is not a coincidence that Belfast’s Resilience 
Strategy and its Good Relations Strategy have both 
prioritised ‘connectedness’ as a major problem 
to be solved. If Belfast is to thrive in the face of 
unexpected challenges, it must do so as a united, 
socially cohesive city. 

Conclusion

2 - Stresses and shocks
FUTURE PROOFED CITY - BELFAST RESILIENCE ASSESSMENT 

December 2020

57
Page 163



2 MENTAL ILL-HEALTH
A healthy city is a resilient city. An abundance of 
data now exists that proves that cities that invest 
heavily and consistently in health and wellbeing 
of their populations - particularly in their children 
and young people - feel the benefits beyond social 
impacts, but also on their economic performance 
over the longer term. The Belfast Agenda rightly 
prioritises the reduction in health inequalities and 
encouragingly, the city’s community planning 
structures are focusing attention on a range of 
health related urban ‘problems’ for example on 
reducing avoidable winter deaths.

We have identified the issue of mental ill-health and 
use of prescription drugs as a major challenge for 
Belfast because of the regularity in which it emerged 
in our discussions with city partners. 

In fact, the issue of mental ill-health was one of the 
most talked-about issues by stakeholders across the 
entire development of this strategy. It was just as likely 
to emerge in discussions on the economy as it was 
in discussions on societal challenges. Perhaps this 
should not be a surprise.

There is now a growing body of research examining 
the impact of cities on levels of anxiety and mental 
health. In 2019, Europe’s first ‘Urban Psychology 
Summit was held to explore the links between urban 
renewal policy choices and serious mental and 
physical health impacts. 

Four key findings emerged:

•	 Experience of place determines much of our 
development and wellbeing, and we should not 
separate the policies for one from the other. 

•	 The discipline of psychology is missing from public 
policy debates and decisions at a city level. 

•	 Cities have the unique potential to support the 
development of a positive shared identity for its 
population.

•	 Given rapidly rising urbanisation and worsening 
mental health, a stronger focus should be 
urgently placed on understanding more about the 
psychological impact of place upon people, and 
people upon place.

This emerging research suggests that Belfast is not 
alone in experiencing increased levels of anxiety and 
mental-ill health among its population. In developing 
this strategy, stakeholders repeatedly emphasised 
their perception of a prevalence of mental illness 
across all age groups. 

Prescription drugs are also playing a role in making 
some people less healthy, rather than more so.

“	A growing number of young children 
presenting with anxiety, stress and in 
some cases trauma.”

These two areas of focus featured overwhelmingly 
in our conversations with health and social care 
professionals.

Belfast’s 
mental health 
challenges
Data on mental health 
points to a significant 
challenge for the city and 
its people.

•	 NI has a suicide rate of 27.3 per 100,000 for men 
and 9.2 for women. The comparison to England 
is stark where the rate is 14.0 for men and 4.6 for 
women, with 307 deaths by suicide in NI in 2018.

•	 Since the 1990s, the absolute number of deaths 
from suicide in NI have doubled (in 1993 there 
were 151, now the figure is 307). In Scotland, they 
have decreased by a quarter from 912 in 1993 to 
680 now.

•	 Belfast Health trust has the highest overall suicide 
rate of any trust in NI. (Source: NISRA/Samaritans 
UK).

•	 Anecdotal evidence from our conversations with 
practitioners across the city would suggest that 
people are presenting to health and social care 
services with anxiety, stress or more serious 
forms of mental-ill health at an increasingly 
younger age. 

•	 One organisation reported that a recent review of 
their case files demonstrated a growing number 
of young children presenting with anxiety, stress 
and in some cases trauma. 

•	 One-to-one conversations with mental health 
practitioners confirmed their view that Belfast is 
experiencing growing levels of mental ill-health, 
and a small number suggested further work is 
required to understand the relationship between 
today’s presentations and the conflict.

58

2 - Stresses and shocks
FUTURE PROOFED CITY - BELFAST RESILIENCE ASSESSMENT 
December 2020

Climate adaptation and mitigation |Participation of children and young people |Connected, zero-emissions economy

Page 164



2USE OF PRESCRIPTION DRUGS
Data on dispensing of medical prescriptions paints a 
worrying picture of the health and well-being of the 
population. 

In 2018, for a city with a population of 341,900 people, 
8 million prescriptions were dispensed- an average of 
23 prescriptions per person across the city. This figure 
is 9% higher than in 2012. 

Drugs related deaths are also on the increase. In 2017, 
136 people died as a result of drug taking, an increase 
of 60% on the decade before. Men are much more 
likely than women to die as a result of drug taking.

Health outcomes for drug-related mortality, male life 
expectancy at birth and teenage births were much 
worse than the NI average. The gap is also widening 
between the most deprived and least deprived areas 
of Belfast in relation to drug related mortality, smoking 
during pregnancy and respiratory admissions.

The NI Outcomes Framework monitors the self-
efficacy scores of the population as a measure of 
confidence. Self-efficacy is a person’s beliefs about 
their capability to produce results or effects. Those 
with high self-efficacy have confidence in their 
abilities and produce sustained efforts to achieve 
goals. Those with low self-efficacy often doubt their 
capabilities, are less ambitious and give up on their 
aims when challenged.

In Belfast, half of our year 9-12 pupils have a low self-
efficacy but are satisfied with their life (2019). This is 
significantly larger than it was on 2016 and worrying 
that so many children are lacking in confidence.

Belfast is already a World Health Organisation 
Healthy City and considerable progress continues 
to be made to improve health outcomes for 
its population. Because of the dominance of 
the issue of mental ill-health and prescription 
drug use in our workshops, and what the data 
suggests, we have highlighted the issue as a major 
challenge. Furthermore, there is a strong case 
for better understanding the impact of cities and 
indeed of place on our mental health, and greater 
involvement of the discipline of psychology in how 
we design, plan and manage our city. 

Conclusion

59

2 - Stresses and shocks
FUTURE PROOFED CITY - BELFAST RESILIENCE ASSESSMENT 

December 2020

Climate adaptation and mitigation |Participation of children and young people |Connected, zero-emissions economy

Page 165



2 THE GOVERNANCE AND  
FINANCING OF RISK 
Stable governance is an essential prerequisite 
for any resilient city. Compared to some global 
cities where decision-making is marred by conflict 
or corruption, Belfast has well-defined political 
and administrative structures, underpinned by 
law, and with modern modes of accountability.

However, the complexity of challenges faced by cities 
demands governance in which comprehensive policy 
reform, supported by strategic long-term financing is 
the norm, and whereby the relationship between central 
and local government is mature and collaborative. These 
characteristics are not sufficiently in place in NI, which 
leads to significant implications for its regional capital. 

The 2019 competitiveness study commissioned 
by Belfast City Council made a number of prescient 
comments regarding growth in the city. ‘It is difficult to 
quantify the impact that NI’s governance structures (and 
indeed lack thereof) have on Belfast’s competitiveness 
but it is evident that other competitor cities, with a 
larger arsenal of policy levers, have delivered faster 
growth across key competitiveness areas. 

This section examines the particular 
characteristics of governance in Belfast and 
makes some observations intended to improve 
the governance and financing of risk. 

•	 Governance in NI is more regionally centralised than 
other parts of the UK. From a city perspective, this is 
particularly relevant, as resilient cities require robust 
urban policy- with clear strategic objectives and the 
levers to deliver them. In NI, a much greater range of 
responsibilities sits at central government level when 
compared with powers of local authorities in England, 
Scotland and Wales. Strategy and delivery is spread 
across a range of arm’s length bodies, usually working 
to a regional remit. Further devolution of powers from 
central government to local government has been 
slow, and inhibits real partnership and collaboration 
between central and local government, which is 
often necessary to unlock external investment at 
a city level. The draft Programme for Government 
(2016-2021) contains just one proactive ‘city policy’ 
- an ambition to strengthen Belfast as the regional 
economic driver but is not accompanied by a tangible 
plan. The draft PfG outcomes framework are lacking 
indicators at a city level, and no single government 
department or body has responsibility for cities. 
Furthermore, the ‘New Decade, New Approach’ 
document, agreed by the political parties as part 
of the re-establishment of the Northern Ireland 

Executive in 2020, made no specific references 
to distinct governance arrangements for cities. 
However, it did contain several welcome references 
to City Deals, which in some parts of the UK have 
led to significant additional powers being devolved 
to city level structures. Nevertheless, urban policy 
in NI is immature and ill-developed. This, coupled 
with a highly centralised system of governance, and 
a fragmented spread of powers and obligations 
across arm’s length bodies, makes the building of 
Belfast’s long term resilience more challenging. 

•	 Lack of urban policy was, for some time, compounded 
by the long-term absence of Executive Government 
in NI. A recent report by the Institute of Government 
examined some of the implications for NI of 
governing without ministers. It noted the work of 
the Northern Ireland Civil Service in carrying out 
departmental functions and running public services 
on a day-to-day basis. However, it was definitive in 
its assessment that long term public sector reform 
is virtually impossible without Ministers, pointed to 
a growing list of outstanding policy decisions and 
concluded that it is the people of NI who suffer the 
consequences of a lack of political leadership.

•	 The return of Executive government in January 2020 
has enabled several major policy programmes to be 
reconsidered by ministers. However, at the time of 
writing, several of immediate priorities agreed for 2020 
remain unimplemented. Nevertheless, the response 
of the NI Executive to COVID-19 has demonstrated 
what can be achieved through coherent, cross-
Executive planning and implementation. 

•	 The length of the suspension hampered long term 
reform, and NI is likely to be impacted by this, for 
several years to come, when it was needed. Several 
of the ‘shocks and stresses’ identified in this strategy 
have emerged or been accelerated due to lack of 
public service reform in NI or due to how services 
and infrastructure are financed (see below). Tackling 
these issues will require long term vision, collaboration 
between central and local government and the 
private and NGO sectors, and a shift in risk appetite to 
enable untried policy reform to commence. Ensuring 
a resilient recovery from the economic and social 
impacts of COVID-19, coupled with the effects of the 
UK’s decision to leave the EU requires systemic, cross 
government planning of the long-term implications 
of a reformed relationship with the European Union 
and the long-term trading relationship between 
NI and the rest of the world. Without ministers, 
substantive decisions on how NI transitions to a low-

60

2 - Stresses and shocks
FUTURE PROOFED CITY - BELFAST RESILIENCE ASSESSMENT 
December 2020

Climate adaptation and mitigation |Participation of children and young people |Connected, zero-emissions economy

Page 166



2
carbon economy have not commenced, whereas 
regions and cities elsewhere are gaining competitive 
advantage from large scale investment in innovation. 

•	 However, it should be noted that policy reform, even 
when ministers are in place, is often difficult. As 
the IoG notes, ‘the politics of NI and its distinctive 
constitutional arrangements militate against effective 
policy making on long-term issues. These particular 
characteristics of NI’s governance potentially weaken 
our resilience to stresses over the long term and 
may incentivise ‘shortermism’. There is therefore 
a strong case for reviewing and reforming how 
difficult, complex and contentious decisions are 
made - at a regional and a city level. Some regions 
and cities have identified new structures, such as 
citizens assemblies to make recommendations to 
government on contentious issues. In other instances, 
independent commissions are established to focus 
on a particular complex issue. In the long term, 
when ministers are returned, new structures to aid 
and advise them through difficult policy decisions, 
and preferably with a strong civic voice, are needed. 
Lessons should be learned from other countries 
that have prioritised the development of a vibrant 
policy community and strong civic participation. 

•	 Despite the difficulties associated with power sharing 
and during the suspension of the Northern Ireland 
Executive, political parties continued to work together 
effectively at local government level. Councils across 
NI have been developing and delivering community 
plans - critical documents to inspire and drive 
cross agency collaboration at a city-wide level. In 
Belfast, the Community Planning Partnership has 
taken strong ownership of ‘Belfast Agenda’, and 
meaningful collaboration is taking place across 
agencies on issues relevant to the city. For example, 
the ‘Living Here’ board is currently progressing a 
cross-agency project to reduce winter deaths in the 
city. This sharing of risk and reward has also been 
seen working very effectively across local councils 
in the Belfast city region, working collaboratively 
with universities and colleges to successfully 
bid for a Belfast City Regional Deal, which could 
leverage £1bn in funding across the city region. 

•	 The affordability of building resilience is a major 
challenge for the city, though Belfast is not alone 
in struggling to finance future risks. In its 2019 
Risk Report, the World Economic Forum warned 
that ‘Robust risk financing strategies will be 
required, both to fund investment in adaptation 
and to pay for recovery when floods occur’. 

However, as has been documented, some of the risks to 
the city of Belfast are not currently solvable at a city-
level, because governance and finance is centrally held. 
The city is reliant on NI central government to develop 
funding models for infrastructure. If Belfast is to succeed 

in meeting those highly complex challenges, the city 
and the NI Executive must work in partnership to find 
new forms and models of finance as other cities have 
done. Councils are increasingly reliant on the district 
rate for their funding, and this fact should be reflected 
in the decisions taken on future financial structures. 

The ‘New Decade, New Approach’ document makes 
 a welcome commitment to a multi-year budget  
to underpin a multi-year Programme for Government.  
However, whether this results in the kind of reformed  
approach to long term planning necessary, remains  
to be seen. 

•	 Improvements to how government is financed should 
include reform of the existing ‘short-termism’ applied 
to financing at a regional level. Unlike in the UK where 
three-to-five year spending rounds are the norm, NI 
departmental allocations are chiefly managed on an 
annual basis. This has obvious implications for how 
major programmes are designed and delivered. 

•	 Perhaps most challenging and importantly of all 
are the decisions to be made in how major long 
term infrastructure is funded. This must be a major 
area of priority for the Executive and must include 
local government as a partner in the process. The 
Institute of Government report makes an interesting, 
if controversial, point regarding the level of regard 
shown to value for money in NI. It points to examples 
of where NI has continually extracted finance from the 
UK taxpayer or the EU and suggests this readiness 
to accept external funding disincentives difficult 
decisions from being taken. Whatever the reasons 
for not having well planned financial models in place, 
as levels of infrastructure investment increasingly 
become a chronic risk for the city, decisions must 
be taken on how best to make up the shortfall, while 
also building in resilience for the future. This is a major 
risk for the future, and must be tackled urgently. 

•	 The development of this strategy has identified 
a number of areas of risk which could be dealt 
with effectively at a city level. Stronger city-wide 
economic levers would be beneficial in enabling 
the city to plan for its future. The RSA’s City Growth 
Commission concluded that ‘innovative, competitive 
and resilient economies are built on stable institutions 
that engender trust between trading partners, 
encourage investment in infrastructure and public 
services, and build socially productive communities’. 
This is a complex area and will require collaboration 
across central and local government and agencies, 
e.g. The Department for Infrastructure, Belfast City 
Council, Northern Ireland Water, Translink etc. At the 
very least, agencies and organisations in Belfast 
should work together to arrive at a single figure for 
the cost of building the necessary infrastructure 
to make the city resilient for this century, and 
identify the ‘GDP at Risk’ figure of not funding it 

61

2 - Stresses and shocks
FUTURE PROOFED CITY - BELFAST RESILIENCE ASSESSMENT 

December 2020

Climate adaptation and mitigation |Participation of children and young people |Connected, zero-emissions economy

Page 167



2
Governing a post-conflict city with continued 
high levels of segregation is a daily challenge, and 
therefore continuity of stable local government 
in this context should be considered a success. 
However, Belfast’s governance needs to be 
increasingly designed for future challenges- and 
for dealing with complex challenges that are taxing 
all cities, such as sustainable recovery from the 
effects of the COVID-19 pandemic, climate change, 
energy transition and creating a low-carbon 
economy. There is a strong case for reviewing and 
enhancing the powers and obligations of local 
government to ensure they are fit for purpose given 
the complex challenges ahead.

Robust urban policy is needed at Northern Ireland 
Executive level if Belfast is genuinely to be a driver 
for sustainable economic growth not just at city 
level, but at city region level. 

Long term financial planning and new financial 
models for funding city infrastructure are critical 
if Belfast is to be genuinely resilient to climate 
change and to future economic cycles. A review 
of investment opportunities should be undertaken 
to explore opportunities for funding infrastructure 
at a city level, potential partnering with local 
government and new accountability frameworks. 

Agencies and organisations in Belfast should work 
together to arrive at a single figure for the cost 
of building the necessary infrastructure to make 
the city resilient for this century, and identify the 
‘GDP at Risk’ figure of not funding it effectively. 
They should then work together to explore and 
identify new financial models that would encourage 
investment in long term infrastructure and other 
necessary capital projects, in a coordinated and 
joined up way. 

Conclusion
effectively. They should then work together with the 
NI Civil Service to explore and identify new financial 
models that would encourage investment in long 
term infrastructure and other necessary capital 
projects, in a coordinated and joined up way. 

•	 Thinking beyond NI’s internal partnerships, the 
decision of the UK to leave the EU re-emphasises 
the importance of ‘city to city diplomacy’ for Belfast. 
The quality of its relationships with other cities in 
Europe and globally will be a key determinant of its 
potential to attract investment, encourage trade and 
build partnerships. Its membership of Eurocities, 
and of the Resilient Cities network is important, and 
so too is its ‘sister cities’ programme, however this 
work must be brought to the fore as a core driver 
of its growth strategy. There is sufficient global 
research, from the OECD and elsewhere to make 
the case for a focus on cites to be driven by central 
government. The Northern Ireland Executive should 
take greater responsibility for the future of its cities 
and design a new form of governance to drive 
collaboration between NICS, Belfast City Council 
and agencies across the city. This should inspire 
a renewed focus on how cities have enormous 
potential to be engines of sustainable growth and 
places for innovation, creativity and well-being. 

2 - Stresses and shocks
FUTURE PROOFED CITY - BELFAST RESILIENCE ASSESSMENT 
December 2020

62
Page 168



3NEXT STEPS
The shocks and stresses outlined in the Resilience 
Assessment identify a range of risks to the city 
of Belfast. The Community Planning Partnership 
Board will oversee how these risks are managed, 
collaboratively, into the future. 

This document will be reviewed and revised every two 
years, based on available official data and inclusive 
engagement across city partners. The process will be 
overseen by the Resilience and Sustainability Board, with 
support from officers in Belfast City Council. Each board 

Resilience and 
sustainability 
board 

Living here 
board 

Working and 
learning board

Growing the 
economy and 
city development 
board

Community  
planning partnership

Future proofed city 
- Belfast Ambitions 
Document: A Climate 
Plan for Belfast

Future proofed city  
- Belfast Resilience 
Strategy Assessment

will take forward the management of specific ‘shocks 
and stresses’ as set out below. In a small number of 
cases, responsibility sits across both boards. 

The issue of ‘Poverty and Inequality’ being central to 
the Inclusive Growth ambition within Belfast Agenda, will 
remain a core responsibility of the Community Planning 
Partnership Board. 

To make contact with the team at Belfast City Council, 
email resilient@belfastcity.gov.uk 

•	 Climate change 
•	 Infrastructure capacity 
•	 Condition of existing 

housing stock
•	 Carbon intensive systems 
•	 Cyber resilience 
•	 Flooding and extreme 

weather

•	 Mental health
•	 Use of prescription drugs 
•	 Segregation and division
•	 Public health shocks 	

•	 Economic recovery 
capacity

•	 UK exit 
•	 Cyber resilience 	

•	 Economic recovery 
capacity

•	 Population change 
•	 Housing supply 
•	 UK exit 	

63Climate adaptation and mitigation |Participation of children and young people |Connected, zero-emissions economy

3 - Next steps
FUTURE PROOFED CITY - BELFAST RESILIENCE ASSESSMENT 

December 2020

Page 169



64

SOURCES OF  
INSPIRATION 

Page 170



SOURCES OF INSPIRATION: BIBLIOGRAPHY
EU Exit, Long-term Economic Analysis  
(November 2018).
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/
system/uploads/attachment_data/file/760484/28_November_EU_
Exit_-_Long-term_economic_analysis__1_.pdf

The Economics of Low Carbon Cities, A Mini-Stern 
Review for the Leeds City Region (2019). Andy 
Gouldson, Niall Kerr, Corrado Topi, Ellie Dawkins, 
Johan Kuylenstierna, Richard Pearce. 
https://www.sei.org/publications/the-economics-of-low-carbon-
cities-a-mini-stern-review-for-the-leeds-city-region/

Matrix Digital ICT Report Foresight and Horizon 
Scanning (2016).
https://matrixni.org/wp-content/uploads/2016/03/2016-Matrix-
Digital-ICT-Report.pdf

Using a Resilience Lens to make a more Resilient 
Economy, Greater Manchester (2019). Tom Lindsay, 
John White, Alex Ryan Reviewer: Braulio Eduardo 
Morera.

Analysing Baseline Data Around Peace Walls (4): Who 
are the people? (2017)Cathy Gormley-Heenan, Duncan 
Morrow, Jonny Byrne, Michael Rosato and Sally Cook.
https://www.community-relations.org.uk/publications/analysing-
baseline-data-around-peace-walls-4-who-are-people-0

Analysing Baseline Data on Peace Walls (5): Exploring 
the Socio-economic, education and employment 
factors Institute for Research in Social Sciences 
(IRiSS) (2017). Jonny Byrne, Cathy Gormley-Heenan, 
Duncan Morrow, Michael Rosato and Sally Cook. 
https://www.community-relations.org.uk/publications/analysing-
baseline-data-peace-walls-5-exploring-socio-economic-
education-and-employment

Analysing Baseline Data on Peace Walls (6): 
Implications for policy (2017). Duncan Morrow, Cathy 
Gormley-Heenan, Jonny Byrne, Michael Rosato and 
Sally Cook
https://www.community-relations.org.uk/publications/analysing-
baseline-data-peace-walls-6-implications-policy

Belfast Region City Deal - Industrial Strategic 
Framework (2018).
https://minutes3.belfastcity.gov.uk/documents/s72693/
Appendix%202%20BRCD_Industrial%20Strategic%20Framework.
pdf

Sectarianism in Northern Ireland: A Review (2018).
https://www.ulster.ac.uk/__data/assets/pdf_file/0016/410227/A-
Review-Addressing-Sectarianism-in-Northern-Ireland_FINAL.pdf

AI in the UK: ready, willing and able? Select Committee 
on Artificial Intelligence, House of Lords (2018).
https://publications.parliament.uk/pa/ld201719/ldselect/
ldai/100/10002.htm

DSD/NIHE Asset Commission Summary Report (2015). 
Department for Social Development and the Northern 
Ireland Housing Executive.

Attitudes to Peace Walls, Research Report to the 
Office of the First and Deputy First Minister (2012). 
https://www.ark.ac.uk/peacewalls2012/peacewalls2012.pdf

Carbon Accounts and the Scope for Low Carbon 
Development Belfast, Can Do Cities (2019).
http://www.candocities.org/sites/default/files/Belfast.pdf

Belfast Infrastructure Study, Belfast City Council, 
ARUP (2018). 

The UK’s EU Withdrawal Agreement, Briefing Paper 
08453 (2018). 
https://researchbriefings.parliament.uk/ResearchBriefing/Summary/
CBP-8453

Business on a Connected Island (2018).
https://www.bl.uk/collection-items/cbisc-business-on-a-
connected-island-2018

Child Centred Resilience Framework (2016).
https://www.arup.com/perspectives/publications/research/section/
child-centred-urban-resilience-framework

Cities, Prosperity and Influence. The role of city 
diplomacy in shaping soft power in the 21st century, 
Jo Beall and David Adam (2017).
https://www.britishcouncil.org/sites/default/files/g229_cities_paper.
pdf

Cities Alive, Designing for Urban Childhoods (2017).
https://www.arup.com/perspectives/publications/research/section/
cities-alive-designing-for-urban-childhoods

Powers to Grow: City Finance and Governance (2014).
https://www.thersa.org/discover/publications-and-articles/reports/
powers-to-grow-city-finance-and-governance

People Powered Money, Designing, Developing & 
Delivering Community Currencies (2015).
https://neweconomics.org/2015/05/people-powered-money

Cost to make Dwellings in Northern Ireland more 
Energy Efficient (2019).
https://www.nihe.gov.uk/index/corporate/housing_research/house_
condition_survey.htm

City Resilience Profiling Tool, UN Habitat (2018).
http://urbanresiliencehub.org/wp-content/uploads/2018/02/CRPT-
Guide.pdf

Do councils have a duty to consider climate change? 
Ends report 530 (2019).

Domestic Consumer Insight Tracker 2018/19. Utility 
Regulator (2019).
https://www.uregni.gov.uk/sites/uregni/files/media-files/
Domestic%20Consumer%20Insight%20Tracker%202018%20
Summary%20Final.pdf

6565

Sources of inspiration 
FUTURE PROOFED CITY - BELFAST RESILIENCE ASSESSMENT 

December 2020

Climate adaptation and mitigation |Participation of children and young people |Connected, zero-emissions economy

Page 171



Draft Good Relations Strategy (2018).

Draft Northern Ireland Children and Young people 
Strategic Partnership, Plan 2019-2021 (2019).

Economic Resilience: A new set of vulnerability 
indicators for OECD countries (2015).
https://www.oecd-ilibrary.org/economics/economic-
resilience-a-new-set-of-vulnerability-indicators-for-oecd-
countries_5jrxhgjw54r8-en

Why Local Authorities should Prepare Food Brexit 
Plans, Tim Langa, Erik Millstoneb, Tony Lewisc & Gary 
McFarlaned (2018).
https://www.reading.ac.uk/foodlaw/pdf/2018-Food-Research-Brexit-
LAs.pdf

Our Resilient Glasgow, A City Strategy (2016).
https://www.understandingglasgow.com/assets/0003/7198/Our_
Resilient_Glasgow_Strategy.pdf

Electricity Sector in Northern Ireland, third report of 
session 2016-17 (2017).
https://publications.parliament.uk/pa/cm201617/cmselect/
cmniaf/51/51.pdf

House Conditioning Survey, main report, Northern 
Ireland Housing Executive (2016).
https://www.nihe.gov.uk/Working-With-Us/Research/House-
Condition-Survey

The Rise of Innovation Districts: A New Geography of 
Innovation in America, Bruce Katz and Julie Wagner, 
Introducing Innovation Districts (2014).
https://www.brookings.edu/wp-content/uploads/2016/07/
InnovationDistricts1.pdf

This is a Crisis Facing up to the Age of Environmental 
Breakdown, Laurie Laybourn-Langton, Lesley Rankin 
and Darren Baxter (2019).
https://www.ippr.org/files/2019-02/this-is-a-crisis-feb19.pdf

Next Generation Northern Ireland, British Council 
(2018).
https://www.britishcouncil.org/sites/default/files/next_generation_
ireland_northern_ireland_2018_report_final_web_v2.pdf

Removing Peace Walls and Public Policy Brief (1): the 
challenge of definition and design Cathy Gormley-
Heenan, Duncan Morrow and Jonny Byrne (2015).
http://uir.ulster.ac.uk/32566/1/Policy_Brief_1_(2015).pdf

Local Development Plan, Belfast, technical 
supplement 9, flood risk (2018).
https://www.belfastcity.gov.uk/buildingcontrol-environment/
Planning/ldp-plan-strategy.aspx

Leading Cities, global review of city leadership, 
Elizabeth Rapoport, Michele Acuito, Leonora Grcheva 
(2019).
http://discovery.ucl.ac.uk/10069076/1/Leading-Cities.pdf

Manchester City Council’s Climate Change Delivery 
Plan 2010 - 2020, The Council’s contribution to 
Manchester - A Certain Future.
https://secure.manchester.gov.uk/info/500002/council_policies_
and_strategies/3833/climate_change/3

Resilient Medellin, a strategy for our future (2017).
https://www.100resilientcities.org/wp-content/uploads/2017/07/
Medellin-English-PDF.pdf

National Climate Projections, UKCP18, Jason A. 
Lowe, Dan Bernie, Philip Bett, Lucy Bricheno, Simon 
Brown, Daley Calvert, Robin Clark, Karen Eagle, 
Tamsin Edwards, Giorgia Fosser, Fai Fung, Laila Gohar, 
Peter Good, Jonathan Gregory, Glen Harris, Tom 
Howard, Neil Kaye, Elizabeth Kendon, Justin Krijnen, 
Paul Maisey, Ruth McDonald, Rachel McInnes, Carol 
McSweeney, John F.B. Mitchell, James Murphy, 
Matthew Palmer, Chris Roberts, Jon Rostron, David 
Sexton, Hazel Thornton, Jon Tinker, Simon Tucker, 
Kuniko Yamazaki, and Stephen Belcher, (2018).
https://www.metoffice.gov.uk/research/approach/collaboration/
ukcp/index

Mission-Oriented Innovation Policy, Challenges and 
Opportunities, Mariana Mazzucato (2017). 
https://www.ucl.ac.uk/bartlett/public-purpose/publications/2018/
jan/mission-oriented-innovation-policy-challenges-and-
opportunities

Northern Ireland Climate Change Adaptation 
Programme (2014).
https://www.daera-ni.gov.uk/sites/default/files/publications/daera/
Northern%20Ireland%20Climate%20Change%20Adaptation%20
Programme.pdf

2019 Energy Across the Authority, more examples of 
how local authorities are taking advantage of energy 
opportunities (2019).
https://www.apse.org.uk/apse/index.cfm/local-authority-energy-
collaboration/apse-energy-publications1/energy-across-the-
authority-2019/

Making Cities in Conflict Areas more Resilient, A 
conceptual iteration using climate resilience and 
security for policies in practice, Michel Rademaker, 
Karlijn Jans, Paul Verhagen, Aster Boeschoten, 
Hannes Rõõs & Stephan Slingerland (2018).
https://www.clingendael.org/sites/default/files/2018-05/Paper_
Making_cities_in_conflict_areas_more_resilient_0.pdf

The Paris Agreement (2018).
https://unfccc.int/process-and-meetings/the-paris-agreement/the-
paris-agreement

New Decade, New Approach document (2020).
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/
system/uploads/attachment_data/file/856998/2020-01-08_a_
new_decade__a_new_approach.pdf 

Northern Ireland Peace Monitoring Report, number 
four, Robin Wilson (2016).
https://www.community-relations.org.uk/sites/crc/files/media-files/
NIPMR-Final-2016.pdf

The Challenge of Peace Building and Conflict 
Transformation: A Case Study of Northern Ireland, 
Kyiv-Mohyla Law and Politics Journal., (2), 117-128 
(2016).
https://pure.qub.ac.uk/portal/files/112387464/Peace_Building_and_
Conflict_Transformation.pdf

66

Sources of inspiration 
FUTURE PROOFED CITY - BELFAST RESILIENCE ASSESSMENT 
December 2020

Climate adaptation and mitigation |Participation of children and young people |Connected, zero-emissions economy

Page 172



The Political Declaration on the Framework for Future 
EU-UK Relations, briefing paper 08454, (2018).
https://researchbriefings.parliament.uk/ResearchBriefing/Summary/
CBP-8454#fullreport

CEOs’ Curbed Confidence Spells Caution, 22nd annual 
global CEO survey (2019).
https://www.pwc.com/gx/en/ceo-agenda/ceosurvey/2019/gx.html

Planning for Spatial Reconciliation, Civic place-making 
in a divided society, draft one, Sterrett, K., Morrissey, 
M, Gaffikin, F, Karelse, C, Mulholland, C, (2015).

Reducing Emissions in Northern Ireland, committee on 
climate change (2019).
https://www.theccc.org.uk/publication/reducing-emissions-in-
northern-ireland/

NS Live Case Series 2017, the Vejle resilience 
strategy, Jonas Kroustrup, Rachel Calleja (2017).
https://www.pgionline.com/wp-content/uploads/2017/08/
Vejle-2017.pdf

The Resilience of a London Great Estate: urban 
development, adaptive capacity and the politics of 
Stewardship, Juliet Patricia Davis (2018).
https://www.tandfonline.com/doi/full/10.1080/17549175.2017.136
0378

Resilient DC, A Strategy to Thrive in the Face of 
Change (2019).
https://resilient.dc.gov/

Resilient Cities Research Project, a Grosvenor report 
(2014).
https://www.resiliencefirst.co.uk/our-work/resources/resilient-cities-
grosvenor-research-report

Rethinking the Smart City, Democratizing Urban 
Technology (2018).
https://www.urenio.org/2018/10/04/rethinking-smart-city-
democratizing-technology/

National Development Plan, project Ireland 2040 
(2018).
https://www.gov.ie/en/policy-information/07e507-national-
development-plan-2018-2027/

Impacts, the Future of Global Real Estate, Savills 
(2019).
https://www.savills.com/impacts/Savills_Impacts_2019_download.
pdf

Smart City Resilience: Digitally empowering cities to 
survive, adapt, and thrive (2017).
https://www.mckinsey.com/industries/capital-projects-and-
infrastructure/our-insights/smart-city-resilience-digitally-
empowering-cities-to-survive-adapt-and-thrive

The State of Ireland 2019, A review of housing and 
infrastructure in Ireland (2019).
http://engineersireland.ie/communications/state-of-ireland-2019.
aspx#

The Rise of Innovation Districts: A New Geography of 
Innovation in America, Bruce Katz and Julie Wagner 

(2014).
https://www.brookings.edu/essay/rise-of-innovation-districts/

The Global Outlook, Speech given by Mark Carney 
Governor of the Bank of England (2019).
https://www.bankofengland.co.uk/-/media/boe/files/
speech/2019/the-global-outlook-speech-by-mark-carney.
pdf?la=en&hash=6725EA590D46F11FBFDFF4744E4E90158 
D4BCECE

Electrifying Montréal, Transportation electrification 
strategy 2016-2020 (2016).
http://ville.montreal.qc.ca/pls/portal/docs/PAGE/PROJ_URBAINS_
FR/MEDIA/DOCUMENTS/TRANSPORTATION_ELECTRIFICATION_
STRATEGY_2016_2020_.PDF

Visit Belfast business plan 2019/2020 (2019).

Waking up in a Different Country: Brexit and Northern 
Ireland Cathy Gormley-Heenan, Arthur Aughey and 
Paula Devine (2017).
https://www.ark.ac.uk/publications/updates/update116.pdf

The Global Risks Report 2019, 14th Edition, World 
Economic Forum (2019).
http://www3.weforum.org/docs/WEF_Global_Risks_Report_2019.
pdf

The Global Risks Report 2020, 15th Edition, World 
Economic Forum (2019).
https://www.weforum.org/reports/the-global-risks-report-2020 

Supporting Wellbeing and Resilience in Belfast 2018-
2021, making life better together (2018).
https://www.makinglifebettertogether.com/wellbeing-resilience/

World Happiness Report, John Helliwell, Richard 
Layard and Jeffrey Sachs (2017).
https://s3.amazonaws.com/happiness-report/2017/HR17.pdf

Agile Cities, preparing for the Fourth Industrial 
Revolution, World Economic Forum (2018).
http://www3.weforum.org/docs/WP_Global_Future_Council_Cities_
Urbanization_report_2018.pdf

Governing without Ministers: Northern Ireland Since 
the Fall of the Power Sharing Executive, Institute for 
Government, (September 2019).
https://www.instituteforgovernment.org.uk/publications/governing-
without-ministers-northern-ireland

EirGrid Group All-Island Generation Capacity 
Statement (2019-2028).
http://www.soni.ltd.uk/media/documents/EirGrid-Group-All-Island-
Generation-Capacity-Statement-2019-2028.pdf

Northern Ireland Gas Capacity Statement  
(2019-20 to 2028-29). 
http://gmo-ni.com/assets/documents/Transparency/NI-Gas-
Capacity-Statement/Northern-Ireland-Gas-Capacity-Statement-
2019-20-to-2028-29.pdf

Forecasts for the UK economy (October 2020)
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/
system/uploads/attachment_data/file/928008/Forecomp_
October_2020.pdf

6767

Sources of inspiration 
FUTURE PROOFED CITY - BELFAST RESILIENCE ASSESSMENT 

December 2020

Climate adaptation and mitigation |Participation of children and young people |Connected, zero-emissions economy

Page 173



World Energy Outlook 2020, International Energy 
Agency (IEA)
https://www.iea.org/reports/world-energy-outlook-2020#executive-
summary

New Decade New Approach, January 2020
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/
system/uploads/attachment_data/file/856998/2020-01-08_a_
new_decade__a_new_approach.pdf

World Economic Forum, Global Risks Report 15th 
Edition, 2020
https://www.weforum.org/reports/the-global-risks-report-2020

DCMS Guidance on Consumer Protection and IoT, 
October 2018
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/code-of-practice-for-
consumer-iot-security/code-of-practice-for-consumer-iot-security

Northern Ireland Climate Change Adaptation 
Programme (NICCAP2), Sept 2019 
https://www.daera-ni.gov.uk/publications/northern-ireland-climate-
change-adaptation-programme-2019-2024

Urban Trees, Benefits and Planting Strategies, Belfast 
Million Trees Report, Perla Mansour, QUB, 2020 

All-Island Generation Capacity Statement, 2019-2028, 
EIRGRID, SONI (transmission system operator for 
Ireland and Northern Ireland respectively)
http://www.eirgridgroup.com/site-files/library/EirGrid/EirGrid-Group-
All-Island-Generation-Capacity-Statement-2019-2028.pdf

UK housing: Fit for the Future? Committee on Climate 
Change, Feb 2019
https://www.theccc.org.uk/publication/uk-housing-fit-for-the-future/

UK Climate Change Risk Assessment 2017 Evidence 
Report
https://www.theccc.org.uk/uk-climate-change-risk-
assessment-2017/national-summaries/northern-ireland-2/

Ministerial Advisory Panel on Infrastructure (MAPI) – 
Report, October 2020
https://www.infrastructure-ni.gov.uk/publications/ministerial-
advisory-panel-infrastructure-mapi-report

Housing Statement from Communities Minister Carál 
Ní Chuilín 3 November 2020
https://www.communities-ni.gov.uk/news/housing-statement-
communities-minister-caral-ni-chuilin-3-november-2020

68

Sources of inspiration 
FUTURE PROOFED CITY - BELFAST RESILIENCE ASSESSMENT 
December 2020

Climate adaptation and mitigation |Participation of children and young people |Connected, zero-emissions economy

Page 174



Page 175



City Resilience Framework 
identified areas of city resilience

Total Factors

204

12 Fosters long-term and

Integrated planning

11 Empowers a broad

ra
nge of s

takeholders

1 Meets basic needs

and employment

2 Supports livelihoods

3 Ensures public

health services
10

 P
ro

m
ot

es
 le

ad
er

sh
ip

 an
d

ef
fe

ct
iv

e 
m

an
ag

em
en

t

9 Provides reliable

com
m

unication and m
obility 

protective natural and 

7 Maintains and enhancesman-made assets 

of critical services 

8 Ensure continuity

prosperity 6 Fosters economic
security

 and ju
stic

e 

5 Ensures social s
tab

ilit
y,

en
ga

ge
d 

co
m

m
un

iti
es

4 
Pr

om
ot

es
 c

oh
es

iv
e 

an
d

Legend 
 Need to do better
 Doing well, but can improve
 Area of strength

Each segment represents 3.6 factors

APPENDICES

70

FUTURE PROOFED CITY - BELFAST RESILIENCE ASSESSMENT 
December 2020

Climate adaptation and mitigation |Participation of children and young people |Connected, zero-emissions economy

Appendices

Page 176



Pr
om

ot
es

 Le
ad

ersh
ip

& 
Ef

fe
ct

iv
e M

an
agement

Pr
ov

id
es

 R
el

ia
bl

e 
Co

m
m

un
ic

at
io

n
& 

M
ob

ili
ty

En
su

re
s 

Co
nt

in
ui

ty
 o

f 

Cr
it

ic
al

 S
er

vi
ce

s

Provide
s a

nd

Enhance
s N

at
ur

al

and Manmad
e A

ss
et

s

Fosters Economic Prosperity
Ensures Social Stability, 

Security and Justice
Prom

otes Cohesive and 
Engaged Communities

Ensures Public
Health Services

Supports Livelihoods

& Em
ploym

ent

Meets Basic Needs

Fosters Long Term & 
Integrated Planning

Empowers a Broad

Range of Stakeholders

Le
ad

er
sh

ip 

& Stra
tegy Health & W

ellbeing
Econom

y & Society
Infrastru

cture 
& En

vir
on

m
en

t
City Resilience Framework 
identified areas of city resilience

12 Fosters long-term and

Integrated planning

3 Ensures public

health services

com
m

unication and m
obility 

of critical services 

8 Ensure continuity
security

 and ju
stic

e 

5 Ensures social s
tab

ilit
y,

7171

FUTURE PROOFED CITY - BELFAST RESILIENCE ASSESSMENT 
December 2020

Climate adaptation and mitigation |Participation of children and young people |Connected, zero-emissions economy

Appendices

Page 177



Belfast City Council
City Hall  
Donegall Square South 
Belfast  
BT1 5GS

www.belfastcity.gov.uk/resilientbelfast 
resilient@belfastcity.gov.uk
028 9050 2091
@belfastcc
@belfastcitycouncil
Belfast City Council

BCC 1100
As part of our commitment 
to promoting equality of 
opportunity and good relations, we want to ensure that 
everyone is able to access the documents we produce. 
This document is available in different languages and 
formats and we can provide others on request, please 
contact: Richard McLernon, Project Coordinator, 
Commissioner for Resilience on 028 9050 2091. 

Page 178



www.belfastcity.gov.uk/resilience

December 2020

AMBITIONS DOCUMENT:  
A CLIMATE PLAN  
FOR BELFAST

Appendix 2

Page 179



2
Page 180



December 2020

3

AMBITIONS DOCUMENT:  
A CLIMATE PLAN  
FOR BELFAST

Page 181



4
Page 182



INTRODUCTION 
Belfast’s Resilience Assessment identified a wide-
range of shocks and stresses for the city, improving 
our knowledge of existing and emerging risks. 
Coordinated response to these risks is being taken 
forward by city partners, working collaboratively 
through the city’s Community Planning Partnership 
Board, and delivering the priorities set out ‘Belfast 
Agenda’. 

Public consultation on the draft Resilience 
Strategy found strong agreement with the shocks 
and stresses identified. However, there was also 
consensus that climate change presents acute risks 
for the city, and that we need a singular focus to 
prepare Belfast for its effects.

Grainia Long 
Commissioner for Resilience  
December 2020

This ‘ambitions document’ outlines a ‘Resilience 
Goal’ for the city, and with a determined focus on 
climate adaptation, climate mitigation and the green 
economy. It sets out 30 ‘foundational programmes’- 
these are decade-long interventions which will 
have a positive impact, at scale, across the city. 
The programmes have been endorsed by the city’s 
Resilience and Sustainability Board, and will be taken 
forward in a collaborative way by city partners in this 
decade. We have retained the emphasis on ‘multiple 
problem solvers’- actions that solve several risks at 
once- and in particular ensuring that children and 
young people play a central role in climate action in 
their city. 

FUTURE PROOFED CITY - BELFAST AMBITIONS DOCUMENT
December 2020

5
Page 183



FOREWORD FROM CHAIR  OF STRATEGIC 
POLICY AND RESOURCES COMMITTEE 
Belfast Agenda, the city’s community plan, is clear in its 
purpose- for Belfast to be a sustainable city.  Meeting 
that vision has required the development of this 
document- the city’s first ‘climate plan’ – a document 
which sets out a clear goal, to transition Belfast to an 
‘inclusive, zero-emissions, climate- resilient economy 
in a generation’.  Across Belfast, partner organisations 
have not only help identify the risks that face our city but 
they have also agreed that the ultimate goal for the city 
should be to transition to an inclusive, zero-emissions 
economy in a generation.

This is the first time that Belfast has taken an integrated 
and collaborative approach to the development of a 
climate plan, and I am particularly pleased at the level of 
partnership working involved. 

I would like to thank all the members of the Resilience 
and Sustainability Board who have agreed to work 
together to deliver thirty programmes, at scale, to meet 
our goal.  We all welcome the variety of programmes that 
have been designed to be ‘multiple problem solvers’ 
and look forward to witnessing the transition of Belfast 
into a more climate ready city. This plan is a first of many 
for Belfast and its timing is important for us all to drive the 
city forward in its green recovery.

Working together will help us to ultimately deliver the 
goal and enable city partners across all sectors to 
deliver these ambitious programmes. We are delighted 
to be involved from the beginning of this project and 
we are grateful for the commitment of city leaders, 
communities, organisations, universities and of course 
our residents who have supported the development of 
this plan.  I believe this document positions Belfast as a 
city which can demonstrate its commitment to tackling 
the climate crisis, in the interests of all our residents- 
today’s and tomorrow’s.

Councillor Christina Black 
Chair  
Strategic Policy and  
Resources Committee

6 Climate adaptation and mitigation |Participation of children and young people |Connected, zero-emissions economy

FUTURE PROOFED CITY - BELFAST AMBITIONS DOCUMENT
December 2020

Page 184



AREAS OF FOCUS	 62

RESILIENCE GOAL	 9

Climate adaptation  
and mitigation 

Connected,  
zero-emissions 

economy
Adapting to, and mitigating 
climate change across the city
Page: 14

Achieving a step change towards  
zero emissions, in this decade, 

through well-design and  
well-funded infrastructure 

Page: 23

A sustainable  
Belfast, 

interconnected 
through people, 

secure and resilient 
together

A Belfast resilient 
to the effect of 
climate change 

shock

Children and young 
people as active par-

ticipants- co-designing 
a future proofed city

Participation of children 
and young people

Ensuring the city’s children and young 
people co-design plans for a sustainable, 

climate resilient city, and have every 
opportunity to participate in delivery

Page: 18

Delivery of United Nations  
Sustainable Development Goals	 12
Legend key	 13

Case study: Climate resilience	 17
Case study: Children and young people	 22
Case study: Connectivity	 26

RESILIENT  
BELFAST

2020

CONTENTS

7Climate adaptation and mitigation |Participation of children and young people |Connected, zero-emissions economy

FUTURE PROOFED CITY - BELFAST AMBITIONS DOCUMENT
December 2020

Page 185



8
Page 186



2

9

RESILIENCE 
GOAL
Our goal is to transition Belfast to an 
inclusive, zero-emissions, climate 
resilient economy in a generation. 

Page 187



10

MULTIPLE  
PROBLEM SOLVERS 
We have identified a series of levers 
aimed at resolving several risks 
at once. These ‘multiple problem 
solvers’ provide focus and direction 
towards our transition to an inclusive, 
zero emissions climate resilient 
economy.

Page 188



MULTIPLE PROBLEM SOLVERS 

CLIMATE 
ADAPTATION  
AND MITIGATION 

PARTICIPATION  
OF CHILDREN AND 
YOUNG PEOPLE

CONNECTED, 
ZERO-EMISSIONS 
ECONOMY 

RESILIENT  
BELFAST

2020

1

12

9

17

5

15

223

11

28

7

24

25

2

13

10

27

6

234

14

21

20

19

26

18

29

30

8

16

Page 18

Page 23Page 14

11Climate adaptation and mitigation |Participation of children and young people |Connected, zero-emissions economy

FUTURE PROOFED CITY - BELFAST AMBITIONS DOCUMENT
December 2020

Page 189



12 Climate adaptation and mitigation |Participation of children and young people |Connected, zero-emissions economy

FUTURE PROOFED CITY - BELFAST AMBITIONS DOCUMENT
December 2020

DELIVERY OF UNITED NATIONS 
SUSTAINABLE DEVELOPMENT GOALS 
Belfast’s Resilience Strategy has been informed by, 
and is aligned with the UN Sustainable Development 
Goals. 

The 2030 Agenda for Sustainable Development is 
an historic global agreement to eradicate extreme 
poverty, fight inequality and injustice and leave no one 
behind. Agreed by world leaders at the UN in 2015, the 
17 Sustainable Development Goals (SDGs) succeed 

the Millennium Development Goals (MDGs). The SDGs 
are universal with all signatories- including the UK- 
expected to contribute to them internationally and 
deliver them domestically.

	 Belfast’s Resilience Strategy 
contributes to the delivery of these 
important global goals. 

3	

Good health  
and well-being

8	

Decent work and 
economic growth

13	

Climate action

4	

Quality education

9	

Industry, innovation 
and infrastructure

14	

Life below water

5	

Gender equality

10	

Reduced inequalities

15	

Life on land

6

Clean water  
and sanitation

11	

Sustainable cities 
and communities

16	

Peace, justice and 
strong institutions

7

Affordable and  
clean energy

12	

Responsible 
consumption and 
production

17	

Partnerships for  
the goals

1

No poverty

2

Zero hunger

United Nations:  
Sustainable Development Goals

Page 190



Area of focus United Nations: 
Sustainable 
Development Goal

Quality of resilience

No poverty

Climate action Reflective

Quality education

Affordable and  
clean energy

Reduced  
inequalities

Climate action

Zero hunger

Children and  
young people

Resourceful

Integrated

Gender equality

Decent work and 
economic growth

Sustainable cities 
and communities

Life below water

Peace, justice and 
strong institutions

Good health and 
well-being

Connected,  
zero-emissions 
economy

Inclusive

Robust

Redundant

Flexible
Clean water and 
sanitation

Industry, innovation 
and infrastructure

Responsible 
consumption and 
production

Life on land

Partnerships for  
the goals

LEGEND KEY

Stress or shock 

Economic recovery capacity: inequality  
and competitiveness

Use of prescription drugs

Population change

Governance and financing of risk

Housing supply in the city

Condition of existing NI Housing  
Executive stock

Dependency on fossil fuels and carbon  
intensive systems and prevalence of car use

Infrastructure capacity

Segregation and division

UK Exit

Climate change

Flooding and extreme weather events

Mental Ill-health

Cyber resilience

Public Health shocks

ST1

ST8

ST2

ST9

ST3

SH1

ST4

SH2

ST5

SH3

ST6

SH4

ST7

SH5

SH6

13Climate adaptation and mitigation |Participation of children and young people |Connected, zero-emissions economy

FUTURE PROOFED CITY - BELFAST AMBITIONS DOCUMENT
December 2020

Page 191



CLIMATE ADAPTATION  
AND MITIGATION 
The effects of climate change present the greatest 
economic, social and environmental risks to the city 
of Belfast, in this decade and beyond’. The city’s 
future economic growth must therefore be inclusive, 
sustainable and low-carbon.

“	The economic cost of flooding could 
be profound. Belfast is ‘predicted to 
be the most economically impacted, 
with aggregated annual average 
damages of approximately £16m.’”
NI Flood Risk Assessment, 2018

•	 Belfast must be ‘climate ready’ i.e. prepared for 
changes to the city’s weather, to our water, and to 
our biodiversity arising from climate change. The city 
must prevent economic shocks arising from climate 
change, and a widening of inequality due to its effects. 
It must urgently build community resilience to respond 
to the impacts of climate change, and ultimately 
transition to a zero emissions economy. 

•	 Belfast is facing a climate crisis. A harbour city, and 
already an area of significant flood risk, our proximity 
to water and the increasing presence of water in our 
city as the climate warms is a significant risk. Pockets 
of poor air pollution and our dependence on cars as a 
form of transport, coupled with the prevalence of hard 
infrastructure throughout the city highlight a series of 
interconnected challenges, which if left unchecked will 
leave the city exposed. 

•	 Our ability to respond to a changing climate will 
fundamentally impact on the city’s economic 
prosperity in the years to come. The prevalence of 
extreme weather events will require additional city 
resources; the design, development and location 
of future developments will be impacted by climate 
events and our attractiveness as a destination to 
live work and enjoy will all be impacted by our ability 
to prepare for, respond and absorb climate related 
shocks and stresses.

•	 The Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change 
(IPCC) warned in 2018 that cities have twelve years to 
make rapid, far-reaching and unprecedented changes 
in all aspects of society in order to limit global warming 
to 1.5°C. Belfast must heed that warning and make 
climate resilience an urgent and strategic focus for the 
entire city. 

•	 Furthermore, our dependence on energy will increase. 
While immediate energy demand scenarios are 
currently uncertain due to the impact of COVID-19, 
the Belfast Mini Stern demonstrates the scale of the 
city’s long-term economic dependence on energy 
- it predicts that Belfast will spend c.£466 million per 
year in 2050.’ Belfast therefore faces two energy 
challenges- to decarbonise rapidly while building the 
city’s energy independence. Doing so provides an 
immense economic return to the city, as set out in the 
Mini Stern. 

“	Belfast is emitting 1.5 million tonnes 
of carbon a year. At this rate, we will 
have used up our carbon by 2030.”
Belfast Mini Stern

•	 The ‘foundational programmes’ endorsed by 
the city’s Resilience and Sustainability Board 
are strongly informed by the city’s ‘Mini Stern’, 
by consultation with city partners and with 
communities, and are intended as a step change 
in the city’s approach to climate adaptation and 
mitigation. 

1 New city-wide structures to 
collaborate on climate action

Belfast has established two permanent new 
structures to drive partnership and collaboration 
to build the city’s climate resilience and drive 
climate action. The Belfast Climate Commission 
is a ‘thinktank’ which ensures the right evidence 
and analysis is available to decision makers. 
The Resilience and Sustainability Board is a 
permanent feature of the Community Planning 
structures for the city. The board is a genuine 
partnership between agencies and organisations 
on climate action in Belfast, and over time will 
ensure integration of systems to increase the 
city’s efficiency and effectiveness.

14 Climate adaptation and mitigation |Participation of children and young people |Connected, zero-emissions economy

FUTURE PROOFED CITY - BELFAST AMBITIONS DOCUMENT
December 2020

Page 192



4

5

Belfast City Council Climate 
Adaptation and Mitigation Plan

Belfast Harbour - Green Port

Belfast City Council will publish its Climate 
Adaptation and Mitigation Plan in 2021, based 
on data from an internal sustainability review, an 
energy review and the development of climate 
adaptation priorities. The document will be the 
first comprehensive and integrated plan by the 
council on climate adaptation and mitigation.

Belfast Harbour’s ambition is to become one 
of the ‘greenest’ ports in the world. Its strategic 
goals include achieving net zero carbon 
emissions in Belfast Harbour before 2030, 
through decarbonisation of our operations and 
nature based solutions. Its partnership-based 
action plans will protect and enhance our marine 
biodiversity and wider environment. With the help 
of digital innovation, it will help facilitate a circular 
economy and improve air quality standards 
throughout its estate. As a socially responsible 
Green Port, Belfast Harbour’s vision is to work with 
others as a green developer and support our port 
community, customers and tenants as together 
we build a sustainable future for all.

2

3

Delivery of Recommendations in 
Belfast’s Mini Stern: A Net Zero 
Carbon Roadmap for Belfast

Climate change risk assessment

Working with Leeds and Edinburgh, Belfast’s first 
Net Zero Carbon Roadmap has been produced, to 
identify the sources of Scope 1 and 2 emissions, 
and to set out cost effective and innovative 
stretch measures needed to reach net zero 
carbon by 2050. Through the Belfast Climate 
Commission and the Resilience and Sustainability 
Board, recommendations within the roadmap will 
delivered to enable Belfast to reach its goal.

We have commissioned Arup (our 100 Resilient 
Cities strategic partner) to undertake a high level 
climate change risk assessment- to provide us 
with an assessment of the potential impact of 
climate change on the city’s infrastructure. This 
work has identified significant areas of risk for the 
city, and areas of focus for climate planning into 
the future.

6 Queen’s University 
Environmental Solutions Centre

We will explore the feasibility of establishing a 
city-wide support organisation drawing on the on 
model of Adaptation Scotland to provide advice 
and support to help public sector, businesses and 
communities understand what climate change will 
mean for them, and the best way to plan for  
its impact. City partners will work collaboratively to 
support the establishment of an interdisciplinary 
Environmental Solutions Centre at QUB, a 
collaboration between academics working on 
environment and sustainability research. The goal 
of the centre is to provide solutions to decarbonise 
economies and radically reduce greenhouse gas 
emissions to achieve net zero and to provide 
solutions that reverse the loss of biodiversity 
worldwide. Queen’s has co-designed the centre 
with key partners in industry, local and regional 
government and civil society. The centre will focus 
on data analytics and synthesis and will deliver 
solutions through co-defined interdisciplinary 
working groups bringing together stakeholders 
from across a broad spectrum of relevant partners, 
and will be a critical asset to the city in its progress 
to reach net zero.

15Climate adaptation and mitigation |Participation of children and young people |Connected, zero-emissions economy

FUTURE PROOFED CITY - BELFAST AMBITIONS DOCUMENT
December 2020

Page 193



10 Local Development Plan: a 
Critical Lever for Resilience 

Belfast’s draft Local Development Plan (LDP) 
provides a robust statutory framework to enable 
Belfast’s transition to an inclusive, zero emissions, 
climate-resilient economy. The draft plan provides 
a 15-year framework to support the city’s 
ambitions, providing the delivery of sustainable 
development, facilitating growth and allocating 
sufficient land to meet the needs of the city. Core 
objectives of the draft LDP include the promotion 
of a green and active place and building a smart, 
connected and resilient city. The draft LDP is 
therefore a critical lever in the delivery of this 
strategy’s objectives. 

11 Sustainability and Food 

In developing this strategy, we have had insufficient 
time to look in detail at the city’s food needs into 
the future, however this is a priority for strategy 
implementation. Working with partners across the 
city, a workstream examining the climate impacts 
and opportunities for an ongoing and city wide 
programme of healthy and sustainable food will be 
critical to Belfast’s resilience. 

7 Sustainable District 

Belfast Linen Quarter BID, working collaboratively 
with city partners, will establish the city’s first 
‘Sustainable District’ bringing together business, 
the public sector and the private sector to 
collaborate and innovate on energy, water and 
waste efficiency, decarbonisation and sustainable 
practices, to accelerate the city’s transition to a 
climate-resilient economy. 

The vision is to co-create a prosperous, inclusive, 
climate-resilient district founded on a circular, 
zero-carbon economy. Work programmes 
will include system re-design to develop 
sustainable products & services; Sustainable 
waste management; a district-wide green energy 
contract, to accelerate the move to renewables; 
New approaches to public realm that reduce 
car use and increase cycling and walking and a 
strategy for improved air quality.

9 One Million Trees

Inspired by an original idea from the Belfast 
Metropolitan Residents Group, city partners will 
plant one million trees across Belfast by 2035. 
Launched in late 2020, and designed as a major 
programme to support climate adaptation across 
the city, it is a collaboration between public, 
private and voluntary sector partners, and will 
make a substantial contribution to the DAERA 
‘Forest of the Future’ regional tree planting 
programme. 

8 Belfast Region City Deal

The Digital Innovation Pillar of the Belfast Region 
City Deal prioritises resilience and sustainability, with 
a core commitment to triple bottom line delivery 
in all of its programs taking into account social, 
economic and environmental sustainability factors. 
Specific programs will target funding of innovation 
in energy transition, integrated transport solutions 
and building technology, in this decade. The 
Belfast Digital Innovation ambition will also focus 
on development of platforms such as digital twins, 
built on committed 5G/ IoT deployments within 
the city and which coupled with Belfast’s leading 
expertise in cyber and AI technologies, will ensure 
that our innovation excellence is targeted to ensure 
our strategic city assets such as housing, energy, 
transport, water and telecommunications are 
resilient by design. Opportunities will therefore be 
sought to invest in enabling infrastructure to meet 
the city’s ambitions while also emphasising skills 
and business growth at scale. 

16 Climate adaptation and mitigation |Participation of children and young people |Connected, zero-emissions economy

FUTURE PROOFED CITY - BELFAST AMBITIONS DOCUMENT
December 2020

Page 194



Cape Town: water resilience and avoiding day zero
Cape Town made international headlines in 2017 
when they faced the prospect of an imminent “Day 
Zero”, a scenario in which the city government would 
have to turn off the water distribution networks to 
conserve water, in response to experiencing the 
driest three-year period since the 1930’s. The city’s 
normal recourse was to increase water restrictions 
but more action was needed. 

Capetonians mobilised to take remarkable action. 
Lawns and water sensitive plants were replaced with 
less water reliant alternatives. Residents invested 
in water saving devices such as low-flow taps and 
shower heads. Community organisations developed 
their own response strategies. Some corporations 
went off-grid, turning to groundwater or desalination. 
The local government worked tirelessly with 
businesses to share information, hear concerns, 
plan and became much better at partnering. This 
collective response would eventually drive down water 
consumption by over 50%. Day Zero was called off in 
2018 and later removed as a possibility for 2019 and 
again in 2020.. 

Positively, behaviours have changed permanently as 
residents’ water-saving and efficiency behaviours 
endured, even as restrictions were gradually lessened. 
Water consumption is unlikely to ever return to pre-
drought levels. Cape Town’s achievement is evidence 
of the positive impact that partnering with residents 
and stakeholders at all levels can have on a city’s 
governance and operations. 

CASE STUDY: CLIMATE ACTION 

17Climate adaptation and mitigation |Participation of children and young people |Connected, zero-emissions economy

FUTURE PROOFED CITY - BELFAST AMBITIONS DOCUMENT
December 2020

Page 195



PARTICIPATION OF CHILDREN  
AND YOUNG PEOPLE 
The participation of children and young people 
in decisions that affects their lives is of critical 
importance in the design of a sustainable city. Our 
resilience goal, to transition to an inclusive, zero 
emissions, climate-resilient city in a generation 
is not possible unless we involve children and 
young people in strategy design, and ensure their 
participation in its delivery. 

We consider this value so important 
that it is one of three areas of focus, 
or ‘multiple-problem solvers’ as we 
restructure our economy and society, 
as climate change advances. 
In this section, we include several ‘foundation 
programmes’ which place children at the centre of 
decisions on climate adaptation and mitigation in 
Belfast. 

35% of Belfast’s population is aged 25 and under. 
Young people are a major asset for the city, especially 
given the shocks and stresses outlined earlier, e.g. the 
risk of population decline, outward migration, and how 
we build our economic resilience.

A young population provides Belfast with a bright 
economic future, with a source of future talent. If 
young people are properly involved in the decisions 
that affect their lives, they could also help to shape 
a transformed sustainable economy for the city. Our 
conversation with children and young people as part 
of this strategy consultation, found that sustainability 
and inclusion were key priorities for them, and would 
frame the choices they take about where to live in the 
future. 

Poor air quality and the prevalence of cars 
are considered among the biggest barriers to 
child‑friendliness and a key factor affecting 
independent mobility among children. Less mobility 
means reduced access to and experience of the 
city and fewer possibilities to take advantage of the 
city’s opportunities. Designing a sustainable and 
child-friendly city is also critical to attracting today’s 
skilled and talented workforce to the city, particularly 
those with children. Cities like Rotterdam and 
Vancouver have taken ambitious steps to make urban 
environments attractive to families, retaining skilled 
workers and driving the local economy. 

We have been inspired and encouraged by action 
taken in New Zealand (particularly Christchurch), in 
Wales, where there is a strong policy focus on ‘Future 
Generations’, and by Medellin in Colombia, which has 
invested in a Children and Young Persons’ ‘Unit’ in the 
city government. 

A city’s design has an immense impact on the health 
and wellbeing of children. Sustainable healthy cities 
are also child-friendly cities. Designing a city in 
the best interests of children is therefore critical to 
Belfast’s resilience.

The physical environment in which children live is 
a key determinant of their health, behaviour and 
development. Research and practice from other 
cities shows that a strategic focus on connectivity - 
walking, cycling and play - can improve the health and 
wellbeing of children and young people. Conversely, 
high‑density traffic, poor air quality and a lack of public 
space can directly discourage people from being 
physically active, in turn, impacting on their health 
prospects. Child-centred urban planning is critical 
to achieving Belfast Agenda priorities on inclusive 
growth, and importantly to achieving a step change 
indifferences in life expectancy.

The focus of this strategy, to transition to a zero 
emissions city, is also intended to make the city more 
attractive for children and young people, improving 
liveability and increasing their social and economic 
opportunities. 

During the formal consultation on this draft strategy, 
we listened to and considered the views of more than 
367 children and young people, and their views have 
strongly informed the content of our final document. 

18 Climate adaptation and mitigation |Participation of children and young people |Connected, zero-emissions economy

FUTURE PROOFED CITY - BELFAST AMBITIONS DOCUMENT
December 2020

Page 196



Some common themes 
which emerged were:
•	 Young people’s high levels of anxiety about 

the potential impacts of climate change on the 
poorest and most vulnerable communities in 
Belfast.

•	 Many children and young people said they felt 
‘helpless’ to the impacts of climate change- 
that decision makers were not making the crisis 
a core priority.

•	 Children’s attitudes towards transport are 
very different to adults – they often do not see 
owning a car in the future as important or even 
necessary.

•	 The value placed by young people on their 
ability to live in a healthy city - many expressed 
this as a ‘right’ and in particular referred to the 
health impacts of air pollution, which should be 
made a city priority. 

•	 Many young people emphasised the 
importance of urgency in delivery of change, 
saying that not everything has to be perfect 
before it is done.

•	 They welcomed the centrality of children and 
young people to the strategy and the potential 
for ongoing and meaningful involvement to the 
future design of climate policy and strategy in 
the city. 

•	 Many young people felt their knowledge of the 
climate crisis and what is required is stronger 
than the decisions makers in the city, and their 
involvement is necessary to ensure we take the 
right approach now.

-•	They cautioned against their involvement being 
seen as ‘tokenistic’ and challenged decision 
makers to demonstrate their commitment by 
resourcing this work. 

•	 They expressed real concern about other 
‘shocks and stresses’ referred to in the 
strategy- particularly mental ill-health and digital 
inequality.

A snapshot of how young 
people participated in the 
process: 

The Commissioner for Resilience 
met 60 Belfast Youth Forum 
members. 

32 young people took part in  
two online sessions with the Lord 
Mayor. 

Belfast climate strikers gave talks, 
came to the kiosk and attended 
online engagement sessions. 

40 primary school children engaged 
through story telling sessions at two 
after schools clubs. 

90 young people gave us their 
#ResilientBelfast stories and 
pictures. 

40 children took trees home to plant 
across the city. 

87 attendees at a ‘Planning Resilient 
Futures’ student conference. 

Resilient discussion with 25 
university students. 

367 young people involved to date. 

19Climate adaptation and mitigation |Participation of children and young people |Connected, zero-emissions economy

FUTURE PROOFED CITY - BELFAST AMBITIONS DOCUMENT
December 2020

Page 197



13 Quality of urban childhood 

Working with partners across the city, Belfast City 
Council will put in place a series of indicators to 
measure the quality of ‘urban childhood’ in Belfast. 
This will include measuring the amount of time 
children spend playing outdoors, their level of 
contact with nature and their ability to get around 
independently. These will inform decisions by 
organisations working across Belfast to improve 
urban childhoods and urban resilience more 
generally’.

12 A Permanent Platform for 
Involving Children and Young 
People on Climate Change

Led by the Belfast Climate Commission, and co-
designed by children and young people, we will 
develop a model for ensuring the participation 
and involvement of young people, in future 
climate planning. The model will be developed 
in 2021, and will initially be developed to ensure 
their involvement in the UN Climate Conference 
COP26, but will be used annually to involve 
children and young people in decisions on the 
city’s future.

The quality of life experienced by 
urban populations, and particularly 
by children,will determine our 
global future.

Child-friendly urban planning is a 
vital part of creating inclusive cities 
that work better for everyone.

Focusing on the needs of children 
can help act as a unifying theme for 
the promotion of progressive ideas 
and ambitious actions.

Children’s infrastructure can help 
to enhance the economic value and 
long-term viability of the urban 
environment.

Providing multifunctional, playable 
space - beyond the playground - 
can enable everyday freedoms and 
create a public realm for all ages to 
enjoy together.

Interventions at the neighbourhood 
scale offer the greatest potential to 
create a children’s infrastructure 
network that allows safe and 
enjoyable journeys.

Decision makers should be 
opportunistic and strategic, and 
integrate child-friendly thinking into 
all aspects of city making.

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

In developing this strategy, we have adopted the 
seven key principles developed by Arup in its 
Designing for Urban Childhoods report:

20 Climate adaptation and mitigation |Participation of children and young people |Connected, zero-emissions economy

FUTURE PROOFED CITY - BELFAST AMBITIONS DOCUMENT
December 2020

Page 198



14

The ‘Architects of Change’ programme puts students 
from Ulster University’s School of Architecture and 
the Built Environment at the heart of developing and 
delivering a training programme to business leaders 
across the region. Leading academics will work with 
students on strategies for smart cities, zero emission 
definition and delivery aiming to address how gaps 
in knowledge and skill can be addressed through 
training.

This training programme will support business 
leaders to access the relevant knowledge to deliver 
environmentally, socially sustainable practice 
within their organisations. Participants will receive 
mentoring, materials and consultancy from the 
University to ensure growth beyond the life of the 
training. Longer term, the project will deliver innovative 
concepts for design, planning, construction and 
management of climate resilient, net zero emission 
buildings and communities. It will help shape Belfast 
as a smart, green city; improving the health and 
wellbeing of citizens, users and communities.

Ulster University Architects for 
Change Programme

16 City centre public realm play 
spaces

Working with its city partners, Belfast City Council 
will invest in a network of city centre public realm 
play spaces. This should include permanent spaces 
in the city centre and a network of temporary/
pop-up play spaces across the city. This should 
include multifunctional use of space and re‑use 
of existing infrastructure such as schoolyards, 
community hubs and carparks for community 
activities after hours. Belfast City Council wants 
to create a colourful, playful city that appeals to 
people of all ages. Working with city partners, 
Belfast City Council will build on its development of 
play spaces and invest in a network of city centre 
public realm that support diverse, interesting and 
inclusive family-friendly spaces. This could include 
permanent spaces in the city centre, embedding 
incidental play within the public realm and a creating 
network of pop up play spaces across the city. We 
will create multi-functional spaces through the re-
use of existing infrastructure such as schoolyards, 
vacant spaces, community hubs and car parks for 
community activities after hours. 

18 Public transport 

To achieve our priorities on climate resilience, 
city connectivity and urban childhoods, it is 
recommended that city partners should agree to an 
ambition to provide all children and young people 
have access to free public transport in Belfast - by 
an agreed year in the next decade. In achieving this 
goal we will enable a number of our objectives.

17

Committed to producing leaders in planning 
for resilient, inclusive and healthy cities, Ulster 
University has launched an MSc in Planning and 
City Resilience. Using the city as a laboratory, 
studies can explore sustainable development, 
social and climate justice, inclusive planning and 
partnerships, and smart interventions.

Ulster University MSc in 
Planning and City Resilience 

15 A Playful City 

Belfast City Council will work to establish Belfast 
as ‘A Playful City’ by 2023, our designated year of 
culture, by bringing together the goals within its 
City Regeneration Strategy, its Cultural Strategy 
and its Resilience Strategy. 

21Climate adaptation and mitigation |Participation of children and young people |Connected, zero-emissions economy

FUTURE PROOFED CITY - BELFAST AMBITIONS DOCUMENT
December 2020

Page 199



22 Climate adaptation and mitigation |Participation of children and young people |Connected, zero-emissions economy

FUTURE PROOFED CITY - BELFAST AMBITIONS DOCUMENT
December 2020

Paris: OASIS Schoolyards: battling heat and building resilience
The densest capital in Europe, Paris has only 14.5m2 
of green space per inhabitant. This increases both 
the urban heat island effect and the risk of storm 
water flooding. With space at a premium the city 
had to consider existing assets it could leverage 
to tackle its resilience challenges of heat waves, 
flooding, declining social cohesion, and limited 
green space. 

In 2017, the Paris Resilience Strategy envisioned 
the renovation of the city’s network of 761 schools 
into green islands or “oases” of cooler temperatures 
and community solidarity. In 2018, Project OASIS 
(Openness, Adaptation, Sensitisation, Innovation and 
Social Ties) brought together twelve city departments 
to begin a pilot with three schools participating. After 
extensive engagement with pupils, parents and the 
education community, renovation work began which 
included replacing asphalt with porous material, 
improving storm water drainage, increasing green 
space, modernizing water management, installing 
cooling fountains and water sprayers and creating 
natural and artificial shade structures. The project 
gained European recognition winning the 2019 Urban 
Innovation Actions award and a further €5m of EU-co 
funding. 

Paris aims to scale this concept to approximately 
700 schools by 2050. The Oases are expected 
to decrease average surface temperatures by 
10%, reduce daytime air temperatures up to 3oC 
and increase water absorption capacity from 4 to 
16mm. These new breathing spaces at the heart of 
neighbourhoods, designed by users, will improve the 
living environment, cope with the climate emergency, 
and reinforce social cohesion. 

CASE STUDY: CHILDREN AND YOUNG PEOPLE

Page 200



CONNECTED,  
ZERO-EMISSIONS ECONOMY
Resilient cities are well connected cities. Our vision 
of Belfast is as an inter-connected city, with secure, 
resilient infrastructure that meets its economic, 
social and environmental goals. A city that values 
sustainable forms of transport.

Connected cities have well-developed networks 
of people, communities, industries and institutions 
all working collaboratively towards common goals. 
Investment in resilient infrastructure is critical to 
ensuring and enabling inclusive growth - connecting 
people and communities with markets, and with 
affordable easy access to high quality jobs and 
services. Resilient infrastructure is essential for 
place-making, good relations and building healthy and 
sustainable cities. Industrial strategy requires reliable, 
accessible and competitively-priced infrastructure to 
attract foreign direct investment and to create jobs.

“	It has never been more important 
for a city-region to be connected 
and have high levels of connectivity. 
Investment in infrastructure must 
facilitate and enable the growth 
of those businesses and sectors 
which have the potential to close the 
productivity gap.”

Belfast has made huge strides since the Belfast/
Good Friday agreement towards being a connected 
city. However, much more progress is required 
to build ‘one city’, where our connections reduce 
our vulnerabilities and strengthen our capacity to 
withstand risks. The potential to be gained from an 
‘infrastructure revolution’ for the city was highlighted 
in the Belfast Region Infrastructure Investment 
Framework - commissioned by the Belfast Region City 
Deal partners as part of their work to present a case 
to the UK Treasury for investment in the City Region. 
The Framework recognised the economic potential 
to be gained from a step change in investment in key 
infrastructure classes to boost growth in the region, 
and in turn enhance economic resilience. 

This requires a shift in mindset - so that infrastructure 
is understood as vital to our economic and social 
interests, and responsibility for building, maintaining 
and investing in infrastructure goes beyond central 
government to a range of partners across the city. 

It also requires a transformation in how we move 
around our city. Car dependency is undermining 
our resilience- by requiring more and more hard 
infrastructure that builds our exposure to climate 
risks rather than reducing them. Belfast must make a 
strategic shift away from the car as the predominant 
mode of transport, and this will in turn boost our 
climate resilience, and make our city a healthier, 
cleaner more enjoyable Belfast. 

“	Strategic city-wide focus on 
connectivity has the potential to 
boost Belfast’s resilience - its 
capacity to withstand shocks and 
adapt to future risks.”

The Good Relations Strategy 
for the city makes similar and 
important commitments on the 
need for a genuinely connected 
city, ‘…The way we have done 
things in the past needs to adapt 
to help us reach the ambitions 
we have set ourselves in the 
Belfast Agenda. We need social 
innovation; changing the way we plan, deliver 
and consume services and how and where we 
access them, how we travel within the city, how we 
educate our young people, how we view and use 
local spaces, and how we interact with one another 
across the city. These are all critical to achieving 
these ambitions.’ 

This strategy seeks to complement and underpin 
delivery of the Good Relations Strategy. The 
following recommendations are aimed at 
supporting the strategy in practice. 

23Climate adaptation and mitigation |Participation of children and young people |Connected, zero-emissions economy

FUTURE PROOFED CITY - BELFAST AMBITIONS DOCUMENT
December 2020

Page 201



21

22

Delivering Belfast’s Net Zero 
Carbon Roadmap: Buildings 

A Bolder Vision for Belfast

Belfast’s ‘Mini Stern’ - the Net Zero Carbon 
Roadmap for the city identifies buildings and 
transport as key emitters of carbon. Targetted 
intervention in housing, to meet the targets 
set out in the roadmap is necessary. Housing 
organisations in the city will explore financial 
options required to meet the targets by 2030 and 
2050 respectively, and set interim milestones to 
report on progress on a five yearly basis. 

A Bolder Vision for Belfast was collaboratively 
developed by Belfast City Council, Department for 
Communities and Department for Infrastructure 
and provides the blueprint for creating a more 
attractive, accessible, safe and vibrant city centre 
that will improve economic, societal, health and 
environmental wellbeing for all. Underpinned by 
four Visioning Principles it delivers an ambitious 
and challenging framework for 13 ‘What Ifs?’, 
transformational projects identified through 
stakeholder engagement, data and analysis. It 
is a high-level Vision, requiring change among 
all stakeholders and citizens, and is intended to 
inspire potential solutions to shape a dynamic, 
sustainable and connected 21st century city.

A Zero Emissions city bus fleet 
by 2030 

Sustainable drainage

The transition to zero emissions public transport 
is a priority for the city. Translink, the city’s main 
public transport provider, has an ambitious target 
to decarbonise its entire Belfast bus fleet by 
2030. In addition, Translink plans to target a 50% 
reduction in GHG emissions, per passenger km, 
by 2030. Working in partnership with DFI and a 
range of regional partners, Translink is exploring 
opportunities to decarbonise rapidly through use 
of zero and low emissions vehicles and renewable 
energy. 
Translink will procure and place into service 103 
zero emission double deck buses consisting 
of both Hydrogen Fuel Cell and Battery Electric 
vehicles by the end of 2022. This programme will 
deliver clean air, environmentally friendly public 
transport ultimately being powered by  
sustainably produced hydrogen and electricity. 

Ensuring sustainable drainage is critical to any 
city’s climate resilience. Led by Department of 
Infrastructure and working with delivery partners 
across Belfast, the draft Sustainable Drainage 
Infrastructure Plan is a critical programme of 
work, to be delivered in this decade and to ensure 
Belfast has a network of sustainable drainage 
systems to meet its existing and future growth. 

20

19

23 Electric vehicle infrastructure 

By 2030, in parallel with the city’s ambitions to 
decarbonise the city’s bus fleet, Belfast will have 
delivered a network of electric vehicles to  
support transition. 

24 Investment in existing NIHE stock

Investment solutions to improve NIHE stock will 
be critical to the city’s resilience. It is important 
that these solutions are part of a wider city-wide 
approach to decarbonisation and retrofit of 
existing stock, as is taking place in other cities, 
with similar resilience challenges. 

24 Climate adaptation and mitigation |Participation of children and young people |Connected, zero-emissions economy

FUTURE PROOFED CITY - BELFAST AMBITIONS DOCUMENT
December 2020

Page 202



Innovation and Inclusive Growth 
Commission 

The city’s Innovation and Inclusive Growth 
Commission is a collaboration between Belfast 
City Council, Belfast Harbour, Ulster University 
and Queen’s University. The Commission was 
established to develop an integrated, inclusive 
and long-term growth plan for the city. Its 
recommendations span a decade long-focus on 
how to build a job-led transition to an inclusive 
zero emissions economy. 

29

26

27

Belfast Destination Hub - A Low 
Carbon Exemplar for the City 

Sustainable Tourism

The Destination Hub will be a landmark signature 
experience in the heart of our city centre that 
speaks to the essence of this vibrant place. 
Supported by the Belfast Region City Deal, this 
major cultural attraction will invite visitors to 
explore the many stories of the city and its people 
through an immersive, multi-gallery experience. 
The Hub will be a cultural beacon for the city, 
an anchor for the wider Belfast experience and 
an area of orientation for visitors into Northern 
Ireland. Importantly, its design will be a bold 
demonstrator of intent on Belfast’s ambitions to 
be a net zero emissions, climate-resilient city. 

Belfast has joined the GDS (Global Destinations 
Sustainability) Movement, the world’s leading 
benchmarking and performance improvement 
programme for tourism destinations. 
A partnership between Visit Belfast, and Belfast 
City Council, the city will take part in the GDS 
Index for the first time in 2020 in order to inform 
and accelerate sustainable tourism development 
and bring a co-ordinated focus to the sustainable 
tourism agenda across the city region. 
This is the beginning of Belfast’s commitment to 
build back better; informing the city’s vision for 
sustainable tourism and the future 10 year action 
plan for tourism in the city region. The end goal is 
for Belfast become a more regenerative, flourishing 
and sustainable place to visit, meet and thrive. 

28

Working with its education partners, Belfast City 
Council will explore the development of a major 
programme of training and skills for a generation 
of professionals to lead our transition to an 
inclusive low-carbon economy. Inspired by the 
Canadian Academy for Sustainable Innovation, 
we will aim to set a target to provide thousands 
of professionals with the skills, knowledge, and 
experience to manage our move to a sustainable 
future by 2050. 

Training and skills for an 
inclusive low-carbon economy

25 Developing a Hydrogen  
Eco System 

To accelerate the city’s transition to a net zero 
carbon economy, city partners across energy, 
waste, housing, water and transport will develop a 
network of hydrogen powered infrastructure in this 
decade. This will include hydrogen for transport, for 
logistics and mobility and for buildings. 

30 Fuel Poverty

As we transition to a low carbon economy, we are 
aiming to make the city more energy efficient and 
energy self-sufficient. We should therefore agree 
the eradication of fuel poverty as a city-wide 
ambition. 

25Climate adaptation and mitigation |Participation of children and young people |Connected, zero-emissions economy

FUTURE PROOFED CITY - BELFAST AMBITIONS DOCUMENT
December 2020

Page 203



Melbourne: Melbourne Urban Forest: bringing a city together to 
enhance its natural assets
With a rapidly growing population anticipated to 
reach 8million by 2051, metropolitan Melbourne’s 
urban footprint is both expanding outward and 
becoming denser shrinking the city’s green space, 
intensifying the urban heat island and contributing 
to flooding and run off during storms. 

Resilient Melbourne in partnership with The Nature 
Conservancy developed a comprehensive urban 
forestry strategy: Living Melbourne: Our Metropolitan 
Urban Forest which seeks to ameliorate the shocks 
and stresses associated with extreme heat, fire and 
flooding. With the help of private sector engagement 
to map canopy cover in the city, the Living Melbourne 
Strategy set a goal of increasing all sub-regional 
canopy cover levels by 20-30% by 2050. With this 
goal set, the Resilient Melbourne team along with 
Melbourne’s 32 councils developed a cohesive 
roadmap for improving biodiversity and urban forest 
cover. 

Implementation of the urban forest strategy, estimated 
to cost AUS$570M, is expected to bring economic 
benefits currently valued at AUS$4.95 billion per 
year, a figure expected to rise as the canopy cover 
increases. 

Nature is an immensely valuable asset for driving 
urban resilience. Exposure to nature reduces stress 
and the incidence of mental illness while also 
strengthening community bonds by providing spaces 
to congregate and enjoy physical activities thus also 
addressing public health and social inequality. 

CASE STUDY: CONNECTED,  
ZERO-EMISSIONS ECONOMY

26 Climate adaptation and mitigation |Participation of children and young people |Connected, zero-emissions economy

FUTURE PROOFED CITY - BELFAST AMBITIONS DOCUMENT
December 2020

Page 204



NEXT STEPS 

27
Page 205



28

NEXT STEPS
Delivery of our ambitions will be overseen by the 
Resilience and Sustainability Board, and other 
Community Planning Partnership Boards, and in 
doing so will develop relevant delivery and resource 
plans. 

Resilience and 
sustainability 
board 

Living here 
board 

Working and 
learning board

Growing the 
economy and 
city development 
board

Community  
planning partnership

Future proofed city 
- Belfast Ambitions 
Document: A Climate 
Plan for Belfast

Future proofed city  
- Belfast Resilience 
Strategy Assessment

Individual city partners will take responsibility for 
delivery of key aspects of the strategy’s ambitions. 

To make contact with the team at Belfast City Council, 
email resilient@belfastcity.gov.uk

28

FUTURE PROOFED CITY - BELFAST AMBITIONS DOCUMENT
December 2020

Climate adaptation and mitigation |Participation of children and young people |Connected, zero-emissions economy

Page 206



RESILIENCE AND SUSTAINABILITY  
BOARD MEMBERS
Eastside Partnership
Visit Belfast
Belfast Harbour
West Belfast Partnership Board
Northern Ireland Council for Voluntary Action (NICVA)
Department of Finance
Health and Social Care Northern Ireland (HSCNI)
Translink
NI Water
Department for the Economy (DfE) 
Ulster University (UU) 
Department for Infrastructure (DfI) 
Northern Ireland Housing Executive (NIHE)  
Belfast Metropolitan College
Invest NI
Utility Regulator
Police Service Northern Ireland (PSNI)
Greater Shankill Partnership
Linen Quarter BID
Local Government Civil Contingencies 
Include Youth
Action Mental Health

Logos  
to be  

included

29

FUTURE PROOFED CITY - BELFAST AMBITIONS DOCUMENT
December 2020

Climate adaptation and mitigation |Participation of children and young people |Connected, zero-emissions economy

Page 207



Belfast City Council
City Hall  
Donegall Square South 
Belfast  
BT1 5GS

www.belfastcity.gov.uk/resilientbelfast 
resilient@belfastcity.gov.uk
028 9050 2091
@belfastcc
@belfastcitycouncil
Belfast City Council

BCC 1101
As part of our commitment 
to promoting equality of 
opportunity and good relations, we want to ensure that 
everyone is able to access the documents we produce. 
This document is available in different languages and 
formats and we can provide others on request, please 
contact: Richard McLernon, Project Coordinator, 
Commissioner for Resilience on 028 9050 2091. 

Page 208



 

 

 

 
STRATEGIC POLICY & RESOURCES COMMITTEE 

 

 

 

Subject: Update on Consultation and Engagement  

Date: 20th November 2020 

Reporting Officer: John Tully, Director of City and Organisational Strategy 

Contact Officers: 
Christine Robinson Strategy, Policy and Partnership Manager  
Patricia Flynn, Strategic Policy and Planning Officer 

 

Restricted Reports     

Is this report restricted? Yes  No  

If Yes, when will the report become unrestricted?                                                    

After Committee Decision     

After Council Decision     

Sometime in the future     

Never     
 

Call-in     

 
Is the decision eligible for Call-in?                                                  
 

Yes  No  

 
 
 
 
 

1.0 Purpose of Report 

1.1 To update the Committee on progress with deployment of the Council’s new digital civic 

engagement platform and the supporting framework for consultation and engagement. 

2.0 Recommendations 

2.1 The Committee is asked to: 

i. note the update on proposed civic engagement (with immediate emphasis on obtaining 

citizen input on city recovery from Covid-19) utilising the new online Engagement HQ 

platform; 

ii. agree that the biennial doorstep resident survey planned for this winter, be deferred for 

at least 6 months; and  

iii. agree the revised consultation and engagement framework (attached at appendix 2) 

 X 

 

 

 

 

X   

Page 209

Agenda Item 4d



3.0 Key Issues 

 

3.1 

 

 

 

 

 

 

3.2 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

3.3 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

3.4 

 

 

 

 

3.5 

 

 

Background 

The Local Government (NI) Act 2014 reinforced the Council’s duty to consult, and since then the 

Council has been working hard to improve its approach to consultation and engagement and has 

made considerable progress in terms of capacity building and ICT. This work has included 

procurement of a new digital engagement platform and further development of a revised 

Corporate Consultation and Engagement Framework to support our approach. 

 

New Engagement Platform and Civic Engagement on City Recovery  

To enhance the Council’s capabilities to utilise more innovative participatory tools using 

online/digital engagement with citizens, at earlier stages and on a more ongoing basis, we have 

invested in a new digital platform. The formal procurement stage has now been completed and 

the ‘Engagement HQ’ platform is currently being configured for Council use, (alongside 

development of necessary management and operational protocols) in advance of going live by 

early December 2020.  This platform will provide a number of new tools to support early, 

transparent and ongoing dialogue, and will help address areas identified for improvement that 

have emerged from associated work on the corporate Consultation and Engagement Framework 

to underpin Council’s approach.   

 

Roles of Elected Members in supporting deployment of the new platform 

Elected Members are asked to note that the following support will be required in deployment and 

future development/roll out of the new digital platform: 

 Fronting engagement projects through short introductory video clips/soundbites 

 Promoting and profile raising of the platform and current projects through Members own 

networks and communication channels in communities 

 Inputting to the design of engagement activities at development stages (e.g. via Party 

Leaders forum, Area Working Groups, SP&R Committee as appropriate) 

 

Proposals for platform launch and next steps 

The new platform will be launched publicly in early December, with the focus on the first 

engagements on the city’s recovery from Covid-19 creating new opportunities for dialogue with 

citizens, to input their comments, ideas and views on what they think is needed for the city and 

its communities to recover from the Covid-19 pandemic.  

 

The topics/areas of engagement, and tools for citizen participation, being worked up as part of 

the platform’s early deployment include: 

 A stronger future Belfast (city recovery) 

Page 210



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

3.6 

 

 

 

 

 

o A featured set of engagement activities will seek citizen participation and 

engagement on city recovery. This will form the main emphasis of 

communications activity promoting the initial launch of the new platform. The 

proposed tools/engagement activities being drafted will be framed to emphasise 

community/neighbourhood aspects of interest to residents. The tools that will be 

used for this initial engagement are: 

 Community stories (good news stories from within communities to 

highlight the positive experiences/learning from responses to Covid-19) 

 Ideas generation (ideas for current and future focus in city recovery) 

 A covid-19 survey (to seek views of residents on Covid impacts and inform 

recovery planning) 

 Quick poll (snap virtual poll on immediate Covid concerns) 

Building on initial engagement above, it is intended that future engagement 

phases on city recovery will utilise the platform to support focused engagement 

work at area level (N, S, E, W) as part of work to develop area based recovery 

plans. This engagement process, and subsequent activities/methods of 

engagement activity will be designed in collaboration with key stakeholders over 

the coming months. 

 

 Climate/Resilience 

o A hub on the work climate adaptation and mitigation to seek citizen input on 

relevant aspects of the programme. An early activity could include engagement 

on 1 million trees programme, potentially utilising the place mapping tool for 

residents to suggest possible locations around the city for tree planting. 

 

 VCSE Sectoral Panel and citywide network 

o A dedicated portion of the site for VCSe stakeholders engaging with the city’s 

community planning process. This will host key information on the work of the 

VCSe Sectoral Advisory Panel and will include engagement tools to allow 

feedback from stakeholders across the wider VCSE sector network. 

 

The areas above provide an indication of the engagement themes at initial launch and example 

screen shots showing what the platform will look like are provided in Appendix 1. Over time, new 

engagement themes/topics will be added to support the engagement needs of the Council, and 

the Community Planning Partnership where appropriate, to promote earlier and more ongoing 

forms of participation and engagement with citizens. 

 

Page 211



 

3.7 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

3.8 

 

 

 

 

3.9 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

3.10 

 

VCSE Sectoral Advisory Panel  

Members will be aware that the recently established VCSE Sectoral Advisory Panel plans to host 

an online sectoral conference on 30th November 2020, titled ‘Putting community wellbeing at 

the heart of community planning’. Aimed at participants from across the city’s VCSE sectors, 

the conference agenda is being developed by the VCSE Sectoral Advisory Panel, and will 

include: 

 Introductory comments from the Minister for Communities 

 Presentations from keynote speakers including the Future Generations Wellbeing 

Commissioner of Wales, Scottish Improvement Service Chief Executive, and Suzanne 

Wylie, Belfast City Council Chief Executive and Chair of Community Planning 

Partnership.  

 Breakout workshop discussions for VCSE participants to shape the VCSE Panel’s 

approach and engagement with the sector over the coming year.  

 

The newly established VCSE Sectoral Advisory Panel will also be engaged over the coming 

weeks to test and refine the engagement tools (while also providing opportunity to input their 

views) in advance of the wider public launch.  

 

Resident Survey  

The Council undertakes a resident survey every two years, the primary purpose of which is to 

provide reliable and representative perception data to monitor progress and inform priority 

setting.  Unlike online consultations, which are self-selecting, our resident survey uses a 

representative sample of Belfast residents based on age, gender and DEA and is collected via 

doorstep interviews.  This ensures that the data is both valid and reliable, which enables 

consistency and accuracy for trend and performance comparisons.  This data is used to help 

track direction of travel with respect to the Belfast Agenda and corporate plan; we also report a 

number of these indictors to the NI Audit office as part of our performance improvement duty.  

The survey was due to commence in November with results available by March 2021.  However, 

due to Covid-19 we are proposing to delay the survey by approximately 6 months, in the first 

instance, and subject to further review thereafter.  It is hoped that fieldwork will be undertaken 

around summer time so that these performance indicators can feed into the refresh of the Belfast 

Agenda.  In the interim we will also examine the ongoing need for the survey.  Ongoing 

engagement with residents around priorities will continue using the new engagement platform.  

 

Revised Belfast City Council Consultation and Engagement Framework 

Last year, Members agreed to move forward with a public commitment to consultation and 

engagement in the form of a corporate consultation and engagement (C&E) framework.  The 

Page 212



 

 

 

 

 

 

3.11 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

3.12 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

3.13 

 

 

 

 

 

 

framework is not a programme of engagement events or consultations, but instead provides the 

policy context in which we will do this i.e. how we will plan, deliver and utilise our C&E activity.  It 

sets out our vision for engagement and the principles and standards that we will aspire to meet.  

It provides clarity and transparency, and will be supported by an ongoing action plan and officer 

toolkit designed to help improve the consistency, quality and value of our engagement.   

 

The draft framework was subject to a 12-week public consultation between December 2019 and 

March 2020.  Key results from this consultation are presented below: 

 All respondents (100%) agreed that it was “important that Belfast City Council has a 

clear policy on consultation and engagement” 

 90% agree with our definitions of consultation and involvement; three quarters (75%) 

agreed with our definition of engagement and 58% agreed with our proposed vision for 

consultation engagement 

 On average, more than 80% agreed with each of our proposed standards 

 On average, around three quarters (range 67% -83%) agreed with each of our 

proposed aims and aspirations, with value for money and keeping people informed 

attracting the highest levels of support.    

 

We also sought feedback on the draft equality screening and rural needs assessment and invited 

any further comments.  Suggested areas for improvement included:  

 Creating a shorter and more concise vision 

 Enabling ongoing conversations rather than just informing and consulting, with greater 

openness and transparency around decisions   

 More emphasis on valuing engagement and in particular the input from the community 

 One respondent highlighted the need for resources to support meaningful engagement, 

whilst another queried our use of the term “people”.  In relation to equality, one 

respondent suggested that if wanted to make our engagements more accessible, then 

we needed to look at the language we used and avoid “jargon”.     

 

Finalising the C&E Framework and Next Steps  

We have revised the draft framework and updated our action plan to reflect public feedback.  

The finalised framework is attached at appendix 1 for approval.  Next steps are summarised as 

follows:     

 

 

 

Page 213



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

3.14 

 

 

 

 

 

 

3.15 

 

 

 Framework  Present to SP&R for formal adoption.  Promote new framework 

internally and update on website.  

Civic engagement Develop and implement options to enhance our community 

engagement, focussing initially on an online engagement 

platform  

Capacity building  Develop continuous programme of support and capacity building 

for officers, including an officer toolkit, C&E champions and 

internal networking and professional development. 

Consultation Implement feedback protocol /process for all public 

consultations. Align citizen space consultations to new 

engagement platform and review ongoing use. 

 

Financial and Resource Implications 

There are no direct financial implication arising from this report. Costs associated with the 

implementation of the action plan, including the enhanced civic engagement platform and wider 

capacity building, have been factored into council budgets.  Future and ongoing budget 

implications will be monitored as part of the action plan implementation and learning.  Financial 

and human resource issues relating to ongoing C&E will be brought to CMT as they arise.   

 

Equality or Good Relations Implications/Rural Needs Assessment 

There are no direct equality implications contained in this report.  An equality screening and 

rural needs assessment was undertaken as part of the framework development.   Whilst, it is 

clear that some sections of the community face greater barriers to involvement, the framework 

aims to help address these and ensure that everyone has an equal opportunity to participate.  

Equality and inclusion is an underlying principle within the framework and our action plan, 

which includes steps to improve civic engagement and capacity building for officers, will seek to 

mitigate any barriers to participation.  The enhanced participant management and analytical 

tools of the new platform will also help us understand better who is engaging with us and where 

we may need to target our efforts.    

4.0 Documents Attached  

  

Appendix 1: Engagement HQ platform overview (working draft screenshots)  

Appendix 2: Revised Consultation and Engagement Framework  

  

 

Page 214



Appendix 1: Engagement HQ Platform Screenshots (Draft) 

 

Screenshot 1:  

Draft front 

‘landing page’ for 

the new 

Engagement HQ 

platform 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  
Page 215



Screenshot 2:  

City Recovery 

Engagement 

(DRAFT): 

Ideas tool, 

Survey and 

quick poll 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

A quick poll 

question asking 

about peoples 

biggest concern 

at present will be 

visible once 

webpage is ‘live’ 

The engagement 

page intro can 

include a short 

video message 

from Elected 

Member e.g. Lord 

Mayor 

Page 216



Screenshot 3: 

Community 

stories 

engagement 

tool (DRAFT) 

 

 

 

 

 

Banner image will 

be updated (this 

is an example 

one) 

Video clip 

showing 

examples of 

Covid-19 

responses from 

our Council 

services 

Page 217



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 
 
 
 
 
 

www.belfastcity.gov.uk 
 

Consultation and Engagement 

Framework  
 
 

November 2020 

 

Consult  

Inform  

Involve 

Listen 

Belfast City Council 

 

Page 219



1 | P a g e  
 

Purpose of the Framework 
 
Belfast City Council is committed to listening to what our residents have to say about 

the services we provide or what they want to see happen in the city and their local 

area.  We recognise that to effectively shape and improve our city, neighbourhoods 

and services, then meaningful consultation and engagement is crucial.  We believe that 

listening to and involving people will lead to better, more responsive services and 

improved quality of life for all.   

 

We have developed a consultation and engagement framework to guide how we listen, consult 

and involve people.  This, together with our toolkit, will help ensure that our consultation and 

engagement is meaningful and effective; that it makes a difference.     

 

Why the Framework is needed  

If we want the public to be more involved in our consultations and engagements, then we need 

to build trust and confidence in our systems and continually improve how we do things.  We 

believe that helping people understand why we consult and engage and what they can expect 

from us is the first step in building that trust and confidence.  We also believe that setting out 

best practice principles and standards will help us improve and consistently deliver good 

practice.  Therefore, this framework sets out our vision for consultation and engagement and 

the principles and standards that we will strive to meet.  More importantly, by putting civic 

engagement and participation at the heart of what we do, it will ensure our residents are more 

involved in the decisions or services that affect them.   

 

 

 

 

 

 

   

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

Legal Requirements, Equality and Best Practice 

The framework has been developed based on current legal requirements and best 

practice.  Where there is a defined statutory process for consultation, then the statutory 

process will take precedence.   For example, requirements to consult on spatial planning 

issues will be undertaken in line with the Planning Act (NI) 2011 legislation and associated 

statutory guidance. 

 It represents a further step towards embedding meaningful consultation into the 

council’s planning and decision-making processes and supplements the commitments in 

our Equality Scheme and our responsibilities to consult under Section 75 of the Northern 

Ireland Act 1998.   Supported by an action plan and toolkit, the framework 

 

Page 220



2 | P a g e  
 

Our Vision  for Consultation & Engagement 
 

We are committed to listening to and involving local people in decisions and issues that affect 

them.  Our vision for consultation and engagement is where:  
 

Everyone feels that their opinion matters and that their 

voice can make a difference 
 

Making Belfast a good place to live, work or visit requires a collaborative effort so our approach 

to consultation and engagement aims to ensure that everyone, and especially those who live here, 

have an opportunity to influence: 

 Council services and priorities – so they better reflect local need and provide 

best value for money 

 Local actions and decisions – so they make the greatest impact and improve 

local quality of life now and for the future.  

   

By everyone, we mean:  

 
 

Underpinning this vision is our commitment to ensure that all voices have an opportunity to be 

heard, particularly those who may find it more difficult to participate because of disability, age, 

language, caring responsibilities or any other circumstance.  Our consultation will be guided by 

the principles contained in the Equality Commissions guidance “Section 75 of the Northern 

Ireland Act 1998 – A Guide for Public Authorities (April 2010)” and our Equality Scheme - 

chapter 3, ‘Our arrangements for consulting’.    

 

Belfast 
City 

Council

Residents

Businesses

Statutory

Our employees

Community & 
Voluntary

Service Users

Visitors

Page 221



3 | P a g e  
 

Aims and Aspirations 
 

The framework is intended to help us to deliver our vision for consultation and engagement and 

ensure that all our consultation and engagement meets legal standards and good practice 

commitments.  More specifically the framework aims to: 

 Make our consultation and engagement processes Meaningful and Fit for Purpose 

 Ensure our consultation and engagement is Inclusive and gives all people Equal 

Opportunity to contribute, enabling greater access and participation  

 Build trust and confidence in council through Fair, Open and Transparent consultation 

and engagement  

 Provide Value for Money, reducing costs and avoiding duplication  

 Strengthen strategic planning through a consistent and continually improving use of 

consultation and engagement -  A ‘One-Council’ Coordinated Approach 

 

Our aspiration is to ensure that our consultation and engagement  

1. Values and respects people and acts fairly – it has a meaningful purpose and values 

people’s time and contributions 

2. Gives people equal opportunity to contribute – it is clear, accessible and inclusive  

3. Uses fit for purpose methods - it is well designed, visible and commensurate to need  

4. Keeps people informed throughout – it gives people the information they need to 

participate and informs them of the outcome (key findings, decisions or actions).    

 

These aspirations or principles form the basis of our framework and approach to consultation 

and engagement.    

 

Through this framework, we will endeavour to embed a culture of engagement 

so that it genuinely becomes part of what we do. 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 222



4 | P a g e  
 

Definition - What do we mean by Consultation and Engagement? 
 

The terms consultation and engagement are sometimes used interchangeably.  But, whilst both 

processes seek the views, knowledge or guidance of others, there is a difference between them.     

 

The Consultation Institute defines consultation as: 
 

“the dynamic process of dialogue between individuals or groups, based upon a 

genuine exchange of views, with the objective of influencing decisions, policies or 

programmes of action” 

 

In this framework,  we define engagement as an activity or process that: 

 

“brings people together to help to understand and solve local problems, to 

influence and shape council policy or council services, or to address issues of 

common importance and to achieve positive change” 

 

Consultation is specific and time bound, with decisions made by the organisation initiating the 

consultation, in this case Belfast City Council.  Engagement, on the other hand, describes the 

wider and longer term or ongoing process of involving people - in discussions, deliberations and 

action planning – on issues that affect them or which they care about.  Effective engagement 

requires respectful dialogue between everyone involved and is aimed at improving understanding 

and, where appropriate, joint working so as to achieve more positive outcomes for all. 

 

 

Our Definitions: 

 

Consultation - a process of dialogue - asking for and listening to the views of people and partners 

in order to inform or influence a specific council decision, policy, strategy or action.    

 

Engagement - the processes we use to develop ongoing, mutually beneficial working relationships 

with our people and partners.  For the purposes of this framework the term engagement means 

the purposeful and participative process which enables people to influence and shape council 

policy and local services or to improve local outcomes.  It is the cornerstone of partnership 

working.    

 

Involvement - People actively participating in and being involved with council and other local 

service providers in policy development, service planning and review or improving outcomes.  

Depending on the nature of the issue, decisions may be taken solely by council or may be shared.  

 

 
 

Page 223



5 | P a g e  
 

The level of involvement will vary depending on the nature of each consultation or engagement 

There is no fixed approach.  To help explain the potential different levels of involvement, public 

bodies have adapted the ‘ladder of public engagement’ concept as illustrated below.  Within this 

spectrum, there are many different methods available, and we must choose what is the most 

appropriate based on each individual case.   
 

Level of Involvement What’s involved Examples 

Empower 

 
High / Most 

involved 

You do it; we stand back – 

enabling others to deliver 

programmes and services 

 

Shaftsbury and 

Grosvenor community &  

recreation centres 

Collaborate 

 

We do it jointly – sharing 

decisions and working together 

to improve, design or services 

and programmes 

District Policing & 

Community Safety 

Partnership 

Connswater Community 

Greenway 

Involve 

 

Involving people – working 

directly with people to 

understand needs and 

aspirations and/or to improve 

or design services and 

programmes 

 

Forums and user groups 

such as ‘friends of’ 

groups and our youth, 

seniors and migrant 

forums.  Engagement as 

part of our physical 

programme 

Consultation 

 

We want to know what you 

think in order to help us make 

a better decision – asking 

people for their views 

Formal consultations 

and focus groups such as 

those undertaken as 

part of our Waste 

Collection Arrangements 

and Cultural Strategy   

Information–

giving 

 
 
 

Low / Least 
involved 

This is knowledge we want you 

to have - giving people 

information and telling them 

about our services 

 

Council Website 

City Matters 

 

 
 

Page 224



6 | P a g e  
 

 

Our Consultation and Engagement Framework 
 

Belfast City Council engages and involves people in a number of different ways.   

 

 
  

 

 

 

Inherent within each of these approaches, is a commitment to equality and our duties under 

Section 75 of the Northern Ireland Act 1998.  

Information

We engage by 

sharing information

through various 

channels including 

social media

Process

People engage with   

us through clear       

and accessible   

processes

Compliance 

We engage in 

accordance with 

statutory or 

regulatory 

requirements

Structures

We engage through

various formal and 

informal forums and 

partnerships 

Belfast City 

Council

Consultation

We engage through 

meaningful informal 

and formal 

consultations

Co Production                             

We engage to co-define the issues, 

co-design the appropriate responses 

and co-deliver through the best use 

of available resources

Page 225



7 | P a g e  
 

Our Standards for Consultation 
 

We recognise that there is no fixed approach or one right way to consult.  Instead, we 

will adapt each consultation to suit its own each unique situation.  To help us make the 

right decisions about how and when we consult, we have adopted five consultation 

standards.  These underpin our vision and guide all our consultation activity.    

 

Belfast City Council – Our Consultation Commitments    

Our consultation standard set out what you can expect from Belfast City Council consultations.  

These are our commitments to you.  In any consultation exercise we will: 

 

Explain why we are consulting and how we are going to take people’s views into account.   

We will consult openly and with integrity, providing the information people need to 

participate and ensuring that we consult and engage when there is scope for people to 

influence decisions and actions.   

 

Involve the widest spectrum of the community.  We will strive to give all people affected 

by or interested in the matter an opportunity to get involved.  We will strive to give all 

people an equal opportunity to contribute especially under-represented, marginalised 

and ‘seldom heard groups.  Above all, we will respect people and act fairly, valuing 

people’s time and contributions. 

 

Organise consultation and engagement in ways that are convenient and accessible to 

the people whose views we are seeking and use the most appropriate and cost-effective 

mechanisms – fit for purpose consultation that is commensurate to need. 

 

Report back and keep people informed throughout the process – providing information 

that is open and easy to understand.  This includes reporting back on what people told us, 

the decisions that have been made and any actions that will be taken.    

 

Use the findings to make informed decisions - consultation for a purpose and with an 

honest intention.  We will interpret the findings fairly and make decisions or take actions 

that ultimately help to improve services, programmes or quality of life for local people.     

 
 

We have developed a toolkit to help officers apply these standards.  The toolkit, which will be 

updated periodically to reflect ne practice and learning, includes comprehensive advice on 

planning a consultation, has been developed  

 

 

Page 226



8 | P a g e  
 

 

Our Standards for Engagement 
 

Engagement brings people together to help to solve local problems, to influence and 
shape policy or council services or to address issues of common importance and bring 
about positive change.   
 

Whilst our consultation standards are equally applicable to engagement activity, we feel that 

additional guidance and support is needed to build and drive meaningful community engagement.  

We want communities to feel that they can influence and be part of the decisions that affect 

them.  This means working with communities to help them deal with the issues they experience, 

involving them in the design and delivery of actions and interventions, and supporting them so 

they can lead on the issues that affect them.   Good community engagement is a process which 

provides the foundation for: 
 

 Shared understanding  

 Improved decision-making  

 Collaboration 

 

Engagement good practice is continually evolving and we are committed to learning and 

maintaining good standards that work for our local communities.  In the first instance, we will 

apply the National Standards for Community Engagement as developed by the Scottish 

Government and the Scottish Community Development Centre.  The standards, which build on 

the OECD principles designed to strengthen government-citizen relations, are about being open 

and inclusive, with a focus on collaborative change, continuous improvement and relationship 

building.  They comprise seven good-practice principles, supported by detailed performance 

statements that act as a checklist or reference point for best practice.  The standards focus on: 

 

 Inclusion 

 Support 

 Planning 

 Working Together 

 Methods 

 Communication 

 Impact 

 

By applying these standards to our own community engagement, we aim to ensure that our 

engagement is meaningful and effective - where everyone feels respected and empowered and 

which delivers a positive outcome for all.  

Page 227



9 | P a g e  
 

 

The Belfast Agenda  

We are responsible for leading and facilitating the community planning process for the Belfast 

district area.  At its heart, community planning is about working in collaboration to deliver better 

outcomes for local people.  We will work with our community planning partners to embed 

effective community engagement and ensure that is an integral part the Belfast Agenda and our 

community planning processes.  The Belfast Community Planning Partnership is committed to 

strengthening how it engages and has plans to develop a Partnership Community Engagement 

Strategy to underpin how it will enhance civic voice through meaningful participation of 

communities, including the community, voluntary and social enterprise sectors. 

       

We will continue to work with our partners to test and develop innovative engagement 

approaches and to develop case studies to guide and build good practice, both through our own 

consultation and engagement activity in relation to Council services, and through our partnership 

working.   

 
 
 

Learning from best practice: Scottish National Standards 
 

 
 

 Scottish Government funded, SCDC developed  

© Queen's Printer for Scotland 2008   

Page 228



10 | P a g e  
 

Keeping you informed  
 
Our framework commits us to keeping you informed.  This means letting you know what 

is happening and telling you about the decisions that affect you and how you can have a 

say in those decisions.  We will also let you know how we tool people’s views into 

account and what happened as a result.   
 

We use a range of mechanisms to keep you informed.  This includes, for example, tools like City 

Matters, our website and social media.  Depending on the issue or matter, we may also produce 

specific leaflets or summary documents to help raise awareness and understanding.  These will be 

available on our dedicated engagement platform or on the council website.   

 

Our Consultation and Engagement Platform 

We are continually looking for ways in which to improve how we engage and involve people.  As 

part of this, we have invested in digital technology and have created a dedicated on-line 

engagement platform.  The aim of the platform is to make it easier for our residents and other 

stakeholders to find out about our engagements and to have their say.   We will also use the 

platform to keep people informed by letting you know what people have said and what has 

happened as a result.   

 

 
 
Developing effective process  
 

Our framework is about giving all people a voice through clear, meaningful and inclusive 

processes.  Whilst much of the framework deals with how we initiate, plan and deliver 

our consultation and engagement, we also want to make sure that we have sound 

processes in place that enables communities and individuals to initiate discussions and 

raise concerns.        
 

Our Elected Members play an important role in representing their constituents, including raising 

issues of concern with services and senior management team.  However, in addition to this, we 

will also develop clear and open processes that enable people to contact council directly, such as 

through petitions or other mechanisms.  We will explain clearly what the process is so that people 

understand how they can make their voice heard and what happens next.         

 
  

Page 229



11 | P a g e  
 

Meeting our commitments  
 

We have developed a number of supporting mechanisms to enable us to meet the 

commitments set out in this framework.  Reviewed and updated on an annual review, 

it includes an annual action plan and officer toolkits and best practice guidance. 
 

Toolkits and Guidance 

We have developed a consultation and engagement toolkit for officers and engagement 

guidance for physical projects.  This guidance and associated checklists will be reviewed 

regularly to ensure it reflects best practice and changing legislative guidance.   

In addition, our Equality and Diversity Unit has developed an Equality and Diversity Toolkit, 

which provides detailed guidance for officers on our equality and diversity responsibilities.  The 

unit also facilitates a number of equality and disability forums.  These are reviewed on an 

ongoing basis to ensure we continue to be open and inclusive.  To find out more about these 

forums or to get involved please contact equality@belfastcity.gov.uk   
 

Annual Review and Action Plan  

As part of the development of the framework, we identified 4 key areas that we need to focus 

on if we are to improve our practice and deliver the aspirations within this framework.  These 

will form the basis of our annual review and updated action plan: 
 

Consultation & Engagement Framework 

Year 1: Formal adoption and promotion of the framework 

Ongoing:  Annual monitoring and review to assess new practice and ensure 
continuous improvement and innovation  

Consultation 

Year 1: Introduce mechanisms for feeding back the results and impact of 
consultations to participants  

Ongoing:  Annual monitoring and review to ensure our consultation practice 
continue to meet legislative requirements and good practice 

Engagement and Civic Voice 

Year 1: Introduce mechanisms to enhance our civic and community engagement, 
with initial focus on an online engagement platform to support more open and 
inclusive dialogue  

Ongoing:  Ongoing review and development of innovative and good practice civic 
engagement to ensure wider participation and involvement  

Building Capacity 

Continuous programme of support and capacity building for officers - officer toolkit, 
C&E champions and internal networking, training and professional development. 

 

 

Page 230

mailto:equality@belfastcity.gov.uk


12 | P a g e  
 

Measures of Success  
 

We want this framework to make a difference.  We want people get involved in 

the decisions that affect them and we want it to have a positive impact on how 

people view the council.  To help us assess whether it is making a difference, we 

will monitor the following:     

 

 

  

How much did we do? How well did we do it  

 Number of public consultations per 
annum 

 Number of responses to our 
consultation per annum 

 Number of focus groups or 
engagement panel exercises per 
annum (face-to face or online)  

 Numbers involved in focus groups and 
panels per annum 

 

 % of consultation exercises where 
results are fed back to participants 

 Participation by  key groups (age, 
gender, background etc) 

 Number of FOIs / complaints relating 
to consultation and engagement 
process* 

 Officers holding Consultation Institute 
CPD or Advanced Practitioners 

 

Is anyone better off? 

 % of residents who agree that the council consults with and listens to  views of local 
residents 

 % of residents who agree that they are able to have a say in how services are run in 
their local area 

 % of residents who rate council highly in terms of (a) reputation and (b) 
trustworthiness 

 % of residents who agree that the council provides good customer service 

Source: BCC Resident Survey  

  

Page 231



13 | P a g e  
 

Tell us what you think  
 

We have put a lot of thought into this framework, but we are very much open to 

ideas and suggestions for improvement.   

 

This framework is about making sure that people have a voice on the issues that affect them 

and can influence the services we deliver.  If you have any comments or suggestions, please 

get in touch with us using the contact details below.  

  

 

 

 
Does this make sense?  

                                          

Are we on the right track? 

 

What do we need to do to  

make it easier for people to get involved and have their say? 

 
 
 

 

 

 

Contact us: 
Strategic Policy, Planning and Partnership Team 

City Hall 

Belfast 

BT1 5GS 

 

   policy@belfastcity.gov.uk 

   028 9050 0525 

   www.belfastcity.gov.uk 

Have your 

say  

Page 232



 

STRATEGIC POLICY & RESOURCES COMMITTEE  

 
 
 
 
 

 
Subject: 

EU Successor Funding Northern Ireland: Position Paper for 
SOLACE NI 

 
Date: 20th November, 2020 

 
Reporting Officer: John Tully, Director of City and Organisational Strategy 

 
Contact Officers: 

Christine Robinson, Strategy, Policy and Partnerships Manager 
Mark Mulholland, Policy and Performance Analyst 

 

Restricted Reports     

Is this report restricted? Yes  No  

If Yes, when will the report become unrestricted?                                                    

After Committee Decision     

After Council Decision     

Sometime in the future     

Never     

 

Call-in     

 
Is the decision eligible for Call-in?                                                  
 

Yes  No  

 

1.0 Purpose of Report or Summary of Main Issues 
 

1.1 
 

To update Members on a position paper produced for the Society of Local Authority Chief 

Executives in Northern Ireland (SOLACE NI), in relation to EU Successor Funding in 

Northern Ireland and the Shared Prosperity Fund (SPF).  

2.0 Recommendations 
 

2.1 The Committee is asked to: 

a) Note this update on the Ekosgen/SOLACE NI position paper on EU Successor 

Funding; and 

 

b) promote this work across Political networks supporting the need for a partnership 

approach, which involves local government, in co-designing and shaping the SPF, 

which will address local needs. 

 

 

 

 

 

X  

X 

Page 233

Agenda Item 4e



 
3.0 

 
Main Report 
 

3.1 

 

 

 

 

3.2 

 

 

 

 

3.3 

 

 

 

 

3.4 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

3.5 

 

 

 

 

3.6 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Ekosgen was commissioned in early 2020 by SOLACE NI to undertake a research study to 

explore the future of EU Successor Funding in Northern Ireland. The purpose of this study 

was to develop a local government sectoral position, to use as a basis for discussion and 

influence with central government departments, regarding the local introduction of the SPF.  

 

Alongside the full report, a stand-alone Executive Summary has been produced (see 

attached Appendix). This document sets out the key principles and recommendations 

identified by local government, and will be used to engage the NI Executive Ministers, MLAs, 

MPs and relevant departments in terms of the future local design of the SPF. 

 

As the UK has left the EU, the UK Government has begun the process of developing a 

replacement investment mechanism for the EU Structural Funds. The SPF will address 

regional disparity and structural economic challenges, and drive innovation, productivity, and 

sustainable economic development. 

 

Northern Ireland has been a net beneficiary of the EU Structural funds and their impact on 

economic development has been significant – indeed in Northern Ireland we receive approx. 

5% of the total UK allocation, while only representing 2.8% of the population. It is crucial that 

the spending power provided by EU funding is preserved through the SPF, and that the UK 

Government respects Northern Ireland’s previous status as a transition area for the purposes 

of EU funding in this new funding regime. This will ensure that our proportionate allocation 

of funding will continue and can be concentrated in areas to increase productivity and lessen 

economic inactivity. Such a commitment would also acknowledge and support Northern 

Ireland in moving forward as a post-conflict society. 

 

The future scope and operation of the SPF as EU successor funding, will be crucial in 

shaping the future economic and social prosperity of Northern Ireland – by providing funding 

to support the foundations of prosperity, and contributing to eliminating inequalities and 

promoting inclusive growth for our local communities. 

 

Members should note that, during engagement with local EU funded delivery organisations 

who manage and deliver programmes across our council areas, extreme concern exists 

regarding the lack of information and engagement undertaken to date in relation to the SPF. 

However, they were appreciative of the fact that local government are undertaking this work, 

and engaged them on this critical issue of successor funding. 

Page 234



 
3.7 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
3.8 
 
 
 
 
 

 
3.9 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
3.10 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

It is intended to use this paper as a basis for councils having a role with central government 

in designing the SPF, using a place-based approach, to address local area needs. It is crucial 

that this new funding regime maintains alignment between the priorities of the NI Executive 

and those set out in local community plans to ensure that inequalities are being targeted and 

that local intelligence is used to focus the funding to plans and programmes that are needed.   

 
Members may also be aware that the Chief Executive recently attended an evidence session 

hosted by the Northern Ireland Affairs Committee on the SPF, on behalf of SOLACE NI and 

NILGA. It was notable during this session the lack of local consultation and work which has 

taken place in relation to the SPF in comparison with the other devolved administrations.  

 

During this session, the Chief Executive emphasised that for local government and local 

organisations the regime which is going to succeed EU structural funding is of critical 

importance. The design of this new funding programme if undertaken in a collaborative way 

between central government, local government and local delivery organisations, can create 

a new effective funding regime which will be transformative for our local areas and the region, 

aligned to the current growth and city deals and other current funding packages.  

 

Principles for a New Approach 

The principles identified within the Ekosgen work which are necessary for designing a new 

approach to funding through the SPF are set out in the table below. These principles should 

be viewed as an integrated package of measures that work as a whole, rather than a menu 

of options. 

Principles and Recommendations for a New Approach in Northern Ireland 
 

Principle Commentary 

National Framework SPF should set a national framework defining high level 
strategic direction, objectives and priorities and alignment 
with UK strategies. 
 

Regional and sub-regional 
priority setting 

There must be a commitment and processes at regional 
level to set strategic priorities. These should be 
developed in partnership and based on an evidence-
based assessment of need. 
At a sub-regional level, there must be scope to identify 
and invest in activities that will address local priorities 
and reflect the local context. This must be an 
underpinning principle that all stakeholders sign up to. 
Ownership of sub-regional funded activities should rest 
with local partners. 
 
 

Page 235



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Outcomes based Progress and achievements should be measured as 
outcomes and impacts, rather than activities and outputs. 
KPIs should be set that capture progress as well as final 
outcomes e.g. progress towards employment. 
 

Flexible, single pot There must be an assumption of trust so that monies can 
be disbursed with as few restrictions as possible, 
balanced with the right degree of scrutiny. 
 
Monies should be provided in Northern Ireland with no 
restrictions on capital and revenue allocations or 
prescriptive allocations by theme. Spend should be 
based on identified need and a holistic approach 
covering, for example, investment in skills, business 
support, infrastructure, innovation and so forth.  
 
There should be a strategic approach to spend, combing 
all available funding sources to maximise value for 
money. 
 
Business support (including social enterprises) should be 
business-led and include support to invest in the 
workforce, in equipment, in processes, as well as advice, 
and specialist business development support.  
 

Maximum devolution of 
management and delivery 

Northern Ireland should work towards devolving 
management and delivery to sub-regions where there is 
sufficient capacity and capabilities. 
 
For some activities, there will be a rationale for clusters of 
areas and partnerships who could act as intermediate 
bodies, and a regional approach with flexibility for 
distinctive local need. 
 
Where appropriate, the approaches used successfully 
through the city and growth deals could be replicated. 
 

Attitude to risk Being overly risk averse can inhibit impacts and limits the 
opportunity to test and learn from new and innovative 
approaches. 
 
SPF at UK and regional levels should set an attitude to 
risk that allows for innovation and moves away from 
simply funding ‘more of the same’. 
 

Fit for purpose systems and 
processes that are actively 
used 

Management, appraisal, monitoring and verification 
processes should be fit for purpose, not overly complex 
and proportionate to the level of funding and scale of 
activities. They should be used to review and drive 
performance. 
 
Additional layers and processes should not be added 
over time unless there is a clear rationale and 
demonstration of added value. 
 

Page 236



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

3.11 
 
 
 
 
 
3.12 
 

Management and monitoring systems and processes 
should be, as far as possible, harmonised with those of 
other funds and their activities. This will make for a more 
efficient use of project management and administration 
time and generate consistent data. 
 

 

Financial and Resource Implications 

 

None associated with this report. 

 

Equality or Good Relations Implications/Rural Needs Assessment 

 

None associated with this report 

 
4.0 

 
Documents Attached 
 

  
Appendix 1 –  Executive Summary – EU Successor Funding in Northern Ireland: Position    

Paper for SOLACE NI 

 

Page 237



This page is intentionally left blank



EU Successor Funding  
in Northern Ireland:  
Position Paper for SOLACE NI
Executive Summary

November 2020Page 239



EU Successor Funding in Northern Ireland: 
Position Paper for SOLACE NI

Executive Summary

2

Introduction

Context

ekosgen were commissioned in early 2020 by 
the Society of Local Authority Chief Executives 
in Northern Ireland “SOLACE NI” to undertake 
a research study to explore the future of EU 
Successor Funding in Northern Ireland. This 
Executive Summary provides a brief overview of 
the findings and sets out the recommendations for 
Northern Ireland.

Now that the UK has left the EU, the UK 
Government has begun the process of developing 
a replacement investment mechanism for the 
EU Structural Funds. The Shared Prosperity 
Fund (SPF) will address regional disparity and 
structural economic challenges, and drive 
innovation, productivity, and sustainable economic 
development.

The Ministerial Statement of July 2017 strongly 
links the Shared Prosperity Fund to the UK Industrial 
Strategy, tackling inequalities between communities 
by raising productivity, and with an implied 
geographical focus on those economies which are 
furthest behind. In Northern Ireland, a refreshed 
economic strategy is underway, as well as a number 
of emerging strategies; for example skills and 
employability and rural development, all of which will 
align with the UK Industrial Strategy. A future SPF for 
Northern Ireland must take cognisance of and align 
to the priorities in these new strategies which will 
underpin the new Northern Ireland Programme for 
Government.

The UK SPF will be resourced within the context of 
the current spending review. At this stage we know 
the following from the UK Government:

• SPF is a successor to EU Structural Funds, not a
continuation.

• There is no commitment to rolling forward current
Structural Fund allocations by programme or area
and no commitment to taking forward ERDF and ESF
financial breakdown across priorities and themes.

• It will have a specific UK remit and be shaped by
UK policy objectives, in particular, the Industrial
Strategy, not EU Structural Funds heritage.

• It is not clear which Departmental budgets the
UKSPF will be funded from.

The distribution and delivery of structural funds 
is overseen by government departments of the 
Northern Ireland Executive. Invest NI is the sole 
intermediate body for the entire Investment in Jobs 
Programme. Whilst local authorities also have a role 
in the management and delivery of programmes and 
initiatives and are match-funders for much of the 
activity, they do not act as accountable bodies. They 
do, however, have an important role to play going 
forward in co-designing (and managing aspects of) 
the SPF, and sharing their experiences and expertise 
with the Northern Ireland Executive as the SPF model 
emerges.

In addition to ensuring that the spending power 
provided by EU funding is preserved through the 
SPF, it is also essential that the UK Government 
respects Northern Ireland’s previous status as a 
transition area for the purposes of EU funding in this 
new funding regime. This is significant as, although 
Northern Ireland accounts for only about 2.8% of the 
UK population, it receives 5% of the UK allocation of 
EU funds. This will ensure that funding will continue 
to be concentrated in areas to increase productivity 
and lessen economic inactivity. Such a commitment 
would also acknowledge and support Northern 
Ireland in moving forward as a post-conflict society. 

Page 240



EU Successor Funding in Northern Ireland: 
Position Paper for SOLACE NI

Executive Summary

3

How Northern Ireland has successfully 
invested Structural Funds
Since 2000 over the last three EU programme 
periods Northern Ireland has received some 
€1,750 million of structural fund support. In the 
current 2014-2020 programme ERDF and ESF 
funding has amounted to €492.4 million. This 
investment is arguably more focused in Northern 
Ireland versus the rest of the UK, a strategic 
decision, to target structural funds at the areas 
or issues of greatest need and address evident 
market failure and structural economic disparity in 
Northern Ireland.

Achievements through the current programme 
(ERDF and ESF) include:

In particular Local Economic Development (LED) delivery 
(through ERDF), and locally delivered employability 
(through ESF), have been a vital component of Northern 
Ireland’s delivery. The 11 local authorities have 
demonstrated their capability in the management and 
disbursement of Structural Funds, from the point of 
view of procurement, audit, compliance, etc. and also in 
fulfilling the strategic role they hold in place-making. 
They have managed the delivery of LED projects 
totalling over £14 million in eligible spend, in many cases 
in collaboration with partner Councils. The approach to 
delivering City and Growth Deal interventions is further 
demonstration of this capability and expertise. 
Northern Ireland’s Rural Development Programme 
(NIRDP) has supported rural economies over a number 
of years and is a significant source of funding; local 
authorities have delivered projects totalling £17.82 
million to date. This type of investment will need to be 
supported by a similar fund if rural communities are to 
continue to thrive and grow. A successor to the NIRDP 
must be considered alongside discussions about the 
new SPF. 
The SPF should be designed to unlock the potential, and 
improve the connectivity and accessibility of, Northern 
Ireland’s rural areas, support rural businesses and close 
the gap between income levels in rural and urban areas.
Northern Ireland’s local authorities are an important part 
of the delivery of Structural Funds. They act as a very 
effective link between the regional level operational 
programmes and the local level, providing important, 
geographically specific knowledge and interpretation 
so that local needs are met. They are also an important 
mechanism for establishing a growth pipeline of 
businesses for progression to intensive support through 
Invest NI.
EU Funding has also played an important investment 
role in supporting major capital projects that have been 
transformational to local economies. Examples include 
the Giant’s Causeway visitor centre, which received 
nearly £6 million of ERDF funding. This visitor centre has 
acted as a magnet for tourism and a catalyst from which 
a range of people and industries have benefitted. The 
Waterfront Convention Centre also received significant 
EU funding investment, which has helped to create more 
business, attracting greater number of tourists, which 
has seen local investment in the development of hotels 
positively impacting the  
local economy.

900 more Northern Ireland 
businesses are engaged in R&D.

There has been a 75% increase in 
the number of high-growth SMEs

46,704 participants have been 
supported through access to 
employment interventions and 
11,038 participants through 
social inclusion interventions. 

30,719 Apprenticeship NI 
participants have received ESF 
support. 

Page 241



EU Successor Funding in Northern Ireland: 
Position Paper for SOLACE NI

Executive Summary

4

Limitations of the Structural 
Fund Approach
Although Northern Ireland’s local authorities have 
achieved many successes in their use of Structural 
Funds, the approach adopted to managing, 
overseeing and using the funding has many 
limitations, and has become more bureaucratic and 
unwieldy over time. Particular issues include:
• A perceived lack of alignment between regional and

local priorities, and priorities in urban and rural areas. 
Priorities need to be developed with the flexibility 
to respond to local need identified in Community 
Plans and outlined in the Executive’s Programme 
for Government, and clusters of need, for example 
geographical clusters of local authorities, and/or 
thematic or sectoral clusters. A more place-based 
approach to planning and investment is required.

• The centralised approach adopted for decision
making and managing EU funds has resulted in local 
authorities having less scope to deliver discretionary 
activity which is based on local priorities and need. 
This presents difficulties in delivering holistic 
packages of support that combine different 
structural and even other funds. Eligibility rules which 
exclude the funding of capital expenditure projects 
have also served to minimise the benefits which 
can be derived from other types of structural fund 
investment, for example, in business growth.

• Over-engineered application and administration
processes, lengthy timescales for project approvals, 
and match-funding requirements have combined to 
reduce the overall impact and benefit derived from 
the Structural funds. These factors prevent some 
organisations from applying for funding and make 
others cautious of doing so; projects are designed to 
meet the funding criteria rather than being innovative 
and maximising benefits. Too much time and 
resource is spent on administration rather than those 
activities which will have an impact on the economy.

• A lack of robust and transparent monitoring of
outcomes and impacts, as opposed to outputs, 
of structural fund investment at both regional and 
sub-regional level has worked against understanding 
where investment has made the most impact. 

Page 242



EU Successor Funding in Northern Ireland: 
Position Paper for SOLACE NI

Executive Summary

5

Priorities for Northern Ireland
The UK Government has stated that the SPF will 
tackle inequalities between communities and raise 
productivity in those parts of the country whose 
economies are furthest behind. This is key to the 
levelling up agenda and the aim for the Northern 
Ireland SPF will be to ‘level up’ within NI and 
between NI and other parts of the UK by taking a 
place-based approach to inclusive growth.

The NI SPF is likely to focus on strengthening the 
foundations of productivity to ensure that people 
benefit from economic prosperity, i.e. it will both 
support economic growth and ensure that growth 
is inclusive. It is important that EU Successor 
funding continues to support rural development 
programmes. It is therefore incumbent on the UK 
Government and Northern Ireland Executive to 
ensure that rural funding is protected in the same 
manner as the arguably more urban-focused ERDF 
and ESF funds.

Addressing the potential impacts of COVID-19 in 
Northern Ireland will also be key. Research suggests 

that productivity is down by 25-30%, GDP will reduce 
by 8.1% in 2020, the economy will contract by 7-10% 
and over 200,000 will be impacted. The SPF must 
recognise that the scale of the interventions will 
increase as a result of the pandemic and that many of 
the groups previously supported by European funds 
are likely to be adversely impacted by the economic 
consequences of the pandemic. 

Protecting businesses from the potential negative 
impact of Brexit will also be a consideration, as is the 
opportunity that Brexit presents for Northern Ireland 
as an access to the single market. Priority areas for 
focus are likely to be skills and employment, business 
growth, innovation, places and infrastructure.

It is vital that the new UK SPF is properly resourced 
and Northern Ireland’s future allocation must be at 
least equivalent to the current programme’s level 
of funding, as well as being correctly targeted, and 
appropriately managed to secure the best possible 
outcomes for the whole country. This must then be 
reflected in the SPF for Northern Ireland.

Page 243



EU Successor Funding in Northern Ireland: 
Position Paper for SOLACE NI

Executive Summary

6

Developing a Shared Prosperity Fund  
to meet Northern Ireland’s aspirations
As the quantum of money available to Northern 
Ireland will be set at Westminster and provided 
as a block grant, it is vital that the money remains 
ring-fenced for the purposes set. It must be 
hypothecated so that it can be directed to activities 
that are additional and deliver value-added benefits 
for Northern Ireland and its sub-regions.

The key factors which need to be considered in 
determining the SPF in Northern Ireland are as follows: 

• Allocation should be built around the foundations of
productivity, namely: ideas; people; infrastructure;
business environment; innovation; and places.

• Community Planning, aligned to the Programme for
Government, has a central role to play and should
guide the shaping of SPF overarching priorities.

• SPF must demonstrate how the achievement of
sub-regional priorities will contribute to regional
objectives and how these then support UK level
ambitions.

• SPF funding must align with, be able to support,
and be supported by other strategic priorities and
sources of finance.

• The SPF in Northern Ireland must be developed
and co-designed through structured collaboration
and co-production with partners including Invest
NI, local authorities, education, health, the voluntary
sector, and industry.

• Adopting a three-year funding period for projects
with an annual review to enable issues to be
identified, changes in context, and fine tuning to
optimise performance.

• SPF nationally and regionally must have built in
flexibility to respond to changing and unanticipated
needs. This could be responding to COVID-19
recovery planning and the needs of particular
groups such as young people, or of sectors, or of
areas.

• There must be careful consideration of attitude and
articulation to risk to encourage innovation and
achieve the right balance between level of risk and
potential returns.

• Supporting a business pipeline from new start
to growth and high growth with a continuum of
support that is integrated with other interventions
and activities, such as skills development.

• SPF must recognise the importance of cross-
border opportunities and initiatives including the
opportunities of having a land-based ‘border’ with
the single market, and have the flexibility to support
these where appropriate.

• The level of management and administration should
be commensurate with the spend and should
recognise the existing mechanism and assurances
in place with local government as a trusted partner.

Page 244



EU Successor Funding in Northern Ireland: 
Position Paper for SOLACE NI

Executive Summary

7

Allocation and management
There is strong support in Northern Ireland to 
move to a transparent allocation system based 
on need and opportunity to support inclusive 
growth, achieve a balanced economy across all 
rural and urban areas, and close the productivity 
differences within the region, and between the 
region and other parts of the UK.

Allocation of the SPF must be considered at three 
levels: national level e.g. for strategic infrastructure, 
regional level and local level for council and 
community interventions; without alignment to 
local priorities, rebalancing cannot be achieved and 
cannot reflect place-based development.

Relationships between the Managing Authority, local 
authorities, delivery partners and other relevant 
bodies should be based on partnership working, 
moving away from purely transactional relationships 
while maintaining clear lines of accountability. 
Devolution of SPF responsibilities such as project 
appraisal, management and delivery should be asset-
based, recognising the strengths and capabilities 
of all organisations and where there may be a gap in 
capability and/or experience, addressing it through 
knowledge sharing and capacity building.

There is a need to recognise the value of community 
plans as multi-partner plans delivering Programme 
for Government priorities for local areas involving 
local, central and other relevant partners. SPF 
priorities and allocations need to link back to the 

needs and issues outlined in these Plans and set 
regionally through the Programme for Government. 
There is a need for a true place-based policy  
co-produced between central and local government 
to inform allocations and investment on a broader 
scale.

Local authorities have an important role to play here 
as more than service providers, but hubs for local 
businesses and co-investors in local regeneration 
and business and community development 
programmes. Their role at the local level allows them 
to consider regional and local strategies to meet 
local need and opportunities working alongside and 
with local stakeholders and service providers and 
delivery agents.

There is a greater role for local government working 
with central government partners in the management 
and delivery of SPF moving forward. If approached 
in a spirit of co-design and complementarity new 
processes could be streamlined and better aligned 
without creating another layer of bureaucracy.

Whilst effective management and delivery are 
important, there is a need to measure performance 
too. A robust monitoring framework with indicators 
that assess actual outcomes and impacts, which 
can be compared and aggregated at different spatial 
levels and across types of activities, is needed with 
the aim of driving and managing performance and 
informing decision making. 

Opportunity and learning
There is now the opportunity for all partners to 
use national and regional evidence to shape the 
new SPF so that it aligns with all strategies and 
funding steams and is directed at national and 
regional priorities. Use past experience to rethink 
and carefully design what the SPF will do, how it is 
managed, allocated, delivered, and monitored so 
that it is simple, fit for purpose, efficient and not 
unduly onerous.

The real opportunity lies in addressing the 
inequalities in Northern Ireland and between 
Northern Ireland and other parts of the UK and as 
with other regions, to build on strengths, enhance 
productivity, and embrace green growth and the 
opportunity presented by its border with the EU 
single market.

Page 245



EU Successor Funding in Northern Ireland: 
Position Paper for SOLACE NI

Executive Summary

8

A new approach
The means by which the Shared Prosperity Fund 
will be managed and delivered is as important as 
the finance available. There is an opportunity to 
move away from the Structural Fund programme 
approach and its limitations, to more effective 
arrangements, which take account of how 
partnerships and policy have evolved over the  
last EU programme period in Northern Ireland.

The principles set out in the table below should be 
viewed as an integrated package of measures that 
work as a whole, rather than a menu of options.

Principles and recommendations for a new approach in Northern Ireland

Principle Commentary
National 
Framework

UKSPF should set a national framework defining high level strategic direction, objectives and priorities and 
alignment with UK strategies.

Regional and 
sub-regional 
priority setting

There must be a commitment and processes at regional level to set strategic priorities. These should be 
developed in partnership and based on an evidence-based assessment of need.
At a sub-regional level, there must be scope to identify and invest in activities that will address local priorities and 
reflect the local context. This must be an underpinning principle that all stakeholders sign up to. Ownership of 
sub-regional funded activities should rest with local partners.

Outcomes 
based

Progress and achievements should be measured as outcomes and impacts, rather than activities and outputs.
KPIs should be set that capture progress as well as final outcomes e.g. progress towards employment.

Flexible, single 
pot

There must be an assumption of trust so that monies can be disbursed with as few restrictions as possible, 
balanced with the right degree of scrutiny.
Monies should be provided in Northern Ireland with no restrictions on capital and revenue allocations or 
prescriptive allocations by theme. Spend should be based on identified need and a holistic approach covering, 
for example, investment in skills, business support, infrastructure, innovation and so forth. 
There should be a strategic approach to spend, combing all available funding sources to maximise value for 
money.
Business support (including social enterprises) should be business-led and include support to invest in the 
workforce, in equipment, in processes, as well as advice, and specialist business development support. 

Maximum 
devolution of 
management 
and delivery

Northern Ireland should work towards devolving management and delivery to sub-regions where there is 
sufficient capacity and capabilities.
For some activities, there will be a rationale for clusters of areas and partnerships who could act as intermediate 
bodies, and a regional approach with flexibility for distinctive local need.
Where appropriate, the approaches used successfully through the city and growth deals could be replicated.

Attitude to risk Being overly risk averse can inhibit impacts and limits the opportunity to test and learn from new and innovative 
approaches.
SPF at UK and regional levels should set an attitude to risk that allows for innovation and moves away from 
simply funding ‘more of the same’.

Fit for purpose 
systems and 
processes that 
are actively 
used

Management, appraisal, monitoring and verification processes should be fit for purpose, not overly complex 
and proportionate to the level of funding and scale of activities. They should be used to review and drive 
performance.
Additional layers and processes should not be added over time unless there is a clear rationale and 
demonstration of added value.
Management and monitoring systems and processes should be, as far as possible, harmonised with those of 
other funds and their activities. This will make for a more efficient use of project management and administration 
time and generate consistent data.

Page 246



EU Successor Funding in Northern Ireland: 
Position Paper for SOLACE NI

Executive Summary

9

These recommendations are set within the context 
of the role that the SPF will play in Northern 
Ireland’s economic development and the emerging 
strategies of the NI Executive and the developing 
Programme for Government. The principles and 
recommendations set out here would make SPF in 
Northern Ireland more effective and efficient than 
the current EU Structural Fund Programme.

The evidence sitting behind this Position Paper 
has been prepared through detailed research 
and extensive engagement with a wide range of 
organisations with regional and sub-regional remits. 
This ethos of co-production should continue. 

Page 247



BCC 0858

Page 248



 

 

STRATEGIC POLICY & RESOURCES COMMITTEE 

 

 

 

 

Subject: 

 
 
Update on Community Planning Partnership  
 
 

Date: 20th November 2020 

Reporting Officer: John Tully, Director of City and Organisational Strategy 

Contact Officers: 
Christine Robinson, Strategy Policy and Partnerships Manager 

Jamie Uprichard, Community Planning Officer 

 

 

Restricted Reports     

Is this report restricted? Yes  No  

If Yes, when will the report become unrestricted?                                                    

After Committee Decision     

After Council Decision     

Sometime in the future     

Never     
 

 

Call-in     

 
Is the decision eligible for Call-in?                                                  
 

Yes  No  

 
 
 

1.0 Purpose of Report 

1.1 This report provides the Committee with an update on the recent meeting of the Belfast 

Community Planning Partnership held on 27th October. 

 

2.0 Recommendation 

2.1 The Committee is asked to note the key areas of work currently being progressed by the 

Community Planning Partnership (CPP), as outlined in the attached note of the CPP meeting 

 

 X 

 

 

 

 

X   

Page 249

Agenda Item 4f



 

 

 

3.0 Main Report  

 

3.1 

 

 

 

 

 

3.2 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

3.3 

 

 

 

 

 

 

3.4 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Background 

The Belfast CPP (Strategic Board), chaired by the Council’s Chief Executive, comprises the 

Council and its Community Planning Partners including a range of statutory and support partner 

organisations, including VCSE and business sectors.   The Partnership’s strategic level board 

provides joint oversight and leadership for the community planning process in the city, and for the 

delivery of the Belfast Agenda with partners.  

 

Focused work on progressing action plans and their delivery is jointly managed with partners 

through 4 delivery sub Boards, namely: 

 

- Growing the Economy and City Development Board 

- Living Here Board 

- Working & Learning Board 

- Resilience & Sustainability Board. 

 

Belfast City Council is currently represented on the Partnership (at strategic board level) by the 

Chair of the Strategic Policy and Resources Committee, along with Elected Members nominated 

from each party (who are also members of an internal Council Community Planning Working 

Group), and the Council’s Chief Executive, who chairs CPP meetings. 

 

Belfast Community Planning Partnership meeting 27th October 2020 

 

Following the postponement of a scheduled CPP meeting in March 2020 due to the Covid 

pandemic, the Community Planning Partnership met in an online meeting format on Tuesday 27 

October 2020. This was therefore an especially important meeting at a crucial time in the 

community planning process, particularly in light of the Covid-19 impacts on the city and the 

publication of Council’s Recovery Framework. A summary note of the meeting, outlining the items 

discussed and the decisions taken, is attached. Important points for Members to note from the 

discussion include: 

 

i) Aligning focus on city recovery from Covid-19 alongside longer term Belfast 

Agenda Outcomes 

 

 

Page 250



 

 

3.5 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

3.6 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

3.7 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Partners were briefed on the evolving context for City Recovery, including the Council’s recent 

work to develop the Belfast: Our Recovery Framework. The Partnership agreed to progress key 

city priorities through the Delivery Boards and relevant task groups. Members will recognise that 

many of these areas of focus reflect the Belfast Agenda priorities that were previously identified 

for immediate focus in the Statement of Progress published by Council in November 2019. These 

key areas of work are now being adapted to take account of the impacts and new context due to 

the Covid-19 Pandemic i.e: 

 

 Health inequalities – including drugs, alcohol and mental health, and work to address 

excess winter deaths (Warm and well programme) 

 Educational inequalities 

 Employability and skills 

 Neighbourhood regeneration – including focus on local area planning and engagement 

to support community recovery 

 Housing 

 Sustainability and resilience, including addressing climate challenge 

 Creating a shared, safe and inclusive city, including development of an inclusive growth 

city charter 

 

ii) Enhancing Partner involvement in the Community Planning Partnership 

 

Partners agreed that the Partnership’s Delivery Boards should adopt a Co-Chair model to build 

the sense of co-ownership and collaborative working at all levels of the Partnership. This model 

has to date been adopted by the Resilience and Sustainability Board, and will now be considered 

by the other Boards for adoption going forwards. 

 

iii) Establishment of new Voluntary, Community and Social Enterprise Sectoral 

Advisory Panel 

 

The Partnership received an update from the Chair (Irene Sherry) and Vice Chair (Jim Girvan) of 

the newly established VCSe Sectoral Advisory Panel, noting the work, commitment and 

contribution of the Panel to date, and in particular the Panel’s plans to build engagement across 

the city’s VCSE sectors in the near future. Plans for the VCSe Panel’s upcoming Community 

Conference on 30th November, titled 'Putting Community Wellbeing at the Heart of Community 

Planning' were outlined and Partners were encouraged to support this online event. Both the 

VCSe Panel and Community Planning Partners present at the meeting stressed the importance 

Page 251



 

 

 

 

 

 

3.8 

 

 

 

 

 

 

3.9 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

3.10 

 

 

 

 

 

3.11 

of the VCSe Panel and wider sector engagement model as key to the success of the city’s 

community planning process, and ensuring inclusive involvement of communities in the future. 

 

City recovery from Covid and refresh of Belfast Agenda 

 

Members will be aware of the Councils recently published Belfast: Our Recovery framework, 

setting out Council’s proposed areas of focus for driving economic, social/community and 

environmental recovery over the next 1-2 years. While this framework does not replace other key 

city strategies (such as the Belfast Agenda) it is helping to frame engagement with partners and 

communities as we review our plans, to bring focus to what is needed to help the city recover and 

move forward. 

 

Members should note that the Belfast Agenda will be updated and refreshed during 2021, to 

reflect the current city context, and to set an updated framework of priorities and shared goals for 

collective focus of city partners. This will build on the planned early engagement with communities 

due to take place over the next few months. Members will be engaged in this process as it 

develops in early 2021. 

 

Financial and Resource Implications 

 

There are no direct financial implication arising from this report. Costs associated with the 

implementation and facilitation of the Community Planning Partnership are currently being met 

within existing council budgets. 

   

Equality or Good Relations Implications/Rural Needs Assessment 

 

There are no direct equality implications contained in this report.   

4.0 Document Attached 

 Note of the Belfast Community Planning Partnership meeting of 27th October. 

 

 

Page 252



Belfast Community Planning Partnership 

 

1 
 

Tuesday 27th October 2020, 2pm – 4pm 

via MS Teams  
 

NOTE OF MEETING 
1. Welcome 
 

Cllr Christina Black, Chair of SP&R Committee welcomed the Community Planning Partnership to the call. Belfast Community 

Planning Partnership (CPP) Chair, Suzanne Wylie welcomed all partners to the meeting and outlined the main agenda items.  

 

2. Chair’s Business 
 

Suzanne Wylie set the context for the meeting, noting the following: 

i) Meeting introduction : 

 Acknowledged last meeting (March 2020) was cancelled due to Covid-19,  but also highlighted that significant 

partnership working has been ongoing through the Covid response phase – through Emergency planning and other 

partnership structures in the city. 

 The CPPs delivery Boards have been meeting over recent months to consider the emerging impacts and priorities for 

partners, with a view to beginning to understand what the Partnership’s priorities need to be over the coming 

months and beyond. This will be important as the Partnership seeks to build recovery as a city from adverse impacts 

on the economy and communities.  

 Whilst acknowledging the significant impact of the Covid-19 pandemic on Belfast, important to recognise the 

potential opportunities presented in recovery – it will be vital to accelerate and maximise the impact of recovery as 

much as possible, so that our residents and businesses feel this impact as soon as possible. 

 Updated that the new Voluntary Community and Social Enterprise (VCSE) Sectoral advisory Panel is now in place. 

Welcome was extended to new members (VCSE representatives) Irene Sherry (VCSE Sectoral Panel Chair) and Jim 

Girvan (VCSE Sectoral Panel Vice Chair). Suzanne Wylie along with the other Chairperson of the Belfast Agenda 

Delivery Board Chairs had met with all the VCSE Panel on Tuesday last week, noting the enthusiasm and desire to 

bring the sector’s voice and input to make a real contribution and impact. 
 

ii) Note on re-positioning the CPP 

 Recognising progress of the Boards and establishment of the new VCSE panel, it was highlighted there is a need re-

invigorate the role of the CPP strategic group. Proposal was made that going forward CPP meetings should be 

focused on taking strategic decisions and tasking of boards / working groups with activity/action or areas for 

development.  

 A proposal to introduce a Co-chair model for the Delivery sub-Boards was suggested, to strengthen partnership 

working at Board level, noting the example of the Resilience & Sustainability Board which appointed Co-chairs at an 

early stage.  

 The CPP acknowledged the vacant Chairperson role on the Living Here Board, following Nigel Grimshaw’s departure 

from Belfast City Council. It was proposed that Ryan Black, Director of Neighbourhood Services take on this role on 

an interim basis for the Board’s next meeting, in advance of the Board identifying a new Chair/Co-Chairs. 

 The CPP also acknowledged that Grainia Long, Belfast Resilience Commissioner, and Chair of the Resilience and 

Sustainability Board is leaving the Council to take up a new role as Chief Executive of the NI Housing Executive.  
 

ACTIONS AGREED/NEXT STEPS: 

 Partners agreed the proposal for a Co-Chair model and tasked the Boards to consider further/implement; 

 Partners agreed proposal for Ryan Black to take on role of Interim Chair of Living Here Board; 

 Partners agreed the proposal for the Resilience & Sustainability Board discuss and consider future Chairperson role 

at their next meeting. 

 

Page 253



Belfast Community Planning Partnership 

 

2 
 

iii) Recovery Planning 

 Suzanne Wylie highlighted the challenging context of adverse economic and social impact facing the city due to Covid-

19, noting the need for partners to continue to work together and plan how services respond to changing 

circumstances in the immediate term but also to be planning ahead for recover. Key focus for the Partnership will be to 

work together with communities, to ensure Belfast recovers as quickly and as effectively, with as much impact for 

people as possible.  

 Suzanne Wylie highlighted the Council’s work to consider impacts on the city, and the Council’s commitment to 

support those citizens, communities and businesses during these challenging times as set out in the Belfast Our 

Recovery framework published by the Council. This sets out where Council consider the city’s focus needs to be over 

the coming months and beyond. This framework will help frame our work partners, both in delivering key interventions, 

but also to inform upcoming reviews of shared city plans, including the Belfast Agenda over the next year. 

 Key element of this work to plan for recovery is a strong commitment to work with communities and engage citizens 

and the community sector, as well as businesses and others in planning recovery at community level.  

 Building on work that has been discussed at the Living Here Board and here at the CPP on several occasions at previous 

meetings, this will be taken forward through the work being brought forward to co-design/develop with partners and 

local areas,  4x Area plans for North, South, East and West of the city. Initial focus will be on what is needed to help 

communities recover (social, economic, environmental) from Covid- focusing on local priorities. 

 In advance of this process Belfast City Council will be doing some online public engagement via a new online platform 

before Christmas. This will create opportunities for citizens and other stakeholders including CVS, businesses to get 

involved in sharing ideas and discussions about what is important in their area for recovery. BCC team has already 

engaging community sector partners, including the new VCSE Panel to develop the approach. 

 

ACTIONS AGREED/NEXT STEPS:   

 Partners agreed to establish a joint working group (report in via the Living Here Board) to take forward the work on 

Area Planning (Belfast City Council Community Planning team to issue an invitation following this meeting to partners 

to seek participation in this group). 
 

 

4. Employability NI 
 

Colum Boyle, Deputy Secretary, DfC and Deirdre Ward, Director of Work & Wellbeing Division DfC presented an update 

on DfC’s Employability NI initiative including Local Inclusive Labour Market Partnerships (LILMPs) and how these might work 

in Belfast, drawing attention to the following key points: 

 Partners were asked to commit to a project on ‘demand / workforce planning’, linking Long Term Unemployed / 

economically inactive to opportunities and jobs (key partners likely to include BHSCT and Belfast Harbour).  This 

was previously looked at under W&L Board and will be revisited, ensuring all partners engage (looking at both job 

vacancies and other opportunities e.g. work placements). While the current focus is on lower skilled / inactive, there 

is also a need to look at opportunities for higher skilled vacancies and consider how pathways can be built to those 

opportunities for those with lower skills levels at present.  

 Several sectors have continued to recruit even in recent months, e.g. social care/ healthcare and logistics. It was 

agreed to target the sectors that we know are likely to have these opportunities and to build an understanding of the 

scale / timeframes etc.  

 Ongoing engagement is required with providers in the community/ voluntary and private sectors – ensuring that they 

were aware of what was happening but ensuring that they were engaged as appropriate and not involved in strategic 

level discussions where there may be conflicts of interest.  

 Insights – key partners include DfC’s Analytical Services Unit and QUB (who have been working with the council on 

employability insights to date).   

The group were also informed that QUB, in partnership with DfE have designed 8 postgrad qualifications for people who have 

been furloughed or lost their job due to COVID that may want to reskill. 

Page 254



Belfast Community Planning Partnership 

 

3 
 

It was suggested that in order to have maximum impact and considering the challenges ahead, that the proposed work by DfC 

on employability is aligned to DfE’s work on skills. In order to address the current challenges, DfE is supporting over 3,000 

free places on fully-accredited short courses, delivered by the local further and higher education providers. The courses are 

open to those who have been impacted by coronavirus to help them retrain and improve their skills. 

 

ACTIONS TAKEN/NEXT STEPS: 

 Partners agreed the proposal to establish the Employability NI initiative and Local Inclusive Labour Mark Partnership 

model and align with community planning structure in Belfast.   

 Partners also agreed  

o To consider the request to provide representation to an HR officer task and finish group which will collate a 

workforce planning exercise 

o To identify any data sources they hold which could be used to inform the Labour Market Intelligence; and  

o That the Employability NI initiative should commence stakeholder engagement in Belfast by attending a 

future meeting of the VCSE Sectoral Advisory Panel. 

 

5. Educational Underachievement  
 

John Unsworth, Education Authority and Chair of Education Inequalities Subgroup provided an update on the current context 

with the educational sector and schools’ recovery. This included an update on the focus of the Educational Inequalities 

Subgroup and the commitment required from partners: 

 Data Development Agenda - DE, EA reps to meet with QUB to identify opportunities to address data gaps and 

provide analysis and insight that can inform future programming. 

 Definition of Specific Interventions/Opportunities - The next meeting of the EI Subgroup will be convened in the 

coming weeks. At this meeting partners will be asked to consider and agree specific opportunities and interventions 

(short, medium and long term) for improving educational attainment. Partners were asked to bring ideas to the 

meeting and to consider how they can practically support and resource emerging initiatives.  

 

ACTIONS TAKEN/NEXT STEPS: 

 Partners agreed to:  

o endorse the recommendations as set out, including the development and implementation of specific 

programmes and interventions to address educational attainment challenges; as well as supporting data 

development agenda to inform future interventions; and 

o the programme of work EA Subgroup  sub-group to be taken forward via the Working & Learning Board. 

 

6. Drugs, Alcohol and Mental Health  
 

Gary McMichael (joint chair of Belfast Drug and Alcohol Co-ordination Team and Chief Executive of ASCERT) presented to 

the Partnership making a number of observations and recommendations including:  

 The Strategic Leadership Group, comprising executive representation from a range of partners who has a direct or 

indirect role, to provide oversight of this work, reporting back to the CPP.   

 Commitment was sought for key partners’ involvement.  An operational subgroup would be formed to develop and 

support the delivery of a resourced action plan – a copy of which will be circulate to partners, and that a resourced 

action plan would be developed and circulated to partners.   

 CPP consideration and commitment to adopting a ‘complex lives’ approach similar to the approach adopted in 

Doncaster, whereby an interagency approach would be taken to support vulnerable people who may be affected by a 

range of issues impacting upon health and emotional wellbeing. The intention would be to develop an integrated 

Belfast action plan and work towards joint planning, pooled or coordinated commissioning/ funding and agreeing 

shared outcomes and measures of success. 

Page 255



Belfast Community Planning Partnership 

 

4 
 

 Potential support from colleagues from the Doncaster Complex Lives Alliance to support our work and act as a 

critical friend and input into our work.   

 

ACTIONS TAKEN/NEXT STEPS: 

Partners agreed to: 

 Endorse recommendations that Strategic Leadership Group provide oversight of this work and report back to CPP. 

 Operational Subgroup to be formed with representation from partners.    

 Adopt the complex lives model – whole system approach, and develop an integrated Belfast Action Plan 

 

7. Warm & Well Programme 
 

Iain Deboys, Health and Social Care Board, and Chair of Belfast Healthy Ageing Strategic Partnership presented an update on 

the ‘Warm and Well’ Programme summarising: 

 The evaluation of Phase 1 and recommendations for Phase II.  

 Implementation of Phase 2 of programme (extending specific focus into South and East Belfast), seeking specific 

support from partners to deliver phase 2 and to utilise community assets.  

 Seeking to mainstream elements of the programme and help inform emerging strategies, programmes and 

interventions e.g. Energy Strategy, Fuel Poverty Strategy, Affordable Warmth Scheme etc.   

 Key messaging for engagement in engaging with departments including the unique opportunity to enhance alignment 

with government policy / strategy around including: 

 Energy – The Department for Economy has begun the process of developing a new energy strategy to de-

carbonise the Northern Ireland energy sector by 2050 at least cost to the consumer. 

 Fuel Poverty – The Department for Communities are developing a new Fuel Poverty Strategy which will seek to 

support vulnerable people through direct support and interventions to increase energy efficiency in our homes.  

 Belfast Resilience Strategy – significant focus on climate mitigation and adoption and more to low carbon 

economy. Key area of focus identified is improving the energy efficiency of existing and new housing stock and 

moving to a low carbon housing stock. This will not only support environmental recovery but also support 

vulnerable people e.g. fuel poverty. 

 

Partners welcomed the focus on considering the multiple determinants which impact upon vulnerable people and the need for 

a whole-system and streamlined approach to identifying those at risk and bringing together the range of services to support 

those who may be vulnerable and improve health and wellbeing.   

 

ACTIONS TAKEN/NEXT STEPS: 

Partners were asked to: 

 Review policies to align with the Policy Ask; 

 Help identify the vulnerable through their frontline teams – information and support available to assist partners 

 Communicate the messages that:  

o Cold homes are a danger to health  

o Support is available through a single number  

o The flu vaccination is important for those at risk 

 

8. Growing the Economy & City Development Priorities 
 

John Greer, Belfast City Council’s Director of Economic Development provided an update on proposed priority areas of 

focus for the Growing the Economy and City Development Board, identified following a workshop and subsequent 

engagements with Partners. Proposed areas of focus included: 

 Housing; 

Page 256



Belfast Community Planning Partnership 

 

5 
 

 Enterprise & Business Growth; 

 Supporting tourism, arts, entertainment and hospitality; 

 Access, Connectivity & Active Travel; and 

 Future City Centre Programme. 

Cathy Reynolds, Director of City Regeneration and Development provided an update on housing outlining a proposed approach 

for bringing forward a programme of work around housing and delivering the growth ambitions set out within the Belfast 

Agenda.  

The identification of housing as a priority for the Partnership was welcomed, especially considering the linkages across the 

Belfast Agenda. It was recognised that there was an abundance of activity and a dedicated delivery group would be helpful to 

pull it together in a coherent way for the city. The group were informed that planning was underway for the 2021 House 

Condition Survey which would provide important evidence to tackle energy efficiency and decarbonisation in the city’s 

housing stock.   

 

Lisa Toland, Senior Manager, Economy at Belfast City Council highlighted the ongoing development of the Enterprise 

Framework, seeking partners input to ongoing design and agreement that the Board shapes its design and delivery going 

forward.  

 

ACTIONS TAKEN/NEXT STEPS 

Partners agreed: 

 the recommended priorities for the Growing the Economy and City Development (GtE&CD) Board; 

 that the GtE&CD Board should take a lead role in driving forward the programme of work around housing and 

supporting the wider population growth ambitions whilst linking across all the Belfast Agenda boards to ensure wider 

opportunities are delivered;  

 that a reconfigured Delivery Group (under GtE&CD Board) will be formed to develop, oversee and drive 

implementation of specific programmes of work; and 

 the GtE&CD Board to identify opportunities to maximise collaboration between the public and private sectors to 

help deliver on the ambitious targets of the Belfast Agenda.  

 

9. Draft Resilience Strategy 

 

Grainia Long, Belfast Resilience Commissioner, and Chair of Resilience and Sustainability Board provided a summary of the 

Belfast Resilience Strategy, updating the Partnership on the revised strategy document and its planned launch, scheduled 

for December 2020.   

 

ACTIONS TAKEN/NEXT STEPS: 

Partners agreed to 

 Endorse the Belfast Resilience Strategy; and  

 Note the request for Partners to lend support to the work programme of the Belfast Resilience and Sustainability 

Board as it enters the delivery phase by integrating with existing and forthcoming programmes and projects.  

 

10. Next Steps / Close 

 

Suzanne Wylie thanked everyone for attending and for the contributions made by all presenters. Partners welcomed 

progression on a number of fronts and recommended the need to increase communicate to the general public and community 

planning partners. 

It was agreed that slides and action based note of the meeting would be circulated to all partners. 

The next meeting of the CPP has been scheduled for Wednesday 3rd February 2021 at 2pm. 

 

Page 257



Belfast Community Planning Partnership 

 

6 
 

Attendance List: 

Name Organisation 

Statutory Community Planning Partner organisations 

Suzanne Wylie (Chairperson) Belfast City Council 

Cllr Aine Groogan Belfast City Council 

Cllr Stevie Corr Belfast City Council 

Cllr John Kyle Belfast City Council 

Cllr Mal O’Hara Belfast City Council 

Cllr Tina Black Belfast City Council 

Cllr Sarah Bunting Belfast City Council 

Cllr Kate Nicholl Belfast City Council 

Ailbhe Hickey NI Housing Executive 

Alan McKeown Invest NI 

Bryan Nelson Belfast Health & Social Care Trust 

Iain Deboys Health and Social Care Board 

Jim O’Hagan Libraries NI 

John News Sport NI 

John Unsworth Education Authority 

Jonathan Gamble NI Fire and Rescue Service 

Majella Corrigan Council for Catholic Maintained Schools 

Martin Graham Tourism NI 

Robert Clements NI Housing Executive 

Support Partner organisations 

Irene Sherry VCSE Sectoral Advisory Panel 

Jim Girvan VCSE Sectoral Advisory Panel 

Alastair Stewart Queens University Belfast 

Damien Duffy Belfast Metropolitan College 

Geraldine McAteer West Belfast Partnership 

Gerry Lennon Visit Belfast   

Helen Crickard Forward South Partnership 

Maurice Kincaid EastSide Partnership 

Nicola Verner Greater Shankill Partnership 

Seamus McAleavy NICVA 

Simon Hamilton Belfast Chamber of Commerce 

NI Government Departments 

Anthony Carleton Department for Communities 

Colum Boyle Department for Communities 

Deirdre Ward  Department for Communities 

Page 258



Belfast Community Planning Partnership 

 

7 
 

Also In Attendance 

Gary McMichael (BDACT and Ascert) 

John Tully (Belfast City Council, Director of City and Organisational Strategy) 

John Greer (Belfast City Council, Director of Economic Development) 

Ryan Black (Belfast City Council, Director of Neighbourhood Services) 

Grainia Long (Belfast City Council, Commissioner for Resilience) 

Christine Robinson (Belfast City Council, Policy Strategy and Partnerships) 

David Cuthbert (Belfast City Council, Community Planning) 

Jamie Uprichard (Belfast City Council, Community Planning) 

Kevin Heaney (Belfast City Council, Portfolio Management) 

Brian Carr (Belfast City Council, Portfolio Co-ordinator) 

Clare Mullen (Belfast City Council, Portfolio Co-ordinator) 

Richard McLernon (Belfast City Council, Commissioner for Resilience Office) 

Cathy Keenan (Belfast City Council, Economic Development) 

Sinead O’Regan (Belfast City Council, Economic Development) 

Tony Kearns (Belfast City Council, Economic Development) 

Lisa Toland (Belfast City Council, Economic Development) 

Cathy Reynolds (Belfast City Council, City Regeneration & Development) 

Clare Hutchinson (Belfast City Council, Policy Strategy and Partnerships) 

Kelly Gilliland (Belfast City Council, City and Neighbourhood Services Department) 

 

 

 

Page 259



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 
STRATEGIC POLICY & RESOURCES COMMITTEE  
 
 
 
 
 

Subject: Update on Area Working  

Date: 20th November 2020 

Reporting Officer: Sinead Grimes, Director of Physical Programmes   

Contact Officer: Shauna Murtagh, Programme Manager 

 

Restricted Reports     

Is this report restricted? Yes  No  

If Yes, when will the report become unrestricted?                                                    

After Committee Decision     

After Council Decision     

Sometime in the future     

Never     

 

Call-in     

 
Is the decision eligible for Call-in?                                                  
 

Yes  No  

 

1.0 Purpose of Report or Summary of Main Issues 

1.1 To seek the Committee’s approval of the minutes of the most recent round of AWGs and any 

additional recommendations to this Committee arising from the meetings. 

2.0 Recommendations 

2.1 The Committee is asked to:  

 AWG Minutes - Approve the most recent round of AWG minutes (South – 26 October, 

West – 29 October, East – 5 November) as attached. 

 Physical Programme – Agree the recommendations on allocations under the BIF 

Programme from the South AWG to three projects as laid out below in 3.2. 

 X 
 

 

 

 

 

X   

Page 261

Agenda Item 5a



 Locality Planning - Agree the recommendation that the remaining budget in West Belfast 

is allocated to two projects as laid out below in 3.3. 

3.0 Main Report 

 

 

KEY ISSUES 

Area Working Group Minutes 

3.1 Members agreed in June 2016 that the Area Working Group minutes would be taken into the 

SP&R Committee for approval going forward, in line with the Council’s commitment to openness 

and transparency and to ensure a consistent approach with other Member-led Working Groups. 

Members are asked to approve the most recent round of AWG minutes (South – 26 October, 

West – 29 October, East – 5 November) as attached. 

 Project Updates 

3.2 South AWG - Members are asked to approve the following allocations as recommended by the 

AWG at its meeting on 26th October.  

BIF Programme 

Allocation of the ringfenced BIF allocation for projects within the Sandy Row area (£1.35m) that 

had been previously aligned to Gilpins to the following project proposals: 

 Café Culture project in partnership with Urban Villages,  

 Sandy Row Open Space project and; 

 BSCR IT Exam Centre project. 

 The AWG recommended that these three projects are added to the BIF Programme as Stage 

1 – Emerging. 

3.3 West AWG - Members are asked to note the following project updates and agree the 

movements as recommended by the AWG at its meeting on 29th October.  

BIF Programme 

Note the update provided on the Greater Shankill Community Council - Royal British Legion 

project proposal. 

Locality Planning Pilot Project 

Allocation of the remaining budgets within the Whiterock Locality Planning Pilot 

Project as follows: 

Project Group Amount 

Access to Hills Scoping Exercise Upper Springfield Development 
Trust 

£15,000 

Housing Social Innovation Scoping Falls Community Council £15,000 

 
 

Page 262



3.4 East AWG - Members are asked to note the following project updates as recommended by the 

AWG at its meeting on 5th November.  

BIF Programme 

 Lisnasharragh and Cregagh Community Schools project - Note the progress to date 

from the Education Authority and that the project can be progressed. 

 Castlereagh Presbyterian Church – Note the progress to date and that a report will be 

brought to a future meeting in relation other funding streams, project outcomes and 

community benefits and congregation fundraising towards the project. 

 Strand Arts Centre and Bloomfield Community Association – Note that an update report 

will be submitted to a future meeting to include details on when DfC can make a funding 

decision and other possible funding streams for both these projects. 

 

3.5 

Financial and Resource Implications 

Financial – BIF Programme – all projects already have in-principle ring-fenced allocations 

agreed by Committee 

Resources – Officer time in working with Groups 

 

3.6 

Equality or Good Relations Implications/ Rural Needs Assessment  

No implications 

4.0 Documents Attached 

 Minutes of the South, West and East Area Working Groups 

 

Page 263



This page is intentionally left blank



 
 
1 
 
 

South Belfast Area Working Group 
 

Monday, 26th October, 2020 
 

 
SPECIAL MEETING OF SOUTH BELFAST AREA WORKING GROUP 

 
 
 Members present: Councillor McAteer (Chairperson);  
  Councillors Bunting, Gormley, Groogan, 
  T. Kelly, McKeown, Nicholl and Spratt. 
  

In attendance:  Ms. S. Grimes, Director of Physical Programmes; 
 Mr. S. Leonard, Neighbourhood Services Manager; 
 Ms. D. Smith, Neighbourhood Services Integration  
   Manager;  
 Mr. M. Doherty, Project Manager; 
 Ms. S. Murtagh, Programme Manager; and 
 Mr. G. Graham, Democratic Services Assistant. 
 
 Also Attended: Dr. G. Busby, General Manager, (Belfast South 
   Community Resources) 

 Ms. L. Farrell, Programme Director of Urban Villages 
   and Communities in Transition; and 
  Mr. C. McGurk, Urban Villages and Communities in    
   Transition. 

 
 
 

Declarations of Interest 
 

 Councillor Kelly reported that her husband was a member of Belfast South 
Community Resources (B.S.C.R.).  The Director confirmed that a decision had been 
taken previously, by the Area Working Group, in respect of an overall funding allocation 
for the area which had been endorsed by the Strategic Policy and Resources Committee. 
She stated further that, as the Working Group was being asked to consider projects within 
the original allocation of funds, it was considered therefore that, under those 
circumstances, there was no conflict of interest in respect of the Member. 
 
        Site Visit to Sandy Row 
 
 The Democratic Services Assistant reminded the Working Group that, at its 
previous meeting, it had considered undertaking a site visit to the Sandy Row area in 
order to view the development proposals under consideration for that area. The Working 
Group agreed that, since it was being provided with a presentation on those proposals 
and the fact that Covid-19 restrictions had been enhanced since its last meeting, it would 
no longer be appropriate, or safe, to undertake the aforementioned site visit. 
 

Update on Sandy Row Projects 
 

 The Director provided the Working Group with an overview of B.I.F. funding which 
had been agreed previously in June 2012 regarding the allocation of £1.35m in respect 

Page 265



 
 

 
 
2 
 
 

of the Gilpin’s Project. She stated that as that project was no longer viable, due to the 
lands being sold, it had been agreed by the Area Working Group and the Strategic Policy 
and Resources Committee that the original allocation of funds would be ring-fenced to 
other projects within the Sandy Row area. 
 
 The Director referred to a number of emerging development proposals in relation 
to the Sandy Row area, including the Open Spaces and Sensory Garden projects. She 
referred also to the Coffee Culture and Social Enterprise projects, delivered in partnership 
with Urban Villages and which incorporated ‘’Wee Ruby’s’’  as part of that development 
proposal. The Director stated that the Council was involved already with the Coffee 
Culture project and that it had invested £100,000 provided under the Social Outcomes 
Fund (S.O.F.)  The Members were informed that they would be provided with an update 
on the Exam Centre proposal undertaken by Belfast South Community Resources 
(B.S.C.R.) 
 
 The Project Manager provided the Working Group with a detailed map, outlining 
the proposed development plans for the Sandy area in respect of the Open Spaces 
project. He referred to a specific area of work which was included within the proposal, 
including the identification of pedestrian connections, the removal and replacement of 
neglected fencing including, amongst other things, the creation of green spaces and bio-
diversity enhancements. The Members were provided with an overview of how the area 
would potentially look like, after the development of the area was completed and informed 
that the approximate cost associated with the development proposal was £344,000. 
 
 In response to a question from a Member, in respect to the current stage of the 
project, the Director stated that the Working Group was being asked to consider that the 
development be agreed as an emerging project and, if endorsed, would proceed to a 
consultation stage with local residents, stakeholders and community organisations. 
 
 The Urban Villages Programme Director highlighted a number of investments, 
both long and short term, which was being proposed for the Sandy Row area, including 
some projects which had already been invested by Urban Villages. She reported that the 
investment total in the area, to date, was approximately £550,000 and included Blythfield 
Playing Fields, the Eco-Garden at Blythfield Primary School, an outdoor classroom 
including, amongst other things, an indoor parent meeting space and enhancements to 
the school entrance. 
 
Cafe Culture Training Café 
 
 The Working Group was informed that the Café Culture project had been 
promoted by B.S.C.R and would require the purchase and re-development of a derelict 
building, as part of the project proposal. The Members were informed that the project 
included also the development of private let apartments which would be located above 
the cafe and that the estimated cost of the development proposal was approximately 
£988,000, of which the Council had committed expenditure to the value of £100,000. The 
Working Group was informed that the project currently had a deficit in its funding to the 
value of £387,000, and that the Council was being asked to make an additional 
contribution towards that funding deficit. 
 
 The Ulster Villages Programme Director referred to a number of benefits which 
would emanate from the development proposal, including hands-on employability training 
and work-based training programmes. She highlighted the prospect of undertaking 
shared events and the potential to undertake cultural awareness training. The Members 

Page 266



 
 

 
 
3 
 
 

were informed of the potential for the café to be a hub for Community integration in the 
area and to provide a tourism stop for such events as, historical walking tours.  In relation 
to the development of the private apartments, she stated that the occupancy of the 
apartments would assist with the issue of vacancy and dereliction and that the café would 
provide a central focal point, inhibiting such issues as social exclusion. 
 
 The Director confirmed that the Council was acting as the delivery agent for the 
projects referred to and had been working closely with Urban Villages on the Café Culture 
project, which was at a more advanced stage than the other development proposals 
referred to. She stated that the Council had allocated £100,000, in principle, subject to 
other factors, including a due diligence exercise being undertaken. In response to a 
question from a Member, she confirmed that the Working Group was being asked to 
consider funding the project deficit from the B.I.F. fund allocation of £1.35m. She stated 
also that the Members might wish to agree funding, in principle, in respect of the Open 
Spaces proposal and agree to add this as an emerging project.  
 
 It was 
 
 Moved by Councillor Bunting 
 Seconded by Councillor Kelly and 
 

 Resolved - That the Area Working agree to meet the funding deficit in 
regard to the Café Culture project as outlined, out of the ring-fenced B.I.F. 
allocation for projects, within the Sandy Row area. 

 
 The Working Group agreed also to allocate funding, in principle, to the Open 
Spaces development proposal, out of the ring-fenced B.I.F. allocation for projects, within 
the Sandy Row area. 
 
 Mr. McGurk stated that it was hoped to have approval of the business case, in 
respect of the Cafe Culture project, within the next two weeks and a subsequent letter of 
offer to the Council, as the delivery partner, prior to the appointment of a design team. 
 
Belfast South Community Resources (B.S.C.R.) 
 
 Dr. Busby provided the Working Group with an overview in regard to the 
background and establishment of B.S.C.R.  He stated that B.S.C.R. had been established 
in 1997 as a volunteer group and had now a compliment of twelve employed staff, within 
its own premises. He provided an outline of the key objectives of that organisation 
including, amongst other things, to tackle educational under-achievement and barriers to 
reduce skills deficit for young people, thereby making them more attractive to the labour 
market. He referred to other key aims including, dealing with ant-social problems, 
economic decline and physical dereliction in the Sandy Row area. 
 
 Dr. Busby stated that B.S.C.R. had been funded under Economic Renewal and 
provided the Working Group with an overview of the outcomes attributed to B.S.C.R. 
since its creation. He referred specifically to the number of people, in the previous year, 
who had gained employment, including the numbers provided with career advice. He 
referred to the support given by that group to a number of local businesses, including the 
number of individuals who had attained formal qualifications through its education 
programme. 
 

Page 267



 
 

 
 
4 
 
 

 The Members were advised of some of the social enterprises undertaken by that 
group including, the sourcing and distribution of food parcels. He referred to the cross-
community work undertaken as part of the Transitions Project, working with eight schools 
on such topics as mindfulness and a G.C.S.E. support programme. He referred also to 
the work undertaken in partnership, with other city-wide organisations. 
 
 Dr. Busby referred to the need for young people in the area to enhance their I.T. 
skills to allow them to compete for jobs which were available in, for example, the Weaver’s 
Court commercial complex. He highlighted also the possibility of the South Belfast area 
becoming a future digital hub.  Dr, Busby specified the close links which B.S.C.R. had 
formed with ‘’Jam Media’’ and the success attained by the Exam Centre, in the delivery 
of formal qualifications, on behalf of a range of external organisations.  He stated that the 
Exam Centre had provided local employment, within Sandy Row, and that its profits had 
been directed back to B.S.C.R. to permit future investment opportunities to be 
undertaken.  
 
 The Members were informed that the success of the Exam Centre, in securing 
additional clients, had created a capacity issue and referred to the possibility of extending 
the Exam Centre by utilising two vacant shop units, situated below the current premises. 
He stated that the Exam Centre was a self-funding social enterprise and that profits 
generated were invested back into the community.  Dr. Busby informed the Working 
Group that the future expansion of the exam centre had been calculated at approximately 
£100,000. 
 
 A Member referred to the activities of B.S.C.R. in its attempts to deal with the 
issue of dereliction in the Sandy Row area and of its social enterprise credentials since 
its formation, in 1997. Dr. Busby highlighted the cross-community work which that 
organisation had undertaken with St. Malachy’s school, in regard to its M.B.A. 
programme. The Area Working Group paid tribute to the work undertaken by B.S.C.R. in 
its endeavours to enhance the development and employment prospects for people, within 
the Sandy Row Community. 
 
 The external representatives from Urban Villages and B.S.C.R. left the meeting 
to permit the Area Working Group to consider the development proposals as presented. 
 
 The Area Working Group considered the proposals as presented.  The Director 
confirmed that the Council was not being asked to fund the ‘’Wee Ruby’s’’ Social 
Enterprise Project’’ which was being taken forward by Urban Villages. She recommended 
however that, if the Area Working Group agreed to add the Exam Centre proposal as a 
Stage 1- Emerging Project, this would allow officers to work up the proposal in further 
detail. She recommended also that the Coffee Culture and Open Spaces proposal be 
added as Stage 1 - Emerging Projects, in line with the three stage approval process 
  
 After detailed discussion, it was 
. 
 Proposed by Councillor Spratt  
 Seconded by Councillor Kelly and 

  
Resolved - That the Open Spaces Strategy, Coffee Culture and Exam 
Centre projects, be permitted to progress as Stage 1- Emerging Projects. 
 

 The Director agreed further to provide regular updates, to the Working Group, on 
the progress of the relevant projects. 

Page 268



 
 

 
 
5 
 
 

  
 

ILAB Update 
 

 The Neighbourhood Services Manager reminded the Working Group that, at the 
Special meeting of the People and Communities Committee in 2019, the Lower Ormeau 
and wider University area had been designated as, a special action area, under 
Community Planning.  He stated that it had been agreed that, the Council would engage 
with relevant stakeholder and external organisations, in order to assist with the re-
generation of that area.  He informed the Members that the Department for Communities 
(DfC) had agreed to fund an I.L.A.B. to assist with the identification of problems, including, 
opportunities to regenerate the area referred to as being a special action area. 
 
 The Members were informed that it was the intention of the I.L.A.B. team to meet 
with the Working Group in order to agree what actions the Council considered to be a 
priority for the area and the actions which required to be undertaken, as part of that 
process. The Neighbourhood Services Manager provided the Working Group with 
information in respect of the I.L.A.B. structure and the processes involved to achieve the 
desired outcomes for the area.  He referred to the fact that the process was independent, 
to ensure that all relevant stakeholders could participate and engage with the programme. 
 
 The Neighbourhood Services Manager referred to differing stakeholder views in 
regard to the future development of the area and cited the virtual I.L.A.B. challenge event, 
as a means to identify and resolve those competing views. He stated that the priorities, 
identified, from that process, would be submitted to the Strategic Insights Lab. He referred 
to the meeting, scheduled to take place on 30th November at which, the Working Group 
would be asked to identify its key priority issues. He stated further that, Council officers 
would feed into the 2 day Strategic Insights Board and that, following completion of the 
I.L.A.B. process, an action plan would be produced, which would identify the key priorities 
emanating from the consultation and stakeholder process. He confirmed that the I.L.A.B. 
team were committed to attending a future meeting of the Area Working Group, to provide 
feedback on the outcomes of the 2 day Insights Lab.  
 
 A Member raised the issue of a time -frame , in respect of completion of the 
I.L.A.B. process, and an assurance that the all relevant stakeholder and external 
participants would be permitted to engage in the process. The Neighbourhood Services 
Manager stated that, extensive efforts had been made to ensure that all interested parties 
had been invited to take part in the process. He stated further that, he would be happy to 
liaise directly with the Member, in order to address any representation concerns she might 
have. In response to a further question, he stated that the I.L.A. B. team were aware of 
previous studies undertaken in respect of the Lower Ormeau and wider University area. 
The Neighbourhood Services Manager stated also that, he would liaise with the I.L.A.B. 
team in regard to an implementation time-frame, but asked the Members to note that the 
time-frame might change, depending on Covid-19 restrictions. 

 
Date of Next Meeting 
 

 The Working Group agreed that its next meeting would be held on Monday, 30th 
November at 5.00 p.m. 
 
 
 

Chairperson 

Page 269



This page is intentionally left blank



 
 
1 
 
 

 West Belfast Area Working Group 
 

Thursday, 29th October, 2020 
 

WEST BELFAST AREA WORKING GROUP 
HELD REMOTELY VIA MICROSOFT TEAMS 

 
 

Members present:  Councillor Corr (Chairperson);  
  The High Sheriff (Councillor Verner);  
  Alderman Kingston; and 

    Councillors Black, Carson, Matt Collins, 
Donnelly, Hutchinson, 
McLaughlin and Walsh.  

   
In attendance:  Ms. S. Grimes, Director of Physical Programmes; 

Mr. S. Lavery, Interim Neighbourhood Services Manager 
 West;  

Mrs. A. McGlone, Neighbourhood Integration  
  Manager; and 

    Mrs. S. Steele, Democratic Services Officer. 
 
 

Apologies 
 
 Apologies were reported on behalf of Alderman McCoubrey and Councillors 
Baker, Beattie, Michael Collins, Garrett, Groves, Heading and Magennis.  
 

Declarations of Interest 
 

The following Members declared an interest in relation to item 3 on the agenda, 
Whiterock Locality Planning, in so far as they either worked for or were associated with 
Groups which had been referred to in the update, as follows:  

 

 Councillor Corr as an employee of the Falls Community Council 
(St. Comgall’s); and  

 Councillor McLaughlin as an employee of the Upper Springfield 
Development Trust.  

 
Presentation – Greater Shankill Community Council –  

Royal British Legion Proposal 
  
 Mr. John MacVicar and Mr. John Grace, representing the Greater Shankill 
Community Council, attended in connection with this item and were welcomed by the 
Chairperson. 
 
 Mr. MacVicar provided the Working Group with an overview of the history in 
respect of the Greater Shankill Community Council (GSCC) which was established in 
1972.  He advised that the role of the Community Council was to support groups, 
organisations and individuals in their efforts to advance community development and to 
improve the quality of life of residents, through the provision of support services, advice, 
and information and by encouraging networking and mutual support within groups and 

Page 271



 
 
2 
 
 

organisations and to facilitate co-operation and collaborative action.   He referred to the 
recent success of the organisation in bringing together a wide-ranging group of 
organisations and individuals to help and support the Greater Shankill community against 
the current Covid-19 pandemic.   
 

 Mr. MacVicar advised that the Community Council had close ties with the local 
Royal British Legion branch Oldpark/Cavehill, the branch and its members had used the 
Community Council’s premises as a base for the last fifteen years.  Over the past few 
years the GSCC had assisted in the branch in the process of buying the derelict site at 
Langley Street, putting outline sketch plans together and liaising with the local community 
in an attempt to seek community buy in for what would have been first and foremost a 
community hub. Unfortunately, despite the GSCC’s best efforts and the efforts of 
members of the Royal British Legion there had been little buy-in from the local community.   
 

 He continued that, as discussions had evolved, a second approach had been 
discussed and considered at length and explained that this would entail utilising the 
premises of GSCC and the purchase by the Royal British Legion of 177/179 Shankill 
Road.  It would include a complete refurbishment of the premises and include a front of 
house mini museum. 
 

 He then proceeded to outline the proposal in more detail and drew the Members’ 
attention to the three design plans that had been circulated with the agenda.  
The Members noted that:  
 

 the building would be DDA compliant, with accessible door and 
passageways and a lift to all three floors; 

 the refurbishment would provide access to a suite of computers for 
residents to explore genealogy opportunities.  This has been a growing 
development in the area and he explained that the GSCC had worked 
with local groups including SASH (Shankill Area Social History) and 
Row on Row - The Shankill Remembers; and  

 this refurbishment would allow for an expansion of Advice Services to 
full time. 
 

 Mr MacVicar concluded by advising that should this project proceed, it would 
provide an opportunity for Belfast City Council to affirm its ongoing commitment to the 
Greater Shankill.  He stated that they were seeking in the region of £300k of funding and 
they were confident that they could bring forward the proposed refurbishment within 
budget. 
  

 The Chairperson thanked the representatives for their attendance and they retired 
from the meeting. 
 

Noted.  
 

Whiterock Locality Planning 
 
 The Working Group considered the undernoted report:  
 

“1.0 Purpose of Report or Summary of main Issues 
 

  To provide members with an update on potential projects 
to be funded as part of Whiterock Locality Planning pilot 
project. 

Page 272



 
 
3 
 
 

 

2.0 Recommendations 

 

   To seek approval that the following projects receive 
funding from the remaining budgets within the 
Whiterock Locality Planning Pilot Project; 

 
PROJECT GROUP AMOUNT 

Access to Hills Scoping Exercise 
  

Upper Springfield 
Development 
Trust 

£15,000 

Housing Social Innovation 
Scoping 

Falls Community 
Council 

£15,000 

 
 3.0 Main report 
 
 3.1 Key Issues 

In November 2016, Belfast City Council agreed to undertake 
Locality Planning pilots to test how Community Planning 
might be applied at the local area level and to help inform 
future neighbourhood working. One of the areas chosen 
was within the Whiterock locality of West Belfast; 

  
 3.2 To support this work, Council also agreed to commission 

the Young Foundation to work with officers to test ideas on 
how to develop a ‘social innovation model that could be 
considered as part of our emerging area planning model. 

  
3.3 As part of this model, a Challenge Programme was 

developed with funding available in each locality planning 
area for up to four projects that can be delivered within the 
area with a maximum £15,000 per project. 

  
3.4 Previously, to access this funding local groups involved in 

the locality planning process worked with the Young 
Foundation and Council officers to develop potential ideas 
which received a recommendation for funding. 

  
3.5 This work was developed as part of our approach to 

neighbourhood working, which has now been superseded 
by what we are now calling Neighbourhood Regeneration, a 
presentation on this approach was delivered at the Area 
Working Groups in January.  Further discussion on this 
process will follow at Novembers AWG, which will work 
towards further developing how we align programmes and 
services and work in specific geographical locations to 
improve outcomes for residents. 

  
3.6 In January 2020 members also agreed that the 

Neighbourhood Services Manager would work with local 
residents, members and community groups to develop 
suitable ideas to for the area working group to consider 

Page 273



 
 
4 
 
 

funding to be allocated as part of this process, subject to 
SP&R approval and Council ratification. 

  
3.7 For the purposes of this report we want to provide a 

summary of the proposed projects that will be receive 
funding subject to members agreement and further 
oversight by officers. 

  
3.8 It should be noted that this funding was not awarded 

through an open call; it was restricted to those projects that 
involved local residents and were developed by those who 
have been involved in the locality planning process.  While, 
we do not have the Young Foundation to support this work, 
officers have continued to ensure any funding awarded is 
within the priorities of the original programme of work. 

  
   Proposed Projects 
 

1.    Access into the Hills from Mount Loney 
  
3.9 This project will work with residents, local community and 

statutory partners including the Belfast Hills Partnership to 
build on previous work, to explore a potential project that 
will develop a concept which will look at access point into 
the Black Mountain from the Old Whiterock Road. 

  
3.10 As part of this work, consideration will be given to wider 

work being undertaken with regards to similar ideas within 
the wider geographical area, including work that is 
emerging internally as part of an overall strategy for Belfast 
Urban Greenways and the Forth Meadow Community 
Greenway.  Some of the potential ideas that could be looked 
at through this scoping exercise includes a walkway that 
brings you up and across the Hatchet Field and then to the 
Divis summit and beyond.  

  
3.11 This project and associated funding would be managed by 

Upper Springfield Development Trust, within Council 
financial procedures, with oversight being provided 
through council officers. 

  
  2.    Whiterock – Ballymurphy Housing Social 

       Innovation Scoping 
 
3.12 In Whiterock and Ballymurphy communities there is a 

perception that the supply of social rented and affordable 
(for example, low cost home ownership) housing options 
are limited and that there is a need for two and three bed, 
small family units.  There are also perceived issues that the 
process by which social housing is allocated can contribute 
to the community safety concerns being concentrated in 
certain locations within neighbourhoods. 

Page 274



 
 
5 
 
 

  
3.13 Through this project we would like to skill up the local 

residents and community structures to ensure their views 
and ideas are included as part of the spatial planning on any 
local housing development and use the learning from this 
in terms of any good practice being used in other parts of 
the City.  Any work developed and associated learning 
undertaken as part of this will be developed within the 
parameters of what is being developed as part of wider 
Citywide strategies agreed within the Belfast Agenda 

  
3.14 This project and associated funding would be managed by 

Falls Community Council, within Council financial 
procedures, with oversight being provided through council 
officers. 

  
Next Steps 
  

3.15 Subject to approval, officers will work with members, 
residents and the local community and relevant 
partnerships to further develop the proposed projects and 
oversee the development of this work. 

  

4.0 Financial and Resource Implications 

  
4.1 Resourcing for this project is already included in budget 

estimates. 
   
5.0 Equality or Good Relations Implications 

 

5.1 Equality and good relations implications were considered as 
part of the Locality Planning process.” 

 
 A Member welcomed the fact that the access to the Belfast Hills project was being 
revisited with the proposed scoping exercise and reiterated the need for linked up access 
to the hills to make them more accessible.  He referred to the ongoing pandemic and how 
it had highlighted the need for access to green space for people’s physical and mental 
health.  
 
 A further Member suggested that he would like to see a feasibility study in regard 
to proposal being progressed.  
 
 The Interim Neighbourhood Services Manager advised that successful 
progression of the initiative would involve both extensive statutory and community ‘buy 
in’, therefore, initial engagement was required before progressing to an actual feasibility 
study.  
 
 The Working Group adopted the recommendations.  
 
  
  

Page 275



 
 
6 
 
 

 
Area Working - verbal update 

 
 The Working Group noted the Terms of Reference for the Area Working Groups 
which had been approved by the Strategic Policy and Resources Committee at its 
meeting on 20th September, 2019 and which had been recirculated with the agenda for 
information purposes. 
 
 The Interim Neighbourhood Services Manager then drew the Members’ attention 
to the presentation in respect of the Neighbourhood Regeneration and Area Working Plan 
which had been presented to the Working Group at its January 2020 meeting and which 
again had been recirculated with the agenda as a recap of what the programme of work 
actually entailed. 
 
 He reminded the Working Group that this was a development plan for the city as 
a whole and captured in essence where the city needed to be in complimenting the 
themes within the Belfast Agenda. 
 
 He specifically reiterated the work involved in regard to the implementation of 
the Neighbourhood Regeneration and Area Working Plan, which would incorporate the 
following key strands: 
 

 Belfast Agenda and Governance 

 Integrated Service Delivery 

 Capital Investment 

 Evidence based decision making 

 Local Development Plan 

 City Regeneration 

 Economic Development 
 
 The Working Group noted the need to integrate services and develop external 
partnerships in the pursuit of community engagement and Neighbourhood Regeneration. 
He specifically referred to the City and Neighbourhood Services approach to integrated 
service which included: 
 

 Open Spaces and Streetscene 

 City Protection 

 Community Provision and 

 Resources and Fleet. 
 
 During discussion, the Working Group referred to a range of issues which were 
relevant to West Belfast, including amongst other things - mental health, drug 
dependency, anti-social behaviour and unemployment.  The Members reiterated that they 
were keen to discuss and progress these issues at a local level. 
 
 The Interim Neighbourhood Services Manager agreed with the Members and 
noted the strong political/corporate commitment and assured the Members that the work 
would be progressed hand in hand with communities as co-design and genuine 
partnership were at the core of progressing the area working initiative.  He stated that the 
ultimate goal for all concerned was to ensure that Council’s services and investments 
connected more at a local neighbourhood level, ultimately improving the quality of life for 
citizens in Belfast. 

Page 276



 
 
7 
 
 

 
 The Director referred to the links between Citywide Regeneration and the 
Council’s local development plans and advised that this would be an evolving piece of 
work which would now also have to take into consideration both the Council’s and 
communities emergence from the Covid-19 pandemic.  
 
 The Interim Neighbourhood Services Manager advised that more information 
would be submitted in respect of Area Recovery Planning to the November/December 
round of Area Working Groups. 
 
 The Working Group thanked both the Interim Neighbourhood Services Manager 
and Director for the update and also thanked the staff within the Council who had assisted 
with the initial emergency response to COVID-19.  
 

Noted.  
 

Requests for Capital Funding 
 

 The Working Group referred to the undernoted table which detailed those 
community groups and organisations who had previously presented to the West Area 
Working Group seeking financial assistance: 
 
 

Project/ groups Description Notes/ comments 

Requested for funding support 

Conway Education 
Centre 

To support on its plans to refurbish 
the building 

Community led 
proposal. Noted Oct 
2017 

Good Shepherd Primary 
School 

Adult learning centre and outdoor 
space project 

Community led 
proposal. Noted April 
2018 

New Life City Church 
  

Financial support towards the capital 
costs of its building 

Community led proposal 

St Galls GAC Community space integrating sport Community led 
proposal. Noted April 
2018 

St John's GAC Redevelopment of the pitch Community led 
proposal. Noted April 
2018 

St Joseph’s Centre for 
the Deaf 

Building refurbishment Community led proposal 

Townsend St Social 
Outreach Centre 

Plans to refurbish and renovate its 
building 

Community led 
proposal. Noted Jan 
2018 

An Culturlann Financial support for the initial £800k 
required to purchase the building 

Noted in Aug 2017 

Brassneck Theatre 
Company 

Possible match funding the Arts 
Council's contribution to help the 
organisation 

Noted in Jan 2019 

Sports and Leisure Swifts 
Football Club 

Funding for the redevelopment of 
playing surfaces and facilities at Glen 
Road 
 
 

Noted in Jan 2019 

Page 277



 
 
8 
 
 

Other support     

Belfast Hills Partnership Accessing and promoting the area 
further via path networks and walking 
routes at Belfast Hills Greenway  - 
links with National Trust 

Noted. Aug 2017 

Ardmonagh Family 
Centre 

Land acquisition Community led 
proposal. Noted April 
2018 

Failte Feirste Thiar Support to group's Action Plan Community led 
proposal. Noted Feb 
2018 

Forbairt Feirste Proposal to erect a glazed archive/ 
observatory above the existing 
Coláiste Feirste handball building 

Community led proposal 

St Oliver Plunkett - 
Lenadoon Park 

Upgrade- link to St. Oliver Plunkett FC Community led 
proposal. Noted Feb 
2018 

Cherry Wildlife Garden 
Dunmurry 

Possible additional works in the form 
of additional lighting and fencing at 
Twinbrook Wildlife Garden 

Noted in Sept 2018. 
Recently discussed in 
Sept 20 meeting 

Mount Eagles/ Lagmore 
Youth and Community 
Association 

Presentation - request of possibility of 
adopting a land 

Noted in Nov 2018. 
Recently discussed in 
Sept 20 meeting 

 
 The Members noted that this was a detailed and comprehensive list and further 
noted that some of the groups/organisations were no longer in existence or indeed their 
proposals now might have changed. 
 
 Detailed discussion ensued in respect of how the list could be updated.  Several 
Members were cautious about approaching the groups as they felt any contact might give 
false hope that funding existed or was going to become available.   
 
 The Director reiterated that no new funding streams had been identified and urged 
caution in permitting organisations/groups to present at future meetings without making 
the Council’s position in regard to funding clear.   
 
 Following discussion it was agreed that officers would revisit the list to try and 
establish what requests remained valid and agreed that an updated list would be 
submitted to a future meeting which could be considered further at this stage.  
 

Date of Next Meeting 
 
 The Working Group was advised that the next quarterly meeting of the Working 
Group was scheduled for Thursday, 26th November.  
 
 
 
 
 
 

Chairperson 

Page 278



 

East Belfast Area Working Group 
 

Thursday, 5th November, 2020 
 

 
MEETING OF EAST BELFAST AREA WORKING GROUP 

HELD REMOTELY VIA MICROSOFT TEAMS 
 
 
 Members present:  Alderman Copeland (Chairperson) 
  Aldermen Dorrian, Haire,  
  Rodgers and Sandford; and  
  Councillors Brooks, de Faoite, Flynn,  
  Howard, Hussey, M. Kelly, Kyle, Long,  
  McMullan, McReynolds, Mulholland 
  Newton and Smyth. 
  

In attendance:  Ms. S. Grimes, Director of Physical Programmes;  
  Ms. C. Taggart, Neighbourhood Services Manager; and 

    Mrs. L. McLornan, Democratic Services Officer. 
 
 

Apologies 
 
 No apologies were reported. 
 

Minutes 
 
 The Working Group agreed that the minutes of the meeting of 8th October were 
an accurate record of proceedings. 
 

Declarations of Interest 
 
 Alderman Sandford declared an interest in Item 3b, Education Authority re: the 
Lisnasharragh Schools project, in so far as he was on the Board of Governors of Cregagh 
Primary School.  He left the meeting during Members’ discussion on that item and did not 
participate in the vote. 
 

Presentations - Belfast Investment Fund (BIF) 
 
Strand Arts Centre 
 
 The Chairperson welcomed Ms. M. Turtle, Chief Executive, Mr. J. Hegan, Chair 
of Strand Arts Centre, and Mr. R. Gaston, Marketing & Fundraising Manager of Strand 
Arts Centre to the meeting. 
 
 Ms. Turtle provided the Working Group with an overview of the community, 
heritage and tourism project which sought to improve the arts infrastructure of the historic 
Strand Cinema in the east of the City. 
 
 The Members were provided with a detailed timeline of the progress which had 
been made to date in terms of project delivery, including that the RIBA Stage 1 report had 
been completed in February 2020. 
 
 The Working Group was advised of the confirmed funding to date and a number 
of sources of anticipated income for the project.  Mr. Gaston advised the Working Group 
that, once the £1.8million funding from the Department for Communities (DfC) was Page 279



 

confirmed, and the designs were finalised, other funding sources would come on board.  
The Members were advised that the Arts Council had spoken with DfC last week 
regarding a bid.  Mr. Hegan added that the Council’s Belfast Investment Fund (BIF) was 
essential to the project. 
 
 A Member asked the representatives where the remaining £1.1million of funding 
would come from.  In response, Mr. Gaston advised that there were a variety of Trusts 
and Foundations which would be approached, and that naming rights and projects such 
a “name a seat” would also be utilised to raise the remaining funds. 
 
 In response to a further Member’s question, regarding the predicted timescale for 
getting the required planning permission, the representatives stated that they had been 
in touch with planning officers in relation to the process and that it would take an estimated 
6-9 months. 
 
 In relation to a further question in respect of whether they had undertaken any 
fundraising for the project themselves yet, they advised that they were waiting for 
confirmation of the £1.8million of funding from DfC which would open up more 
opportunities for the project.  Mr. Gaston also advised that they would be grateful if the 
Council would consider releasing £150,000 out of its agreed £1.8million of funding, to 
allow the RIBA Stage to progress. 
 
 The Chairperson advised the representatives that no decision would be taken at 
the meeting, thanked them for their attendance and they left the meeting. 
 
 After further discussion, the Working Group agreed that a report be submitted to 
a future meeting on the issues which had been raised in respect of the project, including 
an update from DfC in relation to when they would make a funding decision. 
 
Bloomfield Community Association 
 
 The Chairperson welcomed Ms. K. Purdy, Manager of Bloomfield Community 
Association, and Ms. C. Martin, a Committee member of BCA, to the meeting. 
 
 Ms. Purdy provided the Working Group with an overview of the projects that the 
Association carried out each year, including a holiday hunger programme, 
intergenerational projects and environmental projects. 
 
 The Working Group was advised that the current facilities were not fit for purpose 
and that they wanted to increase the number of children and young people that they could 
help. 
 
 Ms. Martin explained how the Bloomfield Community Association had helped her 
as a young person and how it had also been crucial in helping her child to become much 
more confident. 
  
 In respect of potential funding from the Department for Communities (DfC), Ms. 
Purdy advised the Members that DfC had advised that it was considering it within their 
2021 budget but that everything had come to a halt due to the coronavirus.  She added 
that she was seeking a meeting with the new Minister for Communities. 
  
 In response to a Member’s question regarding how BCA were going to fundraise 
£180,000, Ms. Purdy explained that the coronavirus pandemic had impacted their plans 
to raise money in 2020. 
 
 The Chairperson advised the representatives that no decision would be taken at 
the meeting, thanked them for their attendance and they left the meeting. 
 Page 280



 

 After further discussion, the Working Group agreed that a report be submitted to 
a future meeting on the issues which had been raised, including an update from DfC in 
relation to when they would make a funding decision, and in respect of other possible 
funding streams for the project. 
 

Presentations - Outer BIF 
 
Castlereagh Presbyterian Church 
 
 The Chairperson welcomed Mr. T. Busby, Church Secretary, to the meeting.   
 
 Mr. Busby provided the Working Group with the details of the proposed works to 
the Church Hall at Castlereagh Presbyterian. 
 
 He explained that the Church had approached five other funders in respect of 
grants which might be available to the church, in terms of covering the funding deficit, and 
that the response had been positive. 
 
 In response to a Member’s question, Mr. Busby explained that the congregation 
would like to contribute to the project, and that the Church had paid for the architect’s 
fees. 
 
 The Chairperson advised Mr. Busby that no decision would be taken at the 
meeting, thanked him for his attendance and he left the meeting. 
 
 After further discussion, the Working Group agreed that the Director of Physical 
Programmes would submit a report to a future meeting in relation to whether the other 
funding streams that Mr. Busby had referenced were viable options, the project outcomes 
and community benefits and whether the congregation would be fundraising further 
amounts towards the project. 
 
Education Authority re: Lisnasharragh Schools project 
 
 The Chairperson welcomed Mr. J. Bell, Senior Quantity Surveyor at the Education 
Authority, to the meeting. 
 
 Mr. Bell advised the Working Group that work had been ongoing in respect of the 
joint scheme, for Lisnasharragh Primary School and Cregagh Primary School, and that 
all approvals were now in place to progress both schemes. He explained that both 
schemes were similar in nature, both in size and value and that design development was 
due to commence next week. 
 
 He explained that the applications for planning permission would be submitted in 
the third week of September and that, in the mean-time, the technical design would be 
progressed to get it up to tender stage. 
 
 The Members were advised that the anticipated date for receiving planning for 
both schemes was mid-February 2021.  Mr. Bell outlined that that would give them the 
ability to get the tender report in place by the end of March 2021, with a view to getting 
works on site by mid-April, 2021.  The Working Group was advised that both schemes 
had a 16 week contract period, where both schemes were due to be completed by the 
end of August 2021, in time for the new school year. 
 
 It was highlighted that the most likely hold up in the progress of the project would 
be a delay in attaining the planning permission. 
 
 A number of Members welcomed the progress which had been made on the 
project. Page 281



 

 
 (Alderman Sandford, as a Member of the Board of Governors of Cregagh Primary 
School, declared an interest in the item and left the meeting at this point and did not 
participate in the vote)  
 
 Moved by Councillor Long, 
 Seconded by Councillor Brooks and 
 

  Resolved - That the Working Group notes the progress to date from 
the Education Authority and that it is content to progress the project. 

 
Date of Next Meeting 

 
 The Director of Physical Programmes advised the Members that the next quarterly 
meeting of the Working Group was scheduled for 4th February, 2021.   
 
 She explained that the Director of Neighbourhood Services wanted to provide 
each Area Working Group with an update in relation to the future area programme in the 
next few weeks.  The Working Group therefore agreed to hold a Special meeting, for the 
purpose of receiving an update from the Director of Neighbourhood Services, on 
Thursday, 3rd December at 3pm. 
 
 
 

Chairperson 

Page 282



 

STRATEGIC POLICY & RESOURCES COMMITTEE 
 

 
 
 

Subject: 

Assets Management 

i) Ormeau Park – Contractors Compound 

ii) Local Full Fibre Networks Programme – Agree to the transfer 

of additional fibre ducting assets / infrastructure from DfC to the 

Council  

iii) Grant of lease to Northern Ireland Electricity Networks 

iv) Port Health Unit, 5 Corry Place – Licence for Works 

Date: 20th November, 2020 

Reporting Officer: Sinead Grimes, Director of Physical Programmes  

Contact Officer: Pamela Davison and Celine Dunlop, Estates Team Leaders 

 

Restricted Reports     

Is this report restricted? Yes  No  

If Yes, when will the report become unrestricted?                                                    

After Committee Decision     

After Council Decision     

Sometime in the future     

Never     

     

 

Call-in     

 
Is the decision eligible for Call-in?                                                  
 

Yes  No  

 

1.0 Purpose of Report or Summary of main Issues 

1.1 The purpose of this report is to seek approval from Members to asset related disposal, 

acquisition and Estates matters. 

2.0 Recommendations 

X 

 

 

X 
 
 

X  

 

Page 283

Agenda Item 5b



2.1 

 

 

 

The Committee is asked to -  

i) Ormeau Park – Contractors Compound 

approve the granting of a lease to GEDA Construction for a contractor’s compound in 

Ormeau Park in connection with the Flood Alleviation Project works being carried out 

on the Ravenhill Road and surrounding areas . 

ii) Local Full Fibre Network Programme – Transfer of fibre ducting assets  

approve the transfer of additional fibre ducting assets/infrastructure from DfC to the 

Council to enhance the existing ducting network as part of the Public Sector Asset 

Reuse (PSAR) project under the overall LFFN Programme. 

iii) Grant of lease to Northern Ireland Electricity Networks 

approve the granting of a lease to NIE Networks for c.24 square metres of land at 

Templemore Baths for a term of  99 years from the date of the agreement at a 

peppercorn rent of £1 pa.  The lease will also grant NIE Networks a right of way to carry 

out installation, repairs and maintenance works at the substation site. 

iv) Port Health Unit, 5 Corry Place – Licence for Works 

approve a Licence for Work at the Port Health Unit to the Department of Agriculture, 

Environment and Rural Affairs (DAERA). The Licence is required to facilitate DAERA’s 

proposed construction works to the building to accommodate food checks required 

under NI protocol contingency plans. 

3.0 Main Report 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

i) Ormeau Park – Contractors Compound 

Key Issues 

Ormeau Park comprises approximately 140 acres of open space, children’s play areas, 3G 

pitch, leisure services and car parking. Engineering consultants (GEDA Construction) acting 

for NI Water have approached the Council seeking a licence to use the former rugby pitch 

and ancillary lands shown in blue at Appendix 1 (Area A 3.943 acres and Area B 0.384 acres) 

as a contractor’s compound in connection with the Flood Alleviation Project works being 

carried out on the Ravenhill Road and surrounding areas.  GEDA propose to use these areas 

as a contractor’s compound for the duration of the wider scheme and the lands will be 

required for a period of approximately 24 months with a likely commencement date of 

January 2021. The licence agreement will provide for betterment to the former rugby pitch, 

appropriate reinstatement, site security, protection of adjoining Council land and deal with 

insurance issues. Member’s approval is sought to delegate authority to the Estates Unit and 

Legal Services to agree the detailed terms of the licence and associated costs. 

Page 284



 

 

 

 

 

Financial and Resource Implications 

A suitable licence agreement will be agreed and finalised by officers from the Estates Unit 

and Legal Services at a rent to be agreed with GEDA Construction.  

Equality or Good Relations Implications/Rural Needs Assessment 

No specific equality or good relations implications.  No specific rural needs impact. 

 

 ii) LFFN Programme – Transfer of fibre ducting assets / infrastructure   

Key Issues 

At its meeting on 23rd October 2020 the Strategic Policy & Resources Committee granted 

approval to the procurement of additional fibre ducting assets / infrastructure to enhance the 

existing ducting network as part of the Public Sector Asset Reuse (PSAR) project under the 

overall LFFN programme. The aims of the PSAR project were to increase the commercial 

availability of the fibre networks in the city centre whilst minimising impact to the public realm. 

It looked at the potential to open up new markets for city centre businesses by exploiting full 

fibre infrastructure and provide better and more cost effective access to broadband services 

for households in the city centre. It also investigated the potential use of any new telecoms 

infrastructure in relation to supporting smart cities initiatives and 5G roll out.  

Digital Services engaged industry experts to conduct an analysis of the ducting network, and 

assess the viability of offering them out to the telecoms market.  The results of the analysis 

suggest that demand will be high, but could be greatly enhanced by additional investment in 

the ducting network to make it more fit for purpose.  This additional investment will cost no 

more than £190k, and will be funded from external sources.  

The ducts in question are currently owned by DfC who have no interest in making any 

commercial use of them. DfC have confirmed that they will transfer ownership of the ducts 

to the Council at NIL cost. Appendix 2 shows the extent of the ducting that will transfer to the 

Council. This transfer will allow the Council to maximise the benefits to the area in terms of 

achievable revenues and ensures that strategy decisions are aligned with the socio-

economic needs of the area. The ducting network will continue to grow with each subsequent 

phase of the Streets Ahead programme.  

Financial and Resources Implications  

None associated with this report. Staff resources from the Estates Management Unit and 

Legal Services will be involved in the completion of the transfer from DfC to the Council. 

Equality and Good Relations Implications/Rural Needs Assessment   

None associated with this report. 

Page 285



 iii) Grant of lease to Northern Ireland Electricity Networks 

Key Issues 

The Council is undertaking the redevelopment of the Templemore Baths as part of its £105m 

Leisure Transformation Programme. The project involves the restoration of the existing 

building to create extensive interpretive space alongside a new extension that will house a 

new 25m pool, fitness suite and spa facilities. Works on site stated in late October with 

completion expected in Autumn 2022.  The redevelopment necessitates the provision of a 

new electricity sub-station by NIE Networks and the allocation of a 24 sq metre site within 

the grounds of the Complex (see Appendix 3).  It is proposed that the Council grant NIE 

Networks a 99 year lease to permit the construction of the sub-station and provide access 

for electricity cables and future maintenance.  . 

Financial and Resources Implications  

A suitable lease will be agreed and finalised by officers from the Estates Unit and Legal 

Services.  The rent shall be a peppercorn of £1 pa. 

Equality and Good Relations Implications  

None associated with this report. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

iv) Port Health Unit, 5 Corry Place – Licence for Works 

Key Issues 

European Union legislation requires certain goods from non EU countries to be checked at 

first point of entry to ensure they are safe, meet regulatory requirements and cleared for 

import. Under the NI Protocol, at the end of the transition period on 1 January 2021, these 

requirements will continue to apply to goods entering Northern Ireland and will be extended 

to those imported from Great Britain. Council Environmental Health Officers are responsible 

for the sanitary checks on imports of fish, fishery products and foods not of animal origin. 

DAERA are responsible for all other sanitary and phytosanitary checks including live animals, 

other products of animal origin and plant health. The Council currently operate this service 

from the Port Health Unit, a specially adapted industrial premises located at 5 Corry Place 

within the Harbour Estate. The premises are held under Lease from Belfast Harbour 

Commissioners (BHC) and shown outlined red on the map attached at Appendix 4. The 

premises are currently used by both Council and DAERA officers to carryout checks on 

imported foods, 

However, to enable the increased level of inspections by the Council and DAERA after the 

transition period, a much larger facility is required which must be approved by the European 

Union. DAERA have identified a site within the Harbour Estate for this purpose, however, the 

Page 286



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

new premises will not be ready in time. Therefore, in the interim, DAERA propose expanding 

the existing Port Health Unit as a contingency facility until the new premises are fully 

operational. This proposal will require the upgrading of the facility to include temporary offices 

for the additional council staff and storage units to meet requirements, as shown in the 

drawing attached at Appendix 5. The Council’s Lease will remain in place for the existing 

facilities and DAERA will enter into a separate Licence Agreement with BHC for the land 

required for the additional units and new pedestrian access. 

It is proposed that the works to the Council existing premises will be facilitated by way of a 

Licence for Works and that DAERA will reinstate the premises at the end of the contingency 

period. The works will also be subject to the consent of BHC. Members are asked to agree 

to the proposed Licence for Works and also to the granting of delegated authority for detailed 

terms to be agreed by the Estates Unit and Legal Services. 

Financial and Resources Implications  

Staff resources from the Estates Unit and Legal Services will be involved in the completion 

of the proposed Licence for Works and recovery of any associated costs. The cost of the 

works and their reinstatement at the end of the contingency period will be met by DAERA. 

Equality and Good Relations Implications/Rural Needs Assessment  

None associated with this report. 

4.0 Documents Attached  

 Appendix 1 – Ormeau Park Contractors Compound 

Appendix 2 – LFFN Programme - Map showing the extent of the existing fibre ducting 

assets / infrastructure currently owned by DfC that will transfer to the Council   

Appendix 3 – Templemore Baths - Site and Cable Easement  

Appendix 4 – Map showing extent of leased Port Health Unit outlined red. 

Appendix 5 – Drawing showing upgrade works proposed by DAERA coloured blue. 

 

Page 287



This page is intentionally left blank



78

39

48

40

2 

1 

2
8

2
7

20

2
1

82

29

2
7

14

18

13 to 17

19 to 23

6 

7 to 11 

3
6

1 to 5

17

66

72

41

14

13

27

24

1 

22 to 26

25

2 & 4 

20

32

6
 1
0

5
 

1
1

1
2

8
 

4
 

7
 

51

50

4
1

4
4

45

4
0

21

34

2
2

22

12

31

1 

16

60

5 

9
 

7 

2 

8 

1 

1
2

57

6 

3
7

51

3
5

13

18

3
 

9
 

1
 

2
 

1
4
5

 

52

56

55

2
2
0

 

2 

21

1 

26

29

93

37

32

32
1
2

23

2
4

35

14

2
2

2
 

13

36

1 
to

 1
5 

2 

2
3
4

 

1 

2
4
2

 

2
3

2
 

13

2 

2
1
2

 

16

20

1
52 

13

1 

9 

7 

23

25

13

14

2 

26

21

1 

2
4

8
 

1
 

13

2
5
2

 

40

10

28

31

2
5
8

 

1
3

1
2

2
 

4 

7 

2
4

6
 

16

9 

4 

8 

1
3

2 

1
9

2
3

1
1
7
 3

 

1
7

9
 5

 1
 

31

8 

2
0

2 

39

8
 

6 

2
 

6
 

1
9

3
1
8

a

5
 

1
1

1
5

1
 

3
 

ARDENLEE GREEN

O
A

K
L
E

IG
H

 P
A

R
K

 

A
R

D
E

N
LE

E
 C

T
 

ARDENLEE C
T 

O
A

K
L
E

IG
H

 P
K

 

ROCHESTER STREET

DELAWARE STREET 

R
 A

 V
 E

 N
 H

 I
 L

 L
  
 R

 O
 A

 D
 

RAVENHILL COURT 

TORONTO STREET

FLORIDA STREET

LO
N
D
O

N
 R

O
A
D
 

R
A

V
E

N
H

IL
L
 C

R
E

S
C

E
N

T

A
M

P
E
R

E
 S

TR
E
E
T 

5.5 

6.4 

Ravenhill 

Presb Ch 

P
a

rk
 P

la
c
e

Hall

8 

BM 8.62 

7.6 

.2 

Bols

Tennis Courts 

Park Educational

Resource Centre 

Pavilion

Bowling Green 

7.0 

7.6 

Ulster Temple 

Ormeau Park 

Recreation Centre Playground

Ormeau Park 

A
m

pe
re

 C
ou

rt

(Elim Church) 

Hall

8.5 

9.1 

BM 8.50 

Filling

Adult

Centre

9.4 

Station 

Funeral 

Fs

Area A

Area B

Scale 1:1250
AO

Appendix 1

Page 289



This page is intentionally left blank



75 to 69
79

4 

to 8

9 

2 

55 to 43

9
5

64
 6

6 

1
0
1
  
9
9
 

6
2

9
3

9
7

68
  7

0

2 

3
4

3
4
 to

 3
8

46

80

52 to 58

63

8
5
  
8
3

66  68

98

to
76

70

57

8
1
 t
o
 7

5

64

32
38to34

101 

78 80 

2
6 2

8 

70 to
 74

62 to
 68

21
 1

9 

88   9
0 

2
8
 to

 3
2

96

37
 to

 3
3

40
  4

2

60  62

18

1
6

6
 

8 

4 

24

99

4 to
 8

10 12 

14

6 

3  1

2 

15

5 
3 

7 

1
3

2
0 2

2 

3
3
 t
o
 2

9
3

7

4
  6

8
 t o

 1
4

 

2
a

41  to  31

29 

38

2
 

33

42 to 46

37

48  50

4 

19
  1

7

11
 t
o 

5 

30
32  34

19

17a

23  21

24

10

12  14

17 to 5 

14

12

2
 

3
9
 t
o
 2

5

2 

19 to
 15

2 

7 

36

27  25

31 

to
47 1 

35 to 31

21 19 

25 23 

27

16  1
8

21
 to

 1
5

29

27 to 19
29

17  15

7
5
 t
o
 5

1

11

3
6

a
 

5 to 1
7 

13

3
8
 to

 4
2

15
  
13

21 to 14

12

3  1

8  10 

5 
to

 1

18 to 24

2 to 6

11 to 7 

17 
to

 1
1

28
26

15 to 1 

21
 1

9 

22

to
1616

11

7
 t

o
 1

1
 to

 3

12  14

4
7

 t
o

 4
3

2
0

4
1

2  4

4
9

6 to 10 
16  18

1
7

16
 to

 2
0

1
1 to

 5 

10
 to

 1
4

15
  1

3

1
9

13 to 9 

51

57 55 

43

41

39

26 to
 32

5 

12 to 16

2 to 10 

48 to
 60

92 94 

3 to 1

43

47 45 

22 to 28

31

to
27

15

27
 to

 19

21
 to

 1
 

13 to
 9 

8 

to
4 

2 

2
to6

17a 

22
to 

16

17

2 12
 to

 2
2

5    
3

1
7

 to
 2

5

3
 

1
6

18 to 26

2 to 10 

16

1
9
 t
o
 1

1

9 to 5

9
 t
o
 5

2
3
  
2
1

4
 to

 1
4
 

1
6
 to

 2
2

26

9 
to

 3

22

1
4

5
8

  6
0

1
4

2
2

9 to
 3

12  14

2 to 10 
29

 to
 2

3

2 to 6

28 to 30

8 to 18 

21 to 17

24

to

4
0

 to
 4

6

1
1
  
9
 

29
 to

 1
7

15
 to

 1
1

6
  to  18

 

25 to 13

4
 

6
 

12  14

39 to 31

28 to 38

3
63
8

29  27

1
6

  1
8

1
5

  
1

3

4
8

 t o
 5

4

8
 to

 1
4
 

2
1

 t
o

 1
7

7  5

5
3

 5
1

 

7   5 
9 

6
1

 t
o
 5

5

4
9

4
7
 t
o
 3

5

1
6

1
5

1 

3
  
1

2
4
  2

6

1 

9
 

5
6

6
 t o

 1
0

 

11b 

11a 

1
2

1
3

1
1

1
8

2
0

1
4

2
8
 to

 3
4

2
2

2
4

2
 t o

 1
0

 

27 to 1 

32 to 36

2
1

2
7
 2

5
 

2
7
a
 

4  6

31  to  1 

2 

2
3

 t
o

 1
7

8 to 26 

2
9

2 to

to
7 

3
1

1
6
 to

 2
0

2
8
 3

0
 

1
9
 t
o
 1

5

2
9
 t
o
 2

3

2
2
 to

 2
6

16

3
3

3
9

 t
o

 3
3

to

5
1

3
2

4
9

 t
o

 4
5

2 to 14 

4
0

5
4
  5

6

15 to 11

5
3

6
5

 t
o

 5
5

18 17 16

4
8

1
1

5
6

4
0

80 to 90

3
4

60

50 to 54

55

5 

33

3
1

3
9

 t
o
 3

5

5
 

35

3
3

13 to 1 

5
 

3
 

8
 

7 
5 to 1

1
 

12

29

33

t o

27 to 25

to
31

1
5
 t

o
 9

 

16

1
0

 to
 1

6

6
 

2
1

9
 

1
9

2
9

 t
o

 2
3

1
7

7
 

1
4

1
7

 to
 2

5

58

1
6

1
5

1
1

60 to 64
32 to 56

5
1

14 to 30

11

37

9
 

4
7

4
5

 t
o

 4
1

1
 

24
28 30 

4
9

32

85 to 8167 65 
63 to 49

74

1
7

5
 

13

9
 

to

7
 t
o
 1

2
 

4
  
6

8
  
1
0

  
1

0
a

2 to 20 

1 

1
9
 to

 1
 

43 41 

30  32

22

24

34 36 

1
 

9
 

2 to 16 

4
 to

 1
4
 

35 to 29
39 37 

24 to 4044
42

47
4553 51 

48
46

5
 

1
0

 t
o

 1
 

2 to 10 

1
1

5
0

4
8

4
2

   4
4

 

56 to 70

57

2
  
  

4

71

2
  4

59

1
a

73

1
 

49

52 to 58

2
0

1
8

6
 

64

1
1
 to

 3
 

66

to

63 61 

67

5
 to

 3

91 89

1
5
  1

3

87 85 

72 to 78

7
 

81 79 

44

62

97 95 

4
2

 to
 4

8
3

8

100 

1
8
 2

0
 

3
2

1
0
3
 

1
0

5
 

1
2

1
6

39 37 

3
9
 to

 3
1

5
9
 to

 5
5

55

5
1
 to

 4
1

49

74

7
 

1
2

6
 

1
0

1
5

2
 

1
3
 to

 9
 

8
 

3
6

92 to 96

FRANCIS STREET
BERRY STBERRY STREET

M
O

N
T

G
O

M
E

R
Y

 S
T

R
E

E
T

 C H I C H E S T E R   S T R E E T 

SEYMOUR 

LANE

U
P

P
E

R
 C

H
U

R
C

H
 L

A
N

E
 

S
 E

 Y
 M

 O
 U

 R
   S

 T
 R

 E
 E

 T
 

SEYMOUR ROW 

M
O

N
T

G
O

M
E

R
Y

 S
T

R
E

E
T

 

ARTHUR LANE 

MUSIC HALL LANE 

M
U

S
IC

 H
A

L
L

  C
O

U
R

T
 

GLOUCESTER STREET 

U
P

P
E

R
 A

R
T

H
U

R
 S

T
 

C
H

U
R

C
H

 LA
N

E
 

C
H

U
R

C
H

 L
A

N
E

 

JO
Y

'S
 E

N
T
R

Y
 

A N N   S
 T R E E T 

T
E

L
F

A
IR

 S
T

COLE'S ALLEYPOTTINGER'S 

COURT 

S
K

IP
P

E
R

 S
T
R

E
E

T

C
R

O
W

N
 E

N
T
R

Y
 

CO
RN M

ARKET 

ARTHUR

SQUARE

W
ILLIAM

 STREET SOUTH

W
ILS

O
N

'S
 C

O
U

R
T

S
T
R

E
E

T

H I G
 H

   S
 T R

 E
 E

 T 

S
T
R

E
E

T

B
R

ID
G

E
 S

T
R

E
E

T
E

H I G
 H

   S
 T R

 E E T 

P
O

T
T
IN

G
E

R
'S

 E
N

T
R

Y
 

B
R

ID
G

E

L
O

M
B

A
R

D
 S

T
R

E
E

T

W
IN

E
C

E
LLA

R
 E

N
T
R

Y

C
A

S
T
LE

 A
R

C
A

D
E

 

D
 O

 N
 E

 G
 A

 L
 L

   P
 L

 A
 C

 E
 

C A S T L E   L A N E 

R O
 S E M

 A R Y   S
 T R E E T 

C A S T L E   P L A C E 

R
O

Y
A

L
 A

V
E

N
U

E

U
P

P
E

R
 A

R
T

H
U

R
 S

T
R

E
E

T
 

PATTERSON'S PLACE 

A
R

T
H

U
R

 S
T

R
E

E
T

 

DONEGALL SQUARE NORTH 

C
A

L
L
E

N
D

E
R

 S
T

R
E

E
T

D
O

N
E

G
A

L
L
 S

Q
U

A
R

E
 E

A
S

T

ARTHUR PLACE

H
 A

 P
 E

 L
  
 L

 A
 N

 E
 

R
O

Y
A

L
 A

V
E

N
U

E

U
P

P
E

R
 Q

U
E

E
N

 S
T

R
E

E
T

K
 I
 N

 G
  
 S

 T
 R

 E
 E

 T
 

C
O

L
L
E

G
E

 C
O

U
R

T
 

BERRY ST

M
A

R
Q

U
IS

  
S

T
R

E
E

T
 

B A N K   S T R E E T C
 

C A S T L E   S T R E E T 

BERRY STREET

C
O

L
L
E

G
E

 

Q
 U

 E
 E

 N
  
  
S

 T
 R

 E
 E

 T

F
 O

 U
 N

 T
 A

 I
 N

  
 S

 T
 R

 E
 E

 T
 

M
E

W
S

QUEEN'S ARCADE

FOUNTAIN LANE 

STREET

COLLEGE STREET

W
E

S
T

D
O

N
E

G
A

L
L
 S

Q
U

A
R

E
 

DONEGALL SQ NORTH 

W E L L I N G T O N   P L A C E 

C
O

L
L

E
G

E
 S

Q
U

A
R

E
 E

A
S

T
 

C
 O

 L L E
 G

 E
   A

 V
 E

 N
 U

 E
 

Posts 

PH

Mon 

PH

Subway

G
o
ve

rn
m

e
n
t

O
ffice

s 

(Multi-Story) 

(C
 o

f I)

Ju
b
ile

e
 G

a
rd

e
nS

t G
e
o
rg

e
's 

C
h
u
rch

Office

Victoria
Square

ESS 

Government

ESS 

Tank

1.5 

1.5 

Posts 

PH

PH

Hall

Car Park

Bank

T
C

B
 

TCB 

PH

Bank

1.5 

Bank

ESS 

PH

TCB 

Tk

N
orthern Ireland

W
ar M

em
orial

B
uilding

PH

PH

PH

ESS 

2.4 

Government O
ffic

es

ESS 

ESS 

Hall

3.0 

PH

Museum

D
o
ne

ga
ll A

rca
d
e 

P
H

2.4 

2.4 

P
H

PH

P
H

3.0 

F
irst 

PH

1.2 

(Multi-Storey)
Car Park

Bank

2.7 

Mon 

PH

1.2 

1.5 

Mon 

LB

TCB 

Mon 

FS's

Mon 

PH

Hotel 
PH

PH

BM 4.04 
3.7 

CITY HALL 

FS's

Mon 

BELFAST 

LB

TCB's 

PH

Bank

LB

ESS 

Mon 

City
Hall

Mon 

FS

PH

Government

PH

TCB 

Office 

PH

Fountain Centre 

Bank

Bank

PH

Y
M

C
A

Car Park

Church

Berry 
Street
Presby

Bank

PH

Posts 

El Sub Sta

LB

Monument

Govt

Office

F
B

P
re

sb
yte

ria
n

C
h
u
rch

PH

PH

Post 
Office

Ulster Reform 

Shopping Centre 

Club

St Mary's RC Church 

Grotto

PH

P's 

Bank

Hall

Hall

Car Park
(Multi Story) 

Scale 1:1750
MM

Appendix '2'

P
age 291



T
his page is intentionally left blank



8
2

9
4

9
6

8
6

7
 

1
 

3
 

1
1

1
3

2
1

2
9

3
7

19

14
16

1 
3 

8 

2 

13

5 

7 

9 

3
2

3
4

2
8

3
0

1
6

1
 

G
L
E

N
M

O
R

E

S
T

R
E

E
T

MARTIN STREET 

G
L
E

N
M

O
R

E
 S

T
R

E
E

T
 

KEATLEY STREET

Fn

Public BathsPublic Baths

Templemore Baths
NIE substation
NIE cable easement

Based on the Ordnance Survey of
Northern Ireland map with the permission
of the Director & Chief Executive.
© Crown Copyright.

MAP REFERRED TO

BELFAST CITY COUNCIL  and  NIE NETWORKS LTD

LEASE at TEMPLEMORE BATHS

Scale 1:500

Date:-

Produced by:-

10/11/2020

Area - 24.51 sq m

MM

Estates Management Unit,
Belfast City Council,
Physical Programmes Dept.,
9 Adelaide,
9-21 Adelaide Street,
Belfast BT2 8DJ.

Appendix '3'

Page 293



This page is intentionally left blank



1 

11

15

7 

1 

1
1

7a

1
 

15

14

18

12

38

57

63a 

10

1
21

4

65

16

D O C K   S T R E E T 

PRINCE'S DOCK STREET

P
IL

O
T
 P

LA
C

E
 

P I L O T   S T R E E T 

S
H

O
R

T
 S

T
R

E
E

T

MARINE STREET 

G
 A

 R
 M

 O
 Y

 L
 E

  
 S

 T
 R

 E
 E

 T
 

SHIP STREET C
 O

 R
 R

 Y
   

P
 L

 A
 C

 E
 

C
 O

 R
 R

 Y
   

R
 O

 A
 D

 

1.6 

CarPark 

Depot 

Barrier 

The Flying Angel
Seafarers Centre 

Ps

PH

Post

Ps

S
t J

os
ep

h'
s 

R
C

 C
hu

rc
h 

Ps

Barrier

Club

Car Park Barrier 

Barrier

Car Park 

FS

Scale 1:1000
sw

Appendix '4'

Page 295



This page is intentionally left blank



Ps

1.6

Ps

Car
Par

k

Car
Par

k

PH

Dep
ot

Fir
e S

tat
ion

PH

Ps

Ba
rri

er

FS

Po
st

Gov
er

nm
en

t

Offic
e

Ps

Ba
rri

er

C O R R Y R O A D

D
 O

 C
 K

 S
 T

 R
 E

 E
 T

65 63a

1115

1012
14

21

C O R R Y P L A C E

G A R M O Y L E S T R E E T

SH
IP

 S
TR

EE
T

M
A

R
IN

E 
ST

R
E

ET

Th
e F

lyi
ng

 A
ng

el

Se
afa

re
rs 

Cen
tre

29

1

20

36

61

334450

334500

334550

334600

37
53

50

37
54

00

37
54

50

37
55

00

37
55

50

37
56

00

Cus
tom

er
 R

ef:

Cen
tre

 P
oin

t (
Ea

sti
ng

, N
or

thi
ng

):

 

ACEm
ap

 
Si
ng
le

Pr
int

ed
: 2

0/1
0/2

02
0

Ev
er

y c
ar

e h
as

 be
en

 ta
ke

n t
o e

ns
ur

e a
cc

ur
ac

y i
n t

he
 co

mpil
ati

on
 of

 th
is 

map
 at

 th
e t

im
e o

f p
ub

lic
ati

on
. L

an
d &

 P
ro

pe
rty

 S
er

vic
es

 ca
nn

ot,
 ho

wev
er,

 ac
ce

pt

re
sp

on
sib

ilit
y f

or
 er

ro
rs 

or
 om

iss
ion

s a
nd

 w
he

n s
uc

h a
re

 br
ou

gh
t to

 ou
r a

tte
nti

on
, th

e a
men

dm
en

t o
f a

ny
 fu

tur
e p

ub
lic

ati
on

 as
 ap

pr
op

ria
te 

sh
all

 be
 en

tire
ly

at 
ou

r d
isc

re
tio

n. 
Ord

na
nc

e S
ur

ve
y o

f N
or

the
rn

 Ir
ela

nd
 an

d A
CEm

ap
® ar

e r
eg

ist
er

ed
 Tr

ad
em

ar
ks

 of
 D

ep
ar

tm
en

t o
f F

ina
nc

e a
nd

 P
er

so
nn

el.
 

Lic
en

ce
 / P

er
mit N

o.

 ©
 C

ro
wn C

op
yri

gh
t 2

02
0

BC
C C

ORRY 
PL

AC
E,

 T
OW

N P
AR

KS
, B

EL
FA

ST
, B

T3
 9A

H, 1
87

12
29

17

24
5

37
53

20

37
56

00

334610

334400

 ®

COPYRIGHT STATEMENT

Except as otherwise permitted under the Copyright Designs and Patents Act 1988 this map may only be reproduced,

stored or transmitted in any form or by any means, with the permission of Land & Property Services.
Sc

ale
:

1:1
,25

0

Pl
an

 N
o. 

13
01

0S
W

3

Ord
er

 no
.O

RD90
93

5

33
45

05
, 3

75
46

0

Ps

1.6

Ps

Car
Par

k

Car
Par

k

PH

Dep
ot

Fir
e S

tat
ion

PH

Ps

Ba
rri

er

FS

Po
st

Gov
er

nm
en

t

Offic
e

Ps

Ba
rri

er

C O R R Y R O A D

D
 O

 C
 K

 S
 T

 R
 E

 E
 T

65 63a

1115

1012
14

21

C O R R Y P L A C E

G A R M O Y L E S T R E E T

SH
IP

 S
TR

EE
T

M
A

R
IN

E 
ST

R
E

ET

Th
e F

lyi
ng

 A
ng

el

Se
afa

re
rs 

Cen
tre

29

1

20

36

61

334450

334500

334550

334600

37
53

50

37
54

00

37
54

50

37
55

00

37
55

50

37
56

00

Cus
tom

er
 R

ef:

Cen
tre

 P
oin

t (
Ea

sti
ng

, N
or

thi
ng

):

 

ACEm
ap

 
Si
ng
le

Pr
int

ed
: 2

0/1
0/2

02
0

Ev
er

y c
ar

e h
as

 be
en

 ta
ke

n t
o e

ns
ur

e a
cc

ur
ac

y i
n t

he
 co

mpil
ati

on
 of

 th
is 

map
 at

 th
e t

im
e o

f p
ub

lic
ati

on
. L

an
d &

 P
ro

pe
rty

 S
er

vic
es

 ca
nn

ot,
 ho

wev
er,

 ac
ce

pt

re
sp

on
sib

ilit
y f

or
 er

ro
rs 

or
 om

iss
ion

s a
nd

 w
he

n s
uc

h a
re

 br
ou

gh
t to

 ou
r a

tte
nti

on
, th

e a
men

dm
en

t o
f a

ny
 fu

tur
e p

ub
lic

ati
on

 as
 ap

pr
op

ria
te 

sh
all

 be
 en

tire
ly

at 
ou

r d
isc

re
tio

n. 
Ord

na
nc

e S
ur

ve
y o

f N
or

the
rn

 Ir
ela

nd
 an

d A
CEm

ap
® ar

e r
eg

ist
er

ed
 Tr

ad
em

ar
ks

 of
 D

ep
ar

tm
en

t o
f F

ina
nc

e a
nd

 P
er

so
nn

el.
 

Lic
en

ce
 / P

er
mit N

o.

 ©
 C

ro
wn C

op
yri

gh
t 2

02
0

BC
C C

ORRY 
PL

AC
E,

 T
OW

N P
AR

KS
, B

EL
FA

ST
, B

T3
 9A

H, 1
87

12
29

17

24
5

37
53

20

37
56

00

334610

334400

 ®

COPYRIGHT STATEMENT

Except as otherwise permitted under the Copyright Designs and Patents Act 1988 this map may only be reproduced,

stored or transmitted in any form or by any means, with the permission of Land & Property Services.

Sc
ale

:
1:1

,25
0

Pl
an

 N
o. 

13
01

0S
W

3

Ord
er

 no
.O

RD90
93

5

33
45

05
, 3

75
46

0

P
age 297



T
his page is intentionally left blank



 

STRATEGIC POLICY AND RESOURCES COMMITTEE  
 
 
 
 
 

 
Subject: Update on Contracts 

 
Date: 20th November 2020  

 
Reporting Officer: 

Ronan Cregan, Deputy Chief Executive and Director of Finance and 
Resources 

 
Contact Officer: Noleen Bohill, Head of Commercial and Procurement Services 

 

Restricted Reports     

Is this report restricted? Yes  No  

If Yes, when will the report become unrestricted?                                                    

After Committee Decision     

After Council Decision     

Sometime in the future     

Never     

 

Call-in     

 
Is the decision eligible for Call-in?                                                  
 

Yes  No  

 

1.0 Purpose of Report or Summary of main Issues 

1.1 The purpose of this report is to seek approval from the Committee for tenders and STAs over 

£30,000 

2.0 Recommendations 

2.1 The Committee is asked to: 

 approve the public advertisement of tenders as per Standing Order 37a detailed in 

Appendix 1 (Table 1);  

 

 approve the award of STAs in line with Standing Order 55 exceptions as detailed in  

Appendix 1 (Table 2); and 

 note the award of retrospective STAs in line with Standing Order 55 exceptions as 

detailed in Appendix 1 (Table 3)  

 

 

 

 

 

X  

X 

Page 299

Agenda Item 6a



3.0 Main Report 

 
 
 
3.1 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
3.2 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Competitive Tenders 

Section 2.5 of the Scheme of Delegation states Chief Officers have delegated authority to 

authorise a contract for the procurement of goods, services or works over the statutory limit 

of £30,000 following a tender exercise where the council has approved the invitation to 

tender. 

 

Standing Order 60(a) states any contract that exceeds the statutory amount (currently 

£30,000) shall be made under the Corporate Seal.  Under Standing Order 51(b) the 

Corporate Seal can only be affixed when there is a resolution of the Council. 

 

Standing Order 54 states that every contract shall comply with the relevant requirements of 

national and European legislation. 

 

Single Tender Actions (STAs) 

 

The following STAs are being submitted for approval: 

 

 Direct award to enable an extension of up to 12 months for the provision of home 

security/ hazard assessment and repair service for elderly & vulnerable.  This 

extension to a fully funded contract is due to the constraints of Covid19, limited 

resources and other departmental work priorities meaning that the preparation of a 

new tender was not achievable.  

 Direct award for the provision of a case management system for City and 

Neighbourhoods Department to Civica for 2 years at a cost of £113,878 in order to 

determine how an upgrade of Civica will align with the Customer Focus Programme 

priorities.  

 

The following retrospective STAs were awarded: 

 

 A 4 month contract to compete an innovation and inclusive growth commission 

report articulating the direction of travel for growth and investments on the city for 

the next 30 years awarded to MCE Public Relations at a cost of £5,000; 

 A contract to upgrade the Occupational Health Service software awarded to Digital 

Scanning Services £4,530, for up to a year to ensure ongoing system support; 

Page 300



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
3.3 
 
 
 
 
 
3.4 
 

 To ensure continuity of essential service the continued hire of temporary 

accommodation, toilets and associated electrical generators and cabling at Roselawn 

Cemetery to Norspace at a cost of £109,582 (covering period from April 2020 to 

November 2021 if required);  

 A contract for the production management, design and installation of a Christmas 

lighting experience as an alternative to the traditional Christmas market awarded, due 

to the impact of Covid 19 to Lumerie for a period of 4 weeks at a cost of £29,500; 

 A contract for the provision of Christmas activity including a bespoke lighting trail  as 

an alternative to the traditional Christmas market awarded, due to the impact of Covid 

19, to AM Lighting for a period of 4 weeks at a cost of £29,500. 

 A 5 month contract for the provision of de-icing and snow clearance at various BCC 

sites and locations to McQuillan Outdoor at a cost of £96,000 required to ensure safe 

operation at council sites.  The department advised that due to the constraints of 

Covid19, limited resources and other work priorities the preparation of a new tender 

was not achievable 

 

Financial and Resource Implications 

The financial resources for these contracts are within approved corporate or departmental 

budgets 

 

Equality or Good Relations Implications/Rural Needs Assessment 

None 

4.0 Document Attached  

  

Appendix -  

Table 1 Competitive Tenders  

Table 2 Direct Award Contracts  

Table 3 Retrospective Direct Award Contracts 

 

Page 301



This page is intentionally left blank



 
Appendix 1 

Table 1 – Competitive Tenders  
 

Title of Tender Proposed 
Contract 
Duration 

Estimated 
Total 

Contract 
Value 

Senior 
Responsible 

Officer 

Short description of 
goods/ services 

Development of a virtual 
apprenticeship platform 
for the Belfast Region 
City Deal 

 

Up to 16 
months  

 

£65,000 

 

A Reid  

Development of a new 
online platform for 
apprenticeship provision 
across the Belfast City 
Region 

Receipt, stock control 
and delivery of waste 
containers (T2134) 

Up to 4 
years 

£520,000 
S Toland /  

R Black 

Support waste 
management section with 
distribution of bins and 
waste containers to rate 
payers.  

Removal, transportation 
and emptying of skips 
and hooklift containers  
(T2074) 

Up to 5 
years  

 

£1.2M 

S Toland /  

R Black 

Support service required at 
Council amenity sites.  

Appointment of food 
samples Public Analysts. 
(Multi council framework 
contract)   

Up to 4 
years  

£1.3M 
(covers all 11 
NI councils)  

S Toland /  

R Black 

Legislative requirement for 
the purpose of examining 
and analysing food 
samples to determine 
compliance with food 
safety, compositional and 
labelling requirements.  

Current estimated BCC 
spend £300,000 however 
this may significantly 
increase due to Brexit. 

Other council estimated 
spend is £1m.  

Research to undertake 
business surveys to 
support and influence 
future policy interventions 
across arrange of 
stakeholders 

Up to 3 
years 

£150,000 A Reid 

This is a longitudinal survey 
of businesses in Belfast to 
take place every six 
months. This work is being 
brought forward in 
conjunction with the 
Business Improvement 
Districts and Belfast 
Chamber who are making a 
financial contribution to the 
research. The survey will 
provide empirical data to 
understand what 
challenges Belfast based 
businesses are facing. The 
survey will also ask 
Businesses to provide a 

Page 303



 
Appendix 1 

measure of their 
confidence around future 
investment and recruitment 
to gauge Business 
Sentiment. The fact that it 
is longitudinal allows to test 
broadly establish the 
efficacy of policies and 
interventions that have 
been brought to bear in the 
relevant timeframe. 

 

 
 
Table 2- Direct Award Contracts (Single Tender Action) 

 

Title of Tender Supplier Total Value 

Provision of home security/ hazard 
assessment and repair service for 
elderly & vulnerable (fully funded) 

Bryson Energy £120,000 

Provision of a case management 
system for City and Neighbourhoods 
Department 

Civica UK Ltd  £113,878 

 
Table 3 Retrospective Direct Award Contracts (Single Tender Actions)  
 

Title of Tender Supplier Total Value 

Consultancy support for Innovation 
and Inclusive Growth commission 
Growth report  

MCE Public Relations   £5,000 

Occupational Health Service Software 
upgrade  

Digital Scanning Services 
Ltd 

£5,430 

Continued hire of temporary 
accommodation, toilets and 
associated electrical generators and 
cabling at Roselawn Cemetery  

Norespace  £109,852 

 

Provision of animation as an 
alternative to the traditional Christmas 
market  

Lumiere Ltd £29,500 

Provision of animation as an 
alternative to the traditional Christmas 
market 

AM Lighting Ltd £29,500 

Provision of de-icing and snow 
clearance at various BCC sites/ 
locations (retrospective)  

Patterson Outdoor 
Cleaning Solutions 

(McQuillan Outdoor) 

£96,000 

Page 304



 
Appendix 1 

 

Page 305



This page is intentionally left blank



 

STRATEGIC POLICY & RESOURCES COMMITTEE 

 

Subject: Commercial and Procurement Service - Pricing Policy 
 

Date: 20th November, 2020 
 

Reporting Officer: Ronan Cregan, Deputy Chief Executive and Director of Finance and 
Resources  

Contact Officer: Noleen Bohill, Head of Commercial & Procurement Service (CPS) 
 
Michael Denny, Commercial Manager 

 

Restricted Reports     

Is this report restricted? Yes  No  

If Yes, when will the report become unrestricted?                                                    

After Committee Decision     

After Council Decision     

Sometime in the future     

Never     

 

Call-in     

 
Is the decision eligible for Call-in?                                                  
 

Yes  No  

 
1.0 Purpose of Report or summary of Main Issues 

 

1.1 

 

 

 

1.2 

 

 

1.3 

 

 

 

 

 

 

The 3-year Transformational Strategy prepared by the Commercial and Procurement Service 

(CPS) is due to be presented to the Strategic Policy & Resources (SP&R) Committee in 

November.  

 

This Strategy includes details of our first Commercial Plan (see Appendix I), which 

formalises our future ambitions relating to commercialisation and income generation. 

 

To support our specific ambition to generate additional income, the Commercial team within 

the CPS has developed: 

 

 A corporate Pricing Policy – see Appendix II; and  

 

 A framework document, 'Setting Prices - Getting it Right', to guide Council officers 

when introducing pricing or increasing/decreasing prices – see Appendix III.  

 X 

 

 

 

 

X   

Page 307

Agenda Item 6b



 

1.4 

 

1.5 

 

 

1.6 

 

 

The above policy and framework was presented to  the SP&R Committee on 23rd October.  

 

At that meeting, the Committee agreed to defer any decisions relating to the above in order to 

allow the policy and framework to be considered alongside the Commercial Plan. 

 

The purpose of this report is to: 

 

 Provide members with an update on the pricing policy and framework; 

 Provide further details on the rationale for selecting the four priority projects in order to 

support the decision-making process; and 

 Obtain approval on related actions (detailed below). 

 

2.0 Recommendations 
 

2.1 The Committee is asked to: 

 

1. approve the Commercial Plan and Pricing Policy, as detailed in Appendices I – III; and 

 

2. agree that the the following priority areas be researched in line with the above policy and 

framework (all findings and proposals to come back to the SP&R Committee). 

 

a. Malone House - explore possible alternative commercial uses for the building to 

maximise asset and reduce annual operating costs; 

b. Events - develop a Council-wide events policy & procedures to include establishing 

transparent, fair and consistent pricing options; 

c. Bulky waste - explore potential pricing options for the bulky waste service to reduce 

annual operating costs; and 

d. Pest control - explore potential pricing options for the pest control service to reduce 

annual operating costs. 

3.0 Main Report 
 

 

 

3.1 

 

 

3.2 

 

 

Introduction 

 

The Commercial Plan detailed at Appendix I formalises our future ambitions relating to 

commercialisation and income generation. 

 

Fundamentally, this is about integrating commercial activities and a commercial mindset into 

the core of how we operate as an organisation. 

 

Page 308



 

3.3 

 

 

 

3.4 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

3.5 

 

 

 

 

 

3.6 

 

 

 

 

 

3.7 

 

 

 

 

3.8 

 

 

 

 

 

 

The overarching aim of our Commercial Plan is to generate a greater financial return that 

contributes to the Council’s investment plans and its efficiency programme, and assists to 

safeguard services that are delivered in our local communities. 

 

To support our specific ambition to generate additional income, the Commercial team, in 

partnership with relevant individuals/departments, has commenced a strategic programme of 

work that includes (amongst other things): 

 

 Preparing a Corporate Pricing Policy and associated procedures; 

 Developing a  Council-wide Advertising and Sponsorship Strategy; 

 Supporting the development of an agreed Asset Management Strategy; 

 Identifying commercial best practice across other local authorities and organisations; and 

 Creating a framework to identify, develop and deliver existing and new (and innovative) 

income generating opportunities across the Council’s commercial operations.  

 

Alongside this, work has also commenced to enhance our commercial culture and 

competency, including the roll-out of a competency training programme and commercial 

awareness raising sessions.  

 

Corporate Pricing Policy 

 

The charges and fees levied for our services represent an important source of income each 

year, which is used to support the delivery of our corporate objectives. Whilst charging for 

services is, therefore, a recognised feature within the Council, some demand-led services are 

provided at little or no direct charge to the user. The provision of services at low, or no, charge 

(or fee) means that all ratepayers are subsidising the cost of delivery.  

 

The recent financial uncertainty created by the COVID-19 pandemic and ‘Brexit’ have now 

made it essential that the Council makes best use of pricing and charging opportunities and 

to recognise the importance of using pricing as a means of recovering the costs of delivering 

our services. 

 

To support this, the Commercial team has developed: 

 

 A corporate Pricing Policy; and  

 

 A framework document, 'Setting Prices - Getting it Right', to guide Council officers 

when introducing pricing or increasing/decreasing prices. 

 

Page 309



 

3.9 

 

 

 

 

 

3.10 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

The key aims of the policy include: 

 

 Promoting consistency and fairness in the treatment of service users; and 

 Striking a balance addressing the financial needs of the Council through optimisation of 

income and the social needs of customers.  

 

Any decision to vary or introduce charges must be aligned to strategic priorities and financial 

objectives. Council officers must adhere to the following principles set out in the policy: 

 

 Efficiency – charges are simple and not cumbersome to administer. 

 Transparency – the nature and use of the service are understood by users. 

 Effectiveness – the charges provide value for money. 

 Clarity – users are clear about when and how charges apply. 

 Equity – the charges are fairly applied across a range of users. 

 Ethics – users with special needs are charged appropriate fees.  

 

 
 
3.11 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

3.12 
 
 
 
3.13 
 
 

Priority Projects 
 
We currently provide many discretionary services (i.e. those that are not required to be 

provided by law but are provided at our discretion) that all ratepayers are subsidising the 

cost of delivery. The table below provides some examples1: 

 
Service Expenditure Income Net Expenditure i.e. 

cost to the Council  

Events2 £1,464,026 £89,700 £1,374,326 

Bulky Waste £993,851 £19,534 £974,317 

Zoo (including Shop) £2,842,409 £1,902,035 £940,374 

Pest Control £289,702 £5,137 £284,565 

Bike Scheme £478,594 £245,254 £233,340 

Belfast Castle £450,397 £256,000 £194,397 

Malone House £332,626 £186,000 £146,626 

Mary Peters Track £137,040 £0 £137,040 

Consumer Advice £106,725 £0 £106,725 

Home Safety £178,976 £82,610 £96,366 

Catering Services £463,917 £399,280 £64,637 

City Hall Tours £53,400 £18,850 £34,550 

 
If approved, it will not be possible, in the current circumstances, to review all of the Council’s 

services and activities (such as those set out above) at this point in the context of the policy.  

 

That being the case, it is recommended that the following four projects be examined in the first 

instance: 

                                            
1 Based on budget figures for the 2019/20 financial year. 
2 Includes Events unit, Major Events, Sports Events and Grants. Page 310



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

3.14 

 

 Malone House - explore possible alternative commercial uses for the building to maximise 

asset and reduce annual operating costs; 

 Bulky waste - explore potential pricing options for bulky waste service to reduce annual 

operating costs;  

 Pest control - explore potential pricing options for pest control service to reduce annual 

operating costs; and 

 Events - develop a Council-wide events policy and procedures to include establishing 

transparent, fair and consistent pricing options. 

 
Further details on each are included in Appendix IV.  
 

 Financial and Resource Implications 
 

3.15 This programme of work will be managed as part of the CPS’s annual revenue budget. 
 

 Equality or Good Relations implications/Rural Needs Assessment 
 

3.16 No implications at this stage. 
 

4.0 Documents Attached 
 

  
Appendix I: Commercial Plan 
 
Appendix II: Corporate Pricing Policy 
 
Appendix III: 'Setting Prices - Getting it Right' guidance document 
 
Appendix IV: Four Priority Projects 
 

 
 
 

Page 311



This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix I 

Our Commercial Plan 

Introduction  
 
The reductions in public funding and the financial uncertainty created by the COVID-19 pandemic 
and ‘Brexit’ means that fiscal responsibility is ever more important. For us, recovering and rebuilding 
from the COVID-19 pandemic and adapting to a ‘new’ macroeconomic landscape, alongside 
challenges such as constrained financial resources, increasing demand, changing demographics, 
greater market competition and increasing customer expectations, means that ‘doing nothing’ is not 
an option.  
 
We recognise the above challenges and have, therefore, committed to adopting a broader, more 
‘commercially focused approach’ that will ensure we become even more financially disciplined when 
it comes to the delivery of our services. 

 
Whilst commercial related activity is not new to us as an organisation1, our first Commercial Plan, 
formalises our future ambitions relating to commercialisation and income generation. This plan will 
consolidate and provide a structured corporate framework for our existing, and all future, 
commercial activity. Fundamentally, this is about integrating commercial activities and a commercial 
mindset into the core of how we operate as an organisation, whilst also bearing in mind that we are, 
and will be for some time, continually adapting to a post-COVID-19 and post-Brexit landscape. 
 
While there may be a temptation to view commercialisation as the ‘silver bullet’ to address the 
challenges we face (particularly in light of the financial resources required to ‘recover’ and ‘rebuild’ 
from the COVID-19 pandemic), it must be considered as one part of the solution, alongside delivering 
efficiencies (part of which will be delivered through our Procurement Plan), helping communities to 
become more sustainable and independent, managing demand and changing ways of working. 

 
This plan, therefore, has clear links to the long-term vision for Belfast up to 2035, as set out in the 
Belfast Agenda, Belfast’s first Community Plan, and aligns to the ambitions and commitments set out 
in our Corporate Plan and key strategies such as those relating to Inclusive Growth, our Medium Term 
Financial (MTF)2 plans, Risk, Asset Management and Procurement. 

 
This plan applies whenever we enter into or manage our commercial arrangements, generate income 
or make commercial decisions. Whilst there is an onus on us to deliver and manage our services with 
a commercial ethos, we recognise this must be done to a degree that is deemed politically 
appropriate. 

 
  

                                            
1 We currently operate a range of commercial activities across a number of departments and services (in some cases this is done in partnership with our public and private 

sector partners).  
2 A key strand of this is the Efficiency Programme, which delivers annual cash efficiencies to support Elected Members’ ambitions on the level of district rate to be set and 

to support the financing of new priorities.  

Page 313



Drivers for Commercialisation 
 

Importantly, we recognise that the benefits of pursuing commercialisation are not purely financial, 
but include the ability to support the delivery of wider social outcomes such as: 
 
 Ensuring our resources are used sustainably to deliver positive social, economic and environmental outcomes to our 

local communities. 

 Increasing transparency and accountability as to how we do business.  

 Forging successful and trusted relationships with external partners. 

 Building our capacity and capability by investing in the skills and resilience of our workforce and supporting 
skills/knowledge transfer, thereby reducing costs incurred from seeking external support. 

 
Our Strategic Aims 

 
To define our Commercial approach: 

“We will take an innovative and business-like approach to commercial activity to secure 
the delivery of high quality, sustainable and Value for Money services for our local 

communities. Through this, we will support the achievement of those ambitions set out in 
the Belfast Agenda”. 

The overarching aim of our Commercial Plan is to generate a financial return that contributes to the 
Council’s investment plans, its efficiency programme and to ‘recovering’ and ‘rebuilding’ from the 
COVID-19 pandemic, and assists to safeguard services that are delivered in our local communities. To 
support this, we have identified five strategic aims, as follows: 
 

Commercial Plan - Strategic Aims 

 
 
We recognise that our ability to deliver our Commercial Plan will, however, depend on a number of 
internal and external factors, such as: 
 

Place commercial thinking and practices at the heart of the Council’s decision-making and operations in 
order to achieve better outcomes and superior value.

Contribute towards meeting the significant financial challenges faced by the Council.

Support the Council’s commercial effectiveness, by embedding a commercial focus and driving 
commercial benefits from all activities, services and contracts.

Adopt a commercial culture whilst retaining strong public, community and social values.

Work with partners who share our vision and ambitions and, in doing so, we shall continue to put the 
best interests of Belfast’s residents at the heart of everything we do.

Page 314



 Our capability3 and capacity to implement change and maximise opportunities; 

 Openness and honesty about the existing performance of our activities and services; 

 Receptiveness to alternative options for service delivery; 

 The political appetite towards risk, including a willingness to possibly accept failure and to invest now for a return in 
the future; 

 Our ability to measure success factors and learn from our mistakes; 

 How well we use our powers and delegations; 

 The number and type of assets which can be maximised (e.g. physical, human and intellectual);  

 How, when and in what way, we recover and rebuild from the COVID-19 pandemic and adapt to a ‘new’ 
macroeconomic landscape; and 

 The strength of our MTF Strategy. 

 
Our Priorities 
 
To achieve our Commercial Plan, we have identified five priorities that we will focus on during the 3-
year period: 

Commercial Plan – 3-year Priorities 

 
 
We have identified two thematic work streams that will assist us to deliver our five priorities. These 
are discussed in the following subsections. 
  

                                            
3 Including commercial acumen, skill sets and behaviours. 

1. Create a commercial culture – that is, behaving and acting in a more business-like way, when
considering how we manage, operate, deliver and resource our services and products in order to
deliver best value for communities and customers.

2. Ensure staff are equipped with the right skills to enable us to adopt some of the positive
culture and behaviours that are associated with commercial organisations.

3. Develop and embed a corporate and coordinated approach to commercial activity, with an
emphasis on effectiveness and adding value, improvement and efficiency and creating a working
environment which encourages commerciality, creative thinking, innovative practice and the
sensible management of risk.

4. Maximise charging, assets and investment opportunities to generate income and reduce costs.

5. Identify, develop and deliver existing and new (and innovative) income generating
opportunities across the Council’s commercial operations.

Page 315



1. Enhancing our Commercial Culture and Competency 
 
We have intentionally established the Commercial team to provide a strategic organisational 
approach to commercialisation, and to establish a commercial and business-like culture within the 
organisation. 
 
We recognise that our corporate approach to commercial activity is still in its infancy. That being the 
case, we will ensure the Commercial team has sufficient financial resources to expand or ‘scale-up’, 
where necessary, to ensure that it can deliver our commercial ambitions. This includes developing 
and initiating: 
 

 A commercialisation communications and engagement plan in order to raise awareness amongst 
all staff and Elected Members of our commercial approach. Key to this will be emphasising that 
the challenges we face means that we must have an overt focus on commercialisation. We will 
create various communication channels for individuals to engage with us on a rolling basis e.g. 
awareness raising sessions, ‘ideas generation’ workshops, features on our intranet, team briefs, 
commercial toolkits etc.  
 

 A rolling competency training programme to ensure that our staff are provided (where necessary) 
with the requisite skills and expertise required to achieve our commercial aspirations e.g. such a 
programme may include topics such as developing a business case, options appraisal, market 
analysis, contract management, financial modelling and forecasting etc.   

 

 Links with other local authorities that have adopted a commercial and business-like approach. 
This may be facilitated via existing networks, events and resources that are available from, for 
example, the Association for Public Service Excellence (APSE)4 and the Chartered Institute of 
Public Finance and Accountancy (CIPFA)5.  

 
Commercial activities cannot be viewed in isolation. We must take a commercial and business-like 
approach across all of our services if we are to ultimately thrive as an organisation. That is why 
embedding a commercial culture, as set out above, is so critical. 

 
Where appropriate, we will empower our staff to take business-like decisions, manage risk and seize 
new opportunities. It is anticipated that individuals across the organisations will feel valued and 
involved in our new commercial approach. Our staff will receive relevant support, training and 
guidance, which we view as a value, not as a cost to our organisation. 

 
2. Generating Income 

 
Each year, we are required to produce a balanced revenue budget in order to meet our service 
expectations. As set out in our Corporate Plan, we had a planned investment of £202.85m for 2019-
20. This planned investment is disaggregated, along with the corresponding projected income 
streams, in the following table: 
  

                                            
4 Which facilitates the ‘Local Authorities Commercialisation, Income and Trading Network’. 

5 Which provides access to commercial related accredited courses, e-learning tools and webinars.  

Page 316



Projected Expenditure and Income 2019-20 (source: Corporate Plan 2019-2023) 
Expenditure £ % 

Planning Committee £7.73 4% 

Strategic Policy & Resources Committee £56.00 28% 

People & Communities Committee £92.90 46% 

City Growth & Regeneration Committee £24.69 12% 

Capital Financing £21.52 10% 

Total £202.85 100% 

Income   

District Rate (from householders and businesses) £157.80 78% 

Fees & Charges £21.11 10% 

Grants e.g. from the European Union and central government £11.29 6% 

Other e.g. rents and licences £12.66 6% 

Total £202.85 100% 

 
However, Councils across Northern Ireland are becoming increasing reliant on income from the 
district rate, as recognised in the most recent Local Government Auditor’s Report6: 

“Income levels vary considerably across each Council. Whilst overall the sector experienced 
a real-term increase in revenue based income in the five years to 2017-18, there was an 
overall real-term decline in income from service fees, charges and central government 
revenue funding. This trend indicates that Councils are increasingly reliant on income from 
the district rate. Given the increasing funding pressures, it is important that Councils 
continue to explore options to maximise the income generated from its services, including 
considering the potential.“ 

 The reductions in public funding and the recent financial uncertainty created by the COVID-19 
pandemic and ‘Brexit’ have, unfortunately, compounded the financial issues facing local authorities.  
 
We need, therefore, to consider our operating environment in a different way and reducing the level 
of subsidy7 that is provided to support services is one possible option to improve financial 
sustainability. 
 
To support our ambition to generate additional income, the Commercial team will be responsible for: 
 

 Preparing a corporate Charging Policy and associated procedures. Whilst charging for services is 
a recognised feature of our existing activities and services, evidence from other Councils in Great 
Britain suggests that many services have traditionally been provided at little or no direct charge 
to the user. The provision of services at low, or no, charge has led to citizens often receiving 
heavily subsidised or free services in return for paying their Council rates. There is now an 
increased incentive for us to make best use of charging opportunities and to recognise the 
importance of using charging as a means of recovering the costs of delivering our services.  

 

 Establishing a comprehensive database of all the fees and charges (to be updated annually) that 
are levied for the Council’s services. The aim is to ensure that there is full visibility of the fees 
and charges across the entire organisation. Where necessary, the Commercial team will support 

                                            
6 Local Government Auditor’s Report 2019 (Northern Ireland Audit Office, 18th June 2019). 

7 A service is subsidised when the income from that service (if any) does not meet all the costs of delivering that service and so there is a net cost which has to be funded from the 

Council. The net cost represents the amount of that subsidy.  Page 317



the implementation of in-depth reviews of fees/charges were there are opportunities identified 
to generate greater Value for Money. 

 

 Developing a Council-wide framework, in partnership with individuals/departments, to identify, 
prioritise and pursue existing and new (and innovative) commercial and income generating 
opportunities. Central to this will be the development of a ‘prioritisation matrix’ for new 
commercial or income generating opportunities – this will ensure that ideas and projects can be 
scoped, appropriately resourced, developed and implemented (as appropriate). 

 

 Identifying commercial best practice across other local authorities and organisations. This may 
include obtaining market insights and monitoring the commercial ‘landscape’ to explore new 
opportunities.  

 

 Providing commercial advice and guidance to individuals/departments across the organisation. 
Whilst this plan will impact on all departments and services across our organisation, we recognise 
that ‘a one size fits all’ approach cannot be applied. Consequently, the nature and type of 
commercial advice and direction will vary across the organisation. For example, some services 
and activities already operate in a commercial way, therefore ‘scaling up’ may not require more 
than, for example, enhancing existing skills and capabilities. Alternatively, for some parts of the 
organisation, there may be a myriad of challenges (e.g. skills, capability and cultural) to address. 
For us, it is not about ‘doing’ commercial, but rather it is about ‘being’ commercial. This includes: 

 
 Considering the whole life cost of policy decisions, including market impact and benefits realisation. 

 Improving efficiency of service delivery – reducing costs and streamlining processes. 

 Maximising Value for Money from contractual relationships.  

 Making robust decisions on a consistent basis with evidence and a sound business case. 

 Considering new and innovative ways of generating income.  

 Taking an investment based approach to the use of financial resources, including assessing the return on 
investment in terms of financial return, delivery of the Council’s priorities and added value to our communities. 

 

 Developing, in partnership with others, alternative service delivery models, as appropriate. This 
may include shared services, partnership models or contracting out/in services (in-house versus 
out sourcing models). The most appropriate models for service delivery will be examined on a 
case-by-case basis, taking full account of the legal, risk and financial implications.  

 

 Ensuring any new proposals receive the necessary support or ‘buy-in’ from the Corporate 
Management Team and other stakeholders, as appropriate.  

 

 Developing, in partnership with the Marketing and Corporate Communications team, a Council-
wide Advertising and Sponsorship Strategy. Whilst advertising and sponsorship related activities 
are undertaken across a number of departments and services, our intention is that a corporate 
strategy will provide a consistent and appropriate approach to advertising and sponsorship, one 
which reflects our vision, priorities and values and contributes to our commercialisation 
ambitions. Such a strategy will be proactively managed by the CPS team as an income stream 
and will relate to advertising and sponsorship opportunities associated with, for example, our 
assets, services, events etc. 

 

 Working with relevant stakeholders across the organisation as part of the budget setting process 
to identify and maximise commercial opportunities in advance of a district rate being agreed.  

 

Page 318



 Working with the relevant individuals/departments to ensure that the Council’s assets are 
strategically managed. This will include, amongst other things, provision of support and guidance 
to individuals/departments during the development of an agreed Asset Management Strategy 
for the Council.  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 319



This page is intentionally left blank



              Appendix II 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Belfast City Council  
 
Commercial & Procurement Services 
 
Pricing Policy 
 
FOR INTERNAL PURPOSES ONLY 

 
 
 
 

Page 321



CONTENTS 
1. Introduction ................................................................................................................................. 1 

2. Legal Context ............................................................................................................................... 2 

3. Policy Aims .................................................................................................................................. 3 

4. Guiding Principles ........................................................................................................................ 4 

5. Establishing Prices ........................................................................................................................ 5 

6. Governance and Risk .................................................................................................................... 6 

7. Contact Details ............................................................................................................................. 7 

8. Policy Control .............................................................................................................................. 8 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 322



 

 

Belfast City Council - Pricing Policy 1 

1. Introduction 
Charges (and fees) represent an important source of income each year which is used to support the delivery 
of Belfast City Council’s (the Council’s) objectives. Whilst charging for services is, therefore, a recognised 
feature, many services may have traditionally been provided at little or no direct charge to the user. The 
provision of services at low, or no, charge (or fee) has led to citizens often receiving heavily subsidised or free 
services in return for paying their Council rates. Subsidising services1 is often driven by a desire to maximise 
take-up and to support the delivery of our wider strategic priorities. 
 
However, the reductions in public funding and the financial uncertainty created by the 2020 coronavirus 
(COVID-19) pandemic and the 2016 United Kingdom European Union membership referendum (‘Brexit’) has 
brought income generation and charging into sharper focus for us. 
 
Our increasing reliance on income from the rate was recognised in the Local Government Auditor’s Report 
2019. 
 

“Income levels vary considerably across each Council. Whilst overall the sector experienced a real-term increase in 
revenue based income in the five years to 2017-18, there was an overall real-term decline in income from service fees, 
charges and central government revenue funding. This trend indicates that Councils are increasingly reliant on income 
from the district rate.  
 
Given the increasing funding pressures, it is important that Councils continue to explore options to maximise the income 
generated from its services, including considering the potential for more efficient service delivery such as online facilities 
and automated processes.” 

 
This policy will ensure we make the best use of charging and pricing opportunities and recognise the 
importance of using charging as a means of recovering the costs of delivering our services. 
 
  

                                                
1 A service is subsidised when the income from that service (if any) does not meet all the costs of delivering that service 
and so there is a net cost which has to be funded from the Council. The net cost represents the amount of that subsidy.  Page 323

https://www.niauditoffice.gov.uk/sites/niao/files/Local%20Government%20Auditor's%20Report%202019.pdf
https://www.niauditoffice.gov.uk/sites/niao/files/Local%20Government%20Auditor's%20Report%202019.pdf


 

 

Belfast City Council - Pricing Policy 2 

2. Legal Context 
The Council cannot introduce or raise charges indiscriminately. We need to carefully consider the legal position 
in setting charges and be clear that what we are doing is in accordance with our legal powers and duties. 
 
Part 11 of the Local Government Act (Northern Ireland) 2014 outlines the General Powers of Councils, which 
includes: 
 

 Council's general power of competence; 

 Boundaries of the general power; 

 Limits on charging in exercise of general power; 

 Powers to make supplemental provision; and  

 Limits on power conferred by section 82(1). 
 
While this provides a starting point, there are also individual pieces of legislation (or acts) that usually take 
precedence e.g. in relation to leisure services, burials and cremations etc.  
 
This policy relates to fees and charges currently being levied by the Council and those which are permissible 
under the General Powers of Councils or the relevant legislation (or acts). It does not cover services for which 
the Council is prohibited from charging. 

The Council's default position is that, other than in cases where charging is prohibited, a charge should at 
least be considered unless there is a compelling and evidenced-based case not to do so. 

 
 
  

Page 324

https://www.legislation.gov.uk/nia/2014/8/part/11


 

 

Belfast City Council - Pricing Policy 3 

3. Policy Aims 
The aims of this policy are set out below: 
 

Figure 3.1: Policy Aims 

 

 
 
 
All Council officers should adhere to this policy, along with the Council's Financial Regulations and Scheme of 
Delegation, when determining charges (or fees) as part of the budget-setting process and for any other ad hoc 
consideration of service charges. Where the Council is working in partnership with another organisation, this 
policy should, where possible, still be adhered to. 
 
 

  

Establish a 
framework for 

setting and 
reviewing charges, 

including raising 
awareness of the 

factors that should 
be considered 
when doing so

Identify 
opportunities to 
introduce new 
charges where 

cost-effective to do 
so and/or 

consistent with 
wider policy 
objectives

Strike a fair balance 
addressing the 

financial needs of 
the Council through 

optimisation of 
income and the 

social needs of its 
customers

Ensure that 
Council officers are 

clear on their 
responsibilities

Promote 
consistency and 
fairness in the 
treatment of 
service users

Page 325



 

 

Belfast City Council - Pricing Policy 4 

4. Guiding Principles 
Any decision to vary or introduce charges must be aligned with our strategic priorities and financial objectives. 
Council officers must adhere to the following principles. 
 

Figure 4.1: Guiding Princples  

 

Adopting these principles can help to address concerns and opposition to charging and income generation. 

 
 
  

Page 326



 

 

Belfast City Council - Pricing Policy 5 

5. Establishing Prices 
Council officers should follow the framework set out in the 'Setting Prices - Getting it Right' guidance document 
<<INSERT LINK HERE>> when introducing or increasing/decreasing charges (or fees).  
 
A summary of the process is depicted below. 
 

Figure 5.1: Establishing Prices – An overview 

 
In the event that a decision is taken to introduce or increase/decrease a charge relating to a facility, activity or 
service, Council officers should adhere to all relevant guidance including Managing Public Money Northern 
Ireland (MPMNI) and Competition Law. 
 
 
  

Page 327



 

 

Belfast City Council - Pricing Policy 6 

6. Governance and Risk 
The Council's Financial Regulations (FR) and Scheme of Delegation (SoD) set out some details of the 
governance arrangements and approvals associated with charges and pricing, as illustrated below: 
 

Figure 6.1: Charges and pricing references 
 

 
 
 
At an organisational level, there is also an existing decision-making structure for commercial activity, as 
illustrated below. 
 

Figure 6.2: Governance Structure 

 
* NB: each department's own governance arrangements may mean that some matters require approval by other standing 
committees on occasion. This can be facilitated as required, per the above diagram. 
 

Any Council officer taking forward a proposal that involves the potential introduction or increase/decrease of 
a charge (or fee) outside of the budget-setting process should, unless otherwise advised by a member of the 
Commercial Panel or unless otherwise directed per the Council's Financial Regulations and/or Scheme of 
Delegation, seek to obtain approval through this structure. 
 
This policy is subject to regular review as part of the Council's overall governance framework. This review will 
include consideration of ongoing alignment with other related corporate documents (e.g. the Corporate Plan 
and Commercial Plan) and any changes in legislation and/or corporate strategies. If a department wishes to 
vary from the principles set out within this policy, approval from the Commercial Panel will be required. 
 
As a public body expending public funds, this policy is aligned with our published Risk Strategy, which states 
that risk management is an integral part of the Council’s assurance framework. Good governance, 
transparency and robust decision-making are effective mechanisms to ensure the Council is risk aware.   

FR: F.9 – “At the time when it 
formulates its revenue estimates, 
each Committee shall review the 

levels of all fees and charges under 
its control, following the guidelines 
issued by the Strategic Policy and 
Resources Committee, and report 

to that Committee on the outcome 
of the review.”

SoD: 2.2.12 – “Fixing new charges 
(where none previously existed) 
subject to statutory provision, in 

consultation with the relevant 
Committee Chair.”

SoD: 2.2.1 – “Each Chief Officer 
should consult the Strategic 

Director of Finance & Resources in 
relation to any matter within 

his/her area of responsibility which 
is likely to have a material impact 

on the finances of the Council 
before either incurring any 

commitment or liability, whether 
provisional or otherwise, or by 

reporting the matter to a 
Committee in accordance with 
paragraph A9 of the Financial 

Regulations.”

Commercial 
Panel Working 

Group

Commercial 
Panel 

Corporate       
Management 

Team

Other 
standing 

Committee (as 
required)*

Strategic 
Policy & 

Resources 
Committee

Page 328

https://belfastcitycouncil.sharepoint.com/sites/intranet/intranet/Pages/sections/cps-commercial-panel.aspx


 

 

Belfast City Council - Pricing Policy 7 

7. Contact Details 
 

 

Michael Denny - Commercial Manager 
 
Commercial & Procurement Services  
6th Floor, 9 Adelaide Street  
 
dennym@belfastcity.gov.uk  
 
Ext: 3821  
Mobile:  075 0078 3384 

 
For more information, please feel free to get in touch with Michael. 
 
  

Page 329

mailto:dennym@belfastcity.gov.uk


 

 

Belfast City Council - Pricing Policy 8 

8. Policy Control 
 

 
 

Policy title: Pricing Policy 
 

Document version: October 2020 
 

Departmental ownership: Finance and Resources (F&R) 
 

Team ownership: Commercial and Procurement Service (CPS) 
 

Document owner: Ronan Cregan, Deputy Chief Executive & Strategic Director of F&R 
  

Officer responsible or document authority: Noleen Bohill, Head of CPS / Michael Denny, Commercial 
Manager  
 
Date of approval: October 2020 
 
Approved by: Strategic Policy & Resource Committee 
 
Date of last review: N/A 
 
Date of last update: N/A 
 
Updated by: Michael Denny, Commercial Manager 
 
Date of next review: October 2021 (annual review) 
 
Location(s) of where document is held and referenced: CPS / Interlink 
 
 
 
  

Page 330



 

 

Belfast City Council - Pricing Policy 9 

 

Contact us: 
Commercial & Procurement Services 

6th Floor, 9 Adelaide Street  

Belfast 

BT2 8DJ 

 

   cps@belfastcity.gov.uk 

   028 9032 3501 

   www.belfastcity.gov.uk 

Page 331



This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix III 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Belfast City Council  
 
Commercial & Procurement Services 
 
‘Setting Prices - Getting it Right' - guidance document 
 
FOR INTERNAL PURPOSES ONLY 

 
 
 
 

Page 333



CONTENTS 
1. Introduction ................................................................................................................................. 1 

2. How does it fit with our Strategic Priorities? ................................................................................. 2 

3. Are we legally allowed to charge? ................................................................................................ 3 

4. How do we determine the costs? .................................................................................................. 4 

Introduction ................................................................................................................................................ 4 
Direct and Overhead/Indirect Costs ........................................................................................................... 4 
Administering charges ................................................................................................................................. 5 

5. Are there alternative providers and what do they charge? ............................................................ 7 

6. How do we treat concessions? ..................................................................................................... 8 

7. What will the impact be on services, users and citizens? ............................................................. 10 

8. How do we monitor and review activity? .................................................................................... 12 

9. What is the 'right' price to charge? ............................................................................................. 14 

10. Charging - Pros & Cons ............................................................................................................... 16 

11. Recap of the process... ............................................................................................................... 17 

12. Contact Details ........................................................................................................................... 18 

13. Feedback ................................................................................................................................... 19 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 334



 

 

Belfast City Council: ‘Setting Prices - Getting it Right' - guidance document 1 

1. Introduction 
Introducing or increasing/decreasing charges (or fees) is a complex exercise and needs to take into account 
many factors. 
 
This document will take you, as a Council officer, through each of these factors. But first, there are some key 
questions that you should initially consider when establishing or amending charges or fees. 
 

Figure 1.1: Key Questions 

 

 

Importantly, charges should not be set in isolation. 

 
  

1. How does it fit with 

our Strategic Priorities?

2. Are we legally allowed 

to charge for this 

service?

3. How do we determine 

the costs?

4.  Are there alternative 

providers and what do 

they charge?

5. How do we treat 

concesions?

6. What will the impact 

be on services, users 

and citizens?

7. How do we monitor 

and review activity?

8. What is the 'right' 

price to charge?

Page 335



 

 

Belfast City Council: ‘Setting Prices - Getting it Right' - guidance document 2 

2. How does it fit with our Strategic 

Priorities? 
Whether we decide to introduce or increase/decrease a charge is a significant strategic policy decision. At its 
most basic, introducing or increasing/decreasing charges will influence whether people use our services. 
 
Whether we decide to introduce or increase/decrease a charge is a significant strategic policy decision. At its 
most basic, introducing or increasing/decreasing charges will influence whether people use our services. The 
diagram below illustrates some examples. 
 

Figure 2.1: Charges influence whether people use our services 
 

 

 
 
A strategic priority to enhance 
residents’ health and wellbeing 
(which is one of the desired 
outcomes set out in the Belfast 
Agenda) may be adversely 
impacted by introducing or 
increasing charges on leisure or 
recreation activities/attractions, 
such as sports fields/pitches or 
swimming pools. 

 

 
 
City centre car parking charges 
may be set high to influence our 
sustainable transport aspirations 
but in doing so they may generate 
an income. This could potentially 
be reinvested in, for example, 
leisure or recreation activities/ 
attractions. 

 

 
 
An image of quality and 
‘something to value’ can be 
created by introducing a charge/ 
fee. This can, in turn, have a 
significant impact on how people 
use a service and the 
corresponding benefit they may 
derive from it. 

As the examples illustrate, charging is not just about generating income. 

 

 
 Have you read the Council's Pricing Policy to ensure that the proposed introduction or increase/decrease 

of charges complies with it? 

 Is there a clear rationale for introducing or increasing/decreasing a fee or charge e.g. increase/decrease 
demand, influence behaviour, enhance quality etc.? 

 Do you understand the actual and potential income streams and the opportunities that exist?  

 Will the introduction or increase/decrease of charges adversely impact upon the delivery of the Council’s 
(or a specific department’s) strategic priorities? 

 

 
 
  

Page 336



 

 

Belfast City Council: ‘Setting Prices - Getting it Right' - guidance document 3 

3. Are we legally allowed to charge? 
The Council cannot introduce or raise charges indiscriminately. We need to carefully consider the legal position 
in setting charges and be clear that what we are doing is in accordance with our legal powers and duties. 
 
Part 11 of the Local Government Act (Northern Ireland) 2014 outlines the General Powers of Councils, which 
includes: 
 

 Council's general power of competence; 

 Boundaries of the general power; 

 Limits on charging in exercise of general power; 

 Powers to make supplemental provision; and  

 Limits on power conferred by section 82(1). 
 
This provides a starting point, but you should be aware that there are also individual pieces of legislation (or 
acts) that usually take precedence e.g. in relation to leisure services, burials and cremations etc. 
 
The Council’s fees and charges fall into 4 main categories, as illustrated below: 
 

Figure 3.1: Fees and charges - 4 main categories 
 

 
 
 

 
 Do you need to seek opinion from Legal Services? 

 Is the Council legally allowed to set, increase/decrease or introduce charges?  

 Will the decision to introduce or increase/decrease charges adversely: affect individuals from an equality 
perspective; impact on the provision of services; and/or impact on the Council’s ability to meet its 
statutory responsibilities? 

 Do you know whether we can make a surplus?  

 Have you considered how surpluses will be dealt with? 
 

 

1. Those set by statute 
law, which are fully 

outside the Council’s 
control

2. Those set by statute 
law, where the amount 

charged has to be within 
certain parameters

3. Those that are applied 
by partners managing 

Council owned buildings 
and other services 

commissioned by the 
Council, where the 

Council may wish to 
exercise some control 

over these charges

4.  Those that are fully 
within the Council’s 

control in determining 
the amount that should 

be charged

Page 337

https://www.legislation.gov.uk/nia/2014/8/part/11


 

 

Belfast City Council: ‘Setting Prices - Getting it Right' - guidance document 4 

4. How do we determine the costs? 
Introduction  

For many services, charges are based on precedents and do not reflect the actual cost of providing the service. 
Keeping charges low is often influenced by a conscious decision to support and encourage usage and to, for 
example, ensure those on low incomes are given the opportunity to access and use services.  
 
However, only by fully understanding how much it costs to deliver a service can Council officers consider: 
 

 What fee or charge could be set? 

 What the strategic impact of our decision is likely to be on the service and those that use it? 

 What level of subsidy is appropriate to provide for the service?  
 
Some departments may apply a standard percentage increase in charges across all services (e.g. inflationary 
increases year-on-year), whilst others review and agree on changes on an individual service by service basis.  
 
Treating all services exactly the same and setting flat rate increases in charges has the benefit of being easier 
to administer. Furthermore, there is evidence to suggest that charges for similar services or activities should 
be consistent across the Council area.  
 
However, such an approach does not provide adequate assurance that we have considered the potential 
impact of a decision strategically. 

Knowing the full cost of delivering a service is the starting point when building a case to seek approval to 
introduce or increase/decrease charges. 

Direct and Overhead/Indirect Costs 

Most crucially, Council officers need to understand the full costs involved in delivering the service under 
consideration, which typically includes direct and overhead/indirect costs, as depicted below: 
 

Figure 4.1: Direct costs 

Direct costs 
Costs that can be readily and unequivocally attributed to a service/activity because 
they are incurred exclusively for that particular product/activity. 

- Direct employee costs (including NICs and superannuation).  
- Payments to third parties, contractors, service providers etc.  
- Materials and supplies e.g. spare parts, inventory, fuel etc.  
- Depreciation or lease costs of specific purpose buildings, vehicles, computer and 

other equipment used directly in delivery the service. 

 
  

Page 338



 

 

Belfast City Council: ‘Setting Prices - Getting it Right' - guidance document 5 

Figure 4.2: Overhead/indirect costs 

Overhead / Indirect costs 
Costs that are not directly attributable to an activity, but which are incurred in the 
provision of the service. 

- HR, legal, ICT, property, finance, ICT and marketing and communications. 
- Other employee costs. 
- Materials and supplies. 
- Office and accommodation costs. 

 
Understanding overhead/indirect costs can be a challenge, but it is important to understand these if costs are 
to be fully recovered. That said, in the case of small-scale services, it may be appropriate to use estimates for 
allocating indirect costs rather than developing elaborate cost accounting systems. Internal overhead re-
allocations/re-charges may also be applicable. Two widely used methods for allocating indirect costs are: 
 

Figure 4.3: Two methods for allocating indirect costs 

 

 
 

Administering charges 

Council officers need to also consider how charges will be collected, what an acceptable cost for administering 
and collecting income is, and how easy it will be to collect the charge.  
 
For example, in practical terms, it may not be worthwhile to charge for services where the cost and 
complexities of the collection are more and/or take longer (or are waivered where large-scale concessions 
apply) than was previously the case.  
 
There are also a range of direct and indirect costs involved in collecting a charge e.g. administration, ticketing 
and equipment to collect charges, managing non-payment and arrears and bad debts etc. We may offer a wide 
range of payment choices and promote options that have the lowest transaction costs for customers and for 
us.  
 
When introducing new charges/fees, there may be opportunities to both increase the use of digital, online 
and smartphone applications, as well as increase the use of external providers to improve efficiency further. 
Technology may also have a role to play in improving payment security and reducing transaction costs. 
Innovative ways to pay for services may include payment via authority websites, payment using mobile phones 
(e.g. for ticketless parking) etc. 
 

Activity-based costing (ABC)

• Links our outputs or goods and
services to the activities used to
produce them and then assigns a
cost to each output based on the
rate of consumption of associated
activities.

A pro-rata 
approach

• Allocates indirect costs on a
proportionate basis by using
measures that are easily available,
such as staff involved in the activity
as a percentage of total staff, or the
service unit’s share of total office
space.

Page 339



 

 

Belfast City Council: ‘Setting Prices - Getting it Right' - guidance document 6 

 
 Do you know how much it currently costs to deliver the service in full?  

 Do you know how much the Council currently subsidises the service by?  

 Is the Council seeking full or partial cost recovery (cost recovery relates to recouping a portion, or all, of 
the costs associated with delivering a service)?  

 Do you need to seek assistance from your department's Business Support or Management Accounts? 

 Do you know what the current demand for the service is? 

 Is there sufficient capacity and/or resources to implement the fee/charge?  

 Does the Council have the ability (technology, systems, human and financial resources) to implement and 
manage charges in areas not previously charged for? 

 Does the cost of implementing collection systems outweigh the potential income that will be raised? 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
  

Page 340



 

 

Belfast City Council: ‘Setting Prices - Getting it Right' - guidance document 7 

5. Are there alternative providers and 

what do they charge? 
Council officers should undertake benchmarking analysis with comparable services offered by other Councils 
(in Northern Ireland and/or Great Britain) and other service providers to compare their proposed charges and 
prices. This should serve as a starting point to inform your decision making and allow you to identify any 
significant variations and to take these into account when setting your charges.  
 
A key principle is that proportionate effort should be applied. This means that the resources to be devoted to 
this exercise should be in proportion to the scale or importance of the objectives and resource consequences 
under consideration. 

A note of caution, this does not mean simply mirroring charges/fees elsewhere, as local circumstances are 
likely to vary. 

Importantly, Council officers should be aware of any unexplained inconsistencies and should be able to explain 
any significant variations in charging e.g. due to cost differentials, service quality or policy etc. 
 
The phenomenon of ‘me-too’ pricing can be a common reaction of some Council officers that prefer to copy 
others, rather than to take steps to understand how the users of their service(s) think and behave. Such narrow 
benchmarking can mean that opportunities are missed.  
 

 
 Are there competitors/alternatives to the Council who could provide the service? 

 Is there potential to deliver services jointly with another Council or provider to reduce overheads? 

 Have you benchmarked costs to determine the scope for increasing charges? 

 Have you benchmarked the likely impact of introducing or increasing/ decreasing charges? 

 Could the Council stop providing the service without this decision impacting adversely on its statutory 
responsibilities? 

 Is there a commercial advantage for the Council providing this service? 
 

 
 
 
  

Page 341



 

 

Belfast City Council: ‘Setting Prices - Getting it Right' - guidance document 8 

6. How do we treat concessions? 
Concessions are a means for us to offer discounted fees and prices to particular individuals or groups, without 
having to limit standard charges. Some groups are widely recognised as being eligible for concessions e.g. 
children, people 60+ years old, adults on low incomes, individuals with a disability, students etc. Others include 
community groups and service veterans.  
 
This can help us to achieve our policy aims e.g. to promote social inclusion by encouraging minority or hard-
to-reach groups to use services.  
 
Charging and concessions should be considered together when designing pricing structures for a service.  

Importantly, policies for charging and for concessions should be consistent and integrated.  

The images below set out the typical considerations that may apply to you: 
 

Figure 6.1 Figure 6.2 

  
  

Figure 6.3 Figure 6.4 

  
 
  

Page 342



 

 

Belfast City Council: ‘Setting Prices - Getting it Right' - guidance document 9 

Figure 6.5 Figure 6.6 

  
  

Figure 6.7 

 
 
Equality of opportunity and the promotion of good relations are central to the Council’s Corporate Plan and 
the implementation of the Belfast Agenda. As part of our continued commitment to these, and to aid 
compliance with our responsibilities as a public authority under Section 75 of the Northern Ireland Act 1998, 
Council officers should ensure that, where appropriate, Equality Screening and/or a Rural Needs Impact 
Assessment are conducted in line with the Council’s policies and procedures. 
 

 
 Have you considered the use of concessions?  

 Have you considered how to treat non-residents?  

 Do you need to change eligibility?  

 Have you communicated eligibility criteria to service users? 

 Is there a requirement for Equality Screening and/or a Rural Needs Impact Assessment? 
 

 
 
  

Page 343



 

 

Belfast City Council: ‘Setting Prices - Getting it Right' - guidance document 10 

7. What will the impact be on services, 

users and citizens? 
Traditional economic theory suggests that a service is subject to an ‘elasticity of demand’. That is: 
 

 Increasing prices will typically lead to a situation where there is a corresponding decrease in demand 
(alongside potential increases in income, if the charges are being introduced rather than being increased). 

 Conversely, reductions in price will typically increase demand, potentially resulting in the service becoming 
financially unsustainable. 

 
There is, therefore, a careful balancing act. 
 
In determining the level of charge (and subsequently reviewing it), it is important that there is appropriate 
consultation with actual and potential service users in order that there is an understanding of the relationship 
between service use and charges.  
 
Service users are more willing to pay charges where they see that they are getting Value for Money. Council 
officers may also need to take into account local socio-demographic factors, such as the level of social 
deprivation, average weekly earnings etc., as users’ ability to pay is an important consideration in setting 
charges. 
 
Council officers must ensure they can: 
 
 Provide transparency and accountability of the charge introduced or increased/decreased.  

 Explain the context of the charge e.g. 
 

- How it has been determined;  
- The basis upon which charges have been calculated;  
- Set out the context within which the charges are being considered; and  
- What the income will be used for. 

  

 Demonstrate that the Council has considered the impact of charges on different members of the community.  

 Provide thorough market research on what other Councils are doing, what they are charging and what other 
private and voluntary bodies are doing in the same or similar markets.  

 Demonstrate that the end user is obtaining Value for Money. 

 
There is a risk that by increasing charges without proper consultation, the Council may actually lose income by 
pricing users out of the market. 
 
There may also be a reluctance among some Council officers to engage with service users and local 
communities on planned changes, especially where there are political sensitivities and perception of 
difficulties around the introduction of charges. Councils which have experienced a negative public or media 
reaction to new or increased charges are often reluctant to tackle the issue again, and consequently choose 
not to introduce or increase charges. 

Charging for a service could be controversial and unpopular. Taking the time to adequately consult with the 
market and stakeholders can often help to mitigate against such issues. 

  

Page 344



 

 

Belfast City Council: ‘Setting Prices - Getting it Right' - guidance document 11 

 
 Have you consulted with Elected Members, users, visitors, residents, third-sector partners and businesses 

within the area in relation to, for example, provision of the service, the introduction or 
increasing/decreasing of charges, changes to the eligibility criteria etc.? 

 Will the decision result in an increase/decrease in usage i.e. levels of demand? 

 Will the decision have a positive/negative impact on user’s behaviour? 

 Will the decision result in the service improving e.g. improvement in quality, quicker response times etc.? 

 Do you know what the likely impact of the decision to introduce or increase/decrease charges will be on 
services, visitors/users, stakeholders, businesses and the authority in the medium to long term e.g. on 
household incomes, the local economy etc.? 

 Do residents of the Council have the economic capacity to absorb an introduction or increase in charges? 

 Is the Council decision likely to result in unintended consequences? 

 Have you considered the political risks? 
 

 
 
 
 
  

Page 345



 

 

Belfast City Council: ‘Setting Prices - Getting it Right' - guidance document 12 

8. How do we monitor and review 

activity? 
The absence of monitoring and evaluation, particularly of the impact of charges on users, creates an 
‘information vacuum’. Consequently, it comes as no surprise that charging decisions, and the design of charges, 
can become dominated by ‘myths’ and ‘misconceptions’, as depicted by the examples below:  
 

Figure 8.1: ‘Myths’ and ‘misconceptions’ 

 

 

 
Page 346



 

 

Belfast City Council: ‘Setting Prices - Getting it Right' - guidance document 13 

All charges under the Council’s remit should be reviewed annually as part of the rate setting process. As part 
of the annual review, an appropriate increase or decrease should be included for factors such as inflation, the 
full cost of providing the service and any supporting services, current market rates, the Council’s strategic 
policies etc.  
 
The annual review should, where it is cost effective to do so, collect and use information on who is and is not 
using the service, and how service users and potential or non-users respond to changes in service charges.  
Any changes to Government policies in respect of charging should be adhered to and appropriate transitional 
arrangements put in place.  
 
The decision regarding the level and basis of calculation of charges should be transparent and open to scrutiny.  
Any significant increases in charges should be introduced over a period of time to reduce the impact on service 
users.  
 
Monitoring and evaluation does not have to be complicated or to involve expensive market research or 
consultants. Many departments may already collect useful information which will help them to see how users 
react to changes to charges or to the behaviour of competitors, such as information collected: 
 

 As part of contract monitoring; 

 Through one-off surveys; or 

 Through computerised systems e.g. those at leisure/recreation provision that provides usage of a facility 
by type, by length of time, by day/frequency etc. 

 
Nonetheless, it may be necessary to supplement the above with specific market research in order to probe 
aspects of user behaviour, including: 
 

 To determine how important price is in the context of other factors;  

 To identify how much users value different aspects of a service; or  

 To understand how target groups behave and think. 

A Council that fails to review and revise charges is often delaying the inevitable and continuing to fail to 
address the issue could result in far worse outcomes such as service closure or greater price rises in the 

future. 

 
 Can you collect the information you need to review the activity?  

 Have you agreed on an appropriate timescale (at least annually) to review your decision to introduce or 
increase a fee or charge and is this happening?  

 Have you agreed on an appropriate range of measures to be able to understand the impact of introducing 
or increasing/decreasing charges?  

 Can you benchmark performance with other organisations? 
 

 
  

Page 347



 

 

Belfast City Council: ‘Setting Prices - Getting it Right' - guidance document 14 

9. What is the 'right' price to charge? 
Each time a Council officer reviews its charges, they are faced with the same question - ‘what is the right 
price?’ i.e. what charge should be levied to the end user for the service provided.  
 
This seemingly straightforward question masks a deceptively complex challenge. Experts in the private and 
public sector have been unable to provide simple answers or even a converging view on the problem. They 
come at the problem from different perspectives, all of which have their merits.  
 
The nature of Councils brings additional complications that do not face a private sector organisation. We 
pursue a wide range of objectives. We have a unique role as both commissioners and providers of a wide range 
of services. For some services, we are the only provider and have a geographical monopoly. For others, we 
compete openly with the private sector for custom.  
 
Council officers are faced with a difficult judgement about which factors (depicted in the diagram below) 
should be given most weight. They need to balance the pros and cons of different charging options, and to 
prioritise competing, often incompatible, objectives and priorities. These complications ultimately make it 
difficult for Council officers to decide what the ‘right’ price is. 
 

Figure 9.1: What is the right price? 

 

 
 
 
In general, charges are simply rolled forward relatively unchanged each year. 
 
Despite the above, most charges are driven by the annual budget cycle. This typically results in an incremental 
approach to charging, which means we simply increase charges year-on-year in line with inflation. This is, on 
occasion, disrupted by crises, as we take action to attempt to meet a specific budget shortfall. 
  

Page 348



 

 

Belfast City Council: ‘Setting Prices - Getting it Right' - guidance document 15 

When charges are reviewed, this budget-driven approach means that the focus of the charge-setting tends to 
be based on the total income figure. The link, therefore, between charging and the objectives of service 
delivery are not made, with the result that decisions are made in isolation from their effects on users e.g. low-
income users may be left facing charges that they simply cannot afford. 

The best charging models make it clear that services cannot be developed in isolation from the user. 

As outlined in this document, responses from user surveys and wider consultation, alongside other analysis 
such as benchmarking and understanding the full cost of the service, should help inform the determination of 
charges for specific services. 
 
In cases where a material increase in the level of charge is proposed, it may be appropriate to give 
consideration to transitional arrangements. These may involve, for example, phasing in a change over a period 
of time to avoid undue financial hardship to particular groups. In such cases, the impact on the overall income 
received by the service should be clearly set out. 
 
 
  

Page 349



 

 

Belfast City Council: ‘Setting Prices - Getting it Right' - guidance document 16 

10. Charging - Pros & Cons 
The key pros and cons to charging are summarised below: 
 

Figure 10.1: Pros and Cons 

 

 
 Charges can be linked to corporate policies such as 

the environment or the health and wellbeing of 
individuals.  
 

 Charging has the power to affect the way that our 
services are delivered e.g. it can facilitate or deny 
access to services, change residents/users’ behaviour 
and/or enable us (via any income generated) to 
develop and improve our services in response to the 
needs of users. 
 

 There is a clear link between the payment of the 
charge and the consumption of the service.  
 

 Charges are transparent. The customer knows the 
cost of availing of the service and can, therefore, 
judge whether it provides value-for-money.  
 

 Conservation on the part of both the consumer and 
the local authority is encouraged. 
 

 An image of quality and ‘something to value’ can be 
created by introducing a charge. 

 The perception of ‘double taxation’ i.e. Council 
taxes/rates plus charges.  
 

 Charges are not always easily linked to individuals’ 
ability to pay.  
 

 On occasion, it is difficult to assess the true cost of 
the service and/or the actual level of consumption.  
 

 On occasion, charges can be difficult to collect. 
 

 Many consider it morally wrong to charge for public 
services.  
 

 For some services that are generally used by a large 
cross-section of the community, it is often impractical 
or unacceptable to introduce charges. 

 
 
 
 
  

Page 350



 

 

Belfast City Council: ‘Setting Prices - Getting it Right' - guidance document 17 

11. Recap of the process...  
A summary of the process is depicted below. 
 

Figure 11.1: Establishing Prices – An overview 

 
 
 
 
  

Page 351



 

 

Belfast City Council: ‘Setting Prices - Getting it Right' - guidance document 18 

12. Contact Details 
 

 

Michael Denny - Commercial Manager 
 
Commercial & Procurement Services  
6th Floor, 9 Adelaide Street  
 
dennym@belfastcity.gov.uk  
 
Ext: 3821  
Mobile:  075 0078 3384 

 
For more information or assistance with any queries, please feel free to get in touch with Michael. 
 
  

Page 352

mailto:dennym@belfastcity.gov.uk


 

 

Belfast City Council: ‘Setting Prices - Getting it Right' - guidance document 19 

13. Feedback 
Please feel free to click on the image below to provide some feedback on the information and guidance 
provided in this document. 
 

 
 

 
  

Page 353

https://forms.office.com/Pages/ResponsePage.aspx?id=lei8dENpXEmYr_o8WvvTNVgy2UTUo69LkhZGIds4InRUNFczWTA4SjFaWVpGQ0UwMTdGUDdSTlIzVi4u


 

 

Belfast City Council: ‘Setting Prices - Getting it Right' - guidance document 20 

 
 

Contact us: 
Commercial & Procurement Services 

6th Floor, 9 Adelaide Street  

Belfast 

BT2 8DJ 

 

   cps@belfastcity.gov.uk 

   028 9032 3501 

   www.belfastcity.gov.uk 

Page 354



Four Priority Projects                                                                              Appendix IV 

 
Project Title: Malone House 
 

Net cost to the Council: circa £147k  
 

Primary objective: Maximise an existing Council asset and reduce annual operating costs 
 

Secondary objectives:  
 

 Enhance the character of the estate as an open public space and as a recreational/tourism product. 

 Bring an imaginative new feel to Malone House. 

 Offer value for money and a quality product. 
 

Brief description: 
 
Barnett Demesne, once a private estate, opened to the public in 1951. As of 2020, the demesne, which is 
located at the Malone Road/Shaw’s Bridge intersection in south Belfast, retains much of the character of 
the original estate. There are a number of lease/licence arrangements within the grounds of Barnett 
Demesne that are managed by Belfast City Council.  
 
The grounds of Barnett Demesne include, amongst other things, Malone House, which is a two-storey late 
Georgian mansion. Since June 1983, Malone House has become a venue for weddings, conferences, social 
functions, private dining and other events (e.g. exhibitions), while the surrounding grounds are popular with 
walkers and cyclists. 
 
Within Malone House, there are two dining areas (Malone Room and Barnett Restaurant), four function 
rooms and two bridal rooms. The catering operations at Malone House (which covers events, ceremonies 
and retail services in both the dining areas and function rooms) are provided by an external catering 
company (French Village Catering Ltd.). It operates under an agreed contract with the Council. Analysis of 
data for the period 26/3/18 - 31/3/19 indicates that the occupancy or utilisation of the four main function 
rooms was between 19% and 35%.  
 
There is an opportunity to seek submissions, in the form of a publicly advertised ‘Request for Information’ 
(RFI), from suitably experienced and dynamic individual(s)/business(es) to take forward interesting and 
innovative proposals relating to operating Malone House (in a way that fits well with the character of the 
estate as an open public space and does not detract from the recreational/tourism use of the wider site). 
Indeed, the Council has received some informal proposals from interested parties, including non-profit 
organisations relating to Malone House. 

 
  

Page 355



Project Title: Bulky Waste Collection Service 
 

Net cost to the Council: circa £974k  
 

Primary objective: Reduce annual operating costs 
 

Secondary objectives:  
 

 Support behavioural change amongst local communities e.g. supporting reductions in waste, 
incentivising reuse or recycling etc.  

 Enhance customer experience e.g. by developing online functionality and capability. 
 

Brief description: 
 
The existing Bulky Waste Collection Service, covering the entire Council area, includes the collection of 
prearranged bulky waste goods (including white goods), along with fly tipped waste and alley clearances. In 
2018, 38,340 service requests for prearranged bulky waste collections were completed. However, a 
significant proportion of these collections are not completed (for a variety of reasons, including waste not 
being presented for collection). 
 
In addition, there has been a substantial increase in ‘uncontrollable’ costs, such as fuel, waste disposal (gate 
fees and landfill tax) and employee costs, in recent years.  
 
Initial benchmarking analysis indicates that other Councils in Northern Ireland provide similar services, but, 
unlike Belfast City Council, each have associated pricing structures in place.  
 
There is an opportunity to explore potential pricing options for the bulky waste service in order to, amongst 
other things, reduce annual operating costs. 

 
  

Page 356



Project Title: Pest Control 
 

Net cost to the Council: circa £285k  
 

Primary objective: Reduce annual operating costs 
 

Secondary objectives:  
 

 Enhance customer experience e.g. by developing online functionality and capability. 

 Determine appropriate delivery model for in-house pest control (which is currently outsourced). 

 Support behavioural change amongst local communities. 
 

Brief description: 
 
The existing Pest Control service, covering the entire Council area, offers visits to domestic households (free 
of charge) for the treatment of pests such as rats, mice, bedbugs, fleas and flies. In 2017, circa 5,000 
domestic visits were completed. 
 
However, a key issue for the service is that there is a significant proportion of no admissions for prearranged 
appointments. Consequently, there is a cost to the Council in terms of staff time, as the prearrange slot is 
lost productivity that could have been used for another visit. 
 
Also, Belfast City Council is the only council in Northern Ireland that offers a free domestic pest control 
service. 
 
Whilst Lisburn and Castlereagh Borough Council currently charges for a similar service, initial benchmarking 
indicates that no other Council in Northern Ireland offers this service. Instead, domestic residents are 
advised to engage with private sector providers. 
 
There is an opportunity to explore potential future options for the pest control service in order to, amongst 
other things, reduce annual operating costs. In addition, the Council currently uses external contractors 
(rather than in-house resources) to undertake pest control in its buildings. There is also an opportunity for 
the most appropriate delivery model and possible associated fees/charges to be examined as part any 
future service provision.  

 
  

Page 357



Project Title: Council-wide events Policy 
 

Net cost to the Council: circa £1.4m 
 

Primary objective: Reduce annual operating costs 
 

Secondary objectives:  
 

 Align with best practice in terms of levying charges for commercial related events. 

 Support the Council as it proactively seeks to host and/or facilitate future commercial-related events in 
the City.  

 Create consistency in approaches to pricing across teams/department within the Council. 
 

Brief description: 
 
The Council is involved in a range of commercial related events, including those that are held in its parks 
and leisure facilities (e.g. Belsonic and Tenants Vital festivals) and those that have a tourism and cultural 
focus e.g. annual Maritime festival etc.  
 
There is an opportunity to develop a Council-wide events policy & procedures to include establishing 
transparent, fair and consistent pricing options. It is anticipated that this will (amongst other things): 
 

 Support the Council as it proactively seeks to host and/or facilitate future commercial related events in 
the City.  

 Create consistency in approaches to pricing across teams/department within the Council. 
 
Preliminary research suggests that other Councils in Great Britain have events polices in place, which 
includes clear details of the various fees and charges that are levied for commercial related events. 

 

Page 358



 

 
 
STRATEGIC POLICY AND RESOURCES COMMITTEE 
 
 
 
 

 
Subject: Minutes of Meeting of the Shared City Partnership 

 
Date: 20th November, 2020 

 
Reporting Officer: Ryan Black, Director of  Neighbourhood Services 

 
Contact Officer: Nicola Lane, Good Relations Manager 

 

Restricted Reports     

Is this report restricted? Yes  No  

If Yes, when will the report become unrestricted?                                                    

After Committee Decision     

After Council Decision     

Sometime in the future     

Never     

     

 

Call-in     

 
Is the decision eligible for Call-in?                                                  
 

Yes  No  

 

1.0 Purpose of Report or Summary of Main Issues 

1.1 The purpose of this report is to inform the Committee of the key issues discussed at the 

Shared City Partnership meeting held on 9th November.  

2.0 Recommendations 

2.1 The Committee is requested to approve the minutes and the recommendations from the 

Shared City Partnership Meeting held on 9th November 2020 including: 

Peace IV  

To submit a request to SEUPB to: 

 reduce the contact hours for all projects as outlined in the modifications in 

Appendix 2, with no impact on the allocated budget;  

 extend the Letters of Offer for all themes to 31st December 2022 with an 

extended delivery timeframe for project activity to September 2022.  This 

 

 

 

 

 

X  

X 

Page 359

Agenda Item 7a



request is subject to a full budgetary review.  The timeframe will be re-

assessed in 6 months; 

 reduce participant numbers as outlined and to delegate authority to Good 

Relations Manager and PEACE IV Manager to agree appropriate targets 

and proportionate budget amendments for projects; and  

 realign KPIs and budgets in line with modifications requested. 

 

Good Relations Action Plan 2020/2021 

 that a budget of up to £10k be set aside for a diversionary programme in North Belfast 

and a budget of £5k for citywide initiatives which seek to inspire people from across 

the city to transform it for the peace and prosperity of all and need to move online with 

authority on spend in regard to the programmes being delegated to the Director of 

Neighbourhood Services or his nominee; and 

 that the budget of £5,000 would be set aside in relation to the Clean Space and Green 

Initiative   

 

Refugee Transition Guide  

 to approve the update, reprint, translation and digital upload of the Refugee Guide 

along with the associated expenditure of £15,000.  

 

Notice of Motion – Racism Free Zone 

 that a report in respect of the motion would be submitted to a future meeting.  

 

3.0 Main Report 
 

 

3.1 

 

 

 

 

3.2 

 

 

 

 

 

Key Issues 

The Shared City Partnership is a Working Group of the Strategic Policy and Resources 

Committee consisting of Elected members and representatives from various sectors across 

the city. The minutes from the Partnership are brought before the Committee for approval on 

a monthly basis. The Partnership met for the first time since March 2020 on 5th October. 

 

The key issues on the agenda at the November of the Partnership meeting were: 

 

 Presentations by Projects funded under Safe and Shared Community  

 PEACE IV Updates 

 Update on PEACE IV Secretariat 

 Modification Paper 

Page 360



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

3.3 

 Update on PEACE IV CYP Theme 

 Update on PEACE IV SSS Theme 

 Update on PEACE IV BPR Theme 

 Update on Good Relations Action Plan 2020/2021 

 Request to Update Refugee Translation Guide  

 Notice of Motion – Racism Free Zone 

 

More details regarding the above issues and recommendations are included in the minutes 

of the meeting attached in Appendix 1.  

 

 

 
3.3 
 

Financial and Resource Implications 

 

All financial implications are covered through existing budgets 

 

 

 
3.4 

Equality or Good Relations Implications/Rural Needs Assessment 

 

The recommendations of the Partnership promote the work of the Council in promoting good 

relations and will enhance equality and good relations impacts. 

 

4.0 Documents Attached  

  

Appendix 1 - Minutes of the Shared City Partnership meeting of 9th November  

Appendix 2 - Copy of Peace IV Project Modification Requests  

 

 

Page 361



This page is intentionally left blank



 
1 
 
 

 
SHARED CITY PARTNERSHIP 

 
MONDAY 9TH NOVEMBER, 2020 

 
MEETING OF SHARED CITY PARTNERSHIP 
HELD REMOTELY VIA MICROSOFT TEAMS 

 
 Members present: Councillor Kyle (Chairperson); and  
  Councillors M. Kelly and  
  Smyth. 
  
 External Members: Mrs. B. Arthurs, Community and Voluntary Sector; 
  Mr. J. Currie, Community and Voluntary Sector; 
  Miss. G. Duggan, Belfast City Centre Management; 
  Mr. S. Hamilton, Chief Executive, of the Belfast Chamber 
   of Trade and Commerce; 
  Mrs. J. Hawthorne, Northern Ireland Housing Executive; 
  Ms. J. Irwin, Community Relations Council;    
  Superintendent. K. Moore, PSNI; 
  Mr. M. McBride, Education Authority; 
  Mr. M. McGinley, Good Relations, The Executive Office; and  
  Ms. Ann Marie White, British Red Cross. 
 
  In attendance:  Mr. S. Lavery, Interim Neighbourhood Services Manager; 
  Ms. N. Lane, Good Relations Manager;  
  Ms. D. McKinney, Programme Manager;  
  Ms. L. Dolan, Good Relations Officer; and    
  Mrs. S. Steele, Democratic Services Officer. 
 
  

Apologies 
 

 Apologies for inability to attend were reported on behalf of Councillor Magennis and 
Mrs. O. Barron, Belfast Health and Social Care Trust. 
 

Minutes 
 
 The minutes of the meeting of 5th October were taken as read and signed as correct.  
 

Declarations of Interest 
 
 Mrs. B. Arthurs declared an interest in item 3, namely, Peace IV Updates, in that she 
is an employee of the Forward South Partnership, which acts as the delivery agent for one of 
the Peace IV projects.  
 

Schedule of Meetings 2021 
 
 The Partnership approved the following schedule of meetings for 2021 and agreed that 
it should continue to meet at 1.30 p.m.: 
 

 Monday, 11th January; 

 Monday, 8th February; 

Page 363



 
2 
 
 

 Monday, 8th March; 

 Monday, 12th April; 

 Monday, 10th May; 

 Monday, 7th June; 

 Monday, 9th August; 

 Monday, 6th September; 

 Monday, 11th October; 

 Monday, 8th November; and 

 Monday, 6th December. 
 

Presentations by Projects funded under Shared and Safe Community 
 

 The Partnership was reminded that, at its last meeting, it had agreed to receive 
presentations from representatives from the following organisations: East Belfast Community 
Development Agency, the Consortium working on the Refugee and Asylum Seekers Projects 
and Forward South Partnership to hear more about the invaluable work of these organisations 
and to help the Partnership understand the impact of the Covid pandemic on BAME 
communities.  Accordingly they were welcomed to the meeting and presented in regard to their 
work over the pandemic.  
 
East Belfast Community Development Agency –  
Mr. J. Currie and Ms. A. Lojek 
 
 Ms. Lojek commence by providing an overview of the East Belfast Community 
Development Agency which included its mission and aims for the future.  She explained that 
East Belfast had experienced a change in demographics and was now a very diverse area to 
live but whilst some ethnic groups had integrated well, others needed support and assistance.  
She detailed the many challenges that faced newcomers and highlighted that there was a new 
wave of Romanians, refugees and asylum seekers that all required support.  In addition to this, 
she outlined that the existing local community also needed support as unfortunately there was 
lots of fear and cultural misunderstandings coupled with the changes that Brexit might bring.  
 
 The representative specifically referred to the Covid-19 support that had been 
implemented and detailed the range of community support that had been available during the 
pandemic, this included the East Belfast helpline which closed on 3rd July, online workshops 
and Hug in a Box parcels for those living with dementia.  She referred to the signposting on 
the EBCDA website in respect of providing details regarding local community support and also 
detailing the specific help and assistance available in East Belfast in response to the 
pandemic.  More information in respect of this was available on the EBCDA website here   
 
Covid 19 Response for the Refugee and Asylum Community -   
Ms. D. Wright and Mr. R. Doherty 
 
 Ms. Wright, commenced by explaining that the Covid-19 Response for the Refugee 
and Asylum Community was a Partnership that had been established to ensure a food 
response during the Covid-19 pandemic.  She advised that Belfast Roundtable was part of the 
Partnership along with Belfast Homeplus, NICRAS, Embrace, South Belfast Foodbank and 
Storehouse.  It was part of a bigger partnership under the NI Refugee and Asylum Forum and 
aimed to ensure that vulnerable people’s needs were met and not duplicated. 
  

Page 364

https://www.ebcda.org/covid-19-info


 
3 
 
 

 
 She detailed that help in the form of both funding and the provision of food parcels had 
been provided by the following organisations: 
 

 Department for Communities;  

 Belfast City Council; 

 Minority Ethnic Development Fund; 

 The Executive Office; 

 Community Foundation NI; 

 National Lottery; and 

 Migration Exchange 
 
 The support from the various organisations had been invaluable but she explained that 
it had required a central point of contact to coordinate and ensure that the support was 
delivered to those in need, hence the formation of the response team.   
 
 Mr. R. Doherty from Homeplus then addressed the Partnership to outline some of 
the work undertaken.  He advised that an asylum seeker had £37.00 a week to live off.  At the 
start of the Covid-19 outbreak many of the existing support mechanisms for refugees and 
asylum seekers had been closed down due to social distancing measures. At this stage, with 
the use of volunteers and staff, the team had aimed to ensure that these vulnerable people 
had received not only received culturally appropriate food parcels but also support for 
loneliness and appropriate advice that was given via a manned telephone helpline.      
 
 The Partnership noted that support had been provided to 184 single asylum seekers, 
171 families and also to 100 families who were refugees.  
 
Forward South Partnership – Mrs. B. Arthurs and Ms. M. Vartejanu 
 
 Mrs. B. Arthurs advised that the Forward South Partnership (FSP) had also been 
working with the Covid-19 Response for the Refugee and Asylum Community and she 
commended the work had been undertaken with collaborative working. 
 
 Ms. M. Vartejanu advised that the FSB had been invited by Belfast City Council and 
the Belfast Health and Social Care Trust to administer and manage a citywide Covid-19 
helpline which would enable Roma families to access appropriate support services in their own 
language, based on the need of the Roma Community.  The helpline had been active from 
22nd April and would remain operational until 31st December.  
 
 The Partnership was advised that the aim of the helpline was to ensure, through 
collaborative working with key stakeholders, that relevant advice was given to the Roma 
community during what was a critical time.  She detailed that the project operated remotely by 
telephone 25 hours per week, Monday – Friday.  It either offered free advice or signposted 
individuals in respect of food and supplies (nappies, milk vouchers and toiletries), housing 
matters, benefits and immigration advice.   
 
 The initiative had been hugely successful with 800 people having used the service up 
to 1st November, support had been provided in their own language and almost 150 users had 
returned to avail of the service each month.  In addition, the service noted and identified trends 
and gaps that existed and tried to bridge these gaps accordingly.    
 
 The Chairman, on behalf of the Partnership, thanked the various representatives for 
their hard work and commitment during the pandemic and for the invaluable support and 

Page 365



 
4 
 
 

assistance that they had provided to people within the BAME Communities within the Belfast 
City Council area.   
 
 Several of the presenters asked that their thanks be recorded to the Council for the 
financial and practical support that their organisations had received which had greatly assisted 
them in progressing their work stream.  
 
 The Partnership discussed the level of deprivation that continued to plague many of 
these communities and specifically referred to the fact that digital poverty had been extremely 
prevalent over the pandemic which had often prevented people from accessing up to date 
information.   
 
 The Partnership thanked the representatives for their informative presentations at 
which point they left the meeting.  The Democratic Services Officer undertook to circulate the 
PowerPoint presentations and the video link to the Members of the Shared City Partnership. 
 

Peace IV Updates 
 
Update on Peace IV Secretariat 
 
 The Partnership considered the following report:  
 

“1.0 Purpose of Report or Summary of main Issues 
 To provide the Shared City Partnership (SCP) with a progress 

report in respect of the Secretariat activity associated with the 
implementation of the PEACE IV Local Action Plan. 

 
2.0 Recommendations 
 
 The Partnership is requested to recommend to the Strategic Policy 

& Resources committee that they note the contents of the report. 
 
3.0 Main report 
 
3.1 Covid 19 Impact 
 
 The tighter government restrictions announced on 14 October 

significantly impacted planned delivery of project activity and the 
PEACE IV workplan.  Where possible activity was moved online or 
rescheduled, details are reflected in the Thematic Update reports. 

 
 It should be noted that online activity has resulted in lower 

participant numbers due to barriers including access to 
equipment, lower attention span, ability to complete work in own 
home and privacy issues.  

 
3.2 Project Modifications 
 
 The PEACE IV team continues to be in close contact with all 

delivery partners to determine the impact on project delivery and 
consider relevant project modifications.  A separate report on 
Covid 19 Impacts and Project Modifications has been compiled for 
members to consider. 

 

Page 366



 
5 
 
 

 In light of changing circumstances full budgetary review and 
financial modelling is being progressed to ensure budget 
availability for any extension request.  

 
3.3 Underspend proposals 
 
 SEUPB has confirmed approval for the St Comgalls proposal 

submitted to utilise the BPR underspend.  Steps to mobilise the 
project via a procurement approach is progressing, it is anticipated 
that the tender call will open mid November 20 with appointment of 
a contractor in January 21.   

 
 Liaison with SEUPB regarding the necessary budget adjustments 

on eMS regarding the underspend is progressing. 
 
3.4 Programme Workplan 
 
 A final virtual tour of City Cemetery took place on 19 October with 

over 20 attendees.  Due to tighter government restrictions, 
specifically guidance on non essential travel, the drive in cinema 
planned for 7 November has been postponed.  A call for 
storytellers as part of the virtual 10x9 event on Peace has been 
issued.  The 10x9 event is scheduled for 25 November and 
invitations will be issued to members in due course. 

 
3.5 Verification and Audit 
 
 An internal audit of the PEACE IV Local Action plan is to 

commence in December with preliminary information to be 
submitted to AGRS in November 20. 

 
3.6 Financial & Resource Implications 
 
 All PEACE IV costs are recoverable from the funding body subject 

to eligibility. 
 
 SEUPB has fully reimbursed all claimed expenditure up to and 

including Claim 23 (May-Aug 20) totaling £2,942,180.68   
The breakdown across themes is as follows: 

 
 CYP: £935,588.49 
 BPR: £1,086,458.99 
 SSS: £920,133.20 

 
3.7 Equality or Good Relations Implications/Rural Needs Assessment 
 
 The draft plan has been equality screened and discussed at the 

Equality Consultative Forum on 13 May 2015.” 
 
 The Partnership agreed that the Strategic Policy and Resources Committee be 
recommended to note the information contained within the report. 
  

Page 367



 
6 
 
 

 
Modification Paper 
 
 The Partnership considered the undernoted report: 
 

“1.0 Purpose of Report or Summary of main Issues 
 
 To provide the Shared City Partnership (SCP) with an update on 

the current impact of the COVID 19 crisis on the PEACE IV 
Programme, outline activity and actions to date and highlight the 
key modifications required to progress implementation of the 
PEACE IV Local Action Plan. 

 
2.0 Recommendations 
 
 The Partnership is requested to recommend to the Strategic Policy 

& Resources Committee that they note the contents of the report 
and consider the modifications as outlined subject to approval by 
SEUPB. 

 

 To submit a request to SEUPB to: 
 

 Reduce the contact hours for all projects as outlined in 
the modifications in Appendix I, with no impact on the 
allocated budget.  

 Extend the Letters of Offer for all themes to 
31 December 2022 with an extended delivery timeframe 
for project activity to September 2022.  This request is 
subject to a full budgetary review.  The timeframe will be 
re-assessed in 6 months. 

 Reduce participant numbers as outlined and to delegate 
authority to Good Relations Manager and PEACE IV 
Manager to agree appropriate targets and proportionate 
budget amendments for projects  

 Realign KPIs and budgets in line with modifications 
requested. 

 
3.0 Main report 
 
3.1 Implementation of the PEACE IV Local Action Plan continues to be 

adversely impacted by the Covid 19 pandemic and government 
restrictions.  As such the Council will face significant pressures on 
the revenue and capital programmes under PEACE IV to ensure 
Council can meet its contractual obligations.  SEUPB has indicated 
that an extended delivery timeframe will be approved they have 
advised there will not be any additional funding. 

 
3.2 The PEACE IV team and Delivery Partners have worked diligently 

throughout the pandemic to progress project activity, engage 
community groups and recruit participants using alternative 
approaches.   

 

Page 368



 
7 
 
 

3.3 Modifications to project activity have been implemented over the 
last 7 months, including moving to online activity, smaller group 
sizes, reduced contact hours and amended activity, the ongoing 
government restrictions are significantly impeding recovery and 
project progress.     

 
3.4 Project activity has gradually been recommencing, however the 

recent restrictions have resulted in the mitigations to progress 
previously postponed activity being suspended or delayed further.  
Most face to face community activity has either being replaced with 
online activity or delayed, in addition camp style / residential 
activity being deferred.    

 
3.5 Where possible delivery partners continue to implement projects: 
 

 project activity via online platforms, although limited  

 engagement / mentoring with some participants on a 1-1 
basis is ongoing at a project level 

 administrative activities such as procurement is 
proceeding 

 
3.6 However, it should be noted that participation levels in projects / 

sessions are significantly reduced.  By way of example, participant 
levels for one project reduced from 80 to 13 when online delivery 
was implemented.  Lack of equipment, low attention span, 
voluntary participation and privacy have been highlighted as 
rationales for these reduced levels.  In addition, many community 
groups / organisation have suspended their activities and venues, 
normally used for community activity, remain closed.   

 
3.7 Whilst SEUPB acknowledges that Council is ‘in the eye of the 

storm’ in delivering PEACE IV activity during this challenging time, 
modifications have been relatively limited and requests to reduce 
participant targets, particularly for the Children & Young People 
theme have been refused. 

 
3.8 The Council’s current Letters of Offer for all themes are to 30 June 

2022 and PEACE IV staff contracts are in place to 31 December 
2021. 

 
4.0 Project Impacts / Modifications 
 
4.1 Project delivery has been closely monitored on a monthly basis 

through contract management meetings, online activity reports 
and risk trackers as well as monthly thematic meetings with 
SEUPB. 

 
4.2 Measures to enable social distancing such as larger buses, larger 

venues, smaller group sizes and more 1-1 engagement and 
facilitation has increased costs for delivery partners. 

 
4.3 Following the recent government restrictions and working on the 

basis that some level of restrictions will remain in place for the next 

Page 369



 
8 
 
 

6 months, delivery partners have submitted project modifications 
for consideration, as outlined in Appendix I. 

 
4.4 The proposed modifications are submitted based on the activity 

and results that can realistically be achieved over the next 6-9 
months (taking into account Government restrictions) and 
amendments required to enable the achievement of results as 
close to the original project as possible. 

 
4.5 Given the broad scope of projects and differing stages in delivery, 

project modifications need to be considered on a case by case 
basis.    

 
4.6 PEACE IV delivery agents are making every effort to engage and 

recruit participants, however as payment for several projects is 
based on deliverables, some partners are expending huge efforts 
and yet may not get fully reimbursed.   

 
4.7 All delivery partners have provided a commitment to deliver as 

close to the contractual obligations as possible.  
 
4.8 However it should be noted that several partners have advised they 

do not have the resources to continue delivery beyond the current 
contract period, principally 31 December 2021.  As such, there will 
be no opportunity to make up the shortfall in targets incurred 
during 2020. 

 
4.9 Other risks to implementation of the PEACE IV Local Action Plan, 

due to Covid 19 and the overstretched community infrastructure 
are: 

 

 Not achieving participation targets / results  

 Increased costs of delivery 

 Withdrawal by delivery agents 

 Potential ineligible spend  
 
 As government restrictions continue to change, the successful 

delivery of the programme remains indeterminate in a very 
challenging and the ever changing environment.  

 
5.0 Recommendations 
 
5.1 The proposed modifications are broad ranging and have been 

considered by the Thematic Project Managers and the PEACE IV 
secretariat taking into account the current PEACE IV Output 
Indicator Guidance and modifications approved to date.   

 
5.2 On this basis it is recommended that Council submit a request to 

SEUPB to: 
 

 Reduce the contact hours for all projects as outlined in the 
modifications in Appendix I, with no impact on the allocated 
budget  

Page 370



 
9 
 
 

 

 Extend the Letters of Offer for all themes to 31 December 
2022 with an extended delivery timeframe for project activity 
to September 2022.  This request is subject to a full 
budgetary review.  The timeframe and staff contracts will be 
re-assessed in 6 months. 

 

 Reduce participant numbers as outlined and to delegate 
authority to Good Relations Manager and PEACE IV Manager 
to agree appropriate targets and proportionate budget 
amendments  

 

 Realign KPI and budgets in line with modifications 
requested.” 

 
 The Programme Manager advised the Members that some of the modifications 
requested were outside of the normal tolerances adopted by SEUPB, however, it should be 
noted that the tolerances had not been amended to reflect the impact of Covid-19. 
 
 The Partnership recommended to the Strategic Policy and Resources Committee that 
it adopt the recommendations. 
 
Update on Peace IV – Children and Young People (CYP) Update 
 
 The Partnership was provided with an update on the progress to date in respect of the 
CYP theme, under the Peace IV Local Action Plan.  
 
 The Members were advised that under CYP1- Tech connects, the recruitment for 
delivery of Tech Camps by Giga Training through Digital Arts Academy during Halloween had 
taken place.  Contingency plans to move the programme online had been required which 
resulted in lower levels of participation.  They noted that engagement with schools had also 
progressed and that the Belfast Metropolitan College had commenced recruitment for an 
online Insight Programme which was scheduled to commence in early November.  
 
 In respect of CYP 2- Playing our Part in the City, the Members were advised that, as a 
result of Covid 19, the realignment of milestones and extension for Year 3 to March 2021 had 
been agreed.  In addition, there had been a condensed delivery format of a week-long camp 
during Halloween which had been approved by the SEUPB.  Recruitment was also continuing 
and the Members noted that new parents had engaged with the project.  
 
 Under CYP 3 - On the right track- The Members were advised that, unfortunately, the 
Government and Sporting Body restrictions had significantly impacted upon delivery.  They 
noted that the realignment of milestones/payment schedule for the OCN element delivered by 
ACN had been approved by the SEUPB.  On a positive note, a meet and greet had taken place 
with Mr. C. Frampton and Mr. P Barnes on 5th October. 
 
 The Officer reported that retendering for venues activity had closed on 9th October with 
one submission being received for Lot 7 County Dublin.  No bids had been received for Lot 5 
County Leitrim and Lot 6 County Navan.  Subsequently, negotiated procedures/direct awards 
were under consideration.  
 

 With regard to the Personal Change element, the Partnership was informed that due 
to small participant numbers, Extern had continued to engage participants and delivery activity 
included educational visits, day activities and planning for residentials was underway. 

Page 371



 
10 
 
 

 

 Under CYP4- Young advocates, the Members were informed that discussions with 
community groups to recruit cohort 4 had been ongoing, with anticipated delivery via bubbles 
and blended learning.  Subject to the level of recruitment, an option to pause the project activity 
was under consideration.  
 

 The Members were advised that under CYP 5-NIHE Local Area Network partner 
delivery, procurement for the delivery of activities was being prioritised.  Engagement was 
ongoing, however, club closures, restrictions within Education Authority premises and overall 
restricted activity as a result of the pandemic was having a knock-on impact upon delivery and 
it was likely that an extension beyond December 2021 would be required.    
 

 The Partnership noted the update. 
 

Update on SSS theme 
 

 The Partnership considered the following report: 
 

“1.0 Purpose of Report or Summary of main Issues 
 

 To provide the Shared City Partnership (SCP) with a progress 
report in respect of the Shared Spaces and Services (SSS) theme 
of the PEACE IV Local Action Plan. 

 

2.0 Recommendations 
 

 The Partnership is requested to recommend to the Strategic Policy 
& Resources Committee that they note the contents of the report. 

 

3.0 Main report 
 
3.1 Key Issues 
 

 Implementation of both the Shared Space & Services (SSS) capital 
and programming element is continuing on a phased basis with 
current work focused on Springfield Dam.  Monthly management 
meetings to monitor the level of risk, progress and status of the 
project are ongoing – Appendix I Risk Tracker and Appendix II RAG 
report refers. 

 

3.2 A very successful media campaign, including a video, to launch 
Forth Meadow Community Greenway took place on 20 October 
2020 with extensive coverage on social media including BBC NI, 
Newsletter online, Belfast Live, Belfast Times, U105, MSN online.  
Newspaper coverage also included Daily Mirror, Newsletter and 
Shankill Mirror.  A publication incorporating a map and details of 
the key sections is currently being developed and will be circulated 
to key stakeholders at the end of November.  Appendix V refers.  

 

 Capital Works – Forth Meadow Community Greenway 
 

3.3 Springfield Dam 
 

 Works are nearing completion however due to material shortages, 
the handover date has been delayed until the end of November 
2020. 

 

Page 372



 
11 
 
 

3.4 A closed call for applications for support under the Social Value 
Clause in the Springfield Dam contract was issued to 10 voluntary 
community organisations.  3 applications were received and 
assessed. Awards to two organisations to provide outreach work 
to address anti social behaviour have been approved and are 
progressing. The third application failed on eligibility.  Support 
under the Social Value Clause will be for the period October 2020 
to January 2021. 

 
3.5 PEACE IV Network Scheme – Capital Works 
 
 The assessment process to appoint a contractor under a single 

party framework is now at the final stages and approvals from 
SEUPB will then be progressed.   The proposed schedule for works 
is to commence with Section 1 Glencairn to Ballygomartin and then 
to Section 3 Springfield Road and Falls Park in 2021.   

 
3.6 Programming  
 
 Implementation of programming aspects has progressed where 

possible.   
 
3.7 Pilot Youth Civic Education Project 
 
 Final attendance records and evaluation have been submitted and 

the final payment is being processed, after which the project can 
then be closed. 

 
3.8 Lanark Way Fitness Project 
 
 Clonard Neighbourhood Development Partnership, as project lead, 

have submitted the required attendance records and attitudinal 
surveys.  A project evaluation is due before final payment can be 
processed and the project can be closed. 

 
3.9 Dialogue & Engagement Project 
 
 A Webinar event to share the results of the recent online survey 

took place on 21 October.  Participants had further opportunity to 
contribute to key questions on the use and management of the 
Greenway.  251 people responded to the online survey, 81% (204 
people) identifying as local residents and 83% (209 people) saying 
that local residents should be involved in the management of the 
Greenway.  Further details on the survey results on the use and 
management of the Greenway are outlined in Appendix III and IV.  
With ongoing restrictions around COVID 19, the final stage of the 
project is to be agreed along with completion of the final 
report/action plan and it is proposed that MDL is invited to the next 
meeting of the SCP to present the final report. 

  

Page 373



 
12 
 
 

 
3.10 Shared History, Heritage and Identity Content / Narratives for 

Shared Space 
 
 Following a negotiated tender approach, approved by SEUPB, a 

contract award to a consortium of Mediation NI and the Osborne 
Partnership is progressing. 

 
3.11 Shared Space Volunteer Training 
 
 Approval is being progressed with SEUPB to award contracts to 

Sustrans for the delivery of cycle and walking lead training.    
 
 Feedback from interested parties on the Ambassadors, Heritage 

and Nature Guides is being sought in order to determine the next 
steps. 

  
3.12 Springfield Dam activities 
 
 The ever changing government restrictions have impacted the 

development and implementation of an animation programme to 
mark the opening of the Dam and encourage community usage.  
Discussions are ongoing with Council’s Parks and Community 
Services department, community organisations and external 
providers regarding potential programme activity   

 
3.13 Financial and Resource Implications 
 
 PEACE IV costs are recoverable from SEUPB, as the funding body, 

subject to eligibility of expenditure.  Discussions with the key 
stakeholders regarding wider community benefit and contributions 
to the project are being progressed and prioritised.  

  
3.14 Equality or Good Relations Implications/Rural Needs Assessment 
 
 The draft plan has been equality screened and discussed at the 

Equality Consultative Forum on 13 May 2015.” 
 
 The Partnership agreed that the Strategic Policy and Resources Committee be 
recommended to note the information contained within the report and agreed that MDL 
be invited to the next meeting of the Partnership to present its final report in respect of the 
management of the Greenway.  
 

Update on Peace IV - Building Positive Relations  
 

The Programme Manager provided the Partnership with an update on the progress to 
date in respect of the Building Positive Relations (BPR) under the theme of the PEACE IV 
Local Action Plan. She referred specifically to a number of projects including: 
 

 BPR1-Cross Community Area Networks; 

 BPR2- Creative Communities project; 

 BPR3- Transform for Change Project; 

 BPR4- Belfast and the World (BATW); and 

 BPR5- Supporting Connected Communities. 

Page 374



 
13 
 
 

 
 As part of BPR1, the Programme Manager advised that all CCAN areas had been 
identified and approved and the project team had received positive responses from all key 
players within the CCAN areas in relation to participant recruitment.  The ITT for the Good 
Relations Programme was anticipated to commence early 2021, subject to SEUPB 
consideration and approval prior to a public tender exercise.  It was noted that the ITT for the 
Place Visioning Programme was currently under NIHE internal review.  
 
 Under BPR2, it was reported that the Arts/Heritage residency programme was 
anticipated to commence during November in the following areas:  Woodvale/Ardoyne; 
Shankill/Clonard; Carlisle Circus; Divis/Lower Shankill; Football thematic cluster between 
Albert Foundry and St Malachy’s Football Club. 

 The remaining 3 clusters had moved to a thematic basis, SEUPB approved, Inner East- 
East Belfast Women’s groups; Colin/Dunmurry/Suffolk- LGBTQ+; Village/Broadway.  
Proposal had been submitted to the SEUPB seeking it to consider working with Cross 
community group of students from Malone Integrated College.  It was anticipated that this 
programme would commence in Spring 2021.  
 
 Under BPR3, it was reported that 12 courses across 10 interface clusters had 
completed in year 1 with 128 participants verified as completed to date. Year 2 had 
commenced during mid-September with 110 currently registered in the following Cluster 
areas, Inner East/Short Strand; Lower Ormeau/Market; Falls/Shankill; Suffolk/Lenadoon; 
Upper Springfield Rd; Colin and North Belfast. The 7 identified Cluster areas in North Belfast 
had merged to create one large group due to the low uptake across all clusters. A second 
North Belfast Cluster was due to commence mid-November with 14 registered to date.  
The Partnership was advised that securing participation from Council staff and statutory 
sectors had increased, however, representation from political sectors had remained low which 
presented a continued challenge.    
 
 The Programme Manager reported that the delivery of collaborative project workshop, 
which was led by the Council, had been impacted by the pandemic.  Workshops were currently 
underway in the Lower Oldpark/Manor Street; Falls/Shankill; Suffolk/Lenadoon; Crumlin 
rd/Ardoyne/Glenbryn. Efforts were ongoing to try and re-energise participation in 
Village/Westlink; Lower Ormeau/Market. Inner East/Short Strand’s project (Kids Zone/Urban 
garden at this interface).  
 
 The Partnership noted that unfortunately the organisation of local community 
engagement events, citywide networking events and a cross border/UK study visit were all on 
hold due to the current government restrictions.  
 
 Under BPR4, it was reported that: Year 2 (2019) participant group (24 ppl) and Year 3 
cohorts (Shankill Women’s Centre Health and Wellbeing group (26ppl) and Ballynafeigh 
Community Development Association (14ppl), these were due to complete mid-November 
2020. A third year 3 cohort were currently being sourced and it was anticipated that it would 
commence early 2021. Officers were hopeful that the organisation of two plays 
(commemorating Peace Day and Partition) would be able to be held during Spring 2021, this 
would be subject to the government guidelines in place at the time of the proposed events. 
The Partnership noted that the Project Co-Ordinator was currently liaising with TPM and BCC 
Good Relations staff in relation to centenary events in 2021.   
 
 The Partnership was advised that 38 participants had been successfully selected to 
participate on the EU trip to Belgium in late March. Council staff were currently finalising the 
arrangements and a pre-visit workshop had been scheduled to be held on the evening of 

Page 375



 
14 
 
 

10th March in Belfast City Council. Again, these proposals would be subject to the Covid 
restrictions and government guidelines in place at this stage.  
 
 Under BPR5 – Supporting Connected Communities - LINCS Projects, the officer 
advised that 34 core participants were currently active with 64 newly recruited participant’s pre 
and during Covid -19. The delivery agent continued to engage with participants on a daily 
basis.   
 
 BPR5 – Traveller element of Supporting Connected Communities.  The Programme 
Manager reminded the Partnership that this element of work was managed by the Council.  
She reported that a public recruitment exercise was currently underway for the recruitment of 
a Traveller Support Officer and it was hoped that the postholder would be in place before the 
end of 2020.   
 
 BPR5 – Roma elements of Supporting Connected Communities.  The Partnership 
noted that assessment of the public tender, which had closed on 5th October, was currently 
underway.  
 
 Members welcomed the work that had progressed and stated that they recognised the 
difficulties that the current restrictions were having on the planned delivery of the projects.  
The Chair, on behalf of the Partnership, thanked the staff for their ongoing efforts and 
continued commitment to programme delivery.  
 

Update on Good Relations Action Plan 2020/2021 
 
 The Partnership considered the undernoted report:  
 

“1.0 Purpose of Report or Summary of main Issues 
 
1.1 Council received a Letter of Offer from The Executive Office (TEO) 

towards the 20/21 District Council Good Relations Programme 
(DCGRP) based on the action plan submitted to TEO in February 
2020.  

 
1.2 Subsequently, a draft Revised Good Relations Action Plan for 

2020/21 was approved by the Council in August 2020 and was 
noted by the Partnership at its October meeting. 

 
1.3 It was understood by Council and TEO that given the current 

environment, this would likely be the first of a series of revisions 
to the Belfast City Council Good Relations Action Plan in line with 
the direction of travel agreed by Strategic Policy and Resources 
Committee on 19 June 2020 and approved at Full Council on 1 July 
2020.  Further revisions to the plan will take in to account emerging 
community need as part of overall community recovery across 
Belfast and will be brought forward in due course in that context. 

 
2.0 Recommendations 
 
2.1  

 Members are requested to recommend to the Strategic 
Policy & Resources Committee that a budget of up to 10k 
be set aside for a diversionary programme in North Belfast 

Page 376



 
15 
 
 

and that authority on spend on the programme be delegated 
to the Director of Neighbourhood Services or his nominee.  

 
3.0 Main report 
 
 Current Position 
 
3.1 Council submits an annual Good Relations Action Plan for 

consideration by TEO in February of each year; TEO then issues a 
Letter of Offer based on identified need in each Council area and 
the level of resource available. A Letter of Offer was received for 
approximately £570,000 on 15th June 2020. This will provide a total 
allocation of approximately £740,000 for the action plan which 
required amendment to reflect the level of resource available. 

 
3.2 At the last meeting of the Partnership, Members endorsed the 

Council’s approach to Community Provision Recovery and agreed 
that the budgets for Tranche 2 Good Relations Small Grants 
Scheme and St Patrick’s Day be allocated to ongoing community 
provision recovery funding programme.  

 
3.3 Members were also advised of a number of projects which had 

been funded through the Plan which were developed in response 
to community need, assist in addressing social and economic 
recovery and meet the priorities under T:BUC.. 

 
 Diversionary Programme – North Belfast  
 
3.4 The North Area Support Team has been engaging with a number of 

stakeholders across the area and incidents of anti-social behavior 
have been significant. These incidents have potential to raise 
community tensions in areas which are situated near interfaces or 
contested spaces. Support is being sought for a programme that 
will use a range of outdoor facilities to deliver activities and 
engagement involving sports coaching and workshops with young 
people who are at risk of becoming involved in ASB. This 
programme will be targeted towards young people from areas in 
north Belfast where there have been high levels of ongoing 
antisocial behavior such as Duncairn, Tigers Bay and New 
Lodge.  This will include sports activities in football pitches and 
outdoor play areas owned by Belfast City Council and other 
sporting organizations as well as group work which will seek to 
build relationships and highlight the impacts and consequences of 
involvement in this type of behavior.  

 
3.5 In recent months, different areas in north Belfast have experienced 

sustained high levels of antisocial behavior. A range of statutory 
organizations and community partners are working together to try 
to address this issue and several summer programmes were 
delivered. The situation has been more challenging because of the 
current COVID 19 crisis which has impacted on the availability of 
centre based activities for young people as organizations seek to 
deliver services in line with changing government restrictions.  

 

Page 377



 
16 
 
 

3.6 There is a continued need to deliver services from November 20- 
March 21 to provide ongoing engagement opportunities. Given the 
restrictions on numbers who can engage in centre based activities, 
the provision of activity in more outdoor settings with fewer young 
people in each setting has been identified as an approach that will 
help to meet current gaps. This approach will seek to engage in or 
near where ASB activity is happening. Costs requested will be for 
facility hire, coaching/training and refreshments. A budget of up to 
£10,000 is requested to support this work across north Belfast. 
This will  include a range of different areas in north which will allow 
the flexibility to deliver services in different areas as required.  

 
3.7 In developing this programme, cognisance will be taken of the 

work being undertaken through the Education Authority, voluntary 
youth organisations and that supported through the DPCSPs to 
ensure there is no duplication. 

 
3.8 This project fits within a number of TBUC priorities such as 

Children and Young People, Shared and Safe Communities and 
can be accommodated through Planned Intervention or the 
Interfaces Programme. 

 
 Financial & Resource Implications 
 
 This request can be accommodated within the existing budget. 
 
 Equality or Good Relations Implications and Rural Needs 

assessment 
 
 Screening and a rural needs assessment has taken place for the 

Good Relations Strategy. The councils’ District Council Good 
Relations Action Plan is one element of this strategy.” 

 
 In addition, the Good Relations Manager also advised the Partnership of the following 
matters:  
 
 Clean Space and Green Initiative – the officer sought permission to keep this in the 
budget for the forthcoming year, to a maximum of £5k. 
 
 Citywide Initiatives – the Partnership was advised that citywide festivals and events  
promoting good relations work would proceed online and she sought approval for a budget of 
£5k to be set aside to deliver this programme of work and that authority be delegated to the 
Director of Neighbourhood Services or his nominee.  
 
 The Partnership was also asked to note that Blue Zebra had been appointed to 
undertake the Strategic Project listed under the BCC4 Civic Engagement and Learning 
Programme.  In progressing to the recovery phase, this would capture the experience and 
learning from Phase 1 of the Council’s response, in order to assist it in understanding how the 
learning could contribute to peacebuilding and in delivering appropriate and effective 
interventions moving forward as a City.   
 
 She concluded by advising that the Council would be running an online event to 
commemorate the 2021 Holocaust Memorial Day, further details would follow in due course.  
 

Page 378



 
17 
 
 

 
 Members of the Partnership recommend to the Strategic Policy and Resources 
Committee that: 
 

 a budget of up to £10k be set aside for a diversionary programme in North 
Belfast and a further budget of £5k for citywide initiatives aimed at promoting 
good relations work and to assist with the move to online delivery.  Authority 
in regard to the funding for the programmes be delegated to the Director of 
Neighbourhood Services or his nomine; and  

 it agree a budget of £5k be set aside in relation to the Clean Space and Green 
Initiative.   

 
Request to update Refugee Transition Document 
 
 The Good Relations Manager advised that it was proposed that the Refugee Transition 
Guide be updated.  She advised that the Refugee Asylum Forum, in 2011, had previously 
identified an information gap relating to the provision of advice for people who claimed asylum 
and were subsequently granted refugee status.  Once a refugee was given a positive decision 
by the Home Office to stay in Northern Ireland, they had 28 days to leave the supported 
accommodation which had been provided to them as an asylum seeker. After 28 days not only 
must they leave their supported accommodation but in addition the benefits they received as 
an asylum seeker stopped. It was recognised that this situation could leave many people in a 
very difficult situation and even destitute unless they received quick and appropriate advice.   
 
 In response to this gap, the Council had commissioned the Law Centre to develop a 
guide which included comprehensive information in respect of the following: 
 

 Becoming a refugee: UK law and practice as it related to those granted 
refugee status, humanitarian protection, discretionary leave or indefinite 
leave to remain; 

 Finding somewhere to live: Information on temporary and permanent 
housing options, rights at each stage and how to access them;  

 Working: Information regarding permission to work and advice on preparing 
for and accessing employment; 

 Accessing benefits: The rights, entitlements and welfare benefits people are 
entitled to once they are granted permission to stay, including an easy to 
follow checklist documenting what people are entitled to and how to access 
such entitlements; 

 Family Reunification: Information and advice on applying for family 
reunification; 

 Settling into life in Belfast: Cultural and factual information on aspects of 
Northern Irish life that would assist with integration in Belfast;   

 Useful contacts: Description and directory of other services / sources of 
information, including online guides specific to people granted refugee status, 
humanitarian protection, discretionary leave or indefinite leave to remain; and  

 Personal actions: A personal information section for actions to be taken by 
the user and his /her advisor. 

 
 The guide had been used by advice workers and refugees and it was recognised as a 

model of good practice by the Department of work and Pensions.  It was widely used and 

disseminated and had helped support the integration and inclusion of Refugees. 

Page 379



 
18 
 
 

 The Partnership was advised that the guide had been updated in 2017 and reprinted, 

however, lately organisations supporting refugees had indicated that a further update and 

reprint was now overdue to take account of changes in Universal Credit and wider support 

services for Refugees.  It was felt that given the digital exclusion encountered by many in the 

Refugee community that a printed version was necessary.  

 The Good Relations Manager explained that, based on the previous guide and costs 
for print and translation, that a budget of £15,000 would be required.  The Officer advised that 
this could be incorporated into the existing DCGRP budget.  
 
 A Member welcomed the fact that the guide was to be updated and she reiterated what 
a valuable a tool it was, not only to the refugee community but also to support organisations.  
She suggested that due to the fluid situation as a result of both the Covid 19 pandemic and 
Brexit that a smaller print run be undertaken initially which would enable the guide to be 
updated.  Whilst she noted that a print run was necessary for those without digital access, she 
felt that a greater emphasis needed to be put into incorporating updated information more 
regularly, particularly in relation to changes to the Universal Credit system and felt that any 
such changes could be incorporated into the online version.  In addition, she highlighted that 
many of the support organisations could access the guide digitally.  
 
 Members of the Partnership recommended to the Strategic Policy and Resources 
Committee that it approve the update, reprint, translation and digital upload of the Refugee 
Guide along with the associated expenditure taking into account the Member’s comments.  
 

Motion - Racism Free Zone 
 
 The Partnership was advised that at the Council meeting on 1st October, the following 
motion, which had been proposed by Councillor Canavan and seconded by Councillor Garrett, 
had, in accordance with Standing Order 13(f) been referred to the Strategic Policy and 
Resources Committee for its consideration: 

 
“That this Council recognises that racism is a scourge across this 
society.  This Council further recognises the positive contribution made: 
to society by those from Black, Asian and minority ethnic backgrounds; 
deplores the discrimination Black, Asian and minority ethnic 
communities face regularly; condemns racism in all its forms; and calls 
on this Council to work together with the sector; local BAME 
representative groups; schools and colleges; private businesses; and 
public enterprises to ensure that this Council area becomes a racism 
free zone.” 

 
 The Committee had considered and adopted the motion at its meeting on 23rd October 
and had agreed that a report on the issues raised within the motion be considered by the 
Shared City Partnership.  
 
 The Good Relations Manager advised that officers were still preparing the report and 
she asked the Members to note that it would be submitted to a future meeting of the Partnership 
for consideration and discussion.  
 
 It the absence of Councillor Magennis, who had been unable to attend the meeting, the 
Chairman relayed to the Partnership a statement which he had forwarded detailing his support 
for the motion.  
 

Page 380



 
19 
 
 

 The Partnership noted that a report in respect of the Motion would be submitted to a 
future meeting.  

 
 
 

 
 

Chairperson 
 

Page 381



This page is intentionally left blank



PEACE IV LOCAL ACTION PLAN – PROJECT MODIFICATION REQUESTS – OCTOBER 20                                                                                               Appendix 2 

CYP 
Project 

Delivery 
Agent  Achievement to Date 

 Modifications Approved to 
Date  Current Delivery Status  

 Modification Required / 
Rationale  

Reduction in 
Hours  

Reduction in 
Participants  

Extension in Time 
frame  Budgetary Implications 

CYP 1 
Tech 
Connects 
Afterschool 

GIGA 
Training  

133/1152 completed 
 
Engaged with schools for 
commencement in Dec 20 

Moved to online activity   Due to Commence XMAS 
20 

 As activity is fully online  
Due to low take up request is to 
extend extension to October 22 

N/A  N/A  Contract is currently to 
Apr 22  A 6 month 
extension to Oct 22 
would reduce pressure to 
achieve targets  

None  
Extension will realign targets 
and payment schedule within 
existing contract 

CYP 1 
Tech 
Connects – 
Tech Camps 

GIGA 
Training  

As Above 
+ further 13 participants 
currently engaged in online 
activity end Oct 20 

Moved to online activity   Due to Commence end of 
Oct  

 As activity is fully online  
Due to low take up request is to 
extend extension to October 22 

N/A  N/A  Contract is currently to 
Apr 22  A 6 month 
extension to Oct 22 
would reduce pressure to 
achieve targets  

None  
Extension will realign targets 
and payment schedule within 
existing contract 

CYP 1 
Tech 
Connects – 
Insignts 
project 

BMC  As Above Moved to online activity   Due to Commence Nov 20  As activity is fully online  
Due to low take up request is to 
extend extension to October 22 

N/A  N/A  Contract is currently to 
Apr 22  A 6 month 
extension to Oct 22 
would reduce pressure to 
achieve targets  

None  
Extension will realign targets 
and payment schedule within 
existing contract 

CYP 2 
Playing Our 
Part 

Active 
Communities 
Network  
(ACN) 

153 CYP /640 + 30 parents 
completed  +  
180 recruited for 20  (Yr 2) 

Some online activity approved 
Halloween Camp to enable 
condensed activity 
 
Realignment of KPIs 
Yr1 (18/19) now 153 from 230 
Yr2 (19/20) now 187 from 190 
Yr3 (Dec 20-Mar 21) now 160 / 
130 
Yr4  Dec 21 now 140 from 90 
 

Groups currently engaged 
in project via online 
activity.  
 
5 day camp of Condensed 
activity for Halloween.   

 Request to 
- reduce contact hours and 
condense activity into 5 day 
camps/ weekend activity.   
 
Residential activity may replace 
camps, subject to restriction. 
 
Required to achieve contact 
hours and enable smaller group 
sizes 

Reduction in 
Contact Hrs  
 
Young People 
from 44 to 26 hrs 
 
Parents from 30 
to 24 hrs  

No  Extend timeframes for 
achievement of KPI  
 
Yr 2 KPI date from Dec 
19 to Dec 20 
Yr 3 KPI date from Dec 
20 to Mar 21 
Yr 4 KPI now Dec 21 
  
No extended timeframe 
required Delivery Partner 
has indicated that project 
will be delivered within 
existing contract 
timeframe. 
 

None – Payment schedule will 
be refined to realign with revised 
targets  
 
 
Any savings from reduced 
contact hours is offset by 
smaller group sizes, increased 
facilitation, larger venue / 
transport to enable social 
distancing 

CYP 3  
On the Right 
Track 
Sports 
Project 

Leisure / 
Sports inc 
OCN 
Training via 
ACN 

533 / 1800 completed OCN 
 
153 currently recruited and 
participating on project 
 
Current programmes are at 
a much lower capacity due 
to Covid 19 Impacts  
 

Reduction in contact hours 
 
Cross border residential 
activity ceased temporarily. 
 
Flexibility of replacing 
residential activity with day 
activities / trips 
 
Current extension to Apr 22 

Progressing in small pods 
for OCN delivery & 
replaced residential 
activity, with day activity. 

 Request to  
- Reduce contact hours to 26 hrs 
for all participant groups (with 
flexibility for 80% achievement) 
- Reduce participant numbers by 
722to 1,078 
- Extended delivery timeframe to 
September 2022 
 
Reduced uptake / smaller group 
sizes necessary 
 
Flexibility regarding day activities 

Reduce contact 
hours to 26 hrs 
for all participants 
groups (80% 
achievement) 
 
 
 

Reduction in 
participant 
numbers from 
1800 to 1078  
 
Need to realign 
annual KPIs 
 
Participants; 

893 

Coaches 91 

Young 
champions 94 

Extended delivery 
timeframe from Apr 22 to 
Sept 22 

None – Direct Delivery where 
costs on as incurred basis. 
 
Extended delivery will be met 
within existing budgets.   
 
Cost savings of residential 
activity may be offset by 
increased costs in day activities 
/ transport / venues   
 
Underspend in equipment costs 
may be utilised to extend 
programme delivery to proposed 
Sept 2022 end date 

P
age 383



CYP 3  
Personal 
Change 

Extern  27/42 participants current 
recruited & participating 
(Yr 1 =12 / Yr 2 = 15) 

Reduction in contact hours for 
Year 2 participants from 305 to 
265 hours 

Progressing in small face 
to face groups & 1-1 
Mentoring. 

 Request to  
- Reduce contact hours for Yr 1 
hrs due to being unable to 
continue activity and deliver 
residential activity to achieve 
required contact hours. 
  
Some activity requires  smaller 
group sizes  

Reduce contact 
hours for Yr 1 
participants from 
305 to 265 hrs 

No No extended timeframe 
required. 
Delivery Partner has 
indicated that project will 
be delivered within 
existing contract 
timeframe 

None  
 
Costs savings from reduced 
contact hours is offset by 
increased facilitation and 1-1 
mentoring. 

CYP 4 
Young 
Advocates 

Co 
Operation 
Ireland 

53/80 participants 
completed activity 

Cohort 3 campaign moved to 
online activity/survey 

Have been liaising with 
community partners to 
recruit new participants.  

 Request to: 
- Pause project delivery until 
February 21 
- Condense contact hours into 
residential activity 
- Relocate cross border 
conference to Belfast in Sep 21 
 
Modification is required to 
maintain original context of 
project with face to face activity 
and bringing groups together. 

Not Required Not Required 
 
Recommenced 
activity will 
comprise of 
condensed 
contact hours 
into residential 
activity 
 
Realignment of 
deliverables – 
Cross border 
conference to 
be moved to 
Belfast Sept 21 

No extended timeframe 
required. 
 
Delivery Partner has 
indicated that project will 
be delivered within 
existing contract 
timeframe by Dec 21 

None 
 
Payment based on achievement 

of outputs as such schedule will 

be refined to realign with revised 

targets. 

CYP 5  

Local Area 

Networks 

NIHE  263 / 900 participants 

recruited to project.  Level 

of engagement with 

participants being 

confirmed 

Submitted 13/10/20 Finalising budget to extend 

programme to Sept/ Dec 

22 if feasible, & dependent 

on BCC being extended. 

 Request to 
- extend delivery period for 6 
months to Sept 2022  
- reduce target hours for core 
participants  
- amend target number of 
participants from 900 to 720 
- reduce target hours for peer 
participants  
- allow flexibility to deliver 
elements in a condensed format  
 
Curtailed of government 
restrictions has impacted the 
establishment of new networks, 
restricted the recruitment of new 
participants and the completion of 
cross-community contact hours 
 
No appetite from participants to 
complete online 

Reduce target 

hours for core 

participants from 

200 hours to 160 

hours 

Reduce target 

hours for peer 

participants from 

30 to 26 hrs 

Reduce target 

number of 

participants 

from 900 to 

720 

 

 

 

Extend delivery period 

for 6 months to Sept 

2022 

 

Allow flexibility to deliver 

elements in a condensed 

format 

None  
Extended timeframe and all 
activity to be delivered within 
allocated budget with no 
additional funding required 
 

 

 

P
age 384



 

BPR 
Projects 

Delivery 
Agent  Achievement to Date 

 Modifications 
Approved to Date  

Current Delivery Status / 
Activity of next 6-9 months 

 Modification Required / 
Rationale  

Reduction in 
Hours  

Reduction in 
Participants  

Extension in Time 
frame  Budgetary Implications 

BPR1 
Cross 
Community 
Area 
Networks 
(CCAN) 

NIHE 0/144 core participants 

0/900 attendees 
Engaged with Groups to 
participate in project 
 
Progressing procurement  
 
Online recruitment 
discussions West Belfast 1 &2 
with key residents/ comm 
organisations 
 
Exploratory discussions 
underway in North, East, 
South and South West with 
key residents/ comm 
organisations  
 

Refined CCAN area   Appoint Good Relations 

delivery agent 

Establish 6 CCANs 

Recruit core participants 

Delivery of good relations 

activity 

Commence empathy audit 

process across 6 networks 

 

 Reduce participants from 1044 to 
840 including  
Core participants from 144 to 120  
Reduce wider participants from  
900 to 720 
Reduce contact hours for wider 
participants from 26 to 22 hours. 
Extend delivery timeframe from 
March 22 to Sept 22 
 
Covid 19 Impacts: 
- Essential services prioritised by 
NIHE resulting in procurement 
delays. 
- Government restrictions has 
impacted F2F engagement with 
groups  
- Community groups /have 
suspended activities  
- Venues for community activity 
are closed. 

Reduce contact 
hours for wider 
participants from 
26 to 22 hours. 
 

Reduce core 
participants 
from 144 (24 
per CCAN) to 
120 (20 per 
network) 
 
Reduce wider 
participants in 
Place Shaping 
Programme 
from  900 (150 
per CCAN) to 
720 (120 per 
CCAN) 

Extend delivery 
timeframe from March 22 
to Sept 22 
 

None  
Extension will realign targets 
and payment schedule within 
existing Partner Agreement. 

BPR2 
Creative 
Communities 

BCC – 
Tourism, 
Culture, Arts 
& Heritage 

0 / 264 participants 
0 / 3600 attendees 
 
Artists-in-Residence for 3 
Cluster Areas : 
 - Clonard / Mid Shankill 
 - Carlisle Circus 
 - Woodvale / Ardoyne 
 
Procurement processes 

underway for 2 cluster areas: 

 - Divis / Lower Shankill 
 - Football Thematic Cluster 
 
Discussions with 3 clusters 
areas  
- Schools Thematic Cluster 
- East / South East Belfast 
- LGBTQ+ Thematic Cluster 

Thematic Cluster agreed 
 
Reduced participant nos 
from 400 to 264 
 
Contact hours reduced 
from 90 to 60 hours   
 
Extended delivery until 
Sept 22 

 
Cluster Steering Groups liaise 

with appointed artist to co-

design delivery timetable. 

Participant recruitment and  
initial design work with 
established clusters due to 
commence by end of Oct 
 

 Extend Delivery timeframe to 
Sept  22 

N/A  
 

Extend Delivery 
timeframe to Sept 22 

None – Direct Delivery where 
costs on as incurred basis. 
 
Extended delivery will be met 
within existing budgets.   
 
Realignment of targets / KPIs 

BPR3 
Transform 
For Change 

NICVA 128 (Yr 1) /934.participants 
completed.  
56 participants commenced 
(Yr 2) + 54 registered /EOI 
(end Oct 20) 
 

Moved to online activity   
30 hours made up of 20 
hours online delivery and 
10 hours participant 
guided learning 

Delivery of 7 TLP’s courses 
from Sept ’20 – Jan’21 with a 
further 18 TLP’s planned until 
Dec’ 21.  

 Request to : 
Revised payment terms – 
management costs to be covered 
regardless of outputs. 
 

Flexibility to 
achieve 70% of 
required contact 
hours – 21 / 30 

480 
participants to 
be achieved by 
2021 
 

None Requested realigned payment 
terms 

P
age 385



Collaborative projects 
resumed although reduced 
interest  
 
Kids Zone in East Belfast 
Cluster completed 
 
Events and trips remain on 
hold.  
 
External evaluation – S3 
Solutions progressing.  

Reduce of 304 participants to 
630. 

Estimated total 
completion of 
630 thereby 
reduction in 
participants of 
304. 

BPR4 
Belfast and 
the World 

Corrymeela 77/ 200 completed 
 
Yr 2/3 63 recruited. 
Online activity: 38 active; 22 
mailings as no access to 
technology 
 
Engaged with virtual tours 

completed.  

 

Reduce contact hours 
from 33 to 26 hrs 
 
Extend delivery of Yr 2 
cohort to Nov 20 
 
 

Trip to Dublin with Shankill 

Women’s and Ballynafeigh 

cohorts subject to restrictions. 

Ligoniel group. Residential/ 

group session. Posting 

sessional material should 

face-to-face not be permissible 

due to limited access to 

technology.  

Ballynafeigh group: Group 

session. Will move to online 

and/or postal delivery if not 

suitable.  

Further promotion of open call 

for further cohort– low interest 

to date. Delivered on line.  

Focus grp for Wave Men’s 

group to be organised. Will 

seek evaluation feedback 

online and/or postal should 

face-to-face not be suitable.  

Yr 4- promotion and 

recruitment. Will move to 

online delivery should 

restrictions impact on ability to 

convene for group work 

sessions.  

 Request to 
 
- reduce participant targets from 
200 to 190 specifically relating to  
Yr 4 (2021) participant numbers 
from 50 to 40. 
 

N/A  Reduce 
participant 
numbers for Yr 
4 (2021) from 
50 to 40 

Extend timeframes for 
achievement of KPI  
Yr 2 KPI date from Dec 
19 to Jan 21 
Yr 3 KPI date from Dec 
20 to Mar 21 
Yr 4 KPI now Dec 21 
  
No extended timeframe 
required Delivery Partner 
has indicated that project 
will be delivered within 
existing contract 
timeframe. 

No budgetary impact – 
realignment of Corrymeela 
internal budget to cover 
additional co-ordinator time of ½ 
day per week - costs of £3744   
 
 
 

BPR4 EU 
Study Visit 

BCC – 
PEACE IV 
Team 

0/80 completed 
 
38 participants recruited 

Deferred activity until 
Government Restrictions 
enables safe travel 

Pre visit planning is 
completed.  
 
Ongoing engagement with 
cohorts 

 Request to 
 extend delivery to Sept 22 

N/A N/A Extend to Sept 22 None – Direct Delivery where 
costs on as incurred basis. 
 

P
age 386



 
Monitoring Government 
Restrictions 

Extended delivery will be met 
within existing budgets subject 
to a full budgetary review.  
 
Extension will realign targets  

BPR5 LINCS Northern 
Ireland 
Alternatives 

34 core participants active – 
64 new participants recruited. 
80 target  
 
 

 Delivery agent continues to 
engage with core participants 
on a daily basis mainly 
through phone calls to 
provide ongoing support.  
 
NPF meetings held monthly.  
Delivery of Dialogue/Civic 
engagement/training in small 
group sessions 
 
Delivery of two Intercultural 
Family programmes online 
 
Delivery of one Shared 
Learning Seminar on line   

 Request to: 
Amend original target = 80 core 
participants for 3 year @35 hours 
pa - 105 hours to annual cohorts 
of 80 participants per year x 3 
years =240 participants @26 
hours per annum? 
 
Reduce original target of 8 
Intercultural Family Programmes 
per annum: 200 attendees to  
2 Intercultural Family 
Programmes per annum: 40 
attendees (20 per programme) 
 
Reduce original target = 4 Shared 
learning Seminar’s per year: 133 
attendees with proposed new 
target = 1 Shared Learning 
Seminar: 20 attendees (20 per 
seminar)  
 
Difficulty engaging newcomers for 
long period of time due to 
priorities of housing / employment 
and transient nature. 
 
Government restrictions 
impacting the delivery of family 
programmes and shared learning 
– smaller scale events are 
required. 

Reduction from 
105 to 35 hrs per 
participant  
 
Realignment of 
contact hours 
across 3 different 
cohorts 

Increase 
participant nos 
from 80 to 240  
 
Reduce 
attendees from 
200 to 40 
 
 

No extended timeframe 
required Delivery Partner 
has indicated that project 
will be delivered within 
existing contract 
timeframe. 

None  
Modifications will realign targets 
and payment schedule within 
existing contract. 

BPR5 Roma To be 
appointed 

Procurement process under 
way. 

N/A N/A  N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A 

BPR5 
Traveller 

BCC – 
Officer to be 
appointed 

Recruitment underway N/A N/A  N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A 

BPR 
Cinema-
tograhy 

Morrow 
Comms 

26/65 Social Media Clips 
 
Ongoing filming of activity for 
project / thematic films 

Additional 
complementary services 
of 100 photographic stills 
and voiceover for SSS 
project. 

BCC & Delivery Partners to 
identify suitable filming 
opportunities. 
 
Likely to be reduction in 
filming due to reduced activity 

 Realign KPIs and Payment 
Schedule 
 
Extension to delivery timeframe 
to Sept/Dec 22 to be explored 

Not Applicable to 
this contract 

Not Applicable 
to this contract 

To align with project 
delivery - Extension to 
Sept 22 to be explored  

No budgetary impact – delivery 

to be within existing contract 

budget. 

 

 

P
age 387



 

SSS 
Project 

Delivery 
Agent  Achievement to Date 

Modifications Approved to 
Date  Current Delivery Status  

 Modification Required / 
Rationale  

Reduction in 
Hours  

Reduction in 
Participants  

Extension in Time 
frame  Budgetary Implications 

SSS 
Dialogue & 
Engagement 

MDL Virtual Workshops 
1:1 Engagement Sessions 
Mentimeter Survey 
Preliminary Findings 
Webinar Presentation  
  

Contract Start Date deferred to 
June 20 

Ongoing engagement to 
address gaps 
Discussions with design 
team / contractor / physical 
programmes 
Identify best practice 
Drafting of Action Plan / 
Final report 

  Site visit is not possible – replace 
with online activity /survey 
/  webinar 
  
Potential contract extension for 
complementary services to Mar 
22 

N/A  N/A  Provision of 
complementary services 
may require extension in 
timeframe to Mar 22. 

10% increase in contract value 
may be necessary. 
Additional cost will be met within 
existing budgets. 
  

SSS 
Volunteering 
 

Sustrans Contract award being 
finalised 

N/A Due to Commence end of 
Oct  

 None at present. 
Amendments may be necessary 
to facilitate social distancing / 
online activity to be explored  

N/A  N/A  N/A N/A 

SSS 
Intergenerati
onal Project / 
Interpretative 
Panel 

Mediation NI As Above Moved to online activity   Due to Commence Nov 20   As Above Moved to online 
activity   

Due to 
Commence 
Nov 20 

As Above Moved to online activity   

SSS Capital 
– Springfield 
Dam 

Quinns Construction works at 
Springfield Dam 

Demobilise / Remobilsation of 
works due to Covid.   
Compensation Events with 
additional costs of £25K 
approx. 
Extended completion 
timeframe now end Nov 20 

Construction works 
ongoing 
 

 Note extended completion 
timeframe – Nov 20 

N/A N/A Extended completion 
Nov 20 
 

None –  
 

SSS Capital 
– Greenway 

Contractor to 
be appointed 

Assessment process is 
ongoing with CPD 
involvement 
 

N/A N/A  Request to extend delivery to 
December 22 
 
Delays in appointing contractors 

N/A N/A Extend the delivery 
timeframe to December 
22 

None –  
All costs will be met within 
existing budget allocation 

 

 

 

P
age 388



 

STRATEGIC POLICY AND RESOURCES COMMITTEE 
 
 
 
 
 

 
Subject: 

Equality and Diversity - Equality Screening and Rural Needs Outcome 
Report - Q2 2020-21 

 
Date: 20th November 2020 

 
Reporting Officer: John Walsh, City Solicitor/Director of Legal and Civic Services 

 
Contact Officer: 

 
Sarah Williams, Governance & Compliance Manager 

 

Restricted Reports     

Is this report restricted? Yes  No  

If Yes, when will the report become unrestricted?                                                    

After Committee Decision     

After Council Decision     

Sometime in the future     

Never     

     

 

Call-in     

 
Is the decision eligible for Call-in?                                                  
 

Yes  No  

 

1.0 Purpose of Report or Summary of Main Issues 

1.1 To provide the Committee with a summary of equality screenings and rural needs impact 

assessments for Quarter 2 - July to September 2020. 

 

2.0 Recommendation 

2.1 The Committee is asked to note the report. 

 

3.0 Main Report 
 

 

3.1 

 

 

 

Key Issues 

One of the main requirements of the Council’s Equality Scheme is to carry out the screening 

of new and revised policies.  This allows any impacts related to equality of opportunity and/or 

good relations to be identified and addressed. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

X  

X 

Page 389

Agenda Item 7b



 

3.2 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

3.3 

 

 

 

 

3.4 

 

 

 

 

 

The Equality Commission for Northern Ireland also recommends that, once a policy has been 

screened and it has a major potential to impact on equality of opportunity and good relations, 

then it should be subjected to an EQIA.  An EQIA is a thorough and systematic analysis of a 

policy, whether that policy is formal or informal and, irrespective of the scope of that policy 

or the size of the public authority.  The primary function of an EQIA is to determine the extent 

of any differential impact of a policy upon the section 75 categories and to determine if the 

differential impact is adverse.  An EQIA can assist in decision-making and improve policy 

making by adding to the evidence base available. 

 

In addition, the Council has a statutory duty under the Rural Needs (NI) Act 2016 to consider 

rural needs in the development of new policies, plans or strategies or in any service 

design/delivery decisions and is required to ensure that annual reporting returns are 

submitted to DAERA. 

 

An equality screening and rural needs impact assessment template is completed by the 

relevant officer, in collaboration with the Equality and Diversity Unit.  On a regular basis, the 

Unit collates all completed templates into a screening outcome report and publishes onto the 

Council’s website along with the relevant completed templates.  The current screening 

outcome report for July to September 2020 is attached. 

 

3.5 Financial and Resource Implications 
 
None 
 

3.6 Equality or Good Relations Implications/Rural Needs Assessment 
 
The actions outlined contribute to our legal compliance regarding the promotion of equality, 

good relations and rural needs. 

 

4.0 Document Attached  

  

Screening Outcome and Rural Needs Impact Assessment Report – Quarter 2 2020-21 

 
 

 

Page 390



 2 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Equality Screening Outcome Report and Rural Needs Impact 

Assessment 

 

Q2 – July to September 2020 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 391



 3 

 

Introduction  

 

Legislation – An Overview 

 

 Section 75 Statutory Equality Duties 

Section 75 of the Northern Ireland Act 1998 requires the Council, when carrying out 

its functions in relation to Northern Ireland, to have due regard to the need to 

promote equality of opportunity between nine categories of persons, namely:  

 

• between persons of different religious belief, political opinion, racial group, age, 

marital status or sexual orientation;  

• between men and women generally;  

• between persons with a disability and persons without; and  

• between persons with dependants and persons without.  

 

Without prejudice to its obligations above, the council must also have regards to the 

desirability of promoting good relations between persons of different religious belief, 

political opinion or racial group.  

 

The Council’s Revised Equality Scheme was formally approved by the Equality 

Commission in March 2015.  The revised Scheme outlines how we propose to fulfil 

our statutory duties under Section 75.  Within the Scheme, the council gave a 

commitment to apply the screening methodology below to all new and revised 

policies and where necessary and appropriate to subject new policies to further 

equality impact assessment.  

 

• What is the likely impact of equality of opportunity for those affected by this 

policy/proposal, for each of the Section 75 equality categories?  

 

• Are there opportunities to better promote equality of opportunity for people within 

Section 75 equality categories?  

 

• To what extent is the policy/proposal likely to impact on good relations between 

people of different religious belief, political opinion or racial group?  

Page 392

http://dardintranet/coord_intranet/EqualityBranch/index/StatDuties/statduties.shtml


 4 

 

• Are there opportunities to better promote good relations between people of different 

religious belief, political opinion or racial group?  

 

In keeping with the Council’s commitments in its Equality Scheme, the Council has 

applied the above screening criteria to new policies and proposals. Screening 

identifies policies that are likely to have an impact on equality of opportunity and/or 

good relations.  

 

Screening identifies the impact of the policy/proposal as major, minor or none.  

 If major – an Equality Impact Assessment may be carried out.  

 If minor – consider mitigation or alternative policy and screen out.  

 If none – screen out and give reasons.  

 Ongoing screening – for strategies/policies that are to be put in place through 

a series of stages – screen at various stages during implementation.  

 

The council also committed within its Revised Equality Scheme to prepare and 

publish for information regular reports on its screening exercises.  This is screening 

report providing details on all screenings undertaken from the period July to 

September 2020. 

 

Rural Needs Impact Assessments 

The Council also has a statutory duty under the Rural Needs (Northern Ireland) Act 

2016 to consider rural needs in the development of new policies, plans or strategies 

or in any service design/delivery decisions.  The Council must therefore engage with 

rural stakeholders in relation to policy development when it is relevant and 

appropriate.  The Equality and Diversity Unit is responsible for reporting to the 

Strategic, Policy and Resources Committee and for ensuring that annual reporting 

returns are submitted to DAERA. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 393



 5 

Consultation 

 

The development of new policies and proposals will be supported by effective 

engagement processes to ensure that staff, service users and all interested parties 

are fully involved.  

 

Planning for, and delivering safe and cost effective services requires close 

collaboration at many levels.  

 

If you have any queries about this document, and its availability in alternative formats 

(including Braille, disk and audio cassette, and in other languages to meet the needs 

of those who are not fluent in English) then please contact: 

 

Lisa McKee  

Equality and Diversity Unit 

Belfast City Council 

City Hall  

Belfast 

BT1 5GS  

Direct Line 02890 270555 

or 028 90 320202 ext 6310 

email: equality@belfascity.gov.uk or McKeeL@belfastcity.gov.uk 

 

Screening Outcome 

 

The screening outcomes are outlined in the table below. Three possible outcomes 

are recorded:  

 

If Major – an Equality Impact Assessment may be carried out. EQIA - subject to 

further scrutiny under Section 75 of the NI Act 1998 to determine the impact upon 

those directly affected, which in turn will require informal and formal consultation with 

a wide range of stakeholders.  

If Minor – consider mitigation or alternative policy and screen out.  

If None – screen out and give reasons.  

 

Page 394

mailto:equality@belfascity.gov.uk
mailto:McKeeL@belfastcity.gov.uk


 6 

Screening Outcome Options 

Major= In 

Minor= Out with mitigation 

None= Out without mitigation 

 

Equality Impact Assessments (EQIAs) 

We have also added for notation purposes details of those EQIAs which are currently 

being undertaken by the Council. 

 

Rural Needs Impact Assessment Options 

Does the policy, plan, strategy or service design/delivery impact on the social and 

economic needs of people in rural areas? 

 

Belfast City Council Equality Screening Outcome Report and Rural Needs 

Impact Assessment 

This report includes published screenings and Rural Needs Impact Assessments for 

the period July to September 2020.  Copies are available on request.   

 

 

Description of 
Policy/Proposal 

Rural Needs Impact 
Assessment 

ECNI Screening Decision and 
Contact 

Report it App This App will be used by 
Cleansing staff to report 
missed bin collections and 
will improve service delivery 
for all residents of Belfast, 
both urban and rural 

Screened Out – Mitigating Actions 
(minor impacts) 

Contact:  Mark Challis  ext 3764 

Strategic Sites 
Assessment 

This project will not impact 
on the social and economic 
needs of those living in rural 
areas 

Screened Out – No EQIA necessary 
(no impacts) 

Contact:  Simon Rees   ext 2544 

Development Brief:  
Inner North West – 
Northern Cluster 
Sites 

This development brief 
relates to sites in Belfast 
City Centre and will not 
impact on those living in 
rural areas 

Screened Out –No EQIA necessary 
(no impacts) 

Contact: Simon Rees  ext 2544 

 

 

 

Page 395



 7 

 

Description of 
Policy/Proposal 

Rural Needs Impact 
Assessment 

ECNI Screening Decision and 
Contact 

Good Relations 
Strategy 

This strategy will apply to 
residents living in both 
urban and rural areas 

Screened Out – Mitigating Actions 
(Minor impacts) 

Contact:  Nicola Lane  ext 6020 

Relocation of 
Current Temporary 
Provision of Play 
Service on Glen 
Road Belfast 

This will not impact on the 
social and economic needs 
of those living in rural areas 

Screened Out – Mitigating Actions 
(Minor impacts) 

Contact:  Anne Ross  ext 3299 

Forth Meadow 
Community 
Greenway  

This project will not impact 
on the social and economic 
needs of those living in rural 
areas  

Screened Out – Mitigating Actions 
(Minor impacts) 

Contact:  Michelle Bagnall  ext 3678 

 Inclusive Growth 
Strategy 

This draft strategy aims to 
ensure that the success of 
the City reaches every 
citizen and there is no 
evidence to suggest there 
will be any differential 
impact on people in rural 
areas 

Screened Out – Mitigating Actions 
(Minor impacts) 

Contact:  Clare Hutchinson ext 4778 

   

 

Page 396



 

 
 
STRATEGIC POLICY & RESOURCES COMMITTEE 
 
 
 
 
 

 
Subject: Diversity Action Plans 

 
Date: 20th November 2020  

 
Reporting Officer: John Tully, Director of City and Organisational Strategy  

 
Contact Officer: Christine Sheridan, Head of Human Resources 

 

Restricted Reports     

Is this report restricted? Yes  No  

If Yes, when will the report become unrestricted?                                                    

After Committee Decision     

After Council Decision     

Sometime in the future     

Never     

     

 

Call-in     

 
Is the decision eligible for Call-in?                                                  
 

Yes  No  

 

1.0 Purpose of Report or Summary of Main Issues 

1.1 To agree the proposed activity within the Gender Action Plan (GAP) and LGBT+ Action Plan 

for 2020-2021 and agree resources to deliver the plans. 

2.0 Recommendations 

2.1 The Committee is asked to agree the GAP Year 2 (2020-21) and LGBT+ Action Plan 

(2020-21) and agree the necessary resources to deliver the plans.   

3.0 Main Report 

 

 

3.1 

 

 

Background and context  

 

Our Equality and Diversity Framework runs from April 2017 to March 2021 and outlines how 

we will tackle inequalities and promote diversity in our city. It is built around four key priorities: 

 

 

 

 

 

 

X   

X  

Page 397

Agenda Item 7c



 

 

 

 

 

 

3.2 

 

 

 

 

3.3 

 

 

 

 

 

 

3.4 

 

 

 

 

 

3.5 

 

 

 

 

 

3.6 

 

 

 

 

 

 

A. Leadership, partnership and organisational commitment  

B. Understanding our communities through data and consultation  

C. Delivering services accessible to all  

D. Developing a skilled and diverse workforce  

 

The Framework includes a series of actions to be delivered to help achieve these priorities 

and under Priority A, Leadership, Partnership and Organisational Commitment, the Council 

has committed to developing and delivering a Gender Action Plan, LGBT+ Action Plan and 

a Race Action Plan.   

 

In May 2018, the Women’s Steering Group (WSG) agreed a three year GAP for delivery 

between April 2018 to March 2021  Refinement of the 2020/21 action plan  by WSG has 

been delayed as a result of the initial response to the Covid 19 pandemic and ongoing 

recovery.  However, a pared back plan for 20/21 has now been agreed with WSG and is 

being presented to CMT for approval before it is presented to Strategic Policy and Resources 

Committee.    

 

Some actions from the 19/20 plan not yet delivered, have been carried forward into this year, 

most notably the joint senior officer and elected member leadership development 

programme. In addition, an event to bring together both male and female employees to 

discuss gender issues in the workplace jointly and how these might be addressed, which 

was originally scheduled for March this year, is also included.  

 

While some activity planned for the early part of the year has not happened because of Covid 

19, it is hoped that it can now be progressed, and where feasible, be delivered remotely.  The 

actions and the resources required to deliver them are set out in Appendix 1.   

 

LGBT+ Action Plan  

 

Likewise the development of an LGBT+ Action Plan for 2020/21 was also delayed because 

of Covid 19.  A draft plan has now been developed, in conjunction with the staff network 

“Proud”, (see Appendix 2),    and is also being presented, with costs, for approval.   Actions 

include continued participation in the Stonewall Workplace Equality Index, more LBGT+ 

awareness raising training and other activity to increase awareness around LGBT+ issues, 

visibility and support in the workplace.   

Page 398



 

3.7 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

3.8 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

3.9 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

3.10 

 

 

 

 

Disability Action Plan  

The Committee should also note that under Section 49 of the Disability Discrimination (NI) 

Order 2006, we are required develop and submit a Disability Action Plan (DAP) to the 

Equality Commission for Northern Ireland (ECNI).  Development of the plan is led by the 

Equality & Diversity Unit within Legal and Civic Services. The new Disability Action Plan 

2019-22 was approved by SP&R in October 2019 and sets out the key actions relating to 

disability. 

 

The People Strategy  

One of the key themes in the emerging People Strategy will be Diversity and Inclusion and it 

is hoped that a more strategic approach to the management of our people and workforce 

development planning will ensure a that our diversity and inclusion activity is fully aligned to 

our corporate priorities and delivery of the Belfast Agenda, in particular our Inclusive Growth 

Strategy.  A key action in the draft strategy is the development of a workforce minority ethnic 

inclusion plan and this will be progressed in coming months.  

 

Financial and Resource Implications  

The cost of delivery of the proposed Gender Action Plan actions is estimated at £30,000.  

The cost of delivery of the LGBT+ Action Plan is £5,900.   Both plans will be met from the 

existing Organisational Development budget.  It should be noted that social distancing  

restrictions, should they continue, will impact on delivery of some activity, for example 

delivery of some may not be feasible or will only be feasible on a smaller or remote   basis. 

It is envisaged that this may reduce costs overall.  The plan also identifies the role that 

individual business units and departments have in delivery of the plan. 

 

Equality or Good Relations Implications/Rural Needs Assessment  

The delivery of the Gender and the LGBT+ Action Plans will result in positive outcomes. The 

promotion of equality and diversity entails more than the elimination of discrimination, it 

requires proactive action. The actions contained within both plans will not only impact on 

internal operations but also have a positive impact externally on women and men and the 

LGBT+ community in our city area. 

  

4.0 Documents Attached  

  

Appendix 1 – GAP Year 3  (2020-21) 

Appendix 2  -  LGBT+ Action Plan (2020-21) 

 

Page 399



This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix 1 

 

GENDER ACTION PLAN 2018 – 2021 
 

Year 3 (Year 2020-2021) 
 

WOMEN IN THE COUNCIL 
-to ensure that BCC organisational culture, policies and practices empower talent development at all levels, for elected members and officers and remove 
any form of discrimination  
 

Action Who Cost 

Hold annual  IWD event   /  celebrations for staff  
 
 
 

HR 
IWD working group 
WNG 

£6000 

Deliver Women Leaders Programme (members and officers) WSG 
HR 
External facilitator 

£12000 

Participate in NI Gender  Diversity Charter assessment against  annual targets and 
activities to obtain Silver accreditation  
 

CX 
HR  

£2500  

Develop/ agree transgender guidance document for staff  HR 
LGB&T Network 

Staff resources 

Ensure effective promotion of BCC as an employer that values and supports equality and 
diversity (external website, job info to potential applicants, press releases etc.)   

HR  
MarComms  
Staff network 

Staff Resources  

Develop and agree Menopause guidance for staff  
 

HR  
 WNG  

Staff resources  

Hold event/ workshop for both male and female staff to jointly explore/ discuss gender 
issues and identify any issues to be addressed  

HR 
Staff networks 
 

£1000 

Retain ‘ platinum level’ status of the Onus Domestic Violence charter by continuing to 
raise awareness of domestic violence and abuse issues, support staff experiencing 
domestic violence and abuse and  ensure employees  know what support is available  

HR      £2000 

P
age 401



Review, update and communicate maternity, paternity, and other parental-related 
guidance for staff as part of the review of the Work Life Balance Handbook 
 

HR  Staff resources  

WOMEN IN THE COMMUNITY 
-with the purpose of  increasing  the representation of women in leadership positions throughout  
communities across Belfast by ensuring that processes are in place to  
increase women’s involvement in decision making in communities  

Fund annual external IWD event. Equality Unit   £6500 
 

Hold Transgender remembrance event Head of HR 
LGB&T network 
 

LBGT+  budget  

Explore potential for mainstreaming Grow Lead Change programme with potential 
partners  

HR 
Economic Initiatives 

Staff resources 

WOMEN IN THE ECONOMNY  
-to ensure all council policies and strategies influence and facilitate the active and fair participation of both women and men in the economy 

Identify opportunities for pre-recruitment programmes targeted at females furthest 
removed from the labour market 

HR Staff resources 

Identify employability partners to deliver employability/ outreach initiatives for women. 
 
 ( Link to  City Deal proposals )  
 

HR/OD 
Economic Initiatives 

Staff resources 

 

The Northern Ireland Female Enterprise Challenge - A collaborative programme between 
the 11 Local Councils, Invest NI, and Women in Business NI (WIB) to promote and support 
female enterprise.  .  This programme also includes sponsorship for the WIB conference.  

 
Enterprise and Employability support for underrepresented groups – Belfast City Council 
programme of support to enable underrepresented groups (including females) to 
overcome the barriers to starting a business or accessing employment opportunities.  
 
 
 
 
 

 
Economic Development 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Economic Development 
 
 

  
£6,200  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
£90,000 

P
age 402



 

TOTAL APPROXIMATE COSTS    - £ 30,000k for year 3 (excl ED funded initiatives)  
 
N.B. Where ongoing COVID 19 restrictions limit planned activity, online / remote delivery will be explored and used where possible.  
 

 

 

 

 

 

WOMEN IN THE CITY 
-to ensure that the needs of women across the city are identified and used to influence and impact upon the regeneration of the city including social 
infrastructure design and community facilities provision 

As part of the ongoing baseline audit of all Council assets determine if Council assets are 
‘fit for purpose’ in terms of the needs of all genders and that gender needs are looked at 
as part of the development of any new council asset    
 

Property and Projects  
Department 
C&NS 
Place & Economy Dept  

Staff resources 
 
Potential cost if additional 
works required  

Support the Raise your Voice Project against sexual harassment  HR  
Elected Members  

Staff resources  

As part of the ongoing area working /place shaping work and the Physical Investment 
Programme look at opportunities of how the needs of women can be better met across the 
city  

Property & Projects 
Department  
Place and Economy  
C&NS A 
Strategic Hub  
External stakeholders 
 

Staff resources 
Potential associated costs 
for future GAP 

Work with City Partners on achievement of Onus Safe City status  BCC 
ONUS 
External partners 

Staff resources  

P
age 403



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Appendix 2  

LGBT+ Action Plan 2020-21 

 

Theme - Training and Development 

Outcomes Actions required Timing Lead Indicative 
costs 

 
Increased awareness of 

LGBT+ bias 
 
 

 
Source and deliver inclusion and 

awareness training 
 
 

 
2020-21 

 

 
HR/ 

Network 
Chair 

 

 
£1000 total 

For 3 sessions 
 

 Source and deliver awareness training on 
Trans and Bi issues 

 
2020-21 

 

HR/ 
Network 

Chair 
 

£700 total 
For 2 sessions 

 

 
LGBT employees feel 

comfortable to be their whole 
selves 

 
 

Line managers understand key 
issues and their 
responsibilities 

 
 

 
Deliver revised 

diversity induction training to ensure 
LGBT+ issues covered with all new staff 

and managers 
 

 
2020-21 

 
 

 
HR 

 

 
 

Staff Resource 
 

 
 
 

Better mental health 

 
 

Deliver   Mental Health First Aider course  

 
 

2020-21 

 
 

HR 

 
 

LGTG funded 
programme 

 

 

 

P
age 405



 

Theme – Promoting positive attitudes 

Outcomes Actions required Timing Lead Indicative costs 

 
All relevant policies are inclusive 
and use gender neutral language 

where possible 
 

Clear processes in place for staff 
to raise issues around 

discrimination/bullying/harassment 
based on gender and sexual 

orientation 
 

 
Review staff policies. 

 
 

 
2020-21 

 

 
HR 

 

 
Staff Resource 

 
Guidance available for trans 

employees and their managers 
and for staff delivering services to 

the trans community 
 

 
Agree Transgender policy / guidance 

 
2020-21 

 

 
 

HR 
 

 
 

Staff Resource 
 

    

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

P
age 406



 

Theme – Promotion and ensure visibility of Network including senior champions 

Outcomes Actions required Timing Lead Indicative 
costs 

 
Increased awareness of and 

participation in network 
 
 
 
 

Increased awareness about staff 
network and senior support 

 

 
Promote Proud via Interlink/ 

Email 
 

 
2020-21 

 

 
Network 

Chair 
 

 
Staff Resource/ 

Comms 
 

 
Articles profiling senior champion and 

allies 
 

 
2020-21 

 

 
Chair  / 
Network 

 

 
Staff Resource/ 

Comms 
 
 

 
Continue to distribute promotional 

material 
 

 
2020-21 

 

 
Network 

 

n/a 

 
 

Potential applicants aware BCC is 
an employer that values and 

supports equality and diversity 
 

 
 

Ensure up to date info on external 
website, job info to potential 

applicants, press releases etc.) 
 
 

Send all external job opportunities to 
NI LGBT+ organisations for 

circulation 

 
 

2020-21 
 

 
HR 

Comms 
Staff network 

n/a 

Visibility/Collaboration with other 
Networks 

Joint Webinar involving all 3 
Networks and their aims 

2020-21 HR/Network Staff Resource 

 

 

 

 

 

P
age 407



 

 

 

 

Theme – Community Engagement 

Outcomes Actions required Timing Lead Indicative 
costs 

 
Bigger and better participation 
in Pride and more visibility of 

BCC support for LGBT+ 
community 

 
 

Visible support for LGBT 
Community 

 

 
Virtual participation in Pride  -  to be agreed 

how 

 
2020-21 

 

 
Network 

 

 
n/a 

 

 
Build participation with network members 

and staff 
 

Fundraiser for Pride – possible 
collaboration with WNG and Disability 

Network 
 

What does Pride mean to me? – visual 
display via pictures and videos of what 

Pride means to Network members 

 
2020-21 

 
 

2020-21 
 
 
 

2020-21 

 
Network 

 
 

HR/Network 
 
 
 

Network/ 
Chair 

 
Staff Resource 

 
 

Staff Resource 
 
 
 

Comms/Staff 
Resource 

 
Increased awareness of  
issues faced by Trans 

community and awareness of 
need for remembrance 

 
 

 
Hold annual Transgender Day of 

Remembrance event if possible or mark on 
line if necessary. 

 
 

 
2020-21 

 
Network/HR 

 

 
£600 

 

Improved awareness of issues 
faced by Trans Community 

Celebrate Transgender Day of Visibility 
Light City Hall on Transgender Day of 

Visibility in March 2021 

 

 
2020-21 

 
Network/HR 

 
£300 

Theme – Social Networking 

Outcomes Actions required Timing Lead Indicative 
costs 

P
age 408



 
Improved visibility, learning 

and positive outcomes 

 
Facilitate an event between NI   Stonewall 

organisations 
 

 
2020-21 

 
Network 

 
£800 

 
 
 

 

 

Theme – Employee Lifecycle / Organisational Analysis 

Outcomes Actions required Timing Lead Indicative 
costs 

 
 

Feedback from staff re 
LGBT issues 

 

 
 

Carry out voluntary monitoring exercise for all 
staff ( when feasible ) 

 
 

2020-21 
 

 
 

HR 
 

 
 

Staff Resource/ 
Comms 

 

 
Position in national 

benchmarking exercise 
 

Annual Membership in Stonewall Diversity 
Champions Programme 

 
Stonewall Equality Index  -  While Index not 

happening in 20/21 due to Covid 19 -  take the 
opportunity to get familiar with  new criteria 

and action plan for improvement 
 

 
2020-21 

 
HR and 

Staff 
network 

 
£2500 

 
Areas for improvement 

identified 
 

 
 

 
Consider 19/20 Stonewall feedback and action 

plan for improvement 

 
2020-21 

 
HR / 

Network 

 
Staff resource 

 
 

 
 
 

Ensuring comprehensive 
info on staff is available and 

up to date. 

Carry out voluntary monitoring exercise for all 
staff ( when feasible ) 

2020-21 HR Staff resource 

 
Update  application monitoring forms 

 
 

2020-21 
 

 
 

HR 
 

 
 

Staff resource 
 
 
 

P
age 409



 

 

Theme – Inclusive Workplace 

Outcomes Actions required Timing Lead Indicative 
costs 

 
 

Gender neutral facilities 
for staff 

 
 

Consider feasibility of gender neutral toilet in city 
centre offices. 

 
 

2020-21 

 
 

HR/Facilities 
Mgt 

 
Corporate 

Maintenance 
Budget approval 

if work 
necessary 

    
Total 

 
£5900 

 

 

 

 

 

P
age 410



Minutes of Party Group Leaders’ Consultative Forum  

12th November, 2020 

 

Attendance  

        

 Members:       

Councillor Christina Black (Chair) 

Councillor Billy Hutchinson 

Councillor Michael Long 

Councillor Donal Lyons 

Councillor Mal O’Hara 

Alderman George Dorrian 

Councillor Fiona Ferguson 

Councillor Dean Pankhurst (Joined the meeting for Alderman Dorrian) 

 

 

Apologies: Alderman Sonia Copeland, Councillor Ciaran Beattie 

 

 

 Officers: 

Suzanne Wylie, Chief Executive  

Ronan Cregan, Deputy Chief Executive and Director of Finance and Resources 

John Walsh, City Solicitor 

Noleen Bohill, Head of Commercial & Procurement Service (for item 3) 

Siobhan Toland, Director of City Services for (Item 4)  

Wendy Langham, Programme Director Belfast Destination Hub (for Item 6) 

Alistair Reid, Director of Place and Economy (for Item 6) 

Grainia Long, Commissioner for Resilience (Item 7) 

 Joanne Delaney, Portfolio and Programme Coordinator (secretariat) 

  

 

1. Finance Update  

 

The Deputy Chief Executive  & Director of Finance and Resources presented to members 

the Medium Term Financial Plan 2021/22 – 2023/24 and the impact of the Estimated Penny 

Product (EPP) on the District Rate Income for 2021/22 – 2023/24 and the challenges involved 

in the setting of the rate this year given the current complexities. The Director advised that 

the deadline for setting the district rate is likely to be extended given the degree of uncertainty 

to 15th March 2021.   A report will be brought to the SP and R Committee in November. 

 

Members were also updated on the ongoing work being carried out by Ulster University to 

undertake Rates income modelling projections for the near future in order to identify the 

impact of Covid-19 on District Rates income for each of the eleven District Councils and the 

Regional Rate.  An update will be provided to Members as this work progresses. 

Page 411

Agenda Item 8a



 

2. Operational Recovery Update 

 

The Director of City Services provided an update to Members on organisational recovery and 

outlined current status of operational frontline services including an update on Malone House 

and Belfast Castle. Members were advised that the focus is on sustaining services given the 

majority of our services remain operational, including monitoring closely how resources are 

allocated across services.  Members were updated on the role for Council in light of the new 

regulations and ongoing work with other bodies regarding enforcement of the 2020 

Regulations. 

   

The Deputy Chief Executive & Director of Finance and Resources provided an update around 

Furloughed and Casual staff.  Members of the Forum raised a number of specific queries in 

relation to furloughed and casual staff in Belfast Waterfront & Ulster Hall and GLL, and a full 

update was provided by the Director.   

 

3. Commercial Plan 

   

The Head of Commercial and Procurement Services provided an update for Members on the 

proposed Commercial Plan which will be presented to November SP&R, she outlined the 

future ambitions and proposals relating to commercialisation and income generation 

opportunities given the significant financial pressures being faced at present. Members also 

discussed the Corporate Pricing Strategy which will support the Commercial Plan that was 

deferred at October SP&R.  A number of options were discussed on how best to take this 

work forward and the Deputy Chief Executive & Director of Finance and Resources advised 

that the report is seeking approval to carry out a review at this stage, a further report will be 

brought back once the review is carried out outlining any proposals. 

 

4. Inner City Kerbside Sort – Options Appraisal 

 

The Director of City Services provided an update to Members on the Inner City Kerbside sort 

contract.  August SP&R committee agreed to extend the current contract and to the 

commissioning of an options appraisal on the arrangements for future waste collections. 

Members were advised that an initial report on the collection options be presented to 

November committee but that further in depth work was required on financial considerations 

and implications of the proposed delivery models.  This report would be brought back to a 

future meeting.  

 

Page 412



Members noted the report will also recommend an invite for a presentation, be extended to 

the Collaborate Circular Economy Network who represent business in NI that utilise recycled 

products collected by Councils. 

 

5. Shared Prosperity Fund 

 

The Chief Executive provided an update on a position paper produced for SOLACE NI, in 

relation to EU Successor Funding in Northern Ireland known as the Shared Prosperity Fund 

(SPF) which will be presented to November SP&R. Members discussed the need to promote 

this work supporting the need for a partnership approach, which involves local government, 

in order to co-design and shape the funding to address local needs. Members discussed 

political engagement and how this might be brought forward, the Chief Executive to consider 

options outlined. 

 

6. Belfast Destination Hub – OBC 

 

Members received a presentation on the Destination Hub a key project under the tourism 

and regeneration pillar of the Belfast City Region Deal (BRCD). The Programme Director 

outlined progress made with regard to the Destination Hub Outline Business Case (OBC) 

and advised a report would be presented to November SP&R to seek approval to submit the 

OBC to the BRCD Executive Board in December 2020 for consideration. Members 

highlighted their support for the project and some queries were raised in relation to the 

Operating Model.  The Chief Executive advised that any Operating Model will be considered 

at the next stages, and Members will be kept fully informed. The Belfast Destination Hub will 

be presented at each project stage to the Strategic Policy and Resources Committee as well 

as the City Deal decision making bodies.   

 

7. Resilience Strategy 

 

The Commissioner for Resilience provided an overview of conclusions arising from the public 

consultation and engagement on the draft Resilience Strategy, she outlined changes made 

to the document informed by the consultation. She advised that the document has already 

been considered and endorsed by the Resilience and Sustainability Board and a report will 

be presented to November SP&R for approval. 

 

 

 

Page 413



8. Notice of Motions 

  

The City Solicitor discussed the proposal on a process for dealing with Notices of Motion 

previously considered by SP&R Committee.  Members discussed in detail different options 

of managing the process of Notice of Motions, including aligning with the Council’s corporate 

planning and policy frameworks.  It was suggested by a Member that the Forum consider a 

working group to look at this issue in line with reviewing standing orders and the City Solicitor 

agreed to consider this option and that this issue needs further consideration. 

 

Members also discussed current motions and the City Solicitor advised a report would be 

presented to November SP&R outlining status of each and a proposal on next steps.  City 

Solicitor to circulate to Party Leaders and any comments submitted to the City Solicitor prior 

to November SP&R meeting. 

 

9. Arc 21 – Correspondence 

 

The Chief Executive outlined the current status of the proposed arc21 Residual Waste 

Treatment Plant.  Antrim & Newtownabbey council have sent correspondence in relation to 

the plant to all Council Chief Executives.  Given the technical nature and the timescale in 

collating the response requested, a response is currently being prepared.  The Chief 

Executive discussed the option of having a workshop for Party Group Leaders to discuss the 

wider issues involved with Arc 21 and it was agreed this would be arranged. 

 

10. Planning Update  

 

The Chief Executive updated the Forum on the live planning applications and informed the 

Forum of the applications that were being presented to the Planning Committee in December.   

 

11.  AOB 

 

Wreath – Remembrance Sunday 

 

Members discussed a UVF wreath that was laid at the cenotaph in the Garden of 

Remembrance at City Hall on Sunday 8 November, Remembrance Sunday.   The Chief 

Executive advised that the placing of the wreath was not laid as part of the official act of 

remembrance organised by the Council and had since been removed.  The issue of memorials 

was also raised. Members agreed that going forward the process around these issues would 

Page 414



need to be treated sensitively, and Party Leaders would continue to discuss and review 

processes to ensure the situation does not arise again. 

 

 Investigation Timeframes 

 

The City Solicitor confirmed that the independent investigation being carried out by Peter Coll 

QC relating to Roselawn on 30 June was due to be completed end of November/early 

December. 

 

St George’s Market  

 

The Deputy Chief Executive & Director of Finance and Resources provided an update on the 

issue raised by Councillor Gormley at October SP&R committee in relation to St. George’s 

Market and the potential for waiving fees for businesses operating from the units.  The Chief 

Executive advised that a recent request was also received from St. George’s Market Traders 

Committee to request that the Council review the stall fee waiver and extend this period for 

an additional three months. Both issues will be included in a report at November SP&R for 

Members consideration. 

 

Belfast Waterfront and Ulster Hall  

 

Some Members raised an issue in relation to the process and subsequent decision around 

the financial pressures facing the Belfast Waterfront and Ulster Hall and GLL at the November 

Council meeting.  The Chief Executive and The Deputy Chief Executive & Director of Finance 

and Resources advised that Councillors who contacted senior officers would have been made 

aware that both organisations were working through complex staffing and financial issues and 

if possible, contingency options which may have to be put to the Council for approval.  Given 

the nature of the situation and the challenging timeframe it was not possible to provide a full 

update to all Party Leaders, as would normally be the case, prior to commencement of the 

Council meeting.  The Director of Finance and Resources stressed that Council Officers made 

no proposals but rather stated the requirement from each organisation. 

  

Transgender Day of Remembrance - Trans flag to fly November 2020  

 

The City Solicitor outlined a request to seek permission for the Trans flag to fly on 20th 

November 2020 which was agreed by Members, City Solicitor to approve under delegated 

authority.  A report to seek permission for 2021 onwards will be presented to SP&R committee. 

Page 415



 

Special Council Meeting re Food Poverty  

 

The Chief Executive advised that a request by Councillor Beattie has been submitted to the 

Lord Mayor to hold a special Council meeting in relation to Food Poverty. 

 

  Neighbourhood Regeneration Fund  

 

The Chief Executive provided an update on the Neighbourhood Regeneration Fund.  She 

advised that Officers continue to work through the process and criteria of the fund and a report 

will be brought to the next Forum meeting in advance of consideration at December SP&R. 

 

Illuminate Process 

  

Councillor Long asked that Members reconsider a request to light up City Hall for World AIDS 

Day, 1st December as previously raised by Councillor Nicholl.  Members noted that requests 

could not normally be accommodated during the Christmas period and that other requests 

had been declined for this period, however it was agreed a report would be brought to SP&R 

to reconsider on exceptional basis for this specific request. 

 

November Council Meeting  

 

Councillor Ferguson sought clarification on some points in relation to standing orders and the 

November Council meeting.  The City Solicitor to follow up with Councillor Ferguson. 

 

  

 

 

 

 

Page 416



Working Group on the Climate Crisis 
 

Monday, 9th November, 2020 
 

 
MEETING OF THE WORKING GROUP ON THE CLIMATE CRISIS 

 
 

Members present: Councillor Smyth (Chairperson); 
Alderman Copeland; 
Councillors Baker, Bunting, de Faoite, 
Ferguson, Hutchinson and McReynolds. 

 
In attendance:  Ms. G. Long, Commissioner for Resilience; 

Mr. A. Thatcher, Director of Planning and Building Control; 
Ms. N. Largey, Divisional Solicitor; 
Ms. C. McKeown, Sustainable Development Manager; 
Ms C. Shortt, Policy and Data Analyst; 
Mr. R. McLernon, Resilience Co-ordinator; and 
Mr. G. Graham, Democratic Services Assistant. 
 

Also attended:  Councillor O’Hara. 
 

 
Minutes 

 
 The minutes of the meeting of 19th October, 2020 were taken as read and signed as 
correct. 

 
Declarations of Interest 

 
 No declarations of interest were reported. 
 

Draft Final Resilience Strategy 
 
 The Commissioner for Resilience reminded the Working Group that the Draft 
Resilience Strategy had already been distributed for public consultation for a period of six 
months :- to communities, city partners and all Council departments. She stated also that the 
Policy and Data Analyst had endeavoured to ensure that the document was as current as 
possible, given the current changes in the external environment. The Members were informed 
that the level of engagement, as part of the extended consultation process, had been 
impressive. The Working Group was informed that a major purpose of the Resilience Strategy 
was to deliver the Belfast Agenda by preparing the city for the impact of climate change and 
reducing the city’s Green House Gas emissions. 
 
 The Commissioner reminded the Working Group that the draft strategy was a city-wide 
document and she informed the Members of some of the changes that were required following 
completion of the consultation process and the passage of time. She referred to the 
collaborative work which had been undertaken, with a range of external agencies, in regard to 
the formulation of the strategy. The Commissioner explained that the strategy sat within the 
Community Planning processes and was comprised of three core elements namely; 
 

 
 

Page 417

Agenda Item 8b



 

 A Resilience Assessment; 

 An Ambitions Document; and 

 A Delivery Plan 
 
 The Commissioner outlined the constituent parts of each document and stated that it 
had been modified to reflect Public Health concerns following the Covid-19 pandemic and 
further emphasised the issue of inequality, which was contained within the document, as a 
separate and distinct ‘stress’. She referred to a further change in the strategy document which 
had identified previously a link between poor mental health and dependence on prescription 
medication and which was unsupported by the data. 

 
 The Commissioner referred some of the stress factors experienced by the city 
including, amongst other things, our dependence on fossil fuels, a lack of adequate housing 
supply in the city, and the centralisation of power as part of our current governance 
arrangements. She referred to the role of the Community Planning Partnership Board in terms 
of dealing with those cross-cutting issues. The Members were advised of the change in the 
original strategy to achieve zero-carbon emissions, in a generation, rather than merely low-
carbon emissions as a stated goal within the original strategy document. 
 
 The Commissioner stated that she was encouraged by the enthusiasm and 
participation displayed by children and young people in the implementation of the strategy, 
with its strong focus on connectivity and a zero-emissions economy. The Working Group was 
advised of the impact of multiple problem solvers, whereby the solution to one particular 
problem had provided benefits to other problems identified within the risk-matrix. She identified 
30 separate programmes within the strategy document, at various stages of development, 
including the benefits of having a zero-carbon road map, in the form of a mini-stern. The 
Commissioner stated that a high-level climate risk assessment had been completed and that 
the Council was in the process of developing its own adaptation and mitigation plan, which 
would be active by 2021, subject to Council approval. She reported on the ambitious work 
undertaken by Belfast Harbour in terms of its de-carbonisation plans to de-carbonise their 
energy usage by 2025, and their objective to be the greenest port in Europe. 
 
 The Members were advised of the work undertaken by Queen’s University in the 
development of a global environmental solutions centre, focused on bio-diversity and other 
environmental solutions. She referred to the incorporation of sustainability within the City Deal 
and the implementation of the 1 million trees project. She stated that it was her intention to 
bring a proposal, to a future meeting of the Working Group, on how young people could be 
involved in the forthcoming COP 26 U.N. climate change conference in Glasgow. The 
Commissioner reported on the sustainable drainage strategy, implemented by the Department 
for Infrastructure (DfI), which would be included within the Draft Resilience Strategy and stated 
also that Translink had ambitions to have its fleet of buses achieve zero-carbon emissions by 
2030. 
 
 The Working Group was advised of the important goal associated with the eradication 
of fuel- poverty and the retro -fit of the housing stock, with particular reference to public housing 
stock. She highlighted the importance attached to ensuring that homes were adequately 
insulated and more efficient in terms of energy usage. The Commissioner provided the 
Members with an outline of the governance structure associated with the implementation of 
the 30 projects contained with the draft strategy.  
 
 A Member stated that she was pleased that the strategy had been separated into three 
distinct components and that the issue of inequality had been incorporated into the strategy. 
In response to a further question in respect of whether the concerns of older people had been 

Page 418



factored into the strategy, the Commissioner reassured the Member that older people had 
been considered, given that they were highly vulnerable to climate change in terms of their 
health and lack of mobility. She referred also to the collaborative work undertaken by the 
Health and Social Care Board in regard to excess winter deaths and the work undertaken to 
retro-fit homes and eradicate fuel-poverty. 
 
 A Member raised concerns in regard to connectivity within the city, with particular 
reference to the development of sustainable transport modes and the lack of progress in that 
regard. The Commissioner recognised that more work required to be undertaken with DfI in 
terms of sustainable transport. She stated that progress had being made in the sustainable 
transport and connectivity delivery process but recognised that the centralised governance 
structure, in respect of transportation, was an impediment to rapid change. The Commissioner 
reinforced the need to tackle fuel poverty, as a matter of priority, and referred to the impact 
that it had on food poverty as a consequence.  She stated that the strategy had identified the 
issues raised by the Member as a problem and of her hope that the future development of 
district heating schemes for the city, in the future, could make a positive impact towards the 
eradication of both food and fuel poverty. 
 
 The Working Group noted the information which had been provided and adopted the 
Draft Resilience Strategy, subject to the approval of the Strategic Policy and Resources 
Committee. The Members thanked the Commissioner for her detailed and informative 
presentation and acknowledged the amount of work involved to achieve the targets set, both 
within the strategy, and enshrined in legislation. 
  

Oil and Gas Exploration Motion - Input from  
BCC Legal and Planning Department 

 
 The Sustainable Development Manager provided the Working Group with background 
information in regard to a motion, on the subject of oil and gas exploration, which had been 
presented to the Council previously, by the Chairperson. She referred to the content within the 
motion, requesting that the Council look at all avenues to examine the impacts of its policies, 
both legal and otherwise, in terms of their impact on climate change. She referred to the motion 
in terms of its reflection on central government policy on areas such as, fracking, oil and gas 
extraction, including a moratorium on the issue of further licensing in regard to mineral 
extraction. In so doing, she stated that the motion proposed communicating with the Minister 
for the Economy in relation to the issuing of exploratory licenses and the removal of permitted 
development rights for exploration purposes. 
 
 The Sustainable Development Manager provided an overview of the legal and 
planning implications associated with the motion and invited both the Divisional Solicitor and 
the Director of Planning and Building Control to advise the Working Group on the implications 
and restrictions associated with the adoption of that motion. She outlined the implications of 
the motion in terms of both planning and the Council’s Local Development Plan. 
  
 The Divisional Solicitor stated that the Council’s main levers in respect of that proposal, 
was contained within both its planning policy and separately in its influencing role, within the 
Northern Ireland Executive, to affect change in those areas of oil and gas /mineral extraction. 
She provided the Working Group with an outline in relation to the hierarchy of the planning 
process and stated that the Council was currently involved with a public examination stage, in 
relation to its draft Local Development Plan, which would allow the Council to develop its own 
plans in regard to environmental protection. She stated that the issues referred to in the 
Member’s motion required the adoption of a regional policy by the Northern Ireland Executive. 
 
 The Divisional Solicitor advised that the Council was limited to adhering to its own 
planning policy in relation to land under its jurisdiction and applying relevant planning policies. 

Page 419



She stated that, as the Council had declared a climate emergency, environmental concerns 
could be considered in any future planning policy relevant to its draft Local Development Plan 
(L.D.P.) 
 

In response to a question from a Member in regard to the Council’s authority to draft 
its own policy in relation to permitted development, the Divisional Solicitor advised that the 
Council, as a Planning Authority, was obliged to apply regional planning policy in regard to 
decisions impacting on oil and gas extraction within its jurisdiction.  She stated that the Council 
would primarily be in a position to dictate its policy on those specific areas, where it was the 
owner of any land where development of this nature was being considered. The Director of 
Planning and Building Control joined the meeting at this point and confirmed that it was the 
intention of Minister Mallon to remove Permitted Development rights in relation oil and gas 
exploration, including fracking, but could not as yet provide a time-lime for that legislative 
change. 

 
The Director in response to a further question in regard to the Council’s draft Local 

Development Plan, confirmed that the Council was at the stage of submitting part 1 of the draft 
Local Development Plan to the Planning Appeals Commission (P.A.C.) The Director gave the 
Working Group a detailed overview of the work which had been undertaken, prior to the 
submission of its Local Development Plan, to the Department for Infrastructure (DfI) in August 
2019. He stated that the next stage of that process involved the P.A.C. examining all of the 
policies and supporting evidence, in the form of an Independent Examination. He outlined the 
details of the Council’s draft policy in regard to mineral extraction in terms of determining a 
defined need. The Director stated further that, under the Council’s draft planning policy, any 
permission in respect of mineral extraction would be required to meet specific criteria and in 
so doing, ensure the protection of the environment, landscape and natural heritage. He 
referred also to the requirement to undertake Environmental Impact Assessments (E.I.A.) prior 
to any mineral extraction proposal being approved 

 
The Members were advised that Part 2 of the planning policy provided a more detailed 

scrutiny of planning proposals which were no less stringent than stage 1 of the planning 
process. In response to the Director’s comments, a Member expressed his satisfaction that 
the draft planning policy contained within the draft L.D.P. provided the necessary protection 
for both people and the environment in respect of mineral extraction. In response to a further 
question from a Member regarding planning applications being lodged and approved in 
advance of the Council’s draft L.D.P. being adopted, the Director stated that the Council’s 
existing planning policy was, in his opinion, sufficiently robust to ensure that the environment 
and landscape would be sufficiently protected in respect of any such proposal. 

  
A Member raised a further question in regard to the Council’s ability to support the 

rejection of a hydro-carbon exploration proposal, prior to it being enshrined in the Council’s 
draft L.D.P. The Director in response stated that any such exploration proposal, in advance of 
the draft L.D.P. being approved, would be judged within the current planning policy context. 
He stated that the current policy did offer some protection to the landscape and physical 
amenities and, in so doing, dependant on the proposal under consideration, would still give 
the Council reasonable grounds to refuse such a proposal, if it was considered to be 
detrimental, on a number of physical factors, including heritage and the environment. 

 
The Working Group noted the information which had been provided in the update by 

the Director and agreed to ascertain, from DfI, a timeline in respect of the potential change in 
respect of permitted development rights. He agreed also to provide the Working Group with 
an update on the progress in relation to the public examination process, relevant to future 
permitted development rights. 

 
 

Page 420



 
Update on NI Assembly All-Party Group on 

Climate Action- October 2020 
 
 The Sustainable Development Manager provided the Members with an update in 
respect of the N.I. Assembly All-Party Group on Climate Action. She stated that, at its October 
meeting, 3 items had been discussed, namely the Climate Change Bill, a report on both the 
Climate Assembly and the pathways to de-carbonisation. She stated that the Group had 
considered the impact of carbon emissions in respect of transportation and the need to develop 
a regional transport strategy, given the impact of current vehicle usage and associated 
pollution. The Members were informed that the All-Party Group had requested also that the 
Housing Executive provide them with a report in regard to the retro-fit of buildings. 
 
 The Chairperson, who had been in attendance at the All-Party Climate Action meeting, 
stated that it had been very well attended and reinforced the need for the public to engage 
with the process. He referred specifically to the 1 million trees project which was an important 
environmental development and which provided both tangible and visible environmental 
benefits and which permitted the public to play a positive and practical role. 
 
           The Commissioner advised the Members in regard to a number of up and coming 
events, including the launch of the mini-stern. She referred also to the work undertaken by the 
Council, in conjunction with K.P.M.G. in relation to a sustainability review, as part of the 
Council’s development of its own Climate Plan.  She stated that the methodology for the review 
included the involvement of the All Party Working Group and that it was anticipated that, to 
that end, a workshop would be held on the 23rd November, 2020.  
 
             Noted. 
 
             The Chairperson, on behalf of the Working Group, thanked the Commissioner for 
Resilience in relation to the valuable work undertaken by, both her and her team, in terms of 
the efforts made to influence policy and inform the public on the adverse impact of climate 
change. 
 

 
Date of Next Meeting 

 
 The Working Group noted that its next meeting would be held on Monday, 23rd 
November at a time as yet to be determined. 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Chairperson 
 

 
 
 

Page 421



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 
1 
 

ACTIVE BELFAST LIMITED BOARD 
 

Monday, 9th November, 2020 
 

MEETING OF ACTIVE BELFAST LIMITED BOARD 
 

(Held remotely via Microsoft Teams) 
 

Attendees 
 

Directors:    Mr. J. McGuigan (Chairperson) 
 Councillor Carson 
 Councillor McLaughlin 
 Councillor Newton 
 Mr. P. Boyle  
 Mr. K. Ellison and 
 Mr. C. Kirkwood. 

   
  Officers:   Mrs. K. Gilliland, Neighbourhood Services Manager;       
   Mr. N. Munnis, Partnership Manager; and 
   Mr. H. Downey, Democratic Services Officer. 
 
  GLL:               Mr. G. Kirk, Regional Director;  
   Mr. J. Michael, Business Manager; and 

   Mr. A. Walker, Partnership Manager.  
                          

 

Apologies 
 

 Apologies were reported on behalf of Councillor Corr, Mrs. K. McCullough and 
Mr. G. Walls. 
 

Request to attend the Meeting 
 

 Prior to the commencement of business, the Democratic Services Officer informed 
the Board that Councillor Matt Collins had submitted a request to join the meeting and to 
be granted access to the reports which were being presented. 
 
 He explained that, since this had been the first such request to have been received 
since the Board had been constituted, advice had been sought from the Council’s Legal 
Services Section. That advice had indicated that it was ultimately a matter for the Board 
to decide whether or not it wished to accede to the Member’s request.  
 
 A lengthy discussion followed, during which Mr. Kirkwood made the point that the 
Board should, in advance of the meeting, have been informed of Councillor Collins’ 
request and the issues which he wished to raise. He stressed that, should the Board agree 
to admit him, it would set a precedent for future meetings and would be highly irregular in 
terms of governance and due diligence. He would, therefore, be opposing the request.  
 
 However, other Directors, whilst recognising that the request was highly unusual 
and irregular, pointed out that Councillor Collins, as an Elected Member, was entitled to 
represent those constituents who were employed by GLL and that the Council was 
committed to promoting transparency in all aspects of its work.    
 

Page 423

Agenda Item 8c



 

 
2 
 

 In response, Mr. Kirkwood stressed that, whilst he respected the role and position 
of Elected Members on the Council, they were, in the context of the Active Belfast Limited 
Board, registered Directors and were, therefore, bound by the requirements of the 
Companies Act 2006. 
 
 At this point, the Democratic Services Officer confirmed that Councillor Collins 
had, shortly after the meeting had commenced, indicated that he wished to raise issues 
around casual staff employed by GLL. 
 
 After discussion, it was 
 

Moved by Councillor McLaughlin,  
Seconded by Councillor Carson, 
 

That the Board:  
 

i. agrees that Councillor Matt Collins be admitted to the meeting 
once the final item of business has been dealt with but that he 
not be given access to the reports; and  
 

ii. authorises officers to work with their counterparts in the Legal 
Services Section to draft an appropriate protocol to deal with 
future requests from Elected Representatives or others to 
address the Board, including the release of reports in advance.  

 
 On a recorded vote, which had been requested by Mr. Kirkwood, on the basis that 
he wanted his opposition to be formally noted, six Directors voted for the proposal and 
one against and it was declared carried. 
 

For 6 
 
Mr. McGuigan (Chairperson) 
Councillor Carson 
Councillor McLaughlin 
Councillor Newton 
Mr. Boyle and 
Mr. Ellison 
 

Against 1 
 

Mr. Kirkwood 

 
 The Democratic Services Officer reported that Councillor Collins had, upon being 
informed of the Board’s decision, pointed out that he had another meeting to attend and 
that he would be unable to wait until all of the business at this meeting had concluded. He 
had, therefore, requested the Board to give consideration to allowing him to join the 
meeting at an earlier stage in the proceedings. 
 
 After another lengthy discussion, during which Mr. Kirkwood reiterated the points 
which he had made earlier in the meeting, it was 

 
Moved by Councillor McLaughlin, 
Seconded by Councillor Carson,  
 
 That the Board agrees that Councillor Collins be admitted to the 
meeting between the conclusion of the presentation by GLL of the report 

Page 424



 

 
3 
 

on Covid-19 Lockdown and Recovery and discussions commencing, that 
he be advised to leave once that item had concluded and that he not be 
given access to the reports.  
 

 On a recorded vote, which had again been requested by Mr. Kirkwood, on the 
basis that he wanted his opposition to be formally noted, five Directors voted for the 
proposal and two against and it was declared carried. 
 

For 5 
 

Councillor Carson 
Councillor McLaughlin 
Councillor Newton 
Mr. Boyle and 
Mr. Ellison 
 

Against 2 
 

Mr. McGuigan (Chairperson) and 
Mr. Kirkwood. 

     
 

Minutes 
 

 The minutes of the meeting of 11th March were approved. 
 
Matters Arising 
 
 2020-21 Price Review 
 
 The Board noted that the schedule of prices for 2020/21 had been approved in 
April by the Council under delegated authority.   
 
 GLL Staff Survey 
 
 The Board noted that work on the production of a GLL annual staff satisfaction 
survey had been delayed due to Covid-19 and that an update would be provided at the 
meeting on 14th December, subject to the proposed annual reporting schedule being 
presented later in the meeting gaining approval.  
 
 Active Belfast Limited Action Plan 2020 - 2025  
 
 The Board noted that the draft Active Belfast Limited Action Plan 2020 – 2025, 
which should have been presented for approval at the meeting which had been cancelled 
in April due to Covid-19, would be considered later in the meeting.  
   

Declarations of Interest 
 
 No declarations of interest were reported.   
 

Director Attendance Statement 
 

 The Board noted that, as all of its meetings since March had been cancelled due 
to the Covid-19 pandemic, there were no issues to report in terms of the non-attendance 
of Directors.  
 
 
 

Page 425



 

 
4 
 

Future Agenda Items 
 
 No agenda items were identified by Directors for future meetings. 
 

(The GLL representatives were admitted to the meeting at this point.) 
 

Performance and Contract Compliance 
 
 The Board considered a report which set out the Key Performance Indicators, 
together with a supporting narrative, for the overall service and on a centre-by-centre 
basis for Quarters 3 and 4 of 2019/20, under the four strategic themes of Business, 
Innovation and Learning, Customer and Operations. 
 
 The Board acknowledged receipt of the Performance and Contract Compliance 
report for the aforementioned quarters and noted the information which had been 
provided. 
 

Update on Covid-19 Lockdown and Recovery 
 

 Mr. Kirk submitted for the Board’s consideration a report which outlined the 
challenges which GLL had faced due to Covid-19 and its subsequent response for 
the period from March till December 2020, under the primary headings of Community 
Resilience, Usage and Impact, Staffing and LTP successes.  
 

(Councillor Matt Collins joined the meeting at this point.) 
 

 During discussion, a Director expressed concern that Elected Members and 
Directors had not been informed by GLL of its intention to initiate a voluntary redundancy 
exercise and highlighted other examples which emphasised the need for improved 
communication. He welcomed the fact that the formula which GLL would be using to 
calculate its redundancy payments was now the same as that used by the Council and 
that the furlough scheme for contracted workers had been extended until the end of 
March, 2021. 
 
 Mr. Kirk accepted the point which had been made around the need for improved 
communication and undertook to ensure that it was improved moving forward. 
 
 Councillor Matt Collins also welcomed the fact that the current furlough scheme 
had been extended.  He referred to the possibility that the current lockdown could be lifted 
by the coming weekend and sought clarification on how GLL would compensate, for 
example, swim coaches, who would be returning to work on reduced hours and moving 
off furlough.          
 
 Mr. Kirk reviewed the work which GLL had undertaken over the past six years to 
provide a first class leisure service across the City and referred to the new facilities and 
its award-winning staff. He explained that, unfortunately, it was now in a challenging 
position in that it had been unable to operate fully since the Covid-19 restrictions had 
been imposed. As things stood, around 100 contracted staff were currently on furlough 
and a significant number of casual staff had no duties to carry out, due to the current 
operating restrictions.  
 

He pointed out that it was hoped that the situation would improve over this coming 
weekend with the potential lifting by the Northern Ireland Executive of Covid-19 
restrictions which it had imposed for a four-week period from 16th October. He stated that 

Page 426



 

 
5 
 

such a move would increase activity, however, given the trends witnessed in the response 
of other European countries to the pandemic, it could be some twelve to eighteen months 
before services were returned to full capacity. GLL had, therefore, decided to rationalise 
its service by initiating a voluntary redundancy exercise, which would free up capacity 
moving forward. In terms of its casual workforce, it had delivered a Fair Pay Payment 
covering the period from the start of lockdown until the end of October, which was based 
on a thirteen month calculation of a worker’s average pay prior to March. He added that 
GLL would continue to support and protect those workers who had or would have a clearly 
defined role within the organisation.  
 
 Mr. Kirk then provided details around the impact of Covid-19 upon current 
membership figures and, in response to specific issues which had been raised by a 
Director:  
 

i.      undertook to check that the changes to the Customer Service 
Advisor role had been accurately presented in a timely manner to 
the Trades Union forum; 

 
ii.      confirmed that two days annual leave per month had been 

deducted from furloughed staff while absent from work on full pay;  
 

iii.      confirmed that, contrary to the assertion which had been made by 
the Director, the 20% furlough pay top up had been funded by GLL 
and not by the Council; and 

 
iv.      undertook to examine the issues raised around child safeguarding, 

arising from the introduction of cashless entry to centres. 
 
 The Board thanked the GLL representatives for their contribution, following which 
it noted the information which had been provided.    
   

(Councillor Collins and the GLL representatives left the meeting at this point.) 
 

Active Belfast Limited Reporting Schedule 
and Impact of Covid-19 Lockdown 

 
 The Partnership Manager submitted for the Board’s consideration the following 
report: 

 
“1.0 Purpose of Report 
 
1.1 To update the Board on performance and contract compliance 

reporting and in particular the impact of the Covid-19 
lockdown on the agreed governance and reporting schedule. 

 
2.0 Recommendations 
 
2.1 The Board is requested to note the impacts of the Covid-19 

lockdown as set out below. 
   
2.2 The Board is requested to formally record receipt of the update 

reports as set out below. 
 

Page 427



 

 
6 
 

2.3 The Board is requested to approve the proposed revised 
timeline to bring contract compliance and governance 
reporting up to date as set out below at 3.5. 

 
3.0 Main Report 
 
3.1 A number of papers within Board’s annual schedule of reports 

are overdue as a result of the Covid-19 lockdown.  Board 
meetings being cancelled between April and October 2020 
meant that the following reports have not been presented: 

 
 April 2020 Board Meeting (cancelled) 
 

 Policy and procedure alignment report (Equality and 
Diversity) 

 Confirm receipt of ABL Director declaration of interest 
forms 

 Review ABL annual plan action compliance for 2019/20 

 Leisure Transformation Programme update 

 Tier 2 Performance report – Marketing and 
Communications 

 
 June 2020 Board Meeting (cancelled) 
 

 Q4 2019/20 KPI and contract compliance report 

 Review of ABL Companies House returns 

 GLL Annual Service report for 2019/21 

 ABL annual plan quarterly action update 

 Tier 2 Performance report – Group Exercise 
Programme Innovation & Development 

 Tier 2 Performance report – Olympia LC USP Spa 
Performance 

 
 August 2020 Board Meeting (cancelled) 
 

 Q1 2020/21 4X4 Quarterly KPI Balanced Scorecard 

 Policy & procedure alignment report (Health & Safety) 

 GLL Annual Service Plan for 2020/21 

 Tier 2 Performance report – PHA Referral Programmes 

 Tier 2 Performance report – 3G Pitch Utilisation & 
Business Performance 

 
 September 2020 Board Meeting (cancelled) 
 

 ABL Annual Plan quarterly action update 

 Q1 2020/21 KPI and contract compliance report 

 GLL 6 monthly positive impact report 

 Annual Aquatics Strategy action plan review 

 Tier 2 Performance report – Underrepresented Target 
Groups 

 BCC Sports Development Unit update 
 

Page 428



 

 
7 
 

 October 2020 Board Meeting (cancelled) 
 

 GLL Annual Schedule of Charges review proposal 

 GLL Annual Marketing Plan for 2020/21 

 Policy & procedure alignment report (HR) 

 Review of ABL Companies House returns 

 Leisure Transformation Programme update 
 
3.2 It would be advantageous to set a target date for dealing with 

the report backlog, say by the January 2021 board meeting. In 
order to present the above reports for board consideration 
over the next three months while managing board time and 
GLL/BCC officer resources, an interim schedule will be 
necessary.  This would be in addition to the normal flow of 
reports as set out in the annual contract compliance calendar. 

 
3.3 The reports listed in the above backlog have been grouped to 

provide a timeline to bring the Board’s contract compliance 
and governance commitments up to date by the end of 
January 2021.  This will allow for the review of KPI’s and 
performance reporting agreed under the ABL 2020-2025 
Strategic Plan. 

 
3.4 The proposed method of dealing with each set of overdue 

reports is set out in sections below under (a) Policy and 
Procedure Alignment, (b) Tier 2 Performance, (c) Seek board 
approval by email, (d) Cancelled reports and (e) Deferred 
reports. 

 
a) Policy and procedure alignment (3 reports) 
 (Equality and Diversity, Health and Safety, Human 

Resources) 
 

It is proposed that these policy and procedure 
alignment reports are updated and signed off by the 
Board on 9th November.  This will bring this element of 
the reporting schedule up to date and ready to 
recommence in line with the standard report schedule 
from December 2020. 

 
Normal operations have, to a large extent, been 
suspended during lock down.  However, daily contract 
management and strategic decisions have continued 
through direct liaison between GLL and BCC officers.  
We can be confident that previously agreed and 
reported GLL policies and procedures continue to be 
substantially in line with those of BCC. 

 
Consequently, the following three statements are 
presented for board consideration and approval: 

 
1. “As at 9th November 2020, BCC and GLL policies 

and operational procedures in relation to Equality 

Page 429



 

 
8 
 

and Diversity are closely aligned with no significant 
variances or areas of concern to address.” 
 

2. “As at 9th November 2020, BCC and GLL policies 
and operational procedures in relation to Health & 
Safety are closely aligned with no significant 
variances or areas of concern to address.” 

 
3. As at 9th November 2020, BCC and GLL policies 

and operational procedures in relation to Human 
Resources are closely aligned with no significant 
variances or areas of concern to address.’ 

 
b) Tier 2 Performance reports 

 
Tier 2 performance reports have been presented in 
sequence within the agreed schedule of reports to 
March 2020.  Up to and including the Board meeting of 
11th March 2020 all Tier 2 performance reports for 
2019/20 were presented on time and subsequently 
noted by the Board. 

 
Within the ABL 2020 – 2025 Strategic Plan a review of 
KPI’s and performance/governance reporting was to be 
considered for implementation from April 2020.  Due to 
the cancellation of Board meetings this review did not 
happen but is presented for consideration in a separate 
paper (see agenda item 5).  

 
Subject to decisions taken in relation to proposed 
changes to the board report schedule and KPI formats 
(Agenda item 5), the schedule of Tier 2 reports may 
change.  Additionally, the business was closed down 
from April to July 2020 and only partially re-open 
between August and October.  The Executive Office 
reintroduced further restrictions in mid-October with 
the initial intention that they would remain in place for 
a period of four weeks.  In these exceptional business 
conditions normal operation has been impossible and 
any resulting data would not be comparable to 
previously reported performance and trends. 

 
Consequently, it is proposed that the following six 
reports which were due to be presented between April 
and October be cancelled and that the Tier 2 report 
scheduled be resumed from December 2020: 

 

 Tier 2 Marketing and Communications 

 Tier 2 Group exercise 

 Tier 2 Olympia Spa 

 Tier 2 PARS 

 Tier 2 3G Pitch utilisation and business 
performance 

Page 430



 

 
9 
 

 Tier 2 Underrepresented target groups 
 

c) Seek board approval by email 
 

Given the limited board time and the number of 
overdue reports, it may be practical to circulate some 
by email. 

 
In order to manage board time over the November, 
December and January meetings, the following reports 
will be distributed by email before the end of 
November.  Each with a deadline of two weeks for 
return/comment.  Each will then be confirmed and 
recorded at the next available board meeting within a 
report ‘for information only’. 

 

 Confirm receipt of ABL Director declaration of 
interest forms 

 Review ABL annual plan action compliance for 
2019/20 

 GLL Annual Service report for 2019/20 
 

d) Cancelled Reports 
 

Due to lock down and the resulting exceptional 
business conditions, it is proposed that the following 
overdue reports be cancelled.  Pending approval and 
implementation of the review of performance and 
contract compliance reporting (2020-2025 schedule), it 
is anticipated that normal reporting will resume from 
December 2020 

 

 ABL annual plan quarterly action update (June  and 
September) 

 GLL 6 monthly positive impact report 

 GLL Annual Marketing Plan for 2020/21 
 

e) Defer until December and January Board Meetings 
 

Some functions have necessarily been ‘on hold’ since 
March 2020.  These include areas of the business that 
have been routinely reported to the Board. It is 
proposed that the following overdue reports be 
deferred: 

 
Defer until December 2020 
 

 Annual Aquatics Strategy action plan review 

 BCC Sports Development Unit update 

 GLL Annual Schedule of Charges review proposal 
 

  

Page 431



 

 
10 
 

Defer until January 2021 
 

 Leisure Transformation Programme update (April 
and October) 

 
3.5 The above proposals are intended to deal with the backlog of 

reports arising from the cancellation of board meetings 
between April and October 2020.  In consideration of the 
resumption of meetings from November 2020 the revised 
report schedule, including proposed cancellations and 
deferrals, has been designed to bring reporting up to date by 
the end of January 2021.  Additionally, subject to Board 
approval, a revised report schedule should be ready for 
implementation from quarter four of 2020/21 (January 2021).” 

 
 During discussion, a Director referred to the policy and procedure alignment 
assurance statements for Health and Safety and Human Resources which the Board was 
being asked to approve in paragraph 3.4 (a) of the report. He stated that he was aware of 
disparities in the way in which the Council and GLL formulated and implemented their 
policies and procedures and highlighted, in particular, issues relating to GLL around 
Covid-19 health and safety risk assessments and voluntary redundancy payment 
calculations. 
 
 The Partnership Manager explained that, whilst he could not comment on issues 
which were specific to GLL, he could confirm that all decisions taken by it around health 
and safety, such as changes to protocols and the risk assessments which informed those, 
were scrutinised by the Council’s Corporate Health and Safety Unit. He added that the 
Council’s Head of Human Resources and their GLL counterpart met on a regular basis to 
address any human resource issues. The Board should, therefore, be assured that the 
policies and procedures, as presented, were closely aligned.  
 
 The Board adopted the recommendations contained within the report. 
 

KPI Scorecard Review/Annual Reporting Schedule 2020-2021 
 
 The Partnership Manager submitted for the Board’s consideration the following 
report: 
 

“1.0 Purpose of Report 
 
1.1 To present a revised KPI scorecard and annual schedule of 

board reports for 2020/21 for approval. 
 
2.0 Recommendations 
 
2.1 The Board is requested to approve the proposals set out in the 

KPI Scorecard review and Annual Board Report Schedule 
revision as set out below. 

  

Page 432



 

 
11 
 

3.0 Main Report 
 
3.1 The ABL Board Strategic Plan for 2020-2025 was approved on 

9th December 2019 and subsequently ratified by the Council 
on 6th January 2020. 

 
3.2 A draft action plan to track the strategic plan outputs was 

approved on 11th March 2020 with final sign off deferred until 
the next scheduled meeting on 20th April.  Due to the Covid-
19 lockdown in mid-March, the April board meeting and all 
subsequent meetings, were cancelled until resumption in 
November.  Consequently final approval of the action plan is 
now required.   

 
3.3 No Director comments or suggested edits were received in 

relation to the draft action plan.  However, the lockdown may 
have influenced this response.  To allow for a final review and 
sign off, the11th March action plan report is re-presented for 
consideration at agenda item 7. 

 
3.4 At the Board ’open forum’ workshop on 24th February 2020 a 

review of KPI formats, general performance reporting and the 
annual schedule of board reports was agreed.  It was further 
agreed that the review should specifically seek to ensure that 
KPI’s should be relevant and meaningful and that the overall 
Board report schedule should be rationalised to better 
manage Board meeting time and allow for more open 
discussion and ad hoc presentations.   

 
3.5 Proposals below are based on a general principle of limiting 

the number of formal reports presented to circa six per board 
meeting. 

 
3.6 The following proposed KPI scorecard and annual board 

report schedule has been prepared with the above criteria in 
mind and is presented for consideration. 

 
3.7 KPI scorecard and performance reports: 

 
 

2020/21 KPI Scorecard (reported for overall 
service and on a centre by centre basis) 

 
BUSINESS 
 

1 Financial Expenditure cost recovery 

2 Financial Labour cost recovery 

3 Financial Cost per visit 

4 Membership Pay & Play membership net gain 

5 Membership Pre-paid membership net gain 

6 Membership Swim school membership net gain 

7 Occupancy Main Hall occupancy 

8 Occupancy Studio occupancy 

9 Occupancy Synthetic pitch occupancy 

Page 433



 

 
12 
 

 
The above KPI’s proposed for inclusion in the quarterly scorecard 
comprise nine measures.  This represents a reduction of seven from 
the sixteen measure in the current 4x4 scorecard.  The nine proposed 
measures have all been reported for the last two years.  
Consequently, valid YoY data comparisons would be available. 
 
Data provided by remaining seven KPI’s, removed from the current 
2019/20 scorecard, will be picked up within the six monthly and 
annual reports proposed below. 
 
Six monthly management reports: 
 

a) Customer communications update 
b) PHA referral programmes (as is) 
c) Six monthly ABL Strategic Plan action update 
d) Six monthly facility management & centre inspection report 
e) Six monthly BCC Sports Development Unit update 
f) Tier 2 Performance report – Community Engagement 
g) Tier 2 Performance report – Group Exercise Innovation and 

Development 
h) Tier 2 Performance report – PARs 
i) Tier 2 Performance report – 3G Pitch Utilisation & Business 

Performance 
j) Tier 2 Performance report – Underrepresented Target 

Groups 
 

Annual management reports: 
 

a) Belfast Agenda outcomes report 
b) Human Resources (Staff attrition, absence and PDP, 

contracted/casual staff hours, etc.) 
c) Aquatics Strategy review 
d) Review of GLL membership architecture 

  
3.8 Ad Hoc reports 

 
 The Board would continue to agree to ad hoc report requests 

as required.  As per the existing protocol, at each meeting 
directors can propose the development of ad hoc reports for 
future meetings which are then subject to board approval for 
inclusion in the relevant meeting agenda. 

 
3.9 Contract compliance reports 
 

In addition to the performance and management reports set 
out above, the Board is required to approve a number of 
contract compliance reports.  The contract compliance reports 
are included in the draft annual report schedule below at 3.10. 
 

3.10 Draft annual report schedule for 2020/21 

(BOLD denotes contract compliance requirement) 
 

Page 434



 

 
13 
 

 
Quarter 1 

April 
2020 
 
 
 
 

 Policy & procedure alignment report (Equality & 
Diversity) + (Health & Safety) 

 ABL Strategic Plan six monthly action update 

 Confirm receipt of ABL Director declaration of interest 
forms 

 Six monthly facility management & centre inspection 
report 

 Tier 2 Performance report – Community Engagement 

June 
 
 
 
 
 

 Q4 2019/20 KPI report 

 GLL Annual Service report for 2019-20 

 Tier 2 Performance report – Group Exercise Innovation 
& Development 

 Annual GLL HR report (for previous year) 

 Annual Belfast Agenda outcomes report 

 
Quarter 2 (BCC July recess – No ABL board meeting in July) 

August 
 
 
 
 

 Q1 KPI report 

 GLL Annual Service Plan for 2021-22 

 Annual Aquatics Strategy action plan review 

 Tier 2 Performance report – PARs 

 Tier 2 Performance report – 3G Pitch Utilisation & 
Business Performance 

September 
 
 
 
 
 

 Six monthly review of ABL Companies House returns 

 Tier 2 Performance report – Underrepresented Target 
Groups 

 Six monthly BCC Sports Development Unit update 

 Annual review of GLL membership architecture 

 Policy & procedure alignment report (HR) + 
(Emergency Support & PSNI/BCC Public Safety) 

 
Quarter 3 

October 
 
 
 

 GLL Annual Schedule of Charges review proposal for 
2021-22 

 Six monthly ABL Strategic Plan action update 

 Six monthly facility management & centre inspection 
report 

 Tier 2 Performance report – Community Engagement 

December 
 
 
 

 Q2 KPI report 

 ABL Audited Accounts report to 31 March 2020 

 GLL Annual Marketing Plan for 2021-22 

 Tier 2 Performance report – Group Exercise Innovation 
& Development 

 
Quarter 4 

January 
2021 
 
 
 
 

 ABL Annual plan proposal for following year 

 Review Annual KPI Report format and schedule for 
2021-22 

 Review of GLL Annual Customer Survey outcomes 

 Tier 2 Performance report – PARs 

 Tier 2 Performance report – 3G Pitch Utilisation & 
Business Performance 

March 
 
 

 Q3 KPI report 

 Six monthly review of ABL Companies House returns 

 GLL KPI targets for following year 

Page 435



 

 
14 
 

 
 

 Tier 2 Performance report – Underrepresented Target 
Groups 

 Six monthly BCC Sports Development Unit update 

 
3.11 Subject to approval of the above proposals and any 

amendments, a final Annual Performance and Contract 
Compliance Report Schedule for 2020/21 will be prepared and 
presented to the Board on 14th December for final sign off.” 

 
 After discussion, it was 
 

Moved by Mr. Ellison, 
Seconded by Mr. Boyle and   
 
 Resolved – That the Board agrees to adopt the recommendations 
contained within the report, subject to the annual management report 
on Human Resources referred to within paragraph 3.7 being 
presented in future on a quarterly basis.  

 
Active Belfast Limited Change of Membership/ 

Companies House Returns 
 

 The Board was reminded that, at its meeting on 11th March, it had accepted the 
resignation of Mr. Robert Stewart and had agreed to undertake a recruitment exercise, 
potentially in September/October, with a view to appointing up to three Directors to return 
the Board to its full complement of fifteen, as set out in the company’s articles of 
association.  
 
 The Partnership Manager reported that Mr. John Higgins had resigned from the 
Board on 8th June and that the Chairperson had forwarded to him a letter acknowledging 
the receipt of his resignation and recognising the contribution which he had made since 
his appointment in December, 2016.  As this was the first meeting to take place 
since his notification had been received, the Board was being requested to formally 
accept his resignation. Companies House had, he added, been informed of both his and 
Mr. Stewart’s resignation. 
 
 He explained that the Covid-19 pandemic had resulted in a significant delay in the 
commencement of the recruitment process and that it was only in the initial planning 
stage. With that in mind, he invited the Board to give consideration to identifying a new 
timeframe for its implementation.  
   
 After discussion, the Board: 
 

i. formally accepted the resignation of Mr. J. Higgins; 
 

ii. agreed that the recruitments process to appoint up to a maximum 
of four new Directors should be delayed until the new year; and  

 
iii. agreed that a report be submitted to its next meeting outlining the 

various stages in the recruitment process and identifying ways in   
which the under-representation of various groups on the Board 
could be addressed.  

 
 

Page 436



 

 
15 
 

  
 

Active Belfast Limited Action Plan 2020 - 2025 
 

 The Board was reminded that, at its meeting on 11th March, it had approved a 
draft action plan in support of the recently approved Active Belfast Limited Strategic Plan 
for 2020-2025. The Board had agreed that the deadline for the final sign-off of the plan 
should be extended until its meeting on 20th April to allow for Directors to submit any 
additional comments. 
 
 The Partnership Manager reported that no comments had been received and that, 
as this was the first time that the Board had been able to meet since March, due to Covid-
19, the action plan was being presented at this meeting for final approval. Accordingly, he 
recommended that the Board approve the Active Belfast Limited action plan for 2020 – 
2025, as set out below: 
 

 Section 1:      Governance 

Objective Output Action(s) Lead Timeline 

1 Maintain board 
membership at 
12 or more 
directors and 
ensure that 
Companies 
House records 
are accurate 
and up to date 

1.1 Regular reports 
on attendance, 
resignations and 
tenure 

Succession 
planning 

Board Ongoing 

1.2 Companies 
House returns 

Timely 
returns 
managed 
through 
Advanced 
Accounting  

Partnership 
Manager 

Ongoing 

  1.3 Director 
development 

Introduce 
annual 
director 
performance 
appraisals 

Chair Annually.  
Consider 
completion 
during Q1 
(April – 
June) 

2 Comply with all 
obligations 
related to 
contract 
compliance 

2.1 Deliver the 
agreed annual 
contract 
compliance 
reports and 
board activities 
 

Yearly review 
of the annual 
contract 
compliance 
calendar 
 
Control board 
meeting 
agendas to 
maximise 
time for open 
discussion 

Board 
 
 
 
 
 

By March 
annually 

3 Ensure receipt 
of ‘registration 
of director 
interests’ on an 
annually basis 

3.1 Receipt of 
returns from all 
directors 

Issue 
declaration 
pro forma 
with return 
deadline 

Partnership 
Manager 

Issued 
annually in 
April with 
deadline for 
return by 30 
April  

4 Convene a 
minimum of 
eight board 

4.1 Plan for enough 
meeting time to 
effectively deliver 
on all company 

Schedule two 
board 
meetings per 
quarter 

BCC 
Democratic 
Services 

Annually in 
December 
for the 
following 

Page 437



 

 
16 
 

meetings per 
year 

and board 
obligations 

calendar 
year 

4.2 Plan for 
sufficient, 
discussion and 
director 
development 
time 

Plan two 
‘open forum’ 
meetings 
annually in 
February and 
September 
 
Deliver one 
strategic 
planning 
workshop in 
November 
each year 

Board Ongoing 

 
 

 Section 2:      Belfast Agenda 

Objective Output Action(s) Lead Timeline 

5 Ensure that ABL 
priorities and 
activities  are 
closely aligned with 
the Belfast Agenda 

5.1 Clear and 
unambiguous 
alignment with the 
Belfast Agenda 

Prioritise 
performance 
reports and 
GLL/ABL 
contract 
compliance 
activities 

Board By 1st 
April 
annually 
with mid-
year 
review 

6 Develop a clear set 
of outputs related 
to the Councils 
Leisure 
Transformation 
Programme 

6.1 Citywide and centre 
by centre KPIs 

Maintain a 
relevant suite 
of KPI’s and 
performance 
reports 

Board Review 
annually in 
March 

6.2 Develop the boards 
understanding of 
the business 
impacts of opening 
new centres on 
both the greater 
Belfast market and 
internal BCC 
customer 
displacement 

Allow 
sufficient time 
and resources 
for director 
development 
and open 
discussion 

Board Ongoing 

 
 

 Section 3:      More People, More Active, More Often 

Objective Output Action(s) Lead Timeline 

7 Build performance 
reporting strictly 
around growing 
participation, space 
occupancy and 
income generation 

7.1 City wide and 
centre by 
centre 
performance 
reports 

Review 
annually 

Board and 
GLL 

March 
annually 

7.2 Set challenging 
and 
measurable 
growth targets 
for each KPI 
and 
performance 
measure 

Review 
annually 

Board and 
GLL 

April 
annually 

Page 438



 

 
17 
 

7.3 Maintain 
accurate 
facility capacity 
calculators 

Review TLP 
capital build 
and building 
alterations 
where there 
is an impact 
on facility 
mix/capacity 

Partnership 
Manager 

Ongoing 

8 Challenge GLL to 
develop plans with 
specific targets for 
attracting new 
customers/members 

8.1 GLL product 
development 
plans 

Review 
annually 

GLL and 
Board 

Annually in 
march 

8.2 GLL marketing 
and outreach 
plans 

Review 
annually 

GLL and 
Board 

Six 
monthly.  
Consider 
May and 
November 

 
 

 Section 4:      Health benefits 

Objective Output Action(s) Lead Timeline 

9 Seek to 
develop 
ABL/GLL 
health outputs 
consistent with 
those set out in 
the Belfast 
Agenda 

9.1 Annual KPI and 
performance 
reporting 
schedule 

Annual 
review 

Board By 
September 
2020 and 
annually 
thereafter 

10 Agree specific 
targets with 
GLL for the 
development of 
programmes 
and activities to 
address known 
health 
inequalities 

10.1 Programming Review 
centre 
programmes 
to ensure 
appropriate 
time/space is 
allocated to 
health related 
activities, 
interventions 
and 
partnerships 

Board/GLL Six monthly.  
Consider 
April and 
October 

10.2 Targeted health 
interventions 

Demonstrate 
assurance 
that PARS 
programme 
outputs are 
being met 

Board and 
GLL 

Quarterly.  
Ongoing 

10.3 Develop new 
partnership 
working 

Agree targets 
for outreach 
and new 
partnership 
schemes 
(externally 
and internally 
funded) 

Board/GLL Annually 

10.4 Demonstrate 
positive impacts 
on physical, 
mental, medical, 

Build into 
ABL 
performance 
reports 

Board and 
GLL 

Review 
annually and 
report as 
required in 

Page 439



 

 
18 
 

emotional and 
social  

mechanisms 
and include 
QoQ and YoY 
progress 

an agreed 
performance 
report 
schedule 

 
 

 Section 5:      Community engagement 

Objective Output Action(s) Lead Timeline 

11 Ensure that GLL 
develop and 
demonstrate 
effective 
community 
outreach 
programmes 

11.1 Seek and develop 
new community 
contacts 

Develop an 
annual 
community 
engagement 
plan with 
defined 
outputs 

GLL Annually in 
December 

11.2 Programme centre 
activities attract 
and sustain new 
community based 
markets 

11.3 User group 
retention and 
sustainability 
planning 

12 Seek evidence 
based rationale 
from GLL to 
underpin 
community 
engagement 
plans.  Including 
community 
needs/wants 
analysis 

12.1 Market research Review of 
local provision 
and 
community 
feedback 

GLL Six monthly.  
Consider 
December 
and June 

13 Support and 
encourage GLL 
to be dynamic in 
piloting new 
approaches, 
products and 
programmes 

13.1 Evidence new 
activity 
interventions and 
outcomes 

Maintain 
accurate 
programme 
data 
 
Six monthly 
board reports 

GLL Ongoing 
 
 
October and 
April 

 
 

 Section 6:      Partnerships and pathways 

Objective Output Action(s) Lead Timeline 

14 Develop strategic 
partnership 
opportunities for 
ABL 

14.1 Seek partnership 
and activity 
/output alignment 
with relevant 
statutory agencies 

Promote ABL 
representation 
on a broad 
range of inter-
agency forums 

Board Ongoing 

15 Challenge and 
support GLL to 
develop and 
demonstrate 
innovative, 
effective and 
sustainable 
partnerships with, 
for example, 
community 
groups, school, 
clubs, NGB’s, 

15.1 Focus on 
potential to drive 
growth in facility 
occupancy and 
participation 
particularly at off 
peak times 

Develop annual 
plans with 
outputs 

GLL Annually in 
January 

Page 440



 

 
19 
 

statutory 
agencies, etc. 

16 Encourage GLL 
to develop new 
and participate in 
existing support 
service 
partnerships 

16.1 Partner in athlete 
support, sports 
science, 
community health 
education, user 
advice 
workshops, etc. 

Include in 
annual report 
schedule 

Board Annually in 
April 

 
 

 Section 7:      New users and markets 

Objective Output Action(s) Lead Timeline 

17 Continually 
explore and 
revisit inter-
agency shared 
outputs 

17.1 Research access 
routes to new 
customers and 
markets focusing 
on distinctly new 
customer groups 
separate from 
attracting 
returning ex 
users and 
existing 
members from 
other providers 

Promote ABL 
board contact 
with or 
representation 
on a broad 
range of inter-
agency forums 

Board Ongoing 

18 Identify and 
agree Belfast 
Specific priority 
target groups 

18.1 Set baselines 
and challenging 
targets for 
annual growth 

Build into ABL 
KPI and 
performance 
reporting 
mechanisms 

Board Review 
annually and 
report as 
required in an 
agreed 
performance 
report 
schedule 

19 Innovation and 
agility 

19.1 Encourage GLL 
to innovative and 
respond with 
agility to 
changing market 
conditions. 

Ongoing liaison 
directly with 
GLL 
 
Build into open 
forum meetings 
and annual 
strategic 
planning 
workshop 

Board 
 
 
Board 

Ongoing 
 
 
Ongoing 

 
 

 Section 8:      Deficit controls 

Objective Output Action(s) Lead Timeline 

20 Support GLL in 
cost control 
measures while 
ensuring the 
highest possible 
quality of service 

20.1 Financial 
reporting 
measures 

Ensure 
reporting 
measures 
provide 
sufficient 
assurance 

Board In line with 
agreed KPI 
and 
performance 
reporting 
mechanisms.  
Review 
annually. 

Page 441



 

 
20 
 

21 Support GLL in 
driving income.  
Particularly 
through business 
development 
rather than yield 
maximisation 

21.1 Financial 
reporting 
measures 

Ensure 
reporting 
measures 
provide 
sufficient 
assurance 

Board In line with 
agreed KPI 
and 
performance 
reporting 
mechanisms.  
Review 
annually. 

22 Ensure that GLL 
includes market 
analysis and 
impact 
assessment 
within all 
proposals related 
to service 
modernisation 

22.1 Centre facility mix, 
product design, 
opening hours, 
programmes, etc. 

Ensure 
inclusion 
within GLL 
business 
planning 
and ABL 
report 
schedule 

Board Ongoing 

22.2 Pricing and 
membership 
architecture 

Ensure 
inclusion 
within GLL 
business 
planning 
and ABL 
report 
schedule 

Board Ongoing 

 
 Section 9:      Sports development strategic approach 

Objective Output Action(s) Lead Timeline 

23 Ensure that 
sports 
development sits 
within the overall 
service 

23.1 Develop a 
strategic approach 

Director 
attendance at 
regular 
meetings with 
GLL and BCC 
sports 
development 
teams 

Board Ongoing 

23.2 Identify target 
sports 

Meet to 
discuss and 
align with BC 
priorities 

Board 
and 
BCC 

By June 
2020 and 
annually 
thereafter 

23.3 Establish effective 
club & NGB 
partnerships 

Build into 
outputs for 
GLL and 
include in 
performance 
reporting 
mechanisms 

Board 
and 
GLL 

By June 
2020 and 
annually 
thereafter 

24 Encourage a 
close working 
relationship 
between GLL 
programme 
developers and 
BCC sports 
development unit 

24.1 Evidence or 
regular meetings, 
shared initiatives 
and outcomes 

Seek 
assurance of 
an ongoing 
effective 
relationship 

Board Six monthly 
reports.  
Consider 
October 
and April 

 
 
 
 

Page 442



 

 
21 
 

 Section 10:      Aquatics Strategy delivery 

Objective Output Action(s) Lead Timeline 

25 Ensure that the 
Aquatics Strategy 
for Belfast 2019-
2030 ‘lives’ within 
the service and is 
reflected in pool 
programming 

25.1 Deliver on the 
Aquatic Strategy 
action plan 
 
Track progress 
against the 
strategic 
objectives and 
priorities 

Regular 
progress 
reports 

Board Consider 
six monthly 

 
 

 Section 11:      Equality, diversity and good relations 

Objective Output Action(s) Lead Timeline 

26 Ensure that BL 
and GLL 
activities are 
delivered in a 
manner 
consistent with 
BCC’s equality, 
diversity and 
good relations 
policies 

26.1 Provide assurance 
to BCC 

Assess and 
report 
annually on 
relevant 
GLL/BCC 
policy 
alignments 

Board Annually in 
August 

 
 Section 12:      Programming 

Objective Output Action(s) Lead Timeline 

27 Ensure that GLL 
develops and 
demonstrates 
citywide pool 
programming 
aligned to the 
Aquatics Strategy 
and specific 
centre USPs 

27.1 Statistical data Build into 
outputs for 
GLL and 
include in 
performance 
reporting 
mechanisms 

Board In line with 
agreed KPI 
and 
performance 
reporting 
mechanisms.  
Review 
annually. 

28 Support and 
empower GLL to 
agile in trying 
new programmes 
with the 
expectation of 
regular reviews 
and time table 
alterations 

28.1 Regular update 
reports 

Build into 
outputs for 
GLL and 
include in 
performance 
reporting 
mechanisms 

Board In line with 
agreed KPI 
and 
performance 
reporting 
mechanisms.  
Review 
annually. 

29 Work on the 
understanding 
that programme 
balance, user 
demand and 
financial 
sustainability are 
recognised jointly 
as key drivers in 
programme 
development 
decisions 

29.1 Strategic 
planning and 
Director 
development 

Ensure that 
sufficient time 
is considered 
within board 
meeting 
agendas and 
meeting 
management 

Board Annual review 

Page 443



 

 
22 
 

30 Ensure that 
performance 
reporting 
mechanisms 
reflects the 
priority given to 
programmed 
activities and 
group exercise in 
particular 

30.1 Regular update 
reports 

Build into 
outputs for 
GLL and 
include in 
performance 
reporting 
mechanisms 

Board In line with 
agreed KPI 
and 
performance 
reporting 
mechanisms.  
Review 
annually. 

 
 

 Section 13:      Pricing 

Objective Output Action(s) Lead Timeline 

31 Ensure contract 
compliance in 
relation to pricing 
including the timely 
consideration of 
annual price reviews 
and the contractually 
agreed annual RPI 
linked price 
increased 

31.1 Contract 
compliance 
report schedule 

Ensure 
inclusion in 
the annual  
performance 
and contract 
compliance 
report 
schedule 

Board Annually in 
April 

32 Ensure that the 
Council’s 
concessionary 
pricing policies are 
consistently 
implemented across 
the leisure estate 
and that price does 
not become a 
genuine barrier to 
participation. 

32.1 GLL annual 
review of pricing 

Review GLL 
annual pricing 
review 

Board Annually in 
October 

32.2 Scrutinise for 
and challenge 
above RPI 
proposals 

Review GLL 
annual pricing 
review 

Board Annually in 
October 

33 Ensure that pricing 
decisions are 
consistent with the 
ambition to 
encourage and 
maintain growth in 
participation from 
traditionally 
underrepresented 
groups. 

33.1 GLL annual 
review of pricing 

Review GLL 
annual pricing 
review 

Board Annually in 
October 

34 Encourage and 
support GLL in the 
application of agile 
pricing strategies 
that promote centre 
occupancy and 
participation as well 
as income 
generation.  

34.1 GLL annual 
service pan 

Ensure 
inclusion in 
GLL annual 
service pan 

Board Annually in 
December 

 
 The Board adopted the recommendation. 
 
  

Page 444



 

 
23 
 

Schedule of Meetings 2021 
 

 The Board approved the following schedule of meetings for 2021 and agreed that 
it should continue to meet at 4.30 p.m.: 
 

 Monday, 11th January 
 

 Monday, 8th March 
 

 Monday, 12th April 
 

 Monday, 7th June 
 

 Monday, 9th August 
 

 Monday, 6th September  
 
(to be replaced potentially with an open forum meeting) 

 

 Monday, 25th October and 
  

 Monday, 6th December. 
 

Other Business 
 

No additional items of business were raised by Directors. 
 

Date of Next Meeting 
 

The Board noted that its next meeting would take place remotely via Microsoft 
Teams on Monday, 14th December at 4.30 p.m.  
  
 
 
 
 
 

Chairperson 

Page 445



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 
STRATEGIC POLICY AND RESOURCES COMMITTEE 

 
 
 

 
Subject: Schedule of Meetings 2021 

 
Date: 20th November, 2020  

 
Reporting Officer: John Walsh, City Solicitor and Director of Legal and Civic Services 

 
Contact Officer: Jim Hanna, Senior Democratic Services Officer 

 

Restricted Reports     

Is this report restricted? Yes  No  

If Yes, when will the report become unrestricted?                                                    

After Committee Decision     

After Council Decision     

Sometime in the future     

Never     
 

Call-in     

 
Is the decision eligible for Call-in?                                                  
 

Yes  No  

 
1.0 Purpose of Report/Summary of Main Issues 

1.1 To advise the Committee of the dates and times of the meetings of the Strategic Policy and 

Resources Committee between January and December, 2021. 

2.0 Recommendation 

 

2.1 

 

The Committee is requested to approve the schedule of meetings as outlined and to agree to 

the holding of special meetings, if required, to consider the rate-setting process on dates to be 

determined by the Chairperson. 

3.0 Main Report 

 

 

3.1 

 

Key Issues 

 

The monthly meeting of the Strategic Policy and Resources Committee is normally held at 9.30 
a.m. on the 3rd Friday of each month. 
 

 X  

 

 

 

 

X  
 

 

Page 447

Agenda Item 8d



3.2 

 

 

 

3.3 

 

 

3.4 

 

 

 

 

3.5 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

However, due to holiday periods and the timing of the monthly Council meetings and, in order 

to assist with the decision-making process, it has been necessary on occasions to move some 

of the meetings to later in the month. 

 

Members will also be aware that a special meeting is normally scheduled in January, in case 

it is required for the consideration of the rate-setting process. 

 

Given the current circumstances, it is likely that additional meetings may be required.  If so, 

then these meetings would have to be arranged at short notice.  The Committee is being 

asked, therefore, to agree to the holding of such meetings on dates and times to be determined 

in consultation with the Chairperson. 

 

The following dates have been identified for meetings of the Strategic Policy Committee for 

the period from January to December, 2021, with a commencement time of 9.30 a.m: 

 

 Friday, 15th January (Rate setting, if required) 

 Friday, 22nd January 

 Friday, 19th February  

 Friday, 19th March 

 Friday, 23rd April 

 Friday, 21st May 

 Friday, 18th June 

 Friday, 20th August 

 Friday, 24th September 

 Friday, 22nd October 

 Friday, 19th November and 

 Friday, 17th December 

 

Financial and Resource Implications 

None associated with this report. 

 

Equality or Good Relations Implications/Rural Needs Assessment 

None associated with this report. 

 

4.0 Documents Attached  

  

None 
 

 

Page 448



 

 

STRATEGIC POLICY & RESOURCES COMMITTEE  
 
 

 
Subject: Change of Date of Council Meeting 

 
Date: 20th November, 2020 

 
Reporting Officer: John Walsh, City Solicitor and Director of Legal and Civic Services 

 
Contact Officer: Jim Hanna, Senior Democratic Services Officer 

 

Restricted Reports     

Is this report restricted? Yes  No  

If Yes, when will the report become unrestricted?                                                    

After Committee Decision     

After Council Decision     

Sometime in the future     

Never     

     

 

Call-in     

 
Is the decision eligible for Call-in?                                                  
 

Yes  No  

 

1.0 Purpose of Report/Summary of Main Issues 
 

1.1 To consider a change to the normal date for the monthly Council meeting in January. 

2.0 Recommendation 
 

2.1 The Committee is recommended to agree to move the Council meeting in January from 

Monday, 4th to Thursday, 7th January. 

 
3.0 Main Report 

 

 

 

3.1 

 

Key Issues 

 

The Council’s Standing Order 1 states that: 

 

 

 

 

 

 

X  

X  

Page 449

Agenda Item 8e



 

 

 

 

 

3.2 

 

 

 

 

3.3 

 

 

 

 

3.4 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

“Monthly meetings of the Council will be held on the first working day of each month except in 

August.  Monthly Meetings shall not, however, take place on a Bank or Public Holiday, Friday, 

Saturday or Sunday, but shall be held on the next following weekday instead.” 

 

In previous years, Members have commented that the date scheduled for the monthly meeting 

of the Council around the New Year holiday period means that some cannot attend due to 

holiday commitments. The same can be said for officers, some of whom are also on holiday 

around that time. 

 

In 2021, the January meeting of the Council is scheduled to be held on Monday, 4th, the first 

working day following the New Year public holidays. There would not be any difficulty in 

moving this meeting to Thursday, 7th January at 6.00 p.m., as no other meetings are 

scheduled for that date. 

 

It is, therefore, proposed that the January meeting of the Council should take place on 

Thursday, 7th at 6.00 p.m.  

 

Financial and Resource Implications 

 

None associated with this report. 

 

Equality or Good Relations Implications/Rural Needs Assessment 

 

None associated with this report. 

4.0 Documents Attached  

 None  

 

Page 450


	Agenda
	2a Medium Term Financial Plan and Efficiency Programme
	2b Finance Update
	Appendix 1 - Quarter 2 Financial Report
	Appendix 2 – Treasury Management Report

	2c Unit Fees for St George’s Market
	2d Update on the Operational Recovery of Council Services
	Appendix - Status of Operational Services

	2e Destination Hub – Update on Outline Business Case
	2f Recruitment of Senior Posts
	3a Motion  - Secured Serviced City Centre Civic Bicycle Parking Facilities
	3b Motion: Climate Change Act - Further Response from Minister of Agriculture Environment and Rural Affairs
	Motion - Climate Change Act - Response from Minister Poots

	3c Motion: Moratorium on Licences for Fracking and Exploration and Extraction of Fossil Fuels - Response from Ministers for the Economy and Infrastructure
	Response from Minister Dodds
	Response from Minister Mallon

	4a Update on City Region Growth Deal
	Minutes 30.09.20

	4b Inclusive Growth - Social Value Policy
	4c Final Resilience Strategy for Belfast
	Appendix 1 - Resilience Assessment
	Appendix 2 - Ambitions Document - A Climate Plan for Belfast

	4d Update on Consultation and Engagement
	Appendix 1 - Engagement HQ Platform Overview
	Appendix 2 - Revised Consultation and Engagement Framework

	4e EU Successor Funding Northern Ireland - Position Paper for SOLACE NI
	Appendix - Executive Summary

	4f Update on Community Planning Partnership
	Note of meeting of BCPP - 27.10.20

	5a Update on Area Working
	Minutes - South AWG  26.10.20
	Minutes - West AWG 29.10.20
	Minutes - East AWG 05.11.20

	5b Assets Management
	Appendix 1 – Ormeau Park Contractors Compound
	Appendix 2 – LFFN Programme
	Appendix 3 – Templemore Baths
	Appendix 4 – Port Health Unit
	Appendix 5 - Port Health Unit
	2634-RPP-02-ZZ-DR-A-10-0001_P01-Working drawing
	1/Sht-7
	2/Sht-4
	1/Sht-8



	6a Update on Contracts
	Appendix - Contracts

	6b Commercial and Procurement Service - Pricing Policy
	Appendix I - Commercial Plan
	Appendix II - Corporate Pricing Policy
	Appendix III - Setting Prices - Getting it Right
	Appendix IV - Four Priority Projects

	7a Minutes of the Meeting of the Shared City Partnership
	Appendix 1 - Minutes - 09.11.20
	Appendix 2 - Project Modification Requests

	7b Equality and Diversity - Equality Screening and Rural Needs Outcome Report
	Appendix - Equality Screening Outcome and RNIA Report

	7c Diversity Action Plans
	Appendix 1 – GAP Year 3  (2020-21)
	Appendix 2  -  LGBT+ Action Plan (2020-21)

	8a Minutes of the Meeting of the Party Group Leaders' Consultative Forum
	8b Minutes of the Meeting of the Working Group on the Climate Crisis
	8c Minutes of the Meeting of Active Belfast Limited Board
	8d Schedule of Meetings 2021
	8e Change of Date of Council Meeting

